### DE FACTO PRESIDENTIALIZATION IN TURKEY UNDER ERDOĞAN'S LEADERSHIP

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF SOCIAL SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$ 

### HASAN FARUK USLU

### IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN THE DEPARTMENT OF POLITICAL SCIENCE AND PUBLIC ADMINISTRATION

SEPTEMBER 2015

Approval of the Graduate School of Social Sciences

Prof. Dr. Meliha Altunışık Director

I certify that this thesis satisfies all the requirements as a thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Prof. Dr. Ayşe Ayata Head of Department

This is to certify that we have read this thesis and that in our opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and quality, as a thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Prof. Dr. Ayşe Ayata Supervisor

### **Examining Committee Members**

Prof. Dr. Fethi Açıkel	(AU, PADM)	
Prof. Dr. Ayşe Ayata	(METU,ADM)	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pınar Akçalı	(METU, ADM)	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ayça Ergun	(METU, SOC)	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Elif Çolakoğlu	(ATAUNI, ADM)	

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Last name : Hasan Faruk Uslu

Signature :

### ABSTRACT

# DE FACTO PRESIDENTIALIZATION IN TURKEY UNDER ERDOĞAN'S LEADERSHIP

Uslu, Hasan Faruk Ph.D., Department of Political Science and Public Administration Supervisor : Prof. Dr. Ayşe Ayata

September 2015, 235 pages

The aim of this thesis is to focus on the concept of de facto executive presidentialization, implying that regimes are becoming more presidential in actual practices without changing their constitutional and formal characteristics, in Turkey. While doing so, this thesis sheds lights into the prime ministry and presidency periods of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan. The main argument is that the Turkish system has been de facto presidentialized at the executive level in both periods. However, there have been little or no meaningful evidence in order to argue for a presidentialization within the broader system.

**Keywords:** Presidentialization, Institutional Stretch, Personalization of Politics, Turkish Type Presidential System Proposal

### ERDOĞAN'IN LİDERLİĞİ ALTINDA TÜRKİYE'DE FİİLİ BAŞKANLAŞMA

Uslu, Hasan Faruk Doktora, Siyaset Bilimi ve Kamu Yönetimi Anabilim Dalı Tez Yöneticisi : Prof. Dr. Ayşe Ayata

Eylül 2015, 235 sayfa

Bu çalışmanın amacı Türkiye'de, anayasal ve formel karakteristikleri değişmeden, rejimlerin gittikçe başkanlık sisteminin işlevsel mantığını yansıttığını ileri sürmekte olan, fiili başkanlaşma kavramına yoğunlaşmaktır. Bu yapılırken, Türkiye'de Recep Tayyip Erdoğan'ın başbakanlık ve cumhurbaşkanlığı dönemlerine ışık tutmaya çalışmaktadır. Çalışmanın temel iddiası, her iki dönem açısından sistemde yürütme düzeyinde fiili bir başkanlaşmanın gözlemlenebilir olduğudur. Ancak, sistemin tamamı hakkında fiili bir başkanlaşmanın varlığını gösterecek kanıtlar bulmak oldukça zordur.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Başkanlaşma, Kurumsal Genişleme, Siyasetin Kişiselleşmesi, Türk Tipi Başkanlık Sistemi Önerisi

To my wife...

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Ayşe Ayata. This thesis would not have been possible without her enduring support, encouragement and constructive criticism.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to the members of my thesis examining committee Fethi Açıkel, Pınar Akçalı, Ayça Ergun and Elif Çolakoğlu. Their constructive criticisms and insightful comments are invaluable.

I would like to thank Mehmet Gökhan Uzuner and Berkay Ayhan for their friendship, motivation and comments on almost every parts of this thesis.

I am indebted to the family of Humboldt University Berlin Graduate School of Sciences, especially to Prof. Dr. Silvia von Steinsdorff, for their support and for putting trust in my career plans. Without their hospitality, help and ciritical comments the process of research in Berlin would be more difficult.

Last but not least, the words are too inadequate to express my gratitude to my wife, Ceyda Uslu. Her presence has been my main motivation behind completing this dissertation.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

PLAGIARI	SM	iii
ABSTRAC	Τ	iv
ÖZ		v
DEDICATI	ON	vi
ACKNOW	LEDGMENTS	vii
TABLE OF	CONTENTS	viii
LIST OF TA	ABLES	xii
LIST OF FI	GURES	xiii
LIST OF A	BBREVIATIONS	xiv
CHAPTER		
1. INTR	ODUCTION	1
2. THE	CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	. 13
2.1	Types of Executive	. 13
2.2	The Concept of Presidentialization	. 18
	2.2.1 The British Context	. 19
	2.2.1.1 The Rise of the British Presidency	. 22
	2.2.1.2 Presidentialization of Parliamentary Elections	. 29
	2.2.2 The Presidentialization of Politics	. 33
	2.2.2.1 Factors Leading to Presidentialization of Politics	. 36
	2.2.2.2 Indicators of Presidentialization	. 39
2.3	Overview of the Conceptual Framewok	. 41
	2.3.1 Presidentialization and Other Approaches	. 44
	2.3.1.1 Personalization of Politics	. 46
	2.3.1.2 The Decline of Party Government	. 49
	2.3.1.3 Institutionalization of Parties	. 51

	2.4	Concluding Remarks	53
3	. THE	E ANALYSIS OF THE STRUCTURAL AND CONTINGENT	
ł	FACTO	ORS LEADING TO EXECUTIVE PRESIDENTIALIZATION IN	
Т	HE TU	JRKISH CASE WITH PARTICULAR REFERENCE TO	
E	RDOČ	AN'S LEADERSHIP 5	58
	3.1	Constitutional Presidentialization?: The Turkish Case	59
	3.2	Behavioural Presidentialization?: The Motherland Party and The	
	Just	ce and Development Party Cases	52
		3.2.1 The Motherland Party (ANAP)	53
		3.2.2 The Case of the Justice and Development Party (AKP)	58
	3.3	The Analysis of the Structural Factors Leading to	
	Pres	identialization through the Leadership of Erdoğan7	72
		3.3.1 The Leadership of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan	72
		3.3.1.1 Structural Factors and Erdoğan: The International Politics. 8	30
		3.3.1.2 The Media and Erdoğan	33
	3.4	Concluding Remarks	36
4	. IND	ICATORS OF THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENTIALIZATION	
U	NDEF	THE AKP EXPERIENCE: ERDOĞAN'S PREMIERSHIP 8	38
	4.1	Indicators of Presidentialization at the Executive Level	~ -
			91
	4.2	The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation of	91
	4.2		
	4.2	The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation of	94
	4.2	The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation of Executive Presidentialization in Turkey: Erdoğan's Premiership9	94 96
	4.2	The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation of Executive Presidentialization in Turkey: Erdoğan's Premiership 9 4.2.1 Public Opinion Polls and Voter Policy Preferences	94 96 01
	4.2	<ul> <li>The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation of</li> <li>Executive Presidentialization in Turkey: Erdoğan's Premiership</li></ul>	94 96 01 04
	4.2 4.3	The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation ofExecutive Presidentialization in Turkey: Erdoğan's Premiership94.2.1Public Opinion Polls and Voter Policy Preferences	94 96 01 04
5	4.3	The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation ofExecutive Presidentialization in Turkey: Erdoğan's Premiership	94 96 01 04
-	4.3 . ERI	The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation ofExecutive Presidentialization in Turkey: Erdoğan's Premiership94.2.1Public Opinion Polls and Voter Policy Preferences	94 96 01 04 06 11
-	4.3 . ERI	The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation ofExecutive Presidentialization in Turkey: Erdoğan's Premiership94.2.1Public Opinion Polls and Voter Policy Preferences	<ul> <li>94</li> <li>96</li> <li>01</li> <li>04</li> <li>06</li> <li>11</li> <li>14</li> </ul>

		5.1.1	1.1 The 1924 Constitution	116
		5.1.1	1.2 The 1961 Constitution	118
		5.1.1	.3 The 1982 Constitution	119
		5.1.2	The 2007 Constitutional Amendment	122
		5.1.3	The 2014 Presidential Election	125
	5.2	Erdoğ	an at the Office of the Turkish Presidency	128
		5.2.1	The Concept of Instutional Stretch	128
		5.2.2	Erdoğan's Presidency	129
		5.2.3	Indicators of Presidentialization	135
		5.2.3	3.1 Changing Organizational Structure of the Presidency	135
		5.2.3	3.2 Chairing the Council of Ministers	138
		5.2.3	3.3 The Presidential Palace (Aksaray)	139
	5.3	Conclu	uding Remarks	141
6.	THE	AKP/I	ERDOĞAN PROPOSAL FOR A PRESIDENTIAL SYST	ΈM
IN	TUR	KEY: 1	THE TURKISH TYPE PRESIDENTIAL SYSTEM	
DE	EBAT	E AND	PRESIDENTIALIZATION	145
	6.1	The H	istory of Presidential Sytem Discussions in Turkey	147
	6.2	The D	ebate in the AKP/Erdoğan Period	149
		6.2.1	The Period between 2002 and 2012	149
		6.2.2	The 2012 Turkish Type Presidential System Proposal	151
		6.2.2	2.1 Critiques Directed against the 2012 Proposal	154
		6.2.2	2.2 Responses to Critiques	156
	6.3	The B	roader Rationality of the AKP Proposal	165
		6.3.1	The Term "Turkish Type": What Does It Imply?	165
	6.4	Overv	iew of the AKP/Erdoğan Proposal	167
	6.5	Conclu	uding Remarks	172
7.	CON	ICLUS	ION	178
REFE	RENC	CES		186
APPE	NDIC	ES		
A.	TUR	KISH S	SUMMARY	213

B.	CIRRICULUM VITAE	233
C.	TEZ FOTOKOPİSİ İZİN FORMU	235

## LIST OF TABLES

## TABLES

Table 2.1 The attempts at reformulating, rethinking and searching for variations	
among the classical threefold types of executive approach	. 17
Table 2.2 The most important concepts of Michael Foley on the British	
Presidency	. 25
Table 2.3 The summary of the ideas of the proponents and opponents of the	
presidentialization thesis	. 43
Table 4.1 Indicators thought to be meaningful for a manifestation of	
presidentialization	. 92
Table 6.1 The differences between the AKP's 2012 Turkish type presidential	
system proposal and the U.S. presidential system	155

## LIST OF FIGURES

## FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Partified and presidentialized governments	33
Figure 2.2 The causal flows in presidentialization of politics	36

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AKP	Justice and Development Party (Adalet ve Kalkınma Partisi)					
ANAP	Motherland Party (Anavatan Partisi)					
BİMER	Prime Ministry Communications Centre (Başbakanlık İletişim					
	Merkezi)					
CEO	Chief Executive Officer					
CHP	Republican Peoples' Party (Cumhuriyet Halk Partisi)					
CİMER	Presidency Communications Centre (Cumhurbaşkanlığı					
	İletişim Merkezi)					
DFLs	Decrees Having the Force of Law (Kanun Hükmünde/Gücünde					
	Karaname)					
DP	Democratic Party (Demokrat Parti)					
DYP	True Path Party (Doğru Yol Partisi)					
EU	European Union					
FP	Virtue Party (Fazilet Partisi)					
G-7	Group of 7 (major advanced economies)					
G-20	Group of 20 (major advanced economies)					
IMF	International Monetary Fund					
MHP	Nationalist Action Party (Milliyetçi Hareket Partisi)					
MP	Member of Parliament					
PM	Prime Minister					
RP	Welfare Party (Refah Partisi)					
SETA	Foundation for Political, Economic and Social Research					
	(Siyaset, Ekonomi ve Toplum Araştırmaları Vakfı)					
TCC	Turkish Commercial Code (Türk Ticaret Kanunu)					
TGNA	Turkish Grand National Assembly					
TRT	Turkish Radio and Television Corporation (Türkiye Radyo ve					
	Televizyon Kurumu)					

TÜSİAD	Turkish Industry and Business Association (Türk Sanayicileri
	ve İşadamları Derneği)
US	United States
YSK	Supreme Electoral Council/Board (Yüksek Seçim Kurulu)

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The attempts at bringing the office of the presidency to bear to understand the developments on the office of the prime ministry has been a debated issue among scholars of comparative politics. Within this perspective, dealing with the questions looking for the areas of convergence and/or divergence such as - Are there important developments at the global level affecting both the offices of presidency and prime ministry and leading them toward a parallel track? Do their institutional differences and broader political logics prevent the incumbents of a presidential and a prime ministerial office to respond to the developments in a manner seems similar? Do certain historical and political contexts force prime ministers and presidents to follow certain policies? - has been an object of study (Hart 1991).

Although the questions noted at the beginning could be extended, among many, they certainly have a common problem: is it possible to compare the office of prime ministry and presidency, or in the words of Hargrove (2001: 50), "is it acceptable to compare the apples and oranges of different institutions?"

These questions and attempts at caring for them are not new. Especially since the 1990s, scholars have employed the concept of presidentialization in order to account for the developments in parliamentary systems, especially relevant for the British case. The term presidentialization has to be understood as an "analogy" and directs attentions to a "de facto" situation. Its message is not that "there is no difference between parliamentary and presidential systems now". It does not argue that there is a shift in the legal-formal context from parliamentarism to presidentialism, but rather directs attention to the informal changes.

Contemporary world is characterized by the increasing importance of international politics. The common problems nations face, such as terrorism, fight against global warming, migration problems, economic integration, financialization, international competitiveness and so on, are elaborated, to a great extent, at the international level where the national governments and their head of executives are conducting negotiations with others. In addition, the developments in the media technology and the increasing complexity of the political processes created a stronger tendency for both media and political leaders' to become natural allies. The media concentrating on leaders' personal traits and personality attracted the audiences, as though they are celebrities, and leaders' effective control on the media helped them fostering their cults and popularities. One of the most crucial effects of this alliance is the (increasing) significance of leaders' influence over the voters during election times. In other words, the structural and contingent factors are considered as the reason for "the emergence of new political practices" that leads systems, i.e. parliamentary system, to acquire "untypical characteristics" (Zaznaev, 2008: 27). The new practices and/or characteristics have crucial effects on changing "the operational rules" of the form of government. Just to give an example of it, in a parliamentary system when the "elements characteristics of purely presidential system become intensified without adopting it", it is possible to talk about a "silent structural change" (Ibid: 30) aimed at gradually strengthen the emerging presidential characteristics of the system. Thus, the changes, primarily found in political practices, are viewed in the "working mode/actual working" (Poguntke and Webb 2005; Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny 2011) of parliamentarism that increasingly resembling the logic of presidentialism.

The working mode of presidentialism should be put down, as Poguntke and Webb (2005); Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny (2011) had done, into "the superior power resources of the executive leaders (as they are not responsible to parliament, as they have direct legitimacy thanks to popular elections and as they have to rest on the logic of "one-person executive" which gives them the power to organize executive without significant interference from other actors and institutions), increasing

autonomy of the party and executive leadership from each other (the direct result of the separation of powers found in the presidential systems), and the personalization of the electoral process. As "these features are inherent to presidential systems", if "similar developments should be seen in parliamentary and semi-presidential systems", then "a de facto presidentialization occurs" (Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny, 2011: 6). The presidentialization as conceptualized here should also be applied to presidential systems. It may be more "presidentialized" as these features are enhanced, however needless to note, the base-line to expect these things develop from is higher when compared to parliamentary systems. In a similar vein, a parliamentary system may also be "partified" if the features of governing through parties rather than passing it and the collegial character of the system become dominant. The systems, according to Poguntke and Webb (2005), depending on the interactions among political actors and/or institutions, on the changes in the structural and contingent factors, may move from one side (presidentialized) to the other (partified).

There are important variations among the usage of the term "presidentialization" (which I will be dealing with in the following Chapter at some depth). It may be the "presidentialization of parliamentary elections" (Mughan 2000, Pryce 1997), "presidentialization of parliamentary systems", "presidentialization of prime ministers" and presidentialization of politics" (Poguntke and Webb 2005). However, certain common points in these emphases should be delineated:

First and foremost, the presidentialization points out a centralization and/or concentration of power around a single organ, i.e. a prime minister in parliamentary systems. It reveals that in this process of centralization, the powers previously exercised by other bodies, i.e. the council of ministers, are shifting toward a single office. Within this framework, Mancini (2011: 60-61) argues that the presidentialized political actor should be termed as a "figure, or better a role, that is requested by contemporary needs", especially in order to simplify the decision-making processes.

The demands of mass media at this point are of critical importance. The media's inclination to and interest in political actors in order to identify political developments before the audiences is paving the way for political leaders to fulfil the function/role of anchorage in this complex processes which seem to be beyond the grasp of ordinary people who do not have necessary information and knowledge on what is going on. However, it is not a one-way relationship. At the same time, the leaders are relying on media due to its power of projecting their cults/popularities.

The presidentialization has to be analysed as a process. To start with, the suffix "zation"<sup>1</sup> clearly warns us what we are dealing with is a "*process*". In other words, we are experiencing and/or facing a "process of change" which has not completed yet. If applied to our case, the main idea behind the term presidentialization is that we are facing a process of change towards what the term "presidential" implies. Thus it has to be noted at the very beginning, what presidentialization argues is not that "something became presidential", on the contrary it directs attention to a movement which is on the way going to that end. For example, the emphasis on the processual character of presidentialization of parliamentary systems gives the message that the features of the parliamentary system, to a certain extent, remain.

Having said that it is a process of realization, it should also be noted that there are certain factors affecting this process of change. These factors, whether structural and/or contingent, are in a dynamic relationship. For example, a particular leader may accelerate the process but another one may slow it down (Mancini 2011). Thus, presidentialization is a process but "*it is not a smooth process*" but a "*lengthy* one". Within this understanding, a differentiation can be made between the "contingent presidentialization" and "structural presidentialization" (Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny, 2011: 18-20). The contingent presidentialization implies the chief executive's domination of political executives through the impact of the support they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Mancini, 2011: 48 for what the suffix of –zation implies if it is applied to the terms such leader, president and personal.

can draw from their parliamentary parties standing in the parliament, their personalities, their popularity within the electoral processes and unpredictable events. On the contrary, the structural presidentialization is interested in underlying long-term developments, such as reorganization of the government, strengthening the institutional resources available to the chief executive which enhance the chief executive's potential for strong leadership. It may be that contingent factors may not enable an incumbent to fully realize his/her potential. However, if one has to speak about "enduring presidentialization", the structural factors have to be at work.

Additionally, although it may be supported by an introduction of certain constitutional clauses that strengthen the power and/or autonomy of a chief executive, presidentialization is first and foremost a "behavioural claim". What is considered by behavioural at this point is meant "in the absence of a constitutional change". Thus, presidentialization is related with the changes at the political behaviour, practice and processes rather than with constitutional features. On one level, it is to say a prime minister is becoming, in terms of the behavioural patterns, like a president. Just to give a concrete example from Pryce (1997: 4-5) "the prime minister has become a president in the eyes of the people but remains a prime minister according to the constitution". The presidential and parliamentary systems are institutionally different. It is thought that the behaviour of a certain chief executive is determined and, thus, has to be analysed "through the institutional form that makes it appropriate" (Dowding, 2012: 2). The presidentialization thesis argues that chief executives do not merely accumulate extra powers through their behaviour but they also enhance their institutional resources in a way to make them possible (Webb and Poguntke, 2012: 6).

Last but not least, presidentialization is an "empirical thesis". It should be observed, operationalized and thus associated with particular political figures. To exemplify it, the premierships of Margaret Thatcher, Tony Blair, Helmut Kohl, Gerhard Schröeder and Silvio Berlusconi (Mancini 2011, Zaznaev 2008) had been exclusively studied as

empirical cases by researchers. The presidentialization fits on the supposed shift from "formal-legalism" to "modernist-empiricism" that has been viewed in the study of executives for some time (Rhodes 2006). Although, these terms (parliamentary and presidential) seem to be, first and foremost, "qualitative concepts", dealing with various cases with the same type of executive demonstrates that they have different qualitative parameters, in some of them presidents are strong whereas moderate or insignificant in others (Zaznaev, 2008: 28).

In order to summarize what had been said up until now, it should be concluded that, as Venturino observed "presidentialization, shortly said, is the growth of the power of the head of executive" <sup>2</sup> over other power centres, personally and/or institutionally. Although it may be supported by a constitutional clause injecting some features of presidential system in isolation with others into the parliamentary one, it is generally seen in the political practices and processes.

*The major problematic* of this dissertation is to explore the concept(s) of presidentialization and/or presidential allusions with particular reference to the Premiership (2003-2014) and Presidency of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan (2014-now) in the Turkish case. While doing so, this dissertation will be in use of the presidentialization in order to account for the "transformation of the political executives in a parliamentary system" of Turkey. To use a more concrete terminology proposed by Poguntke and Webb, I will be paying my attention toward the "executive face" of the presidentialization, rather than the "party" and "electoral" faces. The executive face mainly searches for the changing intra-executive power relations in advantageous to the head of the government. Although the executive could be separated into political and bureaucratic<sup>3</sup> (Peters 2011), I will focus on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Cited in Zaznaev, 2008: 31.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The politicization of civil service and bureaucracy through a harsh control from the top over the appointments has long been argued to be an integral element of the presidentialization debate within the British case. Especially noteworthy example was Thatcher, according to many in this vein. Her,

political executives. While doing so, the main accent will be on the "core executive", mainly composed of the prime minister, cabinet members and the President of the Republic of Turkey. The broader configuration of the executive is out of the analysis.

Within this framework, the main research question is that "whether one can argue for an (increasing) de facto executive presidentialization with the premiership and presidency of Erdoğan in Turkey or was it already at high before the period analyzed". If it is meaningful to claim, then, "what would be the indicators of this somewhat de facto executive presidentialization"? Turkey has generally been classified under parliamentary regime since 1876, with the exception of the 1921 constitution which was a special one implied under the war of independence. There are also scholars who identify the Turkish regime more in line with the semipresidential one since the 1982 constitution which gave more powers to the president and especially since the 2007 constitutional change which asserted that the next president would be elected by direct vote. The hitherto studies on the Turkish case have paid great amount of attention to the comparison of the Turkish case with the presidential one (especially the U.S. model) and the advantages/disadvantages of such a change (Kuzu 2011; Güney 2007); the import of the semi-presidential regime to the Turkish case and its possible consequences (Kamalak 2007) and the factors leading some political figures such as Turgut Özal, Süleyman Demirel and Recep Tayyip Erdoğan to underline the need for a presidential regime (Gönenç 2011). For many authors, the dominant political culture in Turkey, the party discipline, the institutional experiences within the parliamentary system for more than 100 years are important factors highlighted in order to remain within the merits of parliamentary system (Akçalı 2007; Üskül 2007).

The reason behind the preference of employing presidentialization/presidential allusion is to account for the arguments' claiming that for some time Turkey has a

alleged, concern over the appointments in the way of asking "is s/he one of us?" is considered a strong sign of the politicization of bureaucracy (see Jones, 1991: 130, Ware, 1987: 360).

"de facto presidential" regime. It is believed by many that without a constitutional change specifying the system as presidential, the functioning of the executive in Turkey under Erdoğan's leadership has reflected the working mode of presidentialism or has reflected some identifiable features evident in presidential systems.

One of the latest expressions of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan perfectly captures the subject topic of this dissertation. In August 2015, the first directly elected president of the Turkish Republic, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan argued that the importance and influences of the August 2014 direct election of the President in Turkey has not been captured well. According to him:

There is a president with de facto power in the country, not a symbolic one. The president should conduct his duties for the nation directly, but within his authority. Whether one accepts it or not, Turkey's administrative system has changed. Now, what should be done is to update this de facto situation in the legal framework of the constitution (Hürriyet Daily News 2015g).

The declaration of Erdoğan was considered as an attempt at a "civilian coup" by the opposition and as totally in contradiction to the existing constitution of the 1982. On the other hand, Erdoğan and his supporters have long been arguing that the 2007 amendments which paved the way for a popular election of the president in 2014 together with the personality and power resources of Erdoğan, the systemic update is necessary because the de facto powers of the president do not match with the constitutional realities. In other words, the arguments try to shed light into the fact that "Erdoğan is the de facto president" in a parliamentarian system.

This is not the first time Erdoğan is called as the de facto president of Turkey. During his prime ministry (between 2003 and 2014), there have been considerable observations/arguments indicating that in time Erdoğan has become the de facto president (İnsel 2012, Tezkan 2012a). These arguments reveal that the decision-making process has been centralized at the office of Erdoğan, Erdoğan has become synonymous with the party he has been presiding and the politics has been

personalized as considering the personality of Erdoğan the anchor of stability and/or the only source of success and/or failure.

It is believed that exploration of the concept of presidentialization paying due regard to the executive face in the Turkish case is valuable and aims to contribute to the literature in the following points: First of all, such an attempt should contribute into the contemporary discussions on the Turkish political system and on the allegedly visible de facto presidential regime under Erdoğan's effects. Secondly, the hitherto studies on the presidentialization and presidential analogy have focused on analysing the issue within the framework of advanced democracies. An analysis in the context of Turkey should contribute to the debate in indicating the implications of excessive power concentration around a political leader in terms of the quality of democracy, authoritarianism etc. Additionally, as original contribution an to the presidentialization literature, which mainly deals with the power and position of a prime minister in parliamentary systems, this dissertation in the *Chapter V* will argue that a president, popularly elected, in a parliamentarian system should also be dealt with through the presidentialization framework. Erdoğan's presidency, the case at hand considering the Turkish case, seems to be very instructive in order to indicate that contingent factors may be of critical importance in contrast to the structural ones (such as the institutional structures supporting the incumbent) in analysing the executives. This is because Erdoğan was able to carry presidentialization debate with himself while moving from the office of the prime ministry to the presidency. It may be seen strange to analyse a president in a parliamentary system within the presidentialization debate. However, it is a must according to me.

As far as the research design/methodology is considered, this dissertation is mainly an ideographic case study, in an attempt to delineate the particular issues and features in a developing country such as Turkey. The presidentialization thesis is certainly an empirical framework. For this reason, I will be in an attempt to operationalize the indicators of presidentialization, in line with hitherto literature and due regard to the Turkish context. The research will be supported by document analysis and analysis of discourse, especially the discourse of the Justice and Development Party (Adalet ve Kalkınma Partisi - AKP) in the form of the then-PM and President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan's speeches.

After this brief introduction, *Chapter II* is mainly allocated to the aim of clarifying the historical evolution of the concept of presidentialization. Although presidentialization thesis has been facing its third decade, at the start it was exclusively a British phenomenon and attributed specifically for British prime ministers (Helms 2013). At the very early stages, presidentialization had been mainly studied as "presidentialization of electoral politics" trying to gather attention toward the increasing importance of political leaders, which is argued in theory as less important in the British parliamentary system, in the electoral process (Pryce 1997, Mughan 2000).

In time, I will be paying greater attention to the works of Michael Foley, that contributed to the debate especially directing attentions on the development new leadership strategies affecting both the PMs and presidents, Anthony Mughan and Poguntke and Webb. My main claim will be that Poguntke and Webb contributed to the debate in freeing the concept from its British origins. Their analytical frameworks, providing different "faces of presidentialization", clarifying the "factors leading to" it and their "set of indicators" not solely rested on the British experience, used to operationalize the term opened up the debate to comparative study.

*Chapter III* has three aims: first is to go through the Turkish constitutional frameworks paying due regard to the type of executives they stipulated, in order to come to terms whether one could argue for a presidentialization supported constitutionally. Although the 1982 constitution and the 2007 amendments have certainly injected certain elements that would be considered as presidentializing the system, however they are exclusively related to the power and position of the office

of the presidency rather than the PM. Thus, if presidentialization is mainly devoted to the changing power and positions of the prime ministers, then a process of presidentialization in the Turkish case is not supported by constitutional clauses. Additionally, I will be in an attempt at dealing with the structural and contingent factors, at some depth, leading to presidentialization in the Turkish case paying due regard to the pre-AKP and AKP periods respectively. While doing so, as an important factor, finally the leadership of Erdoğan will be explored paying due regard to the context within which he and his party was emerged.

The analysis of the premiership period of Erdoğan through the lenses of (executive) presidentialization thesis underpins *Chapter IV*. With the help of the hitherto studies on the issue of presidentialization, a set of indicators, seem to be meaningful in order to be seen as manifestations of presidentialization, are proposed and analysed. It will be argued that Erdoğan's premiership period can be considered as a de facto executive presidentialization of the Turkish system. However, considering the presidentialization of the politics and/or the presidentialization within the broader system, there is little or no meaningful evidence to support the issue at hand.

*Chapter V* seems to be an exception within presidentialization literature; however, to me, it is a must within the peculiarity of the Turkish case. It is the study on the Erdoğan's presidency in terms of presidentialization literature. As noted above, presidentialization first and foremost cares the position of prime ministers. However, in Turkish parliamentary system the popularly elected president in 2014 led many people argue for a de facto presidential system and indicating the gap between the position of the president Erdoğan and constitutional realities. Erdoğan while moving from prime ministry to the presidency tried hard to bring his personal and institutional power resources together with him. He attempted at stretching the office of the presidency into political system, which is argued to be unprecedented in the history of Turkey, through the reorganization of the office institutionally, financially, symbolically and politically.

*Chapter VI* is tackling with the AKP's and/or Erdoğan's 2012 proposal for a presidential system. The conclusion reached at the end is that it was an attempt at updating the de facto and/or current position of the then-PM Erdoğan into a constitutional framework in the minds that he would be the first president of the constitutionally presidential system. The analysis is hoped to be seen as a proof of presidentialization of the system during Erdoğan's premiership. In *Chapter VII*, main findings of the study will be summarized.

This dissertation, in short, will aim to operationalize the concept of (executive) presidentialization with particular emphasis laid on the periods of Erdoğan's premiership and presidency. Thus, an investigation of the notion of presidentialization - its historical origins, different understandings, diverse levels of analyses and position vis-à-vis other frameworks – seems to be a primary task at this point, and the following chapter is hoped to meet these concerns.

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

The most accepted distinction made among types of executive are ideal type constructs based on the relationship between the executives and legislatives. According to this criterion, there are three main types: presidential, parliamentary and semi-presidential systems. The categorizations are made either on the idea that cases grouped under the same category share a set of definitional (necessary or sufficient) properties or similarly classified cases are sharing a large number of non-necessary attributes.

### 2.1 Types of Executive

As far as the presidential system is under scrutiny (the US case as the paradigmatic example of it), the main characteristics of it should be noted as follows: First of all, the head of government and the head of state are united in the same office (Siaroff, 2005: 142). The president is elected for a fixed term (in the U.S. case it is four years). This fixed term is secured unless s/he commits an unconstitutional act (Derbyshire and Derbyshire, 1991: 58). This is widely considered as the main factor of the rigidity of the system. Secondly, one of the most important features is that there is a clear separation of powers among three branches of government (Charlton, 1986: 16-7). The executive power is given to the President; the legislative competences are given to the Congress and judicial power left to the Supreme Court (considering the US case). This separation of power gives the chance to both the executive and legislative to be directly elected by the people. Consequently, they have no responsibility to each other. Within the framework of the principle of the separation of powers, the US legislative, executive and judicial organs donated with checks and balance mechanisms in the relations among themselves (Akçalı, 2007: 77). To name

some of these mechanisms, the legislative may reject the appointments of the president. On the other hand, the executive can veto laws that are passed by the Congress and appoint federal judges (Ibid: 78). In the presidential system, there is a non-elected cabinet responsible to the president (Derbyshire and Derbyshire, 1991: 58). The executive power belongs to one person who does not share it, thus making the presidency a "winner-take-all" position (Siaroff, 2005: 142).

With regard to the main characteristics of the parliamentary system (the British case is considered as the home of parliamentary system), it has to be noted firstly, in the parliamentary system; there is the collegial/collective executive (Blondel, 1990: 263). This means that the head of the state is separate from the head of the government and the role of the head of the state is mainly symbolic (Derbyshire and Derbyshire, 1991: 53). Additionally, the relation between the prime minister and the cabinet should be understood as the prime minister is "first among equals" (primus inter pares) in this collegial executive understanding. Secondly, the executive is responsible to the assembly because the executive is directly drawn from the assembly. The "vote of no confidence" given by the Parliament may bring down the government and this compels the president to invite the leader of the main opposition party to form a government (Ibid: 53). Conversely, the legislative can be dissolved by the executive. Thirdly, in the parliamentary system since the executive is drawn from the parliament, it's fair to argue that there is no clear separation of powers (Charlton, 1986: 16-7). Those who are making the laws and those who are implementing it are the same people. Fourthly and very related to the above characteristics, the head of government is not chosen directly by the voters (Siaroff, 2005: 145). According to some, this characteristic seems to be less democratic compared to the directly elected president in the presidential system.

France (from the fifth Republic onwards) is the main example of the semipresidential type of executive. This is a mixed system combining core elements of presidentialism and parliamentarism. The dual executive character of this system means that there are both president and prime minister in the system. As cited in Cheibub et al. (2013: 3), Elgie defines semi-presidential system as a system in which "a popularly elected fixed-term president exists alongside a prime minister and cabinet who are responsible to parliament". In this system the president has considerable power such as appointing the prime minister, controlling army, right to dissolve the parliament and negotiate treaties. However, it is expected that the president should be at a distance from daily politics (Derbyshire and Derbyshire, 1991: 62).

One of the most important features and potential complication of this system is the "cohabitation". This means that the president and prime minister from different parts of political spectrum can work together (Ibid: 63). The observation of Poguntke and Webb is worth quoting:

Its actual working mode is directly dependent upon presence or absence of party political congruence between the President and the Parliamentary majority. In periods of unified government, semi-Presidential regimes resemble an extreme form of Parliamentarism in times of divided government; however, semi-Presidential regimes revert to a unique mix of Parliamentary and Presidential elements of government (Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 4).

To sum up, the specific implementation of semi-presidential system depends not on the formal features but instead on the power relations between the prime minister and president.

Within this understanding, "scholars rely on an assumption that the presidentialparliamentary distinction classifies constitutions that are reasonably homogenous (Cheibub, Elkins and Ginsburg, 2013: 1-2). In this reasoning, whether one knows, just to give an example, that Turkey has a parliamentarian constitution, s/he can be, to a great extent, able to grasp the position and powers of the Turkish prime minister. He has to be "first among equals" considering his relations with the Cabinet, he has to share powers with his colleagues in the government, he and his government are responsible to the parliament, and he has to gain steady support of his party in the parliament because it is the party who makes him the chief executive, and so on. Returning back to our example, these are directly derived from the broader logic of the fact that Turkish type of executive is parliamentary constitutionally. But, what if the system, in its actual functioning, does not resemble the properties and attributes, whether necessary or sufficient?

A group of people considers that the study of the executive institution has to be anchored in the political logic of the larger system. In this consideration, the system is thought as a package system. The ideal American model of executive is thought as the "mixed system of government". Presidents work within a formal constitutional system of separated institutions sharing power and a president leads by building political coalitions. Although there are times to experience strong presidents, such as the Imperial Presidency arguments during the Cold War, the enduring theme has been the weakness of the presidency. The office is depended on the persuasion skills of the president. On the contrary, the ideal British model is identified with strong centralized leadership thanks to disciplined party and parliamentary majority within highly collegial institutions. The institutional features of the British government offer opportunities for prime ministerial dominance. At the period of popular prime ministers, not restrained by the Cabinet and parliament move in a system in which the checks and balances are removed. This group does not deny that the ideal systems may face common political trends. However, what they reject is these trends do not necessarily mean common institutional responses. In other words, convergence and divergence at some points may go hand in hand. Fair to note, they believe in that the political logic of the each system permits variations within the prevailing system (such as weak and strong PMs and Presidents). However, they direct attentions towards being cautious in claiming the emergence of a new political logic and a new executive politics (Hargrove 2001).

In contrast to previous institutionalist school, many people claim that comparisons, crosscutting ideal classical typology and a reformulation are perfectly acceptable.

They argue that these classical types are constructed as ideal types and they are not strictly separated from each other in the real world, thus there may be transitions among them. In this vein, over the last twenty years, there have been attempts at rethinking, at reformulating, at searching for variations among these types. In these attempts (see Table 2.1), the issue of heterogeneity among types (Cheibub et al. 2013), parallel developments affecting all the types (implying a parallel development rather than a convergence) (Foley 1993 and 2000), arguments for the same working mode operating in all types (Poguntke and Webb 2005) seem to be the main lines. Presidential analogy and/or presidentialization are clearly such an attempt.

Table	2.1	The	attempts	at	reformulating,	rethinking	and	searching	for
variati	ons a	among	g the classi	cal (	threefold types o	f executive a	pproa	ich <sup>4</sup>	

Approach	Author	Contribution
Variations among presidential regimes	Shugart and Carey 1992;	Presidents wield a wider range of powers than generally assumed. Some have full control of the hiring and firing of the cabinet whereas other do not; some have significant law- making powers and others do not.
Veto players approach	Tsebelis 2002	The overall argument is that most of the differences between regimes discussed in the traditional literature can be studied as differences in the number, ideological distances and cohesion of the corresponding veto players as well as the identity, preferences, and institutional powers of agenda setters.
Heterogeinty among classical categories	Cheibub, Elkins and Ginsburg 2013	When and where the constitution is written is more important in analysing the powers of an executive than whether the country has a presidential or parliamentary regime.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This table is prepared by the author; however the inspiration behind it certainly belongs to Cheibub et al. 2013.

 Table 2.1 (continued)

British Presidency	Michael Foley 1993, 2000,	Contemporary conditions
(Analysis of the British	2008b, 2012	affecting modern democracies
executive – a parliamentary		may lead both the offices of
regime – in an engaging		presidency and prime ministry
manner with the		to be moving along parallel
developments of the		lines of developments.
American presidency		Although these developments
		may not produce a
		convergence, nevertheless
		allow us to search for a
		comparable identity.
Presidentialization of Politics	Poguntke and Webb 2005	The modern/advanced
(mainly the diversity within		democracies have come to
Parliamentary systems)		operate under the ideal
		working conditions of the
		presidential regime. However,
		this does not mean that all
		regimes can be named
		presidential.

### 2.2 The Concept of Presidentialization

At the very broader level, conventionally, the concept of presidential is the opposite of the parliamentary. The "parliamentary politics" is considered as party politics, which is, as the assumption goes, characterized with less significant individualistic elements. Within the framework of such kind of an understanding, "parliamentary elections" are mainly considered as contests between parties representing social cleavages. In this formulation, the personalities of leaders are thought as electorally irrelevant. Thus, presidentialization, at the broader level, implies the increasing importance of the leaders' personality in parliamentary systems. As far as what presidentialization refers *constitutionally/legally* is considered, it should be claimed that presidentialization is meant to "adopt one or more formal constitutional features of presidentialism" (Zaznaev, 2008: 30). However, a new regime would not meet all the criteria of presidentialism. As quoted by Zaznaev, Webb argues that "where a parliamentary democracy adopts one of the necessary elements of presidentialism in isolation, it does not become a presidential regime as such, but it does introduce presidential features" (Ibid). Within this framework, one can talk about two different types of presidentialization: legal/constitutional (de jure) and factual (de facto) or in

Krouwel's terms "constitutional presidentialization" and "political presidentialization"<sup>5</sup>. *Politically*, the presidentialization generally evoke, among others, the "concentration of power around a political leader" (e.g. prime minister in parliamentary system), "centralization of decision-making" (at the office of the PM), "a new kind of leadership" which is distanced and detached from the party and/or government, "personalization of elections" and "pluralization of advice" ready to political leaders. According to Helms (2005a: 253) "the lowest common denominator of the different conceptions of presidentialism" is "a gradual transformation of key features of political process in parliamentary regimes into political manifestations considered being typical of the political process under presidential government".

*Historically*, the presidential analogy/presidentialization was originated in the British context which necessitates me to deal with the issue at hand at some length<sup>6</sup>.

### 2.2.1 The British Context

It is fair to argue that the historical seeds of the (contemporary) presidentialization debate could be found within the "Cabinet versus Prime Ministerial government<sup>7</sup>"

• Will dominate the Cabinet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> With respect to Romanian politics, Krouwel conceptualized political presidentialization as to imply "ruling by decree by the president" (2003: 14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This does not mean that I consider it meaningful to compare Turkish and British executive systems. To me, it is a must because historically the idea of the presidentialization of parliamentary democracies originated from the British case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> For a system to be described as prime ministerial, Buckley (2006: 167) noted the following eight key features that need to be present. The Prime Minister:

<sup>•</sup> Dominates the policy-making process.

<sup>•</sup> Takes responsibility for all key policy decisions.

<sup>•</sup> Will determine the outcome of the process of collective responsibility.

<sup>•</sup> Will claim a separate source of authority from party and electorate and not rely exclusively on Parliament.

<sup>•</sup> Will act as the principal spokesperson for the government and will be treated as the ultimate interpreter of government policy.

<sup>•</sup> Will clear all key decisions made by cabinet ministers.

<sup>•</sup> Will make good use of prerogative powers that allow him or her to act as head of state. This is especially relevant to foreign policy, defence and security which tend to be personal powers of the Prime Minister and subject to few controls.
discussions in the 1960s in Britain. Walter Bagehot in *The English Constitution* (1865) argued that the secret of the British political system was the Cabinet, rather than the parliament, that dominated the government. He argued that the Cabinet was the "buckle which fastens" (as an institution that keep the whole political system together) and the "hypen" (joining legislature to the executive) (cited in Holmes, 2008: 408). In Cabinet government, the prime minister (just a member of the Cabinet, with more authority than each of the other members) works together with Cabinet Ministers in governing the country. The prime minister just being a chair of a committee must contend with the Ministers and needs steady support of them (Hargrove 2009, Holmes 2008). The Cabinet government model stresses that the executive is collegial executive. The collective cabinet responsibility contends that the Cabinet as a whole resigns in the event of a vote of no confidence.

John P. Mackintosh and Richard H. S. Crossman were two important proponents of the prime ministerial government thesis in the 1960s. The transformation of Cabinet government into a prime ministerial one was considered as a result of three important developments experienced in the 20<sup>th</sup> century, all of them increased the powers of the prime ministers: the growth of the civil service, the growth of the modern, disciplined, mass political parties and the prime ministerial domination of government publicity machine. Crossman, referring to Bagehot's terms, argued that "the hypen which joins, the buckle which fastens, the legislative part of the state to the executive part, becomes one single man" (cited in Hart, 1991: 210).

In line with the masterful study of John Hart (1991: 209-213), I think there are at least two important conclusions that could be drawn from this specific debate. First of all, neither Mackintosh nor Crossman<sup>8</sup> (although they both considered and compared the two systems) came to a conclusion that this form of prime ministerial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> There are important variations between the authors. For example, Crossman could be considered more eager to relegate Cabinet to a more subordinate position compared to Mackintosh. For a detailed analysis of their ideas, see Hart 1991.

government the same as presidential government. They both rejected it due to the possibility of "a prime minister can be unseated by his/her colleagues or by his/her party". The debate, certainly, had taken place within the cabinet system. In Mackintosh ideas the locus of power had shifted to the prime minister whereas according to Crossman now a single man used a collective body to serve himself/herself. However, neither of them claimed that there had emerged a new system similar to a presidential one. As John Hart (1991: 211) concluded "there is nothing in their writings to justify the substitution of presidential to prime ministerial government"<sup>9</sup>. Comparisons between the British prime minister and American president emerged as an unintended by-product of Mackintosh-Crossman thesis. Secondly, it is highly instructive that the prime ministerial power debate in Britain, in the words of Rhodes and Dunleavy, had been "an almost inactive field" over the 1970s and 1980s<sup>10</sup>. This is also relevant in terms of presidential analogy in order to account for British premiers. I believe that it is an important indicator of the fact that the president/prime ministers comparisons has an essentially empirical character. According to George Jones, one of the most known academic opponents of the prime ministerial government thesis, it was the Prime Minister Harold Macmillan's method and/or style that paved the way for the writings of Mackintosh and Crossman in the 1960s.

Putting aside the relevance or irrelevance of these theses, the office of prime minister is thought to be affected by the character and style of people sitting there. The absence of a highly effective/extraordinary prime minister until Margaret Thatcher could be the reason of the silence of the field. On the other hand, this observation warns us to be careful in claiming durable changes while dealing with increasing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> One of the most important exceptions was Humphry Berkeley. Following the footsteps of Mackintosh-Crossman prime ministerial thesis, he argued that "we are now operating in a presidential system". While he was making this similarity, he aimed at curbing the powers of the prime minister and providing necessary safeguards against it (Hart, 1991: 211).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> If there had been any important contribution to the debate in the 1980s, it came from a different context, from Australia rather than Britain, by Patrick Weller's study of *First Among Equals: Prime Ministers in Westminster Systems* (Hart, 1991: 225).

powers of the prime ministers. The following most important contributions (one is British Presidency argument and the other is electoral presidentialization) in this literature were going to come at the end of Margaret Thatcher premiership.

At the very early stages, presidentialization had been mainly studied as "presidentialization of electoral politics" trying to gather attentions toward the increasing importance of political leaders, which is argued in theory as less important in the British parliamentary system, in the electoral process (Pryce 1997, Mughan 2000). Nevertheless, there were exceptions, like the work of Jones (1991, 117-131) who dealt with the Thatcher era, which tries to tackle with the "developments said to contributing the presidentializing the system": the aloofness of the premier from parliament; the devaluation of Cabinet; direct appeal to public; politicization of the civil service and building up of the prime minister's own staff. Jones's work seems to be one of the first studies putting together the so-called indicators/developments taken as evidences of presidentialization.

The following part will highlight key points of the contributions of Michael Foley within the British context.

#### 2.2.1.1 The Rise of the British Presidency

After a certain period of stagnation in prime ministerial and presidential government discussions in Britain, the end of Margaret Thatcher premiership (1979-1990 in office) was coincided with important publications. At the one side of the debate, George Jones located himself as a fervent opponent of presidency school<sup>11</sup>. This position acknowledged that one had to be cautious in arguing that the changes to prime ministerial power were permanent. There are practical restrictions and forces at work that will prevent any prime minister from establishing a complete

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In addition to George Jones, one could add Peter Hennessy and Martin Burch, as did by Buckley (2006: 174, 175).

dominance. The office of the prime minister, they believed, is flexible and will be shaped by individual premiers. Jones provided a set of requirements<sup>12</sup> for a system to be called presidential and after an inquiry he came out with a conclusion arguing that Britain was clearly not a presidential system. Instead, Jones used the analogy of "elastic band" in defining the cabinet system "which can be stretched either toward strength or weakness under the influence of the prime minister" (cited in Hargrove, 2001: 64). A prime minister may stretch the powers of the office well beyond which would usually be considered "normal". There is a limit and there will be tensions to force the band to return to an unstretched state. In short, this position highlighted that a prime minister maybe in a powerful position only their colleagues allow them to be (cited in Buckley, 2006: 175). At the other side of the debate, one can find Michael Foley and his ideas on the "British Presidency". It should be claimed that Foley's studies are interested in an "old chestnut" of a debate whether the British politics has become (more) presidential or not since the 1960s (Clarke, 1994: 327).

Foley published *The Rise of British Presidency* in 1993 and *The British Presidency* in 2000. The original analysis in 1993 was dominated by Thatcher's leadership whereas the updated and more detailed publication in 2000 focused on the Blair's period. Foley analysed some of the discernible features and developments of the US presidency and tried to employ these into the British context. He was interested in and in search of parallel developments affecting these different political systems. Foley was talking about the "presidential allusion" and an "analogy" that "alerts us to the possibility of general trends in the underlying properties of political leadership and to the existence of new resources and strategies of leadership that may well signify deep and comparable changes in two, ostensibly different, political systems"<sup>13</sup>. In his words, the "presidential analogy" and/or "de facto presidentialism"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> These are cited in Hargrove (2001: 64) as the following: the prime minister makes the important policy decisions; the cabinet has come to be an entourage of advisers but does not act as a group; the prime minister has a department/staff loyal only to him; the prime minister has a direct relation to the voters; and the term of the office of prime minister does not depend on a legislature.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Cited in Judge, 1994: 115

should be used to account for changes considering the position and authority of a prime minister because the customary depiction of a prime minister who is first among equals in the Cabinet has continued to evolve due to contemporary conditions (Foley, 2008b: 54).

Foley provided what his understanding of the US presidency was: a presidency "operating in a strict separation of powers system, a fixed term of office and electoral/political independence from the legislature". If one apply these characteristics to the British case, it is obvious that Britain is not a presidency. What would be the reasons, then, that led him to argue for a rise of the British presidency. In fact he listed nineteen (19) reasons<sup>14</sup>; however four of them necessitate special attention (for an instructive summary of the important terms, see the table 2.2 The most important concepts of Michael Foley on the *British Presidency*).

The term "spatial leadership" refers to "the way in which political authority is protected and cultivated by the creation of a sense of distance and detachment from government"<sup>15</sup>. Foley thought that this was the way Thatcher and Blair applied in terms of their leadership. The spatial leadership contains in itself being outsider in the party, the existence of an unconventional policy agenda and populist appeal. Rhodes (2006: 328) noted the key methods for a spatial leadership: "going public" or trying to build support by appealing to the public and "getting personal" or using media to build personal relationship with the public.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Judge, 1994: 115.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Cited in Rhodes, 2006: 328.

# Table 2.2 The most important concepts of Michael Foley on the BritishPresidency

1 Spotial Loadonship	2 Cult of the outeider		
<b><u>1. Spatial Leadership</u></b>	2. Cult of the outsider This is the distance slaimed by sither Dresident		
This term refers to the attempts made by	This is the distance claimed by either President		
American Presidents to distance themselves	or Prime Minister from the political		
politically from the presidency when it is	establishment. Nixon, Carter, Reagan and		
expedient to do so. Foley uses Major's	Clinton in the United States, and every British		
Citizen's Charter as a good example of the	Prime Minister since Callaghan have claimed to		
way in which this idea has been adopted in the	be outsiders and therefore not to have the vested		
UK. By publicly criticising bureaucratic	interest of the government insider. Thatcher was		
elements of government, Major gave the	particularly adept at this in the way she courted		
impression that he was on the side of the	the rank and file of her party and dealt in		
ordinary citizen, battling against oppressive	populist politics that circumvented party élites		
bureaucracy.	and Whitehall.		
3. The personal factor	4. Command and control premiership		
In both the United States and Britain an	The term implies a special prime ministerial		
integrated image of a party and its programme	attention and interference in departments in		
is now being routed through its leader. In this	order to check whether they are pursuing the		
way, differences between parties tend to	office of prime minister's priorities. The need		
become personalised. It is assumed that the	for a prime minister (especially relevant for		
personal qualities of the Prime Minister and	Tony Blair) to become personally involved in		
other leaders are central to public evaluations	issues has led to the impression that where no		
of political leadership and performance.	intervention is planned or threatened, no prime		
F F F F	ministerial interest exists. The wisdom should		
	be summarized as "things only happen when		
	Mr. Blair takes personal charge". The command		
	and control premiership is considered as special		
	governing style by Foley and in establishing it,		
	the role of special advisers of the prime minister		
	(challenging hierarchies, processes and		
	conventions) is of greater importance. Such a		
	style creates an impression of a "private" and		
	"ingrown regime".		

#### Table 2.2 (continued)

**5.** Public leadership Especially relevant for the last 30 years in the American presidency, public leadership phenomenon refers to a requirement of contemporary leaders to create a direct relation with the concerns of the public. This aims at diversifying leader's political base and bargaining resources. In fact, this should be considered "as a process of disintermediation" in which the leader attempts to marginalize or even displace the claims of other agencies/actors to speak on behalf of the wider public and national interest <sup>16</sup>. The public leadership and/or presidency is ensured or caused by "leader stretch" in which party leader become progressively differentiated from their organizational bases in terms of media attention, public recognition and political identity.

Source: Buckley, 2006: 178 and the author<sup>17</sup>

Michael Foley has insisted to hold his position in the following years. He went on to analyse the case of Tony Blair premiership through the presidential analogy in terms of leadership consolidation, prime ministerial critique and leadership decline in his 2004<sup>18</sup> and 2008 articles. The following passage is very instructive for a summary indicating his main claim:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The following explanation of Foley is worth to be quoted at length: "the prime minister has pursued an uninhibited process of claiming a contractual relationship between himself and his administration on the one side and the interests of British people on the other. In doing so, he has conspicuously established himself at the centre of government responsibility and accountability". Foley quoted Blair at this point: "that is my covenant with the British people. Judge me upon it. The buck stops here". (Foley, 2004: 293).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The first three terms have been taken from Buckley's study. The explanations for the "concepts of command and control premiership" and "public leadership" are composed by the author through summarizing what Foley (2004 and 2008b) has written on the issue at hand. For a detailed analysis of command and control premiership, see Foley (2004: 297 and 2008b: 59-61) and for public leadership, see Foley (2004: 293-294 and 2008b: 55-56).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The title of the 2004 article in which he considered the usage and critical intent of presidential allusion was "Presidential attribution as an agency of prime ministerial critique in a parliamentary democracy: the case of Tony Blair". To name but few, he showed that the presidential attribution is and should be used to express personal hostility to a leader, to gather attention to excessive powers of the prime minister, to criticize the governing style of the leader and his/her close team, to prime minister's increasing attention to foreign policy and his/her specific policy agenda in that area etc.

The assertion is that the changes do not constitute a set of extensions to the traditional schema, or a settled order of growth. Instead, they are claimed to represent a qualitative shift in form and substance – namely that a profusion of political developments have transcended the formal infrastructure of Britain's political system to the point where the usage of the presidential analogy has become so compelling as to indicate the emergence of de facto British presidency (Foley, 2004: 54).

He, once more, needed to highlight that, "despite numerous attempts by others to claim otherwise", what he has been arguing "is not an emergence of a British version of the US presidency, but an authentically British Presidency evolved out of the British political structure and in response to British political conditions and traditions" (Foley, 2012: 7).

Although a full-fledged analysis (of the contributions and/or critiques<sup>19</sup>) of Foley is impossible, it is necessary to note some of them. First of all, the British presidency (as a model of British government<sup>20</sup>) seems to be gathering the attentions toward "the gap between public expectations and cumbersome character of the Cabinet government". The prime ministers have appeared to fill this gap by creating a personal political persona. The prime ministers are now considered as "a national figure in his own right against which his or her government is judged by the public" (Hargrove, 2009: 23-25). Foley, for sure, has attempted to account for this contemporary development. Secondly, there is no doubt that Foley's insights on the leadership in general and on spatial leadership in particular are "reasoned and

This study is important because to the contrary of the general wisdom which views presidential analogy almost positive and expansive interpretation of executive authority, it aimed to delineate the usage of the term for political dissent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> One of the most important and indeed powerful critiques directed to Foley was that "he never said what a British presidency is" (Judge 1994). Although he listed the reasons that gave rise to a British presidency, he was more successful in terms of indicating what a British presidency is not: it is not a British version of the US presidency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Hargrove (2009: 23-25) considers the British presidency, together with Cabinet government and Core Executive models, as 3 models of British government.

illuminating" (Judge, 1994: 116, Rhodes 2006, Helms 2005a<sup>21</sup>, Buckley 2006<sup>22</sup>). However, Rhodes (2006: 328) argues that "indeed Foley's argument seem to be more about changing role of parties and party leadership than about prime ministers and cabinets". Thirdly, although Foley has noted that Britain saw exceptionally powerful leaders in the past, he attributed their pre-eminence to special conditions (such as wartime). According to him, on the contrary, Thatcher<sup>23</sup> and Blair were the dominant leaders during unexceptional times (2004: 296). I argue that it is questionable whether it is possible to label the contexts of both Thatcher and Blair as unexceptional. On the contrary, I side with Hargrove (2001: 65-67) in that their specific contexts, the end of predominant Keynesian paradigm for Thatcher period and the rising moments of Third Way arguments for Blair, have played into their hands in claiming to fill the ideological vacuum experienced at the time and in claiming and/or implementing policy mandates far exceeded their popular supports. Finally, as Heffernan (2012: 1) summarized, the Blair premiership which was considered as presidential was followed by Brown's premiership which was labelled as unpresidentialized. This could be a sign for presidentialization falling further from favour. This is an important critique against Foley. However, Foley holds his position that presidentialization is valid for both leadership expansion and decline. It should also account for decline because the appearance of the following three problems is inevitable: getting hard to maintain the momentum of public contact; the leader by time will be assimilated within the process of government and such leadership will provide opportunity for opposition (Foley, 2008b: 57-58). A dominant prime minister should stretch the office to a degree that his followers certainly will try to benefit from it. It is a structural development for Foley.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Helms (2005a) argues that Foley's studies are the most sophisticated ones in the presidentialization literature in terms of considering electoral and decision-making arenas.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> "If the modern prime minister is indeed separate from his/her cabinet, it does not imply a dominance of cabinet, or a simple shift in balance of power. This is a brand-new style of leadership" (Buckley, 2006: 179).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Foley attributed the dominance of Thatcher, especially, to her personality and her individual agenda for reform in government.

The following quotation is very critical:

It is commonly claimed that a prime minister with a presidential style or orientation will always be forced in the end to return to 'normality' with what is often stated to be a revival of politics. It is further asserted that such a transition constitutes a restoration of the structural integrity of the parliamentary-cabinet system and, with it, an inevitable dissolution of leadership presumption and prerogative. Both these reflexive responses are open to dispute. The presidential dimension in the British system should not be seen either as a euphemism for the suspension of politics, or as a deviant condition that is necessarily unsustainable (Foley, 2008b: 65).

Although this observation seems to be related with the British case, this is certainly the most important question that every scholar within the presidentialization debate has to face and account for. Thus, Foley should be appreciated even if only this observation.

#### 2.2.1.2 Presidentialization of Parliamentary Elections

Anthony Mughan's study of *Media and Presidentialization of Parliamentary Elections* (2000) is one of the most sophisticated studies in the presidentialization literature. To account for the dominance of political figures/leaders such as Margaret Thatcher in Britain and Bob Hawke in Australia in the 1980s, which seemed to be a puzzle in parliamentary democracies, was the main motivation behind the study. As the author rightly argued, he waited for some time since the 1980s to observe whether the presidential elements in parliamentary elections are "transient" or "represented a durable change". This study, although had implicit wider implications, mainly dealt with "the role of leaders in shaping the conduct and outcome of parliamentary election campaigns" (2000: 1). It's impossible to do justice to the every important arguments of Mughan. However, the following part will be in an attempt to provide how Mughan developed his concept of presidentialization at some depth.

At the broader level, Mughan started to compare the "conventional" understanding of the concept of parliamentary in opposition to the concept of presidential. In this vein, according to him, the "parliamentary politics" is considered as party politics, which is devoid of individualistic elements. Within the framework of such kind of an understanding, "parliamentary elections" are contests between parties representing social cleavages. In this formulation, the personalities of leaders are thought as electorally irrelevant. Mughan, by referring to the Kircheimer's insights on the emergence of "catch-all" parties and "ideological depolarization" that had started to be observed in the large western european political parties, highlighted that these developments had paved the way for the transformation of the character of parliamentary politics and for greater autonomy to leaders in defining the party policy over a wide range of issues (2000: 1-2). In his words, "thus there emerged a tendency to personalize politics" contrary to collective character of parliamentary politics.

As far as the concept of presidential is considered, Mughan (2000: 6-7) noted three important characteristics, provided by Lijphart, that are thought to be key differences from the parliamentary type of executive: a) it is a one-person executive in contrast to collective executive, b) presidential heads of governments are directly elected whereas in parliamentary executives they are selected by the legislature, and c) except special circumstances, a president cannot be forced to resign. In short, he stressed that presidential institutional arrangements encourage individualism and parliamentary government is first and foremost government by party. Considering these conventional understandings of both concepts, he argued that:

The term "presidentialization" therefore implies movement over time away from collective to personalized government, movements away from a pattern of governmental electoral politics dominated by the political party towards one where the party leader becomes a more autonomous political force" (Mughan, 2000: 7)

This is, in other words, a convergence on the individualist American model. In fact, this convergence can take several forms: Mughan (2000: 8-10) identifies three forms: a) *constitutional presidentialization* which occurs with a constitutional clause specifically empowering the party leader heading the government. The highly used

mechanisms to reach to a constitutional presidentialization are a new constitutionmaking or amendment. The highly cited examples are the Federal Republic of Germany just after the Second World War and the 1996 Israeli constitutional revision which allowed for the direct election of the prime minister; b) de facto presidential transformation of parliamentary systems of government and/or evolutionary change in the absence of constitutional change means the changing relationship between the prime ministers and other political actors in the advantage of the former without a constitutional change. In this form of presidentialization, leaders seem to be less inclined to observe constitutional proprieties and more willing to institutionalize alternative sources of advice. Considering the relations between the cabinet and prime minister; this was the essence of a well-known debate in Britain which had asserted that the cabinet government had given way to primeministerial government.; and finally c) transient presidentialization which occurs at a time of crisis. In this form, the need for rapid, effective and efficient decision-making may increase the power and autonomy of prime ministers similar to that of president in presidential regimes. Mughan (2000: 9) argues that when the crisis passed, the toleration shown to a 'heroic leader' would be withdrawn. Such form of presidentialization was the characteristic pattern applied in the Third and Fourth French Republics.

Having provided the concept of presidentialization and its types, he noted his own understanding which sees:

Presidentialization as a personalization of electoral politics that on the one hand occurs within the parameters of an unchanging parliamentary constitution and on the other persists over time, albeit that the actual impact of the party leaders on mass political behaviour and election outcomes can vary in magnitude from one contest to the next". He argues that if a parliamentary election is held to be presidential, leaders do influence behaviour (Mughan, 2000: 9).

His differentiation between presidentialism and presidentialization worth to be noted: presidentialism refers to a leader's independent electoral impact in a single election,

whereas presidentialization implies that this impact has persisted and has become stronger over a number of elections (2000: 10).

If an overview is needed, there is no doubt that Mughan's presidentialization is certainly directed at electoral presidentialization. However, this specific debate opened up the way towards the differentiation of the types of presidentialization such as constitutional, evolutionary, transient and electoral. Helms (2005a: 254) argued that constitutional changes, evolutionary changes and transient political circumstances leading to presidentialization, in fact, can be grouped under two headings: manifestations based on constitutional change (the first category in Mughan) and manifestations relating to the behaviour of political actors (the second and third categories in Mughan's scheme). He concluded that Mughan's insights forced us to keep the dimensions of change apart analytically and Mughan's specific understanding of presidentialization contributed to the debate in clearing the definitional confusion.

In addition to Mughan's contribution to the types of presidentialization, I believe that his accent of the "persistence" of the leader effect over a number of elections (which is the difference of presidentialization from the presidentialism in his ideas) thought as the main criteria in his electoral presidentialization, is very critical. This observation, albeit confined to electoral arena in Mughan's study, is very much related with the wider debate whether this presidentialized effects are to be considered transient, based on contingent factors, or indicating a durable change due to structural changes. Thinking together with the remarks of whether such changes will in the end be "forced to return to normality" in the discussion of the overview of Foley, I believe the most important legacy of the British context to the ongoing presidentialization thesis.

#### 2.2.2 The Presidentialization of Politics

One of the key characteristics of the contemporary debate is that there are attempts to rescue the discussions from the "constitutional formalities and apparent reliance on short-run idiosyncrasies of individual leaders" and by this way tries to examine the developments experienced by modern democracies in order to frame these sufficiently similar phenomena under a generalized conception (Foley, 2008a). One of such an attempt came from Poguntke and Webb in 2005 with the publication of The Presidentialization of Politics. In Budge's (2006) words, their clear distinction between the "process and regime" and in Persson's (2008: 433) words their attempt to "let democratic systems vary on a scale running between partified and presidentialized government instead of treating them as separate" is very welcome (see Figure 2.1: *Partified* and *presidentialized* governments).



Figure 2.1 Partified and presidentialized governments

Source: Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 6

Poguntke and Webb (2005) argue that "internationalization of politics, the growth of state, increasing importance of media and the declining importance of traditional social cleavages shaping electoral preferences" give way to a world-wide process which they called "the presidentialization of politics". In their words, "regardless of formal constitutional characteristics/regime types; regimes are becoming more presidential in their actual practices without changing their formal structures" (Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 1).

It is necessary to highlight that what is proposed by presidentialization does not "simply mean that there is no difference between parliamentary and presidential regimes" (Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny, 2011: 2). By the term presidentialization, it should be understood that "rather than referring to a shift in the formal-legal context from parliamentarism to presidentialism, the informal changes in the working mode of political systems are the main interest, whereby they increasingly come to operate according to a logic resembling that of presidentialism" (Ibid, 2011: 4-5). Thus, in this formulation, the presidential regimes (especially the US case) are portrayed as ideal-types. Poguntke and Webb (2005: 5) have noted this "functional logic of the presidential system" as following:

- 1. Leadership power resources: The logic of presidentialism provides the head of government with superior executive power resources.
- Leadership autonomy: The head of executive is well protected against the pressures from his own party.
- 3. Personalization of the electoral process: This follows directly from the natural focus on the highest elective office and implies that all aspects of the electoral process are decisively moulded by personalities of the leading candidates.

Having provided the main tenets of the types of executive; Poguntke and Webb (2005) called presidentialization as to imply that regardless of the formal/constitutional characteristics, the working mode of systems has gradually come closer to presidential one. This trend of *de facto presidentialization of politics* 

is more visible in its three faces affected by factors other than formal constitutional structures: the executive face, the party face and the electoral face (Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 5). The executive face implies both a shift in intra-executive power to the benefit of the head of government (be it prime minister or president) and growing degrees of autonomy of leaders from their parties (Ibid: 9). The presidential-style domination of executives should be explained by relying on "short-term contingent factors" (size and cohesion of parliamentary support; the current standing with the electorate; personalities; unpredictable impact of events). Although this "contingent presidentialization" (Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny, 2011: 19) should not be underestimated; the changes associated with an enduring character may lead to the "structural presidentialization" (reorganization of government to increase the strategic coordination resources of the leader; reduced opportunities of collective decision-making; increase in the bilateral decision-making to the exclusion of the Cabinet; to promote non-party technocrats and politicians) which seems to be prioritized. The party face is meant an increasing power of leaders within their parties. The leaders seek to by-pass party activists, factional leaders and circles of power within their parties and to communicate directly with voters implying that the leader rather than the party competes for a popular mandate. The electoral face concerns the growing emphasis on leadership appeals in election campaigning, the increasing focus of the media coverage of politics on leaders and the growing significance of leader effects in voting behaviour (Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 10). As the party leadership rests less on the dominant coalition within the party, the power and autonomy of the leader is dependent on electoral success which seems to be a "precarious power base": presidentialized party leaders in this sense are less likely to survive electoral defeats than their precursors, who were safely entrenched in their parties (Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny, 2011: 9). To conclude, leaders are stronger in victory, but weaker in defeat.

#### 2.2.2.1 Factors Leading to Presidentialization of Politics

As far as the factors leading to presidentialization of politics are concerned; changes attributable to "structural factors" imply permanent character whereas "contingent factors" mean they can be reversible, short-term in nature and dependent on the actors' personalities and aims (see Figure 2.2: *the causal flows in presidentialization of politics*). The following part will be in an attempt to shed lights to these factors at some length.



Figure 2.2 The causal flows in presidentialization of politics

Source: Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 16

What is called "the internationalization of politics" by the authors implies that the important global issues cannot be handled domestically any more. This internationalization is argued to increase the autonomy and/or power of the head of executives due to the trends seen at the international level. The fight against terror, establishment of effective migration policies, battle against environment, global

financial issues, European integration process and so on are touched upon at the intergovernmental organizations at the global level. These co-operations are decided at the international negotiations that have been particularly important in shifting the power to the hands of the head of governments or some key-advisers (the executive presidentialization) because the international politics is seen a domain of leaders rather than parties (Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 350). Within this internationalization debate, the "Europeanization" arguments reserve a certain amount of place. The Europeanization is meant to one of the most important consequences of Europe's impact on national political system is that "national parliaments will lose influence over national executives as European integration proceeds" (Back at al., 2009: 227). Additionally, the economic and political integration have paved the way for the increasing power of prime ministers / presidents who have become key participants in the important political bargains in the Council of Ministers and the European Council. On the effects of Europeanization on the executive autonomy; the following points are worth noting: First of all, the Europeanization is believed to increase the "autonomy of executives from domestic political and social pressures" (Back et al., 2009: 229) indirectly. The transfer of domestic issues to supranational/international levels plays into the hands of national executives in avoiding blames, however, on the other hand, it increases the vulnerability of the country at hand due to the global trends. Secondly, the governance methods applied in the EU (such as the Open Method of Coordination) create increasing information asymmetries in executivelegislative relations. Lastly, the coordinative and bureaucratic challenges of the European Union may give rise to a kind of technocratic cabinet governments.

As far as the "growth of state", one of the factors leading to presidentialization, is considered; it's plausible to argue for twin processes of "institutional differentiation" (increasing the organizational types through which government works) and "institutional pluralisation" (increasing numbers of the same type of organization) (Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 14). The responses of the state to these processes, which are considered very relevant to the phenomenon of presidentialization, are put

forward as "the centralization of the power in order to coordinate this institutional fragments" and "what is called sectorized policy-making - bilateral contacts between specific ministers and the head of the executive" which is undermining the collective cabinet responsibility (Ibid: 14). However, a careful analysis of the strategies/processes indicates that the policies conducted within this framework, also, may go hand in hand with what is called "the restructuring of the state", which should be claimed to provide small and efficient states. Nevertheless, this seemingly paradox between the centralization of power and the restructuring the state seems to give way for a strategic coordination directed by the state (Ibid: 14). This need for an increasing coordination, through making many institutions dependent on the office of the prime ministry, on specific ministry and on specific actors could be evaluated in terms of their function aimed at centralizing the political processes.

The increasing "importance of media" is also highlighted in these debates. It's believed that the media has started to focus more and more on the personality of political leaders rather than their programmes in order to reduce the complexity of political issues. Additionally, it is argued that the media is also instrumentalized by political leaders through reliance more on symbolism rather than substance. As the media's focus on individual leaders increase; the public is provided with the chance to judge the leaders "as persons". In this sense, the "symbolic closeness" to masses is considered a necessary condition for the emergence and electoral success of a leader (Garzia, 2011: 2). Besides, one of the observations on the relationship between media and leader is that the former has the "lowering effect" on the latter. Garzia (2011: 5), quoting Meyrowitz, notes the following on the lowering effect of media:

through television we see "too much" of our politicians; as "the camera minimizes the distance between the audience and performer...it lowers politicians to the level of their audience"...thus stripping them of the *aura* of greatness that characterizes any ideal conception of a political leader. From here, the paradox of candidates for the presidential nomination competing to look as *unpresidential* as possible, and of presidential (or prime ministerial) candidates chosen on the basis of their communicational, expressive, and relational capacities (emphasis in original).

Through this lowering effect of media and its successful use by some leaders; audiences view some politicians as expert in "public communication" and develop close ties "emotionally". In this sense, some leaders are produced with the help of their parties to imply that they are both special but they are also ordinary. This is what is called "celebrity politicians" by John Street (quoted in Nash, 2010: 199). To a certain extent, Bill Clinton, Silvio Berlusconi, Tony Blair (and this dissertation considers Recep Tayyip Erdoğan in this sense) should be provided as paradigmatic examples.

The last factor tries to direct attention to the "declining importance of traditional social cleavages shaping electoral preferences". The weakening social anchorage of a party entails the increasing pluralisation of its social base which implies the loss of social group ideology and coherent and integrated programmatic packages. This pluralisation of social base put the leader of the party at the very centre. The aim of maintaining the support of diverse groups and responding to the grass-roots demands of the party has to be skilfully managed.

### 2.2.2.2 Indicators of Presidentialization<sup>24</sup>

To name a full list of empirical indicators<sup>25</sup> is not easy which should be applicable to a wide range of cases. However, it is believed that certain empirical indicators should be highlighted as Poguntke and Webb did (2005: 19-20).

In dealing with the increasing leadership power within the executive; the following points should be searched for;

- A trend towards more personal polling in which the prime ministerial office regularly monitor personal popularity of leaders and voter policy preferences
- A growing tendency of chief executives to appoint non-party technocrats

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> For a more detailed discussion on the indicators of presidentialization, see Chapter IV.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> In addition to these indicators, it is argued that "the use of plebiscitary techniques by the head of the government" is an important sign of presidentialization (Helms, 2005b: 431).

- A growing tendency to have more cabinet reshuffles while the prime minister remains in office
- A growing tendency to consider the chief executives as the most important anchor of stability? (I believe in that such a tendency is especially critical for the Turkish case after the deteriorating relationship with the external powers such as International Institutions like International Monetary Fund (IMF) and the European Union (EU) affecting the course of internal developments).

As far as increasing leadership power within the party is concerned, indicators of both structural and contingent changes may include;

- Changes which give party leader more formal powers.
- The capacity of leaders to forge programmes autonomously of their parties.
- Becoming leading candidates although not being the most senior party politicians.

In terms of electoral process;

- The extent to which the media coverage has increasingly concentrated on leaders
- A change in leader effects on voting behaviour

I argue that a fair and balanced evaluation on the Poguntke and Webb's version of presidentialization should note (at least) the following contributions and shortcomings: First and foremost, it is certainly an attempt to try to save the concept from constitutional/formal legalism of the well-known tripartite types of executives. By the way of proposing a new classification between partified and presidentialized governments, they certainly contribute to the attempts of reformulating types of executives. As important as the previous contribution, their presidentialization thesis has freed up the concept from its British origins and/or its preoccupation with the British context. Their presidentialization gives way to cross country comparisons<sup>26</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> In fact, in their 2005 book, country experts have evaluated Britain, Germany, Italy, Spain, Denmark, Sweden, Canada, France, Finland, Portugal, Israel, and the US (among others) within the framework

Thirdly, they attempt to locate the issue into the long-term trends and by this way they try to pay due regard to personal, institutional and sociological factors. Their stress on the processual character of presidentialization has to be taken into consideration. Needless to note, they analytically provide the structural and of presidentialization, manifest different contingent causes types of presidentialization and list the indicators in order to operationalize the issue at hand. In contrast to these highly invaluable contributions, I agree with Foley (2008a) that it is not clear what the term presidentialization reflects, supports and promotes in terms of the kind of the politics in their version of presidentialization. In these arguments, whether the politics imply representation and/or agency, political symbolism, legitimacy, power relations or anti-politics is not clear. Although the political symbolism has been increasingly emphasized due to the growth of media's effect (Garzia 2011), to a great extent, the analysis on the term of politics, both in their studies and in the literature, seems to be secondary. It has to be dealt with great caution and I will deal with this critique at some depth in the following part in which I will sketch out my general position on the presidentialization.

#### **2.3 Overview of the Conceptual Framework**

The presidentialization thesis, in its all versions, is not without important criticism (see Table 2.3 for the summary of the main ideas of proponents and opponents although it is not exhaustive). However, I consider noting some of them important at this point. Considering the Foley's British Presidency arguments, observers stress the following counter arguments to Foley's claims: the fall of Thatcher in 1990 by largely the work of her Cabinet (persuading her to leave the party leadership) and the turning of the public opinion polls against her; Blair's pre- and post-Iraqi war popularity rates, his own confession noting that on so many important decisions his most influential cabinet colleague Brown had stopped him and his own declaration that he was going to leave the leadership of the Labour Party due to increasing

proposed by Poguntke and Webb in the introduction. Additionally, one of the latest articles (Kefford 2013) has analysed the Australian case through presidentialization of politics approach.

pressures coming from his colleagues. (Holmes, 2008: 423-4; Heffernan 2012: 1). These examples for many indicated that a PM in a parliamentary regime never becomes a president because at one level his/her position is depended on how much his/her colleagues allow him/her to dominate. Admittedly, Foley's insistence on the rise of an authentic British presidency rather than a presidential regime and his argument for the relevance of presidential analogy in leadership decline (it is clear in his 2008 article) seems to be nuanced observations, however this debate goes on.

Regarding Mughan's electoral presidentialization arguments, the increasing leader effect in terms of electoral campaigns, leadership appeal of the media in election times and leaders' effect on the election outcomes have been argued for many years. However, especially, as far as electoral outcomes are considered, the data measuring leaders' effects autonomously in election outcomes hardly exists. And, by some the existing data justifies the opposite (Karvonen 2010). It is also admitted by Poguntke and Webb that the presidentialization in their electoral face is the least justified one, empirically.

## Table 2.3 The summary of the ideas of the proponents and opponents of the presidentialization thesis

Proponents			Opponents
Presidentialization			Institutional and/or
thesis	Main Author	Main arguments	Constitutional
Early voices	Crossman,	Never used the concept	differences always
	Mackintosh	of presidentialization,	matter: Changes will
		they considered the	never lead for a
		issue within the PM-	presidential regime if
		Cabinet debate.	the process does not
Authentic British	Michael Foley	Relying on the	matched with a
Presidency		developments in the	constitutional change
		modern leadership and	or a new constitution
		observing related	(because the executive
		changes in both the US	is still responsible to
		and Britain, Foley came	the assembly). It is
		to argue that rather than	totally wrong to label
		a British version of	the developments as
		presidential regime we	presidentialization.
		now have a British	Rather, what we have
		presidency. He thinks	been observing is
		that modern	exactly the "prime
		developments	ministerialisation" of
		represents somehow	prime ministers <sup>27</sup> .
		qualitative changes that	1
		do not allow us any	Although one may
		more to debate the issue	argue that the power
		within the PM-Cabinet	and power resources
		relations.	of prime ministers
			have increased over
			the years, prime
			ministers are always
			more powerful than
			presidents: If
			supported by a
			parliamentary
			majority and a
			disciplined party, a
			prime
			prime

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The term is used by Keith Dowding (2012) in terms of accounting for the British prime ministers. In a similar fashion but less critical on the presidentialization ideas, Richard Heffernan (2012) argues that due to the personalisation of politics, changes in the institutional power resources (being the head of government, a PM is involved in government policy; having the administrative and political means to access knowledge, a PM should extend his/her reach across government; being able to shape and influence other actors; and being able to frame and lead policy agenda of government) and party politics, prime ministers are generally "preeminent" within their government. If this pre-eminence is combined with the personal power resources (such as being electorally popular, considered as a high standing within the party, having a reputation for being a leader/extraordinary prime minister) of the prime minister, she/he will be "predominant".

#### Table 2.3 (continued)

Electerel	Anthony Marchar	Thursday and an annual state	
Electoral	Anthony Mughan	Through an empirical	minister is powerful
presidentialization		analysis of British	than a president.
		parliamentary elections	
		and party campaigns	The power of a
		over a certain period,	president in
		rather than a single	presidential regime,
		election, stated that	especially the US one
		leaders' effects are	is considered is a myth
		increasingly visible in	rather than a reality:
		parliamentary elections	there have been
Presidentialization	Poguntke and Webb	Due to both structural	powerful and
of politics		and contingent factors,	undeniable presidents,
		regimes come to reflect	however it is not
		the same mode of	possible unless the
		functioning in terms of	office of presidency is
		executives, party	thought to be filled by
		politics and electoral	a very exceptional
		processes. Both a	and/or historical
		parliamentary regime	leader.
		can move between	
		partified and	If there is any sign of
		presidentialized	presidentialization in a
		versions of it and a	parliamentary regime
		presidential regime	at all, it is more about
		between	the style of a particular
		presidentialized and	leader and it is of a
		partified versions of it.	more
		They opened up the	informal/behavioural
		concept to	kind: the
		international	presidentialized
		comparisons and freed	behaviours and styles
		up its heavy emphasis	of a prime minister will
		on the British context.	not matched with the
			substance of politics
			because there are
			structural and
			institutional barriers
			before it.
		1	

#### 2.3.1 Presidentialization and Other Approaches

As Anthony Mughan rightly argues that the "presidentialization" has been and is "part and parcel of a number of important debates in the study of politics". Thus, it is a phenomenon of broader interest. Although the focus of this dissertation will be on the "presidentialization in terms of executives and/or governments with respect to decision-making arena", it is nevertheless necessary to deal with the implications of the presidentialization thesis within the broader debates at some length. It is impossible to do justice to every framework within the limit and scope of this dissertation. The following part will be in an attempt to deal with issue at hand through providing the main arguments of presidentialization in relation to broader debates such as personalization and party decline and institutionalization.

As far as the study of executives is considered, one can locate the presidentialization debate into the shift from legal/formal towards the empirical approaches. As argued by Rhodes<sup>28</sup>, the presidentialization thesis, albeit its different conceptualizations and understandings, at the general level fits into the modernist/empiricist/behavioural approaches. These approaches basically subscribe to the claim that modern executives can be compared, measured at some points. The preoccupation of the presidentialization thesis with operationalizing the concept, as far as Poguntke and Webb is considered paying due regard to its different faces, has been a fundamental task for the scholars. Their search for indicators should be evaluated within the broader framework of empiricist approaches. Additionally, as it was clear especially considering the British case, certain political leaders and their behavioural styles in office led and has continuing to lead the scholars of executives to account for their period empirically as far as it is possible. Within this framework, the presidentialization thesis is both in a mutually affecting relationship and in a contest with other well-known approaches. Just to use the terminology of Helms (2005a: 17-22) among many, presidentialization falls into the category of an "interactionist approach" which try to pay due regard both to personal and systemic variables. The "leader-centred" approaches which mainly concentrate on the performance and impact of individual leaders, gives the priority to agency/actor whereas the institutional and structural approaches see the supremacy in institutional environment within which leaders operate and in structural conditions (such as the current stage of capitalism), respectively. The interactionist approach, to a certain extent, admits that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> According to Rhodes (2006: 324-327), the shift has manifested itself through moving from the formal-legalism of the Westminster model towards the modernist/empiricist and rational choice institutionalism approaches.

leader operate within an environment but argues that this environment is something more than institutional parameters and leaders cannot be considered as the hostages of the system. The attempt of Poguntke and Webb to provide the structural and contingent factors leading to presidentialization should be considered as a sign of accounting for both to personal and underlying systemic factors.

It can be argued that "No presidentialization theory" yet exists. However, it is plausible to speak about some theoretical elements in terms of hypothesis (such as the three faces of presidentialization – executive, party and electoral). Although they should not be seen identical; it is believed by this dissertation that as far as a theoretical framework, the "presidentialization thesis" seems to be in a close relationship with some other widely-known approaches such as "personalization of politics", "the decline of party government" and what should be called as "institutionalization of party". The following part of this chapter will be in an attempt to provide the main tenets of the above mentioned approaches as to locate the presidentialization thesis at the very fluid intersection of these broader frameworks. Considering the scope and aim of this dissertation, it is impossible to do justice to every debate in these frameworks. The emphasized points are consciously chosen as to provide what seems to be common with presidentialization thesis. At the end of this part, the common points of all these approaches will be provided.

#### **2.3.1.1** Personalization of Politics

The technological innovations in the media and organizational change put the leaders at the centre in modern democracies. This is especially relevant in terms of political communication. As far as the media effect is considered; it is argued that "the televised debate during national election campaigns" (especially in the 1990s) have directed attentions to the personalities of the leaders. Additionally, the transformation of the parties into catch-all parties signalled the declining role of ideology and put accent to the personalities of party leaders which has started to be more appealing to voters (Garzia, 2011: 3).

The personalization of politics could be seen as part of a more widespread processes such as "individualization of social life" which led people tend to perceive themselves and others as individuals rather than representative of collectivities: "macro-institutional" such as electoral laws and "micro-behavioural" perspectives that try to deal with distrust in representative institutions (Garzia, 2011: 2).

Within this framework; one of the key questions is "under which conditions, the leaders' personalities can be especially significant"? The rationale behind such a question is that there are factors affecting the role of leaders in individual voting behaviours. One of the factors is "the presence or absence of a dominant climate opinion" (Garzia, 2011: 9). The US 2004 election was held under the post 9/11 opinion climate which favoured the candidate who is believed to have higher leadership strength. The other factor should be identified as "the presence of a systemic crisis" within the political system. This presence of systemic crisis is believed to give way to the emergence charismatic leaders. The highly cited example is Silvio Berlusconi who appeared in the 1990s transition experienced in Italy (Ibid: 9). The following observation from Italy, but which can also be relevant to other cases, is worth quoting:

Why have leaders especially acquired so much importance? First, it should be kept in mind that when most of the old parties disappeared or had to change their name and outlook to survive, voters lost the reference points with which they used to orient themselves in the complex political world. At that point, party and coalition leaders appeared as an anchor, a shortcut to making voting decisions without being obliged to fully understand the ongoing and somehow obscure process of the transformation of the party system (Campus, 2010: 224).

Needless to note, the personalization debate has to deal with the relationship between the leader and the citizens. A latest contribution, in this sense, came from a co-authored book by Blondel and Thiébault et al<sup>29</sup>. Although, they prefer the term

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Blondel and co-authors argue that their framework is different from that of Poguntke and Webb. In their sense, the concept of presidentialization is an institutional argument which neglects the psychological dimension provided by personalised leadership (Ibid: 34).

"personalized leadership"<sup>30</sup>, they argue that there are mainly three types of relationships between the leaders and citizens: "discourses"; "direct contacts" which can take several forms such as clientelism, patronage and media dominance, and "reaction of citizens" which emphasis the notoriety, charisma and popularity of candidates (Blondel et al., 2010: 33).

Among these relationships, the discourse needs special attention. The discourses of personalized leaders contain their vision of the kind of society, political party or the political system in which ideology is also embedded consciously or not. These discourses can be divided into three subtypes (Ibid: 34-38):

- 1. The discourse of preservation which should be called as conservative discourse.
- 2. The discourse of change: Such kind of a discourse is discourse of those people whom are called as "transformers" by the authors (in the sense that, they strongly change the basis on which the society or the political system is organized). Transforming personalized leaders can be further divided into two categories: a) Saviours (who were able to solve a major problem facing the political system when in government; they strengthened a political system that was collapsing or had collapsed) examples are Churchill, De Gaulle, Adaneur, b) Revolutionary Transformers (who wish to alter the whole basis on which their society is organized) such as Mao Zadung, Lenin and Castro.
- 3. Out of these types; the intermediate discourse is mainly the discourse of "policy-makers". The policy-makers can also be divided into two: technocrats/managers (Chirac should be provided as an example) and innovators (Thatcher, Blair, Berlusconi, Mitterand, Koizumi, and Thaksin). These discourses are about "economic/social interests", "values", and more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> The personalized leadership is primarily about mobilization of psychological resources and has three elements: 1) leaders must have undisputed and personal rule in the party, 2) if win elections, the leader cannot be primus inter pares and 3) leaders must be able to control who speaks for the party in media (Blondel and Thiébault et al., 2010: 32-33).

recently "technocratic discourse" gained ground with leaders wishing to demonstrate that they are able to manage efficiently the polity.

Considering the hypothesis "is personalised leadership more relevant in pre-existing or new parties"; it should be stated that leaders creating new parties has benefited from advantages that leaders of old parties seem not to have: a) who create new parties have to determine what the policy of the party is to be and b) the link between older parties and their supporters may well be regarded as being in orbit (based on habit or tradition) (Blondel et al., 2010: 71).

#### 2.3.1.2 The Decline of Party Government

It must be stated at the very beginning, a full-fledged analysis of the changes witnessed by the parties, such as the changes in the organization of parties, party systems, are important debates which are beyond the aim and scope of this study. However, some critical points which share certain amount of common points with the presidentialization debate will be noted in the following part.

As noted by Mughan (2000: 2), Otto Kircheimer in 1966 has underlined the waning of class-mass parties and drawn attention to the newly emerging parties which were transforming the parliamentary politics. This new "catch-all" parties have following characteristics: a) reduction in ideological baggage, b) strengthening top leader groups, c) declining role of party members, d) de-emphasizing its relationship with a specific social class in favour of recruiting voters from population at large, e) access to a variety of interest groups. Such organizational changes coupled with ideological de-polarization (Mughan, 2000: 2) or convergence of parties (Mair, 2009: 212) has enabled the role of individual leaders who are now less closely tied to party organization and ideology. This growing importance of leaders seemed functional in order to attract volatile electorates beyond their traditional class base. This transformation of parties and increasing importance of media in political communication has led scholars to conceptualize new party types, such as "electoral-

professional party" (Panebianco 1988) and "cartel party" (Katz and Mair 1995) in addition to catch-all parties. What is common in these conceptualizations is the increasing power of the party leaders (Kriesi, 2009: 154). The increasing power of leaders and the growing tendency of media to privilege the ordinary citizens have given way to a relationship between electorates and government that is unmediated by parties (Ibid: 155). The party leaders are, now, believed to mobilize masses without the party machine, in the sense that they try to get a "personal mandate from the electorate (Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny, 2011: 14), which led Mair to call the situation as "partyless democracy" or in the words of Mény and Surel "deparliamentarism" (Ibid: 155).

All these developments, according to Mair, also led to decline of "party government thesis" which is at broader level should be called as "government by the party in the collective sense"<sup>31</sup> (Webb at al. 2011: 36). Synthesizing important scholars working on the notion of party government, Mair (2009: 225) has noted the following conditions necessary for party government in the following way:

- 1. A party (parties) wins control of the executive as a result of competitive elections
- 2. Political leaders are recruited by and through parties
- 3. Parties offer voters clear policy alternatives
- 4. Public policy is determined by the party (parties) in the executive
- 5. The executive held accountable through parties

As a result of long-term shifts in the character of elections, parties and party-systems, "these conditions are becoming marked more by their absence than by their presence". Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny (2011), also, came to somewhat the same conclusions as far as party government notion is considered. They argue that growing candidate-centred electoral process, the leaders' reliance less on dominant coalition

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> In this formulation, collectivity implies the involvement of the actors of the various party strata such as parliamentarians, extra-parliamentary officers and activists.

within the party represent a shift away from party government thesis. However, they also underlined that their only claim is that the leader effect have tended to become more so over time which does not claim that party considerations are less significant than leader effect (2011: 25).

On the other hand, considering the "parties-matter thesis", scholars have underlined two important propositions: a) social constituencies of parties have different preferences which feed the process of policy formation and b) policy orientations of parties clearly reflect the preferences of their social base (cited in Mair, 2009: 219). On these propositions; many people (Mair 2009, Kriesi 2009, Webb et al. 2011) agree that it is beyond dispute that they are less observed in contemporary democracies. They come to conclusion that despite the relevance of the view which asserts "leader factor is, by and large, a function of the party factor", the tendency is working to the advantages of party leaders.

#### 2.3.1.3 Institutionalization of Parties

Within this framework, the parties are considered as "organizations" in its entirety responding political, economic and social changes in its environment. As far as "adaptation" of parties is the main interest in this framework, some of them are provided as adapting to and others failing to do so to the changes in the system. Kumbaracıbaşı (2009)<sup>32</sup>, heavily influenced by the concept of institutionalization used by Panebianco (1988), gives us two important terms in dealing with the institutionalization of a party at hand: the degree of its "autonomy vis-a-vis its environment and the degree of its "systemness". The concept of autonomy implies the degree of the independence of the party from its environment. The primary way to do so is to gain room for manoeuvre vis-a-vis the main external veto actors. However, the internal levels of membership involvement and responsiveness to grassroot demands are important aspects of systemness (Kumbaracıbaşı, 2009: 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Kumbaracıbaşı' s study mainly deals with the first governing period (2002-2007) of the Justice and Development Party (AKP) case through the lenses of institutionalization framework adopted from Panebianco's views by the author.

Contrary to Panebianco, Kumbaracıbaşı argues that "the degree of autonomy and the degree of systemness may well not go in parallel to each other". The following passage is worth to be quoting:

if the party works toward a higher systemness and wants to maintain its internal unity, this would involve a strengthening intra-party participation, leading to more opportunities for the different factions to articulate their preferences, less leadership centralization, and better communication between the grassroots and leadership... It would also reduce the party's attractiveness to moderate voters, who have helped to give the party a certain amount of political autonomy.

In other words, the party should face a "strategic dilemma" which necessitates a trade-off between the two dimensions: "if the leadership increases systemness, it runs the risk of losing autonomy and vice versa. Therefore, the leadership is believed to attempt to optimize the level of institutionalization rather than seeking to maximize institutionalization in both dimensions" (Kumbaracıbaşı, 2009: 3). In short, according to the perspective which considers the parties as organizations, the aim of coordinating both the autonomy and systemness put party leaders at the centre of analysis.

To conclude this part, it is clear that all the approaches, "personalised leadership", "decline of party government", "institutionalization of parties" and "presidentialization", share a certain point: leader effect is on the increase in detriment of the parties. However, the disagreement is based on which criteria to substantiate this argument. Personalised leadership and personalization of politics have in common accent put on the "psychological dimension" which they believe non-existent in Poguntke and Webb. What is called as "institutionalization of parties" framework by this dissertation is considered parties as only organizations, leaving, to a certain extent, social constituency arguments aside. All these approaches have emphasized the role of media in political communication, changes in the electoral process in order to enlarge the support base of parties that put the party leader (whether mediated or not by their parties) to the centre of analysis.

#### 2.4 Concluding Remarks

I argue that the framework of "presidentialization of politics" needs clarification, in order to escape the fate of "just being a buzzword" due to the conceptual confusion reserved in itself. The following part will be an attempt to such an end.

First of all; as noted in the previous pages, the main weakness in Poguntke and Webb's presidentialization is what the term presidentialization reflects, supports and promotes in terms of the kind of the politics in their version of presidentialization is not clear. I argue that the presidentialization thesis is above all dealing with the term of power. To provide an example, the observations of this dissertation on the concept of "power" (implicitly) conceptualized in the presidentialization debate seem to be instructive. Following on the footsteps of Therborn (1976)<sup>33</sup>, I claim that the concept of power is generally considered in terms of "power over" in the presidentializationinspired studies. The analyses are generally focused on the *leader over the party*; leader over the cabinet; leader over the voter and (party) leader over external veto players. This kind of analysis, to a great extent, neglects other ("power to" and what should be called as "power from") approaches applied in sociological theories. Thus, what factors used for a legitimization of accumulation of power of a political leader and an analysis of how society/the structures stemmed from it give way to a concentration of power at some hands, seem to be secondary, if it exists in the presidentialization debate. The lack of such a full-fledged understanding of power, in my view, puts presidentialization thesis in a deadlock in facing the question of "presidentialization in which society" and "presidentialization to do what"? This should be seen in their inadequate accounts for the context within which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Therborn in his ground-breaking article notes three main approaches to the concept of power in sociology. The first one is "Subjectivist approach" which is mainly interested in the analysis of "power over". The power over approach looks for the holders of power in society and mainly is interested in the distribution of it. This approach reflected the well-known debate between the elitists and pluralists. The second one, what is called as "Economic approach" in which the primary emphasis is on "power to". This approach is mainly locked in the analysis of "power to do what", understanding power as a capacity to get things done, thus searching for accumulation of power. The classical example of this approach is Talcott Parsons' well-known structural functionalism. Both, the power over and power to, approaches have shortcomings in providing explanations of the broader society, its historical evolution and its class positions.

presidentialization started to emerge. To a great extent, I believe in that the highly analysed Thatcher example is not a coincidence because the mood of the early 1980s was the attack towards welfare states and the main aim was to restructure state in line with neoliberal and/or New Right premises. I will be facing these questions in the Turkish case within the framework of the restructuring state debate in the neoliberal era.

The second point that should I want to highlight in this conceptual confusion is that whether the presidentialization should be considered a new wine in an old bottle or not. One of the suspicions over the term draws attentions to former conceptualizations of increasing power of prime ministers. In other words, is the presidentialization thesis a reflection of the older debate of the "prime ministerial government"? Helms (2005b) argues that both the presidentialization and prime ministerial government theses implied an effective increase in the role and power of the Prime Ministers. However, according to author, the presidentialization thesis seemed to be broader (Ibid: 430-1). At this point, another problem arises as far as the indicators of presidentialization are considered. To provide an example, it is claimed by some authors that the cabinet turnover rate (an important indicator reflecting the increasing power and autonomy of the Prime Minister) in the Clinton cabinet (presidential system) was smaller than in the cabinets of Blair and Schroeder (parliamentary system). This observation, at least, directs our attention to one of the problem of the presidentialization debate: this notion can "overlook the fact that some parliamentary executives (e.g. British parliamentary executive, especially in the Thatcher and Blair periods) is more powerful than its US presidential counterpart" (Heffernan 2005a). Thanks to the possibility of a single-party government in the parliamentary systems, some Prime Ministers should be in a better position than their counterparts in the presidential systems.

Considering the "newness" of the concept; Ian Budge (2006: 8) tries to bring the issue of increasing media effect, as far as election campaigns are considered, under

scrutiny. The author clearly argues that the development of the mass press around 1990s had similar effects which led elections campaigns dominated by a single authority such as Bismarck's election campaigns <sup>34</sup>. In addition, the presidentialization thesis should be viewed as "returning to Schumpeter". Poguntke and Webb (2005: 354) noted that despite the common points such as the centrality of leaders; two approaches differ in their accent on the "political role of citizens" and "reassertion of democratic legitimacy in modern democracies". They clearly reject the fit between the democratic elitist model of Schumpeter and their presidentialization thesis.

Another important intervention into this debate should be made in dealing with the dangers of periodization. Although, in their book, Poguntke and Webb acknowledges that their thesis and the factors leading to presidentialization revealed the characteristics after the 1960s, the authors neglected the critical question that does the presidentialization thesis mean that the political leaders before the 1960s had never had a chance to increase their autonomy and power within the system to a level capable enough to be called as presidents? It is an important problematique indicating the shortcomings of presidentialization thesis in terms of periodization. In order to deal with such a problem the criteria has to be clearly detailed as to represent a clear break with the features of previous periods. In short, this dissertation subscribes to the critiques highlighting the works of Poguntke and Webb as "ahistorical" (Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 21). The solution in order not to be trapped into an "a-historical analysis", the features of and changes from (if there is) the previous periods should be detailed qualitatively and quantitatively (if it's possible). Additionally, if the term presidentialization has to be defined as a "trend" towards increasing power of executives, leaders and media (in short), it is necessary to take the longitudinal implications of the concept seriously. The research question of this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> In one of the issue of Foreign Affairs; Bismarck's way of dealing with his political rivals through suppression and his authoritarian style led Michael Bernhard (2011) to argue that modern leaders share many common attitudes (such as Putin, Chavez and Recep Tayyip Erdoğan) with him. This type of regimes should be called as "competitive authoritarianism", according to author.
dissertation, "whether there is an increase in the presidentialization of politics in Turkey or it was already at a high level at the outset of the period" reflects such a rationale.

Last but not least, an important point in discussion is whether the American case (as a presidential system example) is a model that other examples can be compared to (Blondel et al.) or just a construct as claimed by Poguntke and Webb (2005). Such an intervention is vital in directing attentions to the evolution of the system in the US case. Reviewing an important amount of literature on the US cases, Blondel et al (2010: 47) argue that the nature and characteristics of the presidential systems would be more "mythical than real". They largely disagree with the arguments claiming that American presidents are all-powerful, especially considering the president vis-a-vis the departments and cabinets, since the second half of the twentieth century. In their recent study, Webb at al. (2011: 47) totally disagree with the view blaming them for considering the US case as a theoretical example. They noted, once more, the concept of presidentialization was not derived from the US case per se, rather was constructed as an ideal type as to provide the inherent mechanisms of the presidential system. Additionally, it seems that the application of the concept by Poguntke and Webb was due to highlight a broader phenomenon, affecting not only parliamentary systems but also other democratic systems. If the concept of presidentialization is to be used with specific reference to the US (which was not the case considering the work of Poguntke and Webb), the warnings of Blondel at al. have to be taken into consideration. A proper analysis necessitates reviewing the changes and/or evolutions experienced by the case which is used as a reference point.

Having provided the conceptual framework, in lieu of conclusion I shall argue presidentialization has to be understood and analysed as a "process". By this way, it is aimed to locate the debate into its historical context. It is beyond dispute that a clear-cut criteria to label some periods as "presidentialized" or "non-presidentialized" in parliamentary systems has not been yet developed. An historical

analysis necessitates noting the changes (functional or occasional) from the previous periods if it exists. At this point, two important methods seem crucial. First of all, borrowing the method from the dialectical thinking; "the qualitative and quantitative changes"<sup>35</sup> feeds us with certain amounts of instruments in order to argue whether "quantitatively increases signs of presidentialization pave the way for a qualitatively presidentialization of politics" or not. This compels us to provide the history of modern Turkey in terms of executives as to deal with the period under scrutiny. Secondly; the developments of the period in which we try to analyse would be "processual realities" which connotes that they are not fully realized but we are facing the period of realizing. Within such a rationale; the following chapters of this dissertation will be in an attempt to shed lights into the Turkish and the Justice and Development Party (AKP) cases, respectively. To relate these debates with the AKP case without an analysis of Turkish executives in its historical evolution would be incomplete.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> For a detailed analysis of the dialectical method in general and qualitative/quantitative changes in particular, see Ollman (2003).

### **CHAPTER III**

## THE ANALYSIS OF THE STRUCTURAL AND CONTINGENT FACTORS LEADING TO EXECUTIVE PRESIDENTIALIZATION IN THE TURKISH CASE WITH PARTICULAR REFERENCE TO ERDOĞAN'S LEADERSHIP

As far as the Turkish case is considered, one of the pillars in the debate over Turkish type of executives historically is whether Turkey had experienced a presidential system in its history or not. Although the Turkish type of executive has been mainly considered parliamentary since its foundation according to the mainstream literature, there were scholars who argued that in practice "we had seen de facto presidential systems" (İyimaya 2013, Sabah 2005). The period of Mustafa Kemal Atatürk, İsmet İnönü, Adnan Menderes and Turgut Özal<sup>36</sup> had been considered as examples of the system "working as a de facto presidential system". Among them, Mim Kemal Öke argued that:

In Atatürk's period, in order to embed the revolution and reforms there was the need for an authoritarian regime...More or less, it was like a de facto presidential system. It was a presidential regime due to the peculiar conditions of both Atatürk and Turkey. Afterwards, the İnönü period was also like a de facto presidential regime. Despite the constitutional parliamentarian regime, there was a presidential regime (Sabah 2005).

Öke claimed that a de facto presidential regime was also the case in the Menderes period, especially relevant for his second term in office. The ideas claiming that Turkey had seen de facto presidential systems, tacitly, directed attention to the "peculiar conditions" of those periods. In this reasoning, those times were the times of "transformation" or "new restructurings" such as nation-building, democratization and integrating with the world. These transformative periods have necessitated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Öke notes that those who demand the presidential system fiercely, considering Turgut Özal and Süleyman Demirel, mainly wanted to get rid of the opposition when they were ruling the country (Sabah 2005).

popular and charismatic leaders, concentrating power in their hands, who sometimes acted in contravention to the constitutional system thanks to their personal traits.

Within this perspective, the aim of this Chapter is to come to terms whether we had seen an application of a presidential system in the Turkish history, either de jure and de facto. This necessitates both to deal with the Turkish constitutional structure and actual practices of executives from an historical perspective. As argued by Mughan, the presidentialization should be distinguished between constitutional and behavioural - Helms (2005a) combined the "evolutionary" and "transient presidentialization" provided by Mughan under the category of "behavioural" types. I will follow such differentiation which seems to be clearer analytically. I will sketch out first the main implications of the constitutions and/or constitutional amendments in terms of Turkish executives from an historical perspective. Secondly, due to time and space limits, I will be dealing with the Motherland Party (ANAP) case at some depth concerning whether the "behavioural/evolutionary/transient presidentialization" in which the increasing power and autonomy of a prime minister vis-à-vis other political actors should be observed or not. Finally, the factors that are thought to be leading to presidentialization will be sketched out paying due regard to the Turkish case with regard to Erdoğan. Within this perspective, the leadership of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, as one of the most important contingent factors, is going to be analysed at some depth.

## 3.1 Constitutional Presidentialization?: The Turkish Case<sup>37</sup>

Turkey has been generally classified under Parliamentary regimes since 1876, with the exception of the 1921 constitution which was a special one implied under the war of independence. The 1924 constitution declared the Grand National Assembly as the supreme organ of the state and gave the legislative and executive powers to it. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> The particular position and power of the presidency as laid down by Turkish constitutions, the details of the 2007 constitutional amendments and the 2014 presidential elections are not touched upon at this point. I will be dealing with the history of Turkish presidency, 2007 amendments and post-2014 process in the Chapter V which is allocated to the Erdoğan's presidency in particular.

1961 constitution which could be identified as "pure parliamentarism" (Uluşahin, 2011) reflected a distrust of politicians by creating somehow effective checks and balances (provided judicial review in order to check the constitutionality of executives' acts, strengthened administrative courts, created a second chamber of legislative assembly, granted substantial authority to universities, etc.). The constitution was criticized by the governing parties, especially by the Justice Party (Adalet Partisi – AP) at that time, on the basis of it created an "ungovernable political system" by giving excessive powers to bureaucratic and judicial agencies. Thus, they demanded stronger executive in order to be able to "govern" (Özbudun, 2000: 53-56). The 1971 and 1973 constitutional amendments together with curtailing certain civil liberties introduced by the 1961 constitution and increasing the institutional autonomy of the military, strengthened the executive, particularly by allowing the Parliament to grant it law-making powers (decree powers) (Ibid: 56-57).

As far as the 1982 constitution is considered, it created a strong presidency which the makers of the constitutions assumed would long be controlled by the military. The president was given substantive powers which could not be in line with the idea of a symbolic presidency of parliamentary regimes. According to Özbudun (2000: 59-60), increasing powers of the president led to different interpretations considering the systems of government. Some perceived it as presidential or semi-presidential system. According to another view, the logic of the 1982 constitution dictated parliamentarism though the president was more powerful. A third view argued that the constitution provided two alternative models: "if the system functioned normally, it would be closer to parliamentary regime in which the prime minister would dominate; if the party system failed to avoid or resolve crises, than the substitute power of the president would grow and the system would become closer to presidentialism (Ibid: 59). As a more consistent view, the 1982 constitution provided a "modified/weakened parliamentarism" that implies that if the premiers are more powerful vis-à-vis the president, the balance of power is shifting towards the prime minister".

Finally the 2007 constitutional amendment which was accepted through a national referendum stated that the president would be elected by popular vote. The idea of a popularly elected president was a reaction to a political crisis (known as "367 decision" in Turkey) to the election of the president by the Parliament. Thus, it is difficult to accept it as a well-designed constitutional engineering scheme (Uran, 2010: 2). Today, it seems that the 2007 amendment was divorced from the conjuncture within which it was emerged and it has become the main reason for those advocating a transition to a presidential or semi-presidential regime (Insel, 2013: 9-10). This is especially the idea of the AKP leaders and in fact the 2012 AKP proposal which is known as "Turkish type presidential regime" in Turkey was an "aim to adapt the de facto situation created by 2007 amendment, taking Erdoğan factor into consideration" (Ibid: 10). The 2014 presidential election campaigns were conducted in a highly controversial environment, affected by the Gezi Park Protests and the alleged corruption scandals related to AKP MPs and ministers. The AKP's candidate then the PM Erdoğan has conducted a campaign mainly on creating a New Turkey which should be possible together with a constitutionally presidential system. He maintained that if he was elected, he would not be a traditional president, directed the attention toward the popular mandate behind the president.

Thus, considering this brief overview, a conclusion can be derived that, if the constitutional presidentialization in Mughan's terms (2000) is identifying a particular constitutional clause "empowering the head of the government", it seems hard to consider the Turkish case as a perfect example of the constitutional presidentialization. On the other hand, since the 1982 Turkish constitution and/or constitutional amendment, especially the one in 2007, presidents, rather than the prime ministers, have been given important powers although being unaccountable. This seems to be puzzle for a researcher to come to a conclusion whether the Turkish system has presidentialized constitutionally or not. The solution could be to argue that "the constitutional presidentialization can be identified considering the power and autonomy of the president" rather than the prime minister in the Turkish case.

However, the problem is that considering the period since the 1982 constitution, when there were powerful prime ministers, the presidents of the Republic largely played a ceremonial role. Thus, it seems that the personality of a particular leader and the position s/he holds, whether prime ministry or the presidency, can have an impact on the actual working of the Turkish executives. This leads us to consider the "behavioural" presidentialization with a special emphasis in the Turkish case to grasp whether the system has presidentialized.

# **3.2** Behavioural Presidentialization?: The Motherland Party and The Justice and Development Party Cases

It should be argued that the 1982 constitution had a three-fold aim: providing the supremacy of the executive, providing the possibility of forming strong governments (e.g. the %10 election threshold) and providing governmental stability (İnsel, 2013: 12-13). Since the 1980s, Turkey has experienced two "(single) party governments": the ANAP and AKP. To a certain extent, it should be claimed that the ANAP and AKP governments had fulfilled the political system (even if as a spirit) envisaged by the 1982 constitution. The following part will deal with these cases.

The goal behind the analysis of the ANAP and leadership of Turgut Özal within the presidentialization framework was the fact that during Özal's premiership, his undisputable authority within the executive, party and his popularity within the electorates, led him to concentrate all the powers in his hands while governing. He appeared to be just the example of a new kind of leader aiming to transform the society. His governing period was called as the "one man system" (*Tek Adam Sistemi*) (Türk, 2014: 154). Among many, the concentration of power around Özal, his political practices not in line with the parliamentarian customs of Turkey and his image of being an outsider within the broader political system led many scholars to label his period as acting like a "de facto presidential system". Even, Özal himself, argued that:

The critical developments in Turkey had been fulfilled in the periods of Atatürk, Democratic Party, Justice Party and (single) party government of

ANAP...Because in those periods, the system was 'a sort of presidential system'  $^{38}$ 

Thus, ANAP and Özal experiences seem to be reasonable cases to deal with within this perspective.

## 3.2.1 The Motherland Party (ANAP)

The military regime that ruled Turkey between 1980 and 1983 outlawed all the existing parties and permitted new ones to be established just prior to the 1983 elections. Out of three parties competed in the election, the Motherland Party (ANAP) led by Turgut Özal won the elections with 45.2 percent of the votes and an absolute majority of Assembly seats (52.9 percent). This was to the surprise of many due to implicit support of the military regime to another party competed in the election. In the 1987 election, ANAP again won with a lower percentage of votes (36.3) but an increased majority of seats (64.9) as a result of changes it had introduced into the electoral system. According to Özbudun (2000: 94), the most striking feature of party politics in the 1980s was the predominance of the ANAP, which gave eight years of uninterrupted single-party government. This was not only due to its three consecutive election victories (two general elections of 1983 and 1987 and a local election in 1984) but also to the new ideas (such as a new concept of government<sup>39</sup>) it brought to Turkish politics (Ayata, 1993: 33).

It was argued by many that the ANAP had succeeded in bringing all the political tendencies (nationalism, liberalism, social democracy and conservatism) of the 1970s together. It was like a "weird coalition" (Zürcher, 2004: 412), "a melting pot"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Cited in Türk, 2014: 154.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Ergüder notes that there was a very concerted effort to emphasize service delivery to the citizen; a well-conducted campaign to show the relations between taxes paid and services delivered. At the municipal level, the energetic ANAP mayors were very responsive to the demands and problems of citizens. Ergüder argues that "its emphasis on economic rationality, service delivery and decreasing bureaucracy, urban problems coupled with a careful avoidance of ideological issues and partisan conflict appeared to have opened up a place for the party at the centre-right of Turkish politics" (Ergüder, 1988: 571).

(Ergüder, 1988: 572) and/or "a supermarket" (Ahmad 2008). In short, it seemed that the party was divided due to a lack of coherent ideology which put its leader at a pivotal position.

Turgut Özal was an engineer. His move from bureaucratic and managerial positions into a political career was impressive. He acted as the undersecretary to Prime Minister Süleyman Demirel up until the 1980 military coup. A year before the coup, Özal was put by Demirel in charge of the stabilisation plan which the International Monetary Fund (IMF) insisted. He was one of the most important actors in economic reforms of those days, known as 24 January decisions, which was aimed at liberalizing Turkish economy. After the coup, he retained his services, as a Deputy Prime Minister of Turkey (Anderson 2008).

Turgut Özal was known, among others, as "a reformist leader, a technician, man of nation and a man of service" (Türk, 2014: 124). He had tried hard to give the image of "being outsider" in the system. His emphasis on "not being a man of protocol", his harsh "criticisms directed to the bureaucracy" that was considered as the embodiment of the political establishment, his attitudes "breaking the political practices/customs" and his continuous accent to construct the political process as "a war on behalf of the nation against the power groups, sometimes those resisting to the new, sometimes the opposition and sometimes the media/press," could be seen as attempts giving the message to the public that he was not representing the vested interests of the broader system (Türk, 2014: 126-135; Acar, 2008).

Considering the governing style of Turgut Özal, as Ahmad argues (2008: 225), there had been nobody in the Turkish history that could use the advantages of being in government like Özal before him. It should be argued that his governance style is composed of two phenomena: a) based on Cabinet Decrees, b) the proliferation of extra-budgetary funds. Özal's preference for ruling by decrees (bypassing parliamentary procedures and constraints) was kind of a practice associated with

Latin American style presidential systems (characterized by the absence of checks and balances providing enormous powers for the key individual in charge) (Öniş, 2004: 114). This style was convenient to undertake decisions rapidly and overcome powerful interest groups. It has been reported that the number of decrees in his premiership period (1983-1989) was 161 - 70 of them signed by himself in only one year, the year of  $1984^{40}$  – compared to the 34 decrees of pre-1980 period and 91 of the military regime period of 1980-1983 (Türk, 2014: 131). Additionally, one of the most important developments of the period was "the fund system" created to strengthen the executive. This extra budgetary fund was ¼ of the budget in 1984 and was  $\frac{1}{2}$  in 1986. There were 134 funds noted by researchers and in 1986, the parliament authorized the Prime Minister (Ahmad, 2008: 225-6).

An analysis without dealing with the aims of Turkey in the 1980s to liberalize her and to integrate with the world would be incomplete. The ANAP and Turgut Özal came to power at the turn of the 1980s. In Anderson's words (2008) the 1980s were "the hours of Margaret Thatcher and Ronald Reagan, Özal was a local equivalent in neoliberal resolve". The ANAP and Özal were the carriers of such an ambition, were seen as the initiator of liberal reforms, voice of anti-bureaucratic attitudes, and supporter of growth-oriented (export-led) system. Additionally, there were reforms aimed at attempting to restructure the state in line with neoliberal premises. Just to provide an example, in the ANAP period, we had seen the restructuring of the ministries<sup>41</sup> which aimed at changing the balance of power within state institutions by strengthening those institutions closer to international markets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Türk (2014: 131) cited that in 1984 Özal had signed 157 government bill (*kanun tasarısı*), 70 decress having the force of law and 1395 enactment (*kararname*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> For some time, it has been argued that the balance of power within the state institutions is shifting towards the Treasury, Central Banks and prime ministry in the neoliberal restructuring period. Within this perspective, in Turkey the functions of the Ministry of Finance regarding the treasury and international economic and trade relations, were transferred to Undersecretary of Treasury and Foreign Trade dependent on the office of the Prime Minister in 1983. This undersecretary in 1991 by transferring some competences of the State Planning Organization into itself grew more and in 1993 was divided into two undersecretaries as Treasury and Foreign Trade (cited in Bedirhanoğlu, 2009:53-54).

On the other hand, the party was also seen as a caring actor in terms of injecting optimism not only to business sector but also to wider public through mass housing projects which should be called popular capitalism, similar to Thatcher style (Öniş, 2004: 119). Within this perspective, Özal had always prioritized his and his party's "newness". In fact, his strong passion in order to be called as the "transformative of the Turkish society" (Acar, 2008: 197) led him to argue for the necessity of a powerful leader. Considering Özal, according to Öniş (2004: 118) an effective leadership was required in order to successfully move to a neo-liberal model of development: 1) in order to get the support of transnational community and international financial order through a commitment to reform process, 2) in order to generate trust of both domestic and external capital, 3) to sustain the reform process by incorporating broad strata of population.

As far as his power and autonomy within the ANAP is considered, Özal had the absolute authority. He was the undisputed leader and the party was known "Turgut Özal's fun club" (Ahmad, 2008: 227). The party was mainly composed of "new politicians who knows how to make money by their education in the US and who are globalized young people". These people in Turkey were called as "Özal's princes". Özal always appeared to give the message to the party members that their political career was strictly depended on his attitudes (Acar, 2008: 194). The strategy he followed within the party as a leader was interpreted as "no matter they all are adversaries to each other but let them all be my kins"<sup>42</sup> (Türk, 2014: 127) which seemed to be beneficial for him in preventing the distortion of the balance of power in a way detrimental to him within the party. His electoral popularity at those days seemed to be the main factor behind the concentration of power around Özal's hand within the party. As Özal won, the others also won.

Özal was also aware of the importance of public leadership. He gave paramount importance to the image and the visual character of the politics. He was always

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> In Turkish, "Herkes birbiriyle hasım olsun ama hepsi birden benimle hısım olsun".

careful giving the image of being "one of ordinary citizens". His addresses to the nation through the speeches of "Through the achievements" (*İcraatın İçinden*) broadcasting by the TV helped him to identify himself with the services in the eyes of the broader public. He was the visible face of the government and he personally was seen as the short-cut to political processes for the nation.

Thus, it is fair to argue that there are many reasons to argue for an increasing power and autonomy of leadership considering the ANAP case. First of all, a single-party government in a political system characterized by the absence of checks and balances provided the Prime Minister with enormous power resources, reflected in the increasing preference for ruling by decrees and using extra-budgetary funds. Secondly, due to the demise of traditional party system in the early 1980s which is considered to give way to the appearance of (new) party and leader(s) as an anchor when the old parties disappeared (Campus 2010), the ANAP was considered as representing the "new" which was competing with the "old" (Ahmad, 2008: 230). Considering the discourse of the party, the "instability" brought by the coalitions in the 1970s; portraying ex-political leaders responsible for the terrorism which was the official reason for military to intervene, were characteristics of the old system. In other words, the ANAP had no antecedents, and definitely no roots that extended into the past struggles of Turkish politics (Kalaycioğlu, 2002: 45). Thirdly, as some scholars of Turkish politics argues, the ANAP and Turgut Özal heavily relied on the "new understanding of politics" brought in their period. This new understanding of politics should be termed as "servicing to the nation" rather than engaging in ideological discussions on the regime. In other words, "Özal has provided the wisdom in which the policies (followed in order to solve problems) had overcome the politics (attempts at seizing and sustaining power)" (Heper, 2008: 253-4). He believed in that the main function of government is to generate appropriate policies rather than engaging in politics which implies endless discussions on the regime (Ibid). Fourthly, to use another jargon, the institutionalization dilemma the party faced in those years put the leader at the centre of observations. The search for "optimizing institutionalization in both systemness and autonomy" (Panebianco 1988 and Kumbaracıbaşı, 2009: 3) was skilfully managed by Turgut Özal. Although the party managed to change its founding leader in 1989 (Turgut Özal became the President in 1989) and stood in power until 1991, it could not succeed in its adaptation to the changing circumstances or in routinizing the charisma of Özal (Kalaycıoğlu, 2002: 58).

In 1989, Turgut Özal managed his move to the presidency despite the ANAP's declining electoral popularity. During his term at the office of the presidency<sup>43</sup>, he attempted at ruling country from there with a pliant prime minister whom was handpicked by Özal, himself. However, in time Özal lost his authority over the ANAP, was side-lined by then-prime ministers and in 1993 he died.

## 3.2.2 The Case of the Justice and Development Party (AKP)

As far as the context is concerned, the 1990s were popularly conceptualized as "the lost years" in Turkey. To use a more substantiate terminology, "the crisis of parliamentary politics" (Ataay 2002) seems to be the dominant idea in identifying the 1990s Turkish politics. At the start of the 2000s, the expectation of Turkey was to find a socially and politically stable regime that could pull out the country of short-lived coalition governments, economic crises and the Kurdish problem. In addition, the 1990s had witnessed the development of Turkish nationalism, political Islamic movements and identity-politics. However, the closure of the Welfare Party (Refah Partisi) in 1998 and the capture of Abdullah Öcalan produced the produced the possibility of filing the excesses of radical Islam and Kurdish movement. In order to exit the orbits of radical movements and to get rid of de-stabilising effects of economic crises, the expectations of those voicing the system as "ungoverning democracy" <sup>44</sup> (yönetemeyen demokrasi) had focused on a possible political

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> For a more detailed analysis of Özal's presidency, see the Chapter V.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> The wisdom of ungoverning democracy and a possible solution to it is explained in the following quotation: Coalition governments cannot have discipline, rapidness and cohesion which are necessary

movement and a leader as an anchor of stability. The AKP emerged within this context with the promise of a "governing democracy" (Açıkel, 2013: 15-16), an actor that would not deepen political crises, which would represent both the secular and conservative capital, which would not focus only on Islamic geography in its foreign policy, which would democratize the system and would do reforms in line with the EU.

There is no doubt that the AKP has been the most important development in the 2000s in Turkish political history. Although founded short before the 2002 elections, it succeeded in the elections and has become the governing party since 2002. The AKP broke away from the Virtue Party (Fazilet Partisi - FP) which was banned by the Constitutional Court. The party members tried hard to demonstrate that the party was not a direct descendant of any of the older parties (Özbudun, 2006: 546). However, as far as the electoral base of the party was considered, it included the peasantry, underclass of urban-dwellers and above all, the party's dynamic core was the newly enriched Anatolian entrepreneurs, who were modern in their approach to profitable business but very conservative in attachment to religious beliefs and customs (Anderson 2007). According to Özbudun (2006: 546) analyses of the voter base of the party indicated that the AKP appeared to have successfully rebuilt the Özal's ANAP coalition, bringing together centre-right voters, conservatives, liberals and moderate nationalists. Socially and politically, it is fair to argue that this is a heterogeneous coalition. The leader of the party, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, has been viewed as the most important factor in keeping together the disparate elements in the AKP.

For this highly eclectic electoral base, an "ideological cement" - in the terms of Anderson - was needed. The AKP found the magical formula around the idea of

in 'crisis management'...Due to the image of Turkey "unable to govern itself", the economic program is not advancing with required rapidness, the confidence cannot be given to both domestic and foreign markets, the investments are not increasing...If Turkey does not pass to a political system in which a government with a vote around 40% emanates, these crises of "ungovernable democracy" will continue (quoted in Ataay, 2002: 201).

entry into the European Union (EU). Every part of the society found something in the idea of the EU. As Anderson (2008) summarized, the EU was meant the better paid jobs for the mass of the population; the integration into the deeper capitalist markets and more stable macro-economic environment for big business; for liberal intelligentsia it was the safeguard against any military intervention and anchor for the democratization; and for the military it was the realization of the reaching contemporary civilization, a long-standing aim of Turkey.

Above all, for the AKP the EU was the provider of the international legitimacy which increased the autonomy of the party in the eyes of the state elites. Additionally, the European integration bid has been instrumentalized by the party. Some authors even argued that "the AKP has been transforming the fundamental parameters of both the Turkish and Islamic politics by way of 'Europeanization' and 'internationalization' of domestic issues" (Duran, 2010: 334). The EU accession process is considered as a "national transition project" which means that without the EU bid or EU anchor, the reforms would not have been conducted. In fact, Erdoğan attributed special importance to his party's EU bid in terms of doing necessary reform in domestic politics:

As an objection one can affirm that we should do these reforms without the EU membership. However, it is easy to say but hard to do. We have to be realistic. This must not be forgotten that the necessary transition which was originated from the structural and governmental systemic crisis is very hard to be carried out by the internal dynamics of Turkey<sup>45</sup>.

Additionally, many authors attributed the greatest importance behind the popularity of the party to the economic recovery the AKP provided. The larger part of the society credited the AKP with building strong economy, lowering high interest rates, providing fiscal discipline and taking important steps to improve healthcare, public transportation and infrastructure (Paul, 2014: 1, Anderson 2007, Türk 2014). The AKP, thanks to the international boom, adopted neoliberal policies in terms of free

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> June 05, 2002 AKP Parliamentary Party Group Meeting, <u>http://www.akparti.org.tr/grupkon.asp</u>.

market with a social face of "philanthropic" attitudes<sup>46</sup>. In Anderson's terms, the fiscal discipline became the buzzword and privatization was the grial together with the 6% budget surplus, real interest rates around 15% and lowering inflation to single digits, business confidence was restored, foreign investment poured and growth rebounded. The poor were able to find employment in the informal sector, significantly as a causal worker in the construction industry.

With regard to the balance of power within the AKP, it should be claimed, as Cornell (2014: 2) did, that in the first years of the party a "more collegial" approach was the case. Erdoğan and Abdullah Gül (the foreign minister of those days) together with Bülent Arınç and Abdullatif Şener have been crucial and played influential roles in providing a balance of power within the party. The first sign of Erdoğan's ability to impose his will on the party was seen in the aftermath of the problem of "inviting American troops across Turkey to attack Iraq in March 2003". During the parliamentary votes, when Erdoğan was still outside the parliament due to his previous ban and Abdullah Gül acting as the premier, one third of the AKP deputies rebelled and the bill was defeated. Two months later, Erdoğan entered the parliament and took charge. After he became the premier, Erdoğan succeeded in providing sending Turkish troops to take part in the occupation of Iraq through a vote in the parliament. Althogh, it was too late, Erdoğan's leadership and ability to impose his will on the party was acknowledged (Anderson 2008). He sidelined Gül who was elected as the president in 2007 and removed him from day-to-day politics. As far as Arinç was considered, the problem between Arinç and Erdoğan surfaced when Arinç threatened Erdoğan to run himself for the presidency unless the AKP nominated a religious candidate, forcing Erdoğan handle Gül's nomination. In the second term of the AKP, Arinç was not reelected as the speaker of the parliament and failed to get a cabinet post (Cornell, 2014: 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Keyman (2010: 316) termed this strategy as "philanthropic neoliberalism" trying to gather attention to the party's presentation of itself as a caring actor. This strategy differs, according to the author, from the free market fundementalism. Through providing free coal, free food, free primary textbooks for the poor and disadvantaged groups, the AKP enhanced the feeling of aid and caring in the larger part of the society.

# **3.3** The Analysis of the Structural Factors Leading to Presidentialization through the Leadership of Erdoğan

In this part, the structural factors, especially the international politics and the media, leading to presidentialization will be scrutinised as they should be sources of leadership empowerment and/or restraint in the Turkish case with particular reference to the leadership of Erdoğan.

## 3.3.1 The Leadership of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan<sup>47</sup>

Two thousand and twenty three, we are hundred years old Our target is again Great Turkey We are in the race to be a global power The New Turkey is our Red apple Our leader Recep Tayyip Erdoğan Who draws his strength always from Allah Two thousand and seventy one, we are thousand years old. We are making bid for being a superpower We provide peace at home, peace in the world The New Turkey is our Red apple Our leader Recep Tayyip Erdoğan Who draws his strength always from the nation Atilla, Oğuzhan, Gazi Alparslan Osman Gazi, Fatih, Yavuz, Süleyman Also deserving of heaven Abdülhamid Han It is Gazi Atatürk who founded the state Nation's man Tayyip Erdoğan Who draws his strength always from his peoples This new century will be the century of Turks We will spread out the name of Allah Without leaving from the path of prophet We will build the New Turkey Our leader Recep Tayyip Erdoğan Who draws his strength always from the nation Establisher of the democracy is Martyr Menderes My Turgut Özal modernized us/made us step into a new age, He is the last link of the golden chain Turkish people is loyal to you Erdoğan Our President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan Who draws his strength always from his Lover

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> The more detailed analysis of the Erdoğan premiership period (2003-2014) and presidency period (2014 onwards) will be the main themes of the following Chapters.

One nation, one flag, one motherland belongs to us One State Turkey belongs to our nation For brotherhood, independence, equality Our target is New Great Turkey Our President Recep Tayyip Erdoğan Who draws his power always from Allah<sup>48</sup>.

As highlighted in the previous Chapter, there are structural and contingent factors affecting the power and autonomy of political leaders. Among the contingent ones, the personality and leadership of particular political actors are thought to be leading to the centralization of the decision-making process within the executive advantageous to the chief executive. Recalling the arguments of Foley, in fact it is meaningful to talk about new leadership styles seen in the parliamentary systems, mirroring the latest developments in the presidential systems.

Considering the Turkish case, it should be claimed that democracy in Turkey is still to be "leader democracy" (Heper and Sayarı, 2008: 8). The leader's worldview, strategy, personality and aims can influence the quality of the democracy in the positive and/or negative. Not as an alternative of but trying to contribute to above mentioned framework, I will be in an attempt to locate my analysis on the leadership of Erdoğan into the presidentialization thesis. Although I will be in use of the arguments of other frameworks, the main emphasis will be placed on the struggle to integrate the leadership of Erdoğan with the presidentialization frameworks's set of concepts. To me, the "spatial leadership", the "cult of the outsider" and the" system performance" seem to be the most suitable ones. In fact, the vastly highlighted factors behind the popularity of Erdoğan, such as the aura of victimization and conceptualization of politics as "politics-as-service" (*hizmet siyaseti*), have so much in common with these concepts. Finally, let me clear myself that this part should not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> "The New Turkey anthem", which is composed and written by Hasan Celal Güzel, former Turkish politician who is widely known for his support for a presidential system in the country, was played by The Mehter (Ottoman military band) band of Ankara Municipality during the inauguration ceremony of the New Turkey Strategic Research Centre (Hürriyet Daily News 2015e). The translation from Turkish to English is mine. For the original Turkish version of the anthem, see Hürriyet 2015h.

be seen as a study on the autobiography of Erdoğan. Although these studies are of importance (Heper and Tokta 2003, Lashnits 2005), I will be selective in Erdoğan's career, as far as the certain development is thought to be influential over his leadership, is going to be mentioned.

At the expense of recalling myself, the *spatial leadership* identifies the perceived distance of the chief executive from the office s/he is sitting on (be it presidency and/or prime ministry) whereas the *cult of the outsider* is again the distance claimed by the actor from the political establishment. These analytical concepts are proposed to be functional in analysing the contemporary political leaders' popularity within the system they are operating. Claiming a distance from the government and political establishment by an actor seem to be very critical in giving the message to public that "s/he does not have vested interests of the government and establishment". In other words, they talk to the public as if they are the outsider while in office. The media and opinion leaders are of critical importance for the party and its leader to create such a personality. This is especially critical for a reformist and/or transformative leader in order to build public support for his/her unconventional policy agenda. Thus for the ruling party and its leader, this is a claim that while they are in governing position, they are the outsider of the system or the anti-systemic movement using the tools of the system.

As far as the leadership of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan is considered, there is no doubt that he has been the most influential political figure since 2002. Just to give an example from the Economist (2014), he "certainly knows how to win elections". Between 2002 and 2014, his party, the AKP, and he had scored nine victories, three general elections in 2002, 2007 and 2011; three local elections in 2004, 2009 and 2014, two referenda of 2007 and 2010 and finally the presidentialization election of 2014. Erdoğan's leadership in the Turkish context are generally compared and contrasted with the previous highly influential right wing leaders in the Turkish history, such as Adnan Menderes, Süleyman Demirel and Turgut Özal (Türk 2014, Laciner 2015b). In these studies, one can certainly trace continuity in the discourses of these leaders, especially considering their attitudes toward the national will, understanding of democracy, their populist appeals and their conceptualization of politics as servicing to the nation. However, what is strikingly different in Erdoğan's case<sup>49</sup> is his rise to the apex of the power from the below. Erdoğan had been present at every level of politics. He led the youth division of the National Salvation Party's (Milli Selamet Partisi) Beyoğlu District in Istanbul. In 1984, he became the head of the Welfare Party's (Refah Partisi – RP) Beyoğlu District Branch. The next year, he was entrusted with the administration of the RP's Provincial Party Organization in Istanbul. In 1986, Erdogan was elected to the central executive committee of the RP. In the 1989 local elections, Erdogan was the RP's candidate for the Beyoğlu mayoralty. In the 1994 local elections, the RP nominated him as their candidate for Istanbul metropolitan mayor. Although he competed against several nationally prominent candidates from other parties, he nevertheless won the mayoralty. He served in this last post until 1998. That year, he received a prison sentence. In the 2001, he founded the AKP and served as prime minister of Turkey between 2003 and 2014. Finally, in 2014 he became the first popularly elected president of the country. In this sense, he should be termed as "professional politician":

What distinguishes Erdoğan from his predecessors is that unlike Menderes, Demirel or Özal, his route to power has not been through bureaucratic preferment from above, but grass-roots organization from below. For the first time, Turkey is ruled by a professional politician, in the full sense of the term (Anderson 2008).

How such an admirable popularity could be endured by Erdoğan is a case in point. In the following parts, I will be in an attempt to put down his enduring popularity into several reasons, with the help of presidentialization thesis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> According to Türk (2014: 317-8), Erdoğan's experince as a mayor of İstanbul has brought him close to Demirel and Özal who were famous for their careers as an engineer. From a different perspective, Laçiner (2015b) argued that Erdoğan is the last generation of right wing leaders in Turkey who had not proved himself, compared to previous leaders, in terms of his skills, intellectual capacity and remaining aloof from the corruption charges.

According to many (Türk 2014, Anderson 2008, Dağı 2008, Hale and Özbudun 2010), the election of Erdoğan as the mayor of İstanbul, the biggest metropolitan of Turkey, was one of the most critical developments in his political career. At the broader level, it could be argued that his experience as the mayor of İstanbul had contributed to his understanding of politics-as-service and to his transformation into a pragmatist politics. Erdoğan had learnt a lot from the grassroot organizations of the previous experiences of his party membership, especially thanks to the policies of Necmettin Erbakan, the leader of the "national outlook" (*Milli Görüş*), based on local religious network powered by modern communication systems (Anderson 2008). This was especially functional in big cities such as İstanbul. Erdoğan became very popular as being the mayor of İstanbul by delivering services, and charitable networks to communities, such as sanitation, transportation, free meals and coals to poor, that had never known such attention before.

His experience shaped Erdoğan's understanding of politics. It has been argued that Erdoğan realized that "public-service provision trumped ideology" (Dağı, 2008: 28). This understanding, known as politics-as-service is characterized by its pragmatism. According to Türk (2014: 213-226), the political sphere is constructed as the "construction site" (*şantiye alanı*) in this understanding. The power of the politics-asservice is coming from its "visibility" and "simplicity" which is impossible for the electorates not to notice in their daily lives. The politics is all about concrete "projects". Thus, the km of the roads, sewer repair, trash collection, the inflation rate in numbers, the reserves of the Central Bank, the increase in the number of hospitals and schools and macroeconomic statistics are always shared with the public. This is also considered as the criteria of success for the leaders.

Erdoğan certainly fits into this understanding. He many times stressed that his understanding of politics is servicing to the nation. In fact, both Türk (2014: 217) and Yavuz (2010) argued that politics-as-service was the main goal of Erdoğan in his

premiership to spread his municipal experiences into the national scale. In the words of Yavuz:

Erdoğan, as a political actor, has been aware of the fact that political consolidation and success are materialized at the local level. The politics at the local level is not dealt with great ideas and free ideologies; instead, the services provided for the rehabilitation of daily lives and corruptions of previous governments are given priority while governing at the local level. He, in his experience in İstanbul, realized that the main source of legitimacy is the servicing to the main needs of the people and bringing social services to many. This awareness made him the most pragmatic and the less ideological leader in the Turkish history. What is at issue is the implementation of locally-based politics at the national level (Yavuz, 2010: 26).

The politics-as-service has still formed the essence of Erdoğan's understanding of politics. For me, the parallel between the politics-as-service and the "system performance" is striking. The concept of system performance, employed by Whitefield (2005) in order to search for the popularity of Vladimir Putin within the context of Russia, identifies the perceived improving economic and political performance and the institutional responsiveness in the eyes of the public. Whitefield argued that (2005: 142), the popularity of and the support to a leader is based on "the perceived improved economic and political performance" and "people become less likely to see the democratic system in practice as a basis for their judgment about candidates because institutional performance and responsiveness has improved and normalized". Such an observation also seems to be making sense in the case of Erdoğan. As argued by Türk, the politics-as-service is instrumentalized by the leaders as the most important criteria in order to judge the performance of the system and the leader. Erdoğan has certainly derived a certain amount of his legitimacy thanks to the services he has provided both as mayor of İstanbul and chief executive of the country.

Erdoğan, as a leader, has been very talented at portraying himself "always the victim". By this way, he could be able to claim a distance between himself and the political establishment. In the words of Cornell (2014: 2), this "aura of victimization" enabled Erdoğan to emerge as a leader in the eyes of the Turkish underrepresented

groups (especially the conservatives) that "similarly styled themselves as having been victimized by the political establishment" for a very long period. At the very early days, the victimization and being outsider within the political system has a certain ground. He had been convicted to prison in 1998 for having incited religious hatred due to a poem he had read and his public speeches. He was not eligible for membership of parliament in the 2002 elections. Although, his party was the victorious, he had waited until 2003 to get the premiership thanks to a constitutional amendment which opened up Erdoğans's membership of parliament in a byeelection. Erdoğan has tried hard to sustain the discourse of the victim. Every development and event has been viewed as betrayal or attack on his power according to him. However, the traitors change almost every day. One day it could be the Constitutional Court which labelled as "unpatriotic" by Erdoğan (after the court removed the ban on twitter), another day the "traitor" was the chief of the Central Bank for keeping interest rates relatively high and even the protesters and those sympathetic to them are called as serving the global interest rate lobby whom working at the expense of Erdoğan and his party's advantages (Sezgin 2014).

However, the 2013 Gezi Park protests and the 17/25 December corruption probe seem to damage his image of spatial leadership and being an outsider in a non-reversible way. Although he and his close aides tried hard to insist that these are directed against his government and to call them as an attempt of coup, trying to topple his government. What is important for this dissertation was this time Erdoğan was less successful, or even not reluctant, to distance himself from the accusations. Instead, despite the moderate attitudes of president Gül and other influential figures within the AKP, Erdoğan has shouldered the responsibility and had set the 2014 March local elections as the referendum over these accusations. This is the reason why he considered the victory of the 2014 local election as a credit to his "personal mandate" rather than the AKP and its' candidates (Cornell 2014).

As far as the Turkish case is considered, Erdoğan is not the first to claim that "the system allows one to be in government but not allow being able to rule". This idea of "in government but not powerful" (*hükümet ama muktedir değil*) has been an essential component of the previously mentioned Turkish debate on ungoverning democracy. Every government established since the 1961 constitution claimed that they shared their executive powers with bureaucratic, judicial and military officers. This was the main reason behind the demand for strong governments which to a certain extent constituted the main philosophy of the 1971 and 1973 amendments and the 1982 constitution (Özbudun 2000). In the discourse of Erdoğan, the bureaucratic oligarchy<sup>50</sup> and the president Ahmet Necdet Sezer<sup>51</sup> together with the opposition parties in the parliament<sup>52</sup> did not let his government to govern in the very early days. In time, the discourse chose the military tutelage, judicial tutelage, foreign powers and the parallel structure within the state (implying the Gülen movement) as the political establishment that tried to topple his government.

Erdoğan's cult of being outsider, as being a hero fighting always with the 'enemies' within the system, has been fuelled by the media. The media in the service of a political leader (and/or a prime minister) is not a new entry into the Turkish politics with Erdoğan's leadership. Previous decades witnessed many examples of media members holding in high esteem to the political leaders<sup>53</sup>. However, the level the leaders-media symbiosis has come under the leadership of Erdoğan is unprecedented.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> June 10, 2003 AKP Parliamentary Party Group Meeting, <u>http://www.akparti.org.tr/grupkon.asp</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Criticizing the president, Erdoğan noted that in their government the ratio of return from the presidency was 29% which was between 2 and 4% in the previous governments. See May 06, 2003 AKP Parliamentary Party Group Meeting, <u>http://www.akparti.org.tr/grupkon.asp</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> This time Erdoğan criticized the parliament directing attentions to the difficulties his party facing in legislating despite their 364 members of parliament. seeJune 10, 2003 AKP Parliamentary Party Group Meeting, <u>http://www.akparti.org.tr/grupkon.asp</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See Türk, 2014: 399-401.

### 3.3.1.1 Structural Factors and Erdoğan: The International Politics

The growing importance and participation of prime ministers in "foreign affairs" led scholars to compare them with presidents in presidential systems. The idea comes from the widely acknowledged belief arguing that "presidents arguably have more support for foreign than domestic politics" (Dowding, 2012: 13). This is because the presidents are "relatively" more autonomous in setting their agenda in foreign affairs due to their greater resources and information. Poguntke and Webb (2005) argue that the internationalization of politics plays into the hands of political leaders at the national level. This internationalization is argued to increase the autonomy and/or power of the head of executives due to the trends seen at the international level. The fight against terror, establishment of effective migration policies, battle against environment, financial issues and so on are touched upon at the intergovernmental organizations at the global level. These co-operations are decided at the international negotiations that have been particularly important in shifting the power to the hands of the head of governments or some key-advisers (the executive presidentialization) because the international politics is seen a domain of leaders rather than parties (Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 350). The chief executive's concentration on foreign affairs may enhance their image of being the leader of the nation and may unite people to him/her as the "national champion" (Jones, 1991: 116). The leaders are more identifiable in the times of success and/or esteem, as a single leader representing the nation, at the international level.

Erdoğan's premiership certainly supports the above hypotheses. To start with, when he was not the premier but the leader of the AKP, he was met as if he was the chief executive of Turkey in his international visits. In addition, the strong accent of the party and Erdoğan on the "proactive foreign policy" and the "inseparability of international and domestic affairs" seem to be in line with this trend. Erdoğan has always argued that the increasing reputation and power at the international arena rests on the stability in domestic politics. In addition, as a pragmatist, he wanted to turn his international legitimacy as a leader into a bargaining chip in domestic politics. The EU accession process had been his perfect lifesaver.

The EU accession process strengthened Erdoğan's hands and increased his party's autonomy against the veto players within the broader politics. The EU bid of Turkey has always been a national dream and viewed as the realization of the founder of the Republic, Atatürk's aim to reach the contemporary civilization. Thus it is a non-debatable issue. The EU-related reforms gave more room for Erdoğan to manoeuvre in declining the importance of Turkish military due to the necessary reforms demanded in order to provide "civilian control over military". The EU process is also instructive in terms of governmental crisis Turkey had faced in the 1990s. It has been widely believed that coalition governments of the 1990s could not realize necessary reforms in order to meet the Copenhagen criteria, thus a need for a strong government, with a comfortable majority in the parliament, is vital to legislate rapidly. The best expression of this view can be found in Kuzu's words;

If the election threshold falls and ten (10) parties are represented in the Turkish Grand National Assembly, then a coalition government among four parties is indispensable. Through this government; it is impossible to do your homework and access to the EU (quoted in Güney, 2007: 352).

Last but not least, the attempts in order to attract foreign direct investment to the country seem to be a special factor in the Turkish case, a developing country. The international visits of the PM Erdoğan are said to be targeting to "attract investments to the country"<sup>54</sup>. About the critics directed against the government that "they are always on the international travel", the party, once again, claimed that the foreign policy and the domestic developments would not be thought separately. In the words of Erdoğan "the normalization in the internal arena walks parallel to the foreign policy of the government". The 21<sup>st</sup> century "necessitates to share everything with the world" in order to attract foreign investment to your country and turn it out as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> April 29, 2008 Group meeting.

production<sup>55</sup>. Even, the policies followed by the party (fiscal discipline, increasing Foreign Direct Investments flowing to the country, privatizations, building trust and stability in Turkish economy) are legitimized by the ideas of the international institutions. Relying on the ideas of the IMF's president who called the years 2003-2004 of Turkey as "the most important success of the century" and Turkish Director of the World Bank – Andrew Vorkink – who noted that "we see that the trust of foreign investors on Turkish economy is greater than their Turkish counterparts. This is very interesting", Erdoğan reiterated that Turkey is a country of stability and trust from now on<sup>56</sup>.

The party's discourse on the inseparability of domestic and international affairs has aimed at providing legitimacy at the global level which is viewed as a *sine qua non* for dealing with domestic issues. Relatedly, the party clearly argues that "their increasing power in the international arena is the reflection of the domestic stability and developments"<sup>57</sup>. Erdoğan considers the skill of a leader as an important factor in the increasing reputation and power of Turkey at the international level. While criticizing the opposition leader, he implied that a powerful leader is needed at international platforms:

Deniz Baykal, who could not defend himself in an organization in which he is the Vice President, how can he defend Turkey in international platforms in where the hardest negotiations are conducted?<sup>58</sup>

However, nothing was more effective than his image of "the Conqueror of Davos". International affairs would give opportunities to strengthen the cult of leader. Erdoğan's cult as a powerful leader at the international arena has certainly been affected in a positive way in the eyes of Muslims all around the world, due to his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> February 23, 2005 Group meeting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> May 03, 2005 Group meeting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> May 03, 2005 Group meeting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> July 01, 2008 Group meeting.

defence of the Palestinian people in a panel discussion on Gaza at Davos 2009 meetings. In a row with Israeli PM Shimon Peres, Erdoğan said to Peres; "Mr. Peres, you are older than me...Your voice comes out in a very loud tone. And the loudness of your voice has to do with a guilty conscience. My voice, however, will not come out in the same tone...When it comes to killing; you know well how to kill". Finally accusing the moderator of not allowing him to speak, Erdoğan storms off the stage, saying "And so Davos is over for me from now on"<sup>59</sup>. Erdoğan had been met by his supporters, chanting as "we are proud of you," saying as "Erdoğan had woken up a giant that has been sleeping for a hundred years"<sup>60</sup> and holding banners titled as "the new leader of the world"<sup>61</sup> at his return to Turkey.

Today, Erdoğan seems to lose his international reputation as a democrat, reformer and reliable partner of the West. His reactions to international critics are generally labelling them as "toppling his government". Now, he tries hard to give the image of a hero fighting against international media for the sake of Turkish people. An Erdoğan, a world leader, trying to reform Turkey together with the international support behind him has gone, and an Erdoğan defined his foreign policies as "precious loneliness" (değerli yalnızlık) has come.

## 3.3.1.2 The Media and Erdoğan

In the contemporary world, the impact of (mass/news) media on politics and leadership of a political leader is a highly touched upon phenomenon. The media is considered as a "genuine political actor" that could act either as a "functional equivalent of an opposition party" or "a powerful catalysts of a gradual concentration of power in the hands of a political leader and a chief executive" (Helms, 2008: 26-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> See BBC 2009, <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/business/davos/7859417.stm</u> and New York Times 2009, <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2009/01/30/world/europe/30clash.html? r=0</u> (22.08.2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Aydintasbas 2009, <u>http://www.forbes.com/2009/01/30/erdogan-turkey-davos-opinions-</u> <u>contributors 0130 asli aydintasbas.html</u> (22.08.2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> See Radikal 2009, <u>http://www.radikal.com.tr/dunya/dunya\_basini\_davos\_sokunu\_boyle\_duyurdu-919321</u> (22.08.2015).

27). In the contemporary politics in which political processes are characterized by their complexities, media (capable of creating the feelings of intimacy, effectiveness, authenticity and responsibility) seems to be one of the best natural allies of political leaders to project charisma (Best and Higley, 2009: 337; Helms 2012). The media's increasing inclination to the coverage of and to direct attentions toward the leaders may have an impact on the audiences' perception of the leader. To give an example of such a possible perception, Helms (2012: 658), inspired by Foley, argued that "just as leaders are increasingly seen as not just representing but *being* their parties, prime ministers may be perceived as not just heading but *being* government"<sup>62</sup>.

As far as Erdoğan's case is considered within this framework, it will not be an exaggeration to argue that the media has constituted an essential pillar in his route to the power. After assuming the premiership in 2003, Erdoğan dealt with "sizeable restructuring of Turkish media". Firstly, following an inquiry, the media holdings of Uzan family, including a TV and newspaper, were seized and eventually sold to businessmen sympathetic to Erdoğan (Daglier, 2014: 148). It was followed by the seizure of the second largest media company, ATV and SABAH, by the state. This famous TV and newspaper, first earned by Ciner Group and then by Çalık Holding. Çalık Holding bought ATV-Sabah for 1.1 billion dollar, with 750 million credits from state-owned banks (Türk, 2014: 397; Daglier, 2014: 171). In fact the sole bidder was Çalık Holding and Erdoğan's son-in-law was the general manager of the holding. In 2009, the largest media group in Turkey, Doğan Holding, was fined \$3.7 billion for tax fraud and in 2013 the media assets of Çukurova Holding were seized by the state and sold to pro-government media networks without public auction (Daglier, 2014: 171).

In Turkey, almost every major newspaper and TV channel is owned by a conglomerate. These conglomerates are operating in various sectors, such as mining,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Emphasis in original.

energy, construction and they use their media companies to promote government interest in return for contracts<sup>63</sup>. In the words of Daglier (2014: 171) "the mass media is not a lucrative business in Turkey, but fostering Erdoğan propaganda is a necessary sacrifice to get government contracts".

Another noteworthy example was the coverage of the Erdoğan's presidential campaign in 2014, especially by the official network, the Turkish Radio and Television Corporation (TRT). As noted by Kalaycıoğlu (2015: 161, 162 and 175), on July 3, 2014 TRT-Türk allotted 30 minutes to Erdoğan while his opponents had no airtime and on July 4, 2014 Erdoğan got 80 minutes of air time and the other two candidates, Ekmeleddin İhsanoğlu received 1 and Selahattin Demirtaş again had none.

Today, it is argued that all media in Turkey are owned by 10 major conglomerates and two-thirds of it is in the hands of entities sympathetic to the AKP and Erdoğan (Tremblay 2015). As noted before, government's ability to control the mass media has always been present in the Turkish context. However, the stage of the symbiosis between the media and leader has come is unbelievable when one faces the declaration of Ethem Sancak, who owns the Star Daily and Kanal 24 and recently acquired the dailies of Akşam and Güneş together with SKY 360 TV through staterun seizures; in a TV interview:

While working on his campaign to get him elected prime minister, from my hometown Siirt, I met him. I saw his honesty and courage. I saw his opposition to oppression, his ability to protect the victim. The more I saw him, I feel in love [with him]. To be honest, during my days as a leftist, I could not understand the love between Mevlana [Jelaluddin Rumi, the poet] and [his companion and spiritual guide] Shams al-Tabrizi. As I got to know Erdogan, I realized that such a kind of divine love between two men is possible. When I [first] declared my love to him, I was already among the top 20 on the Forbes' list. I did not need to wait for any favours by holding on to Erdogan's coattails (Tremblay 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> See this blog that is created by Mert Yıldız, <u>http://econoscale.com/2014/02/15/erdogans-rise-to-power-through-the-media/</u>.

The media should be functional in fostering the cult of a leader; however, if it is exaggerated it may be counterproductive. Thus, leader-media symbiosis should also be a liability rather than an asset if it is not properly controlled.

In time, with the increasing pressure of Erdoğan's charisma and personalization of power on the AKP, *the party* has turned out to be "Erdoğan's lovers/fun club". "The glorification, prophetization (according to a party boss, he is the second prophet of Islam) and even deitisation/deification (one of the local party deputy argued that Erdoğan embodied all qualities of God) have become almost common practice among local AKP leaders and members of the parliament (many of them declared that they are ready to die for Erdoğan and become martyrs in defence of him)" (Sezgin 2014). In short, the AKP has become an organic extension of its leader (Türk, 2014: 260-1).

In addition to his changing relationship with the party, since 2011 and especially since 2013, Erdoğan's political career seems to be culminated in his claim that "he embodies the national will in himself" in the words of Cornell (2014: 4). He has come to understand every electoral victory "a mandate given to him to rule the country as he saw fit" (Ibid). However, Erdoğan may be the "mirror image of average Turkish electorates" (Bekdil, 2015: 3) but his arbitrary rule alienates the other electorates whom do not consider him as their mirror image.

## 3.4 Concluding Remarks

The 1982 constitution, with its philosophy to create a strong executive and governments, had paved the way for the ANAP and AKP governments. The ANAP and Özal's legacy, within the framework of this dissertation, is that whether the changes brought by Özal's style and leadership had represented a kind of qualitative shift - the usage of the presidential analogy has become so compelling as to indicate the emergence of de facto presidency - in terms of Turkish executives. Özal's declining popularity and authority, at the end his loneliness at presidential office,

warns us to care that an executive de facto presidentialization phenomenon could be transient and/or behavioural rather than a necessarily sustainable process. It is context bounded, depended on other actors and institutions' willingness and personal factors. The ANAP's declining electoral successes; the resistance within the ANAP toward Özal and Özal's sudden death seem to be crucial factors detrimental to the enduring presidentialization of Turkish executive in this case.

Almost a decade later, Turkey had seen a "stable and strong" government, once more, under the AKP and Erdoğan's leadership. As it was the case for ANAP and Özal, AKP and Erdoğan were seen new and emerged within the context of crisis that is tremendously in need of transformative politics. Erdoğan, as an outsider within the broader system, highly popular due to his mayorship background and having the aura of victim appeared as the new leader of Turkey. The EU accession bid, the supportive context of the international politics and his cult fostered by media have made him an extraordinary power holder who could not be labelled as an ordinary prime minister in a Turkish type parliamentary system created by the 1982 constitution.

The particular analysis of Erdoğan's leadership during his premiership, trying to do justice to the indicators of presidentialization, will set the ground for the following Chapter.

#### CHAPTER IV

## INDICATORS OF THE EXECUTIVE PRESIDENTIALIZATION UNDER THE AKP EXPERIENCE: ERDOĞAN'S PREMIERSHIP

After trying to deal with the concept of presidentialization in the Chapter II and analysing the causes (both structural and contingent) leading to executive presidentialization with particular reference to the AKP case in Turkey, the present Chapter will be in an attempt to note the indicators of executive presidentialization in the AKP period, especially up until 2014 the Presidential Election. The rationale behind such a limitation is that in 2014 the leader of the AKP, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, has moved to the office of the presidency (cumhurbaskanlığı) in the Turkish (somehow) parliamentarian Since, the system. presidentialization/presidential analogy are, to a certain extent, about the changing position and power of the prime ministers in parliamentarian regimes, this Chapter limits its analyses to the period of Erdoğan's premiership. However, it should be noted that, the presidentialization debate within the Turkish political system, according to many people, is going on because since Erdoğan's presidency, it has started to be manifested itself at the office of the president. The manifestations of presidentialization at the office of presidency under Erdoğan's effect will be the issue at hand in the following Chapter.

As Mughan (2000: 6) argued the presidentialization is "a much-remarked upon but little investigated" concept of parliamentary politics. The problem of how to investigate the signs of presidentialization in particular and the executive leadership in general has been an important issue for the authors working within these approaches. It seems what Rhodes (2006: 324-7) offers in the study of executives seem to be a consensus among many: The presidentialization debate fits into the

broader trends related to the study of executives which should be considered as the shift from formal/legalism towards the modernist/empirism in the Political Science. An indivisible argument of presidentialization debate, originated from the British case, is the importance of the extraordinary prime ministerial characters such as Harold Macmillan, Margaret Thatcher and Tony Blair. This is a strong sign for many that the office of the prime minister is to be affected by the character and the style of the people sitting there. The place of a prime minister within the politics has usually been conducted through the "prism of the incumbent" (Heffernan, 2005b: 615). Thus, the study of executives and presidentialization has certainly an empirical character.

At the expense of recalling previous arguments of this dissertation, the methodology of this part is as follows: The concept of presidentialization can be studied at different levels or paying due regard to its different faces, in Poguntke and Webb's analytical distinction such as electoral, party and executive. However while studying the concept, one has to distinguish between whether the alleged presidential elements in the system are the product of a constitutional change or more relating to behavioural character, in other words in the absence of a constitutional change. Due to the practical and empirical reasons<sup>64</sup> to a great extent, such as the lack of longitudinal data considering the impact of individual leaders on the outcome of parliamentary elections<sup>65</sup> in Turkey and the secrecy of parliamentary party meetings to a certain extent, I am left with the analysis of the executive level and/or "face" in Poguntke and Webb's terminology. However, I intend to compensate this limitation through locating the so-called executive presidentialization within the wider political process as suggested by Helms (2005a and 2005b). The aim to add such a wider

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> As Heffernan and even Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny noted presidentialization arguments on the electoral arena have been strongly challenged by a well-known study of King. At the end, many people argue that these arguments are the least empirically proven one within the three faces of presidentialization (Heffernan 2005b: 608 and Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny, 2011: 8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> A report provided by KONDA (2014: 36, 46) just after the 30 March Local Elections concluded that the trust in the leader is the main factor among the AKP voters and the trust in the leader is coming just after the services provided by the party and economic stability as the most important factors in voting among AKP voters.

political process is two-fold: First, it is a must if a scholar wants to argue for a presidentialization of politics, as Poguntke and Webb did. The executive face and/or the core executive arena is one of the levels of wider political system and an alleged manifestations of presidentialization is not enough for an argument considering the "politics". Secondly, by incorporating the wider political process – harbouring executive-legislative relations, public leadership and the relations with veto players (Helms 2005a) - the remedies of excluding other dimensions<sup>66</sup> are fulfilled.

As far as the causes of the so-called presidentialization is considered, it seems that the behaviouralist perspective (in this terminology it identifies the absence of constitutional change) is the only candidate because of the very little formal constitutional change in the Turkish parliamentary system (see Chapter III) may appear as the best candidate that would justify presidentialization of an incumbent prime minister. In short, the following parts will be in an attempt to point out the presidentialization at the executive level in details in particular and presidentialization within the wider political process in general from the behaviouralist perspective.

While doing so, researchers face the greatest challenge of how to operationalize such an elusive concept as presidentialization paying due regard to its dimensions. The aim of providing meaningful indicators as the manifestations of presidentialization is sparked by this challenge. Although the literature on the concept does not have a list of exhaustive indicators in order to label a certain prime minister and political process whether presidentialized and/or un-presidentialized, there has been important attempt to that end. Since this Chapter is devoted to "executive face of presidentialization" to a great extent, in the following parts I will elaborate on the proposed indicators on that dimension that are thought to be meaningful at that level.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Since the distinction among the three faces of presidentialization is analytical, they could impact on each other. Poguntke and Webb notes that the presidentialization of the electoral face would justify the dominant role a PM plays in the executive face (2005: 17).

### **4.1 Indicators of Presidentialization at the Executive Level**

As the presidentialization thesis originated from the debate severely focused on the British case, the indicators, for years, used to provide a sense of change through empirical observation paying due regard to British experience (especially on the basis of the reality observed during the Thatcher and Blair periods that are thought to be presidentialized). The hitherto studies on the British executives within these frameworks highlighted the alleged changes considering the increasing impact of leaders on the election outcomes (Mughan 2000), the prime minister's increasing involvement in international affairs (Dowding 2012), the decreasing involvement of a prime minister in parliamentary business<sup>67</sup> (Helms 2005a) and the concentration of control at the office of the prime minister – known as Downing Street No.10 (Bevir and Rhodes 2006).

One of the first clear and concise attempts in laying down the indicators for presidentialization has come from Poguntke and Webb. They approach the potential indicators for executive presidentialization within the logic of addressing, mainly, the following issues: a) whether a chief executive is constrained or not by their colleagues and party, b) increasing institutional, procedural and resourceful changes playing into the hands of the chief executive and c) non-constitutional factors increasing the power resources of the prime minister in a parliamentary system (2005: 18). To that end, they reformulated the indicators used for the British case and considered the "growing tendency to have cabinet reshuffles", "increasing trend for more personal polling" and "growing inclination to invoke a personalised mandate by the prime minister" as additions.

In addition to these "indicators" (see Table 4.1 for a full list of indicators suggested by different authors), Van Biezen and Hopkin (2005: 116) considers the length of tenure of PMs which help them personalize the office and Fiers and Krouwel (2005:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Helms (2005a: 244) notes that the degree of Tony Blair's involvement in parliamentary business was the all time low.
136) view the periods of governmental incumbency as an important indicator. These ideas stemmed mainly from the fixed term logic of the presidential systems. Helms (2005b: 433) has an objection to the indicator of "a significant increase in the turnover rate of cabinet ministers". Considering the analogy of Cabinet turnover rates and compared it with the US case, he notes that there was a "smaller cabinet turnover rate in the Clinton period than in the Cabinets of Blair and Schröeder".

Table	4.1	Indicators	thought	to	be	meaningful	for	a	manifestation	of
presidentialization										

Indicators derived from the British Case <sup>68</sup>	Poguntke and Webb's list of indicators in order to free the concept from the British origins <sup>69</sup>	International debate <sup>70</sup>	Suggestions of other authors
A significant increase in the impact of individual leaders on the outcome of parliamentary elections	The increasing trend towards more personal polling over the PM's popularity and voter policy preferences	A significant increase in the turnover rate of cabinet ministers	Periods of governmental incumbency (Fiers and Krouwel, 2005: 136) and/or length of tenure of PMs, personalization of the PM's office (Van Biezen and Hopkin, 2005: 116).
The increasing involvement of PMs in international summitry	Growing tendency to appoint non-party technocrats.	An inclination of the majority parliamentary party group(s) to behave, and present themselves, as actors being largely independent from the executive	The establishment of expert commissions (Lütjen and Walter 2000) <sup>71</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Cited in Helms 2005b: 431-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Quoted from Poguntke and Webb, 2005: 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Cited in Helms 2005b: 431-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Cited in Helms 2005a: 281.

Table 4.1 (continued)	Table 4.1	l (contii	nued)
-----------------------	-----------	-----------	-------

A decreasing involvement of PMs in the management of parliamentary business (i.e. making speeches, voting)	Growing tendency to have more cabinet reshuffles	The use 'plebiscitary' techniques of leadership by the head of government, including the use of such devices as intra- party ballots on crucial political and policy issues.	
The growing importance of extra-parliamentary media strategies of governments and PMs in particular	Increasingly centralized coordination and control of policy making by the PM		
The concentration of resources of control and advice at the "centre", the PM's office	An increasing inclination to provide integrated communication strategies controlled by the PM		
The transfer of policy initiatives from individual departments to the office of PM or even advisers	An increasing tendency to invoke a personalized mandate by the PMs based on their electoral appeal.		
A notable detachment of the PM from the government			
A growing detachment of the government from the judiciary			

The broader rationale behind the list of Poguntke and Webb was to open up the concept to international comparisons. To a certain extent, this is why the list they set up is "bound to be too general to apply in every respect to individual cases" (Webb and Poguntke, 2012: 2). Moving on their footsteps and having noted the suggested indicators by the authors, I will attempt to analyse those indicators tailored to the Turkish case<sup>72</sup>. While doing so, essential indicators such as the increasing interest

 $<sup>^{72}</sup>$  In the words of Poguntke and Webb (2005: 18) one should pay particular attention to find functionally equivalent indicators with respect to the case at hand instead of using identiacal ones.

and tendency in employing the polling on policy preferences into the governing process; the changing relations between the prime minister and Cabinet members; increasing visibility, salience and importance of special advisers to the prime minister are chosen from the international debate. The passage to follow which seems to grasp the internal logic of all these indicators is worth quoting:

Policy packages are constructed and presented by leaders and coteries of close advisers according to what incoming polling and focus group data indicate is most saleable. Leaders stage announcements of the packages for the media, who in turn portray the leader as the key agent of change. Parties thus become 'leader parties' whose role is restricted to anointing leaders and financing campaigns in the expectation of receiving spoils if their leader wins...Leaders now bring parties to power rather than the other way around (emphasis in original, Best and Higley, 2009: 336-7).

As an original conceptualization, I add the indicator of "the prime minister as an anchor" the list inspired by the Turkish case. It should be claimed that the chosen indicators in this dissertation are not exhaustive. However, they lie at the heart of the concept and they are thought to be manifesting themselves evidently. This is why I leave aside others, although in the following pages one should find some underdeveloped analyses on the issue of (increasing tendency in) ruling by decrees.

As far as the indicators in order to care the manifestations of presidentialization within the wider political process are considered, I follow the structure developed by Helms (2005a and 2005b). At this level, the relations between the executive and legislative, the nature of the public leadership and the role of veto players and counter-majoritarian institutions (Helms 2005a) should be considered to provide a reasonable ground.

# 4.2 The Analysis on the Indicators as a Basis for the Manifestation of Executive Presidentialization in Turkey: Erdoğan's Premiership

Considering the recent interpretations of the changing features of Erdoğan's leadership, of the workings of Turkish executive and/or of the decision-making process in the core executive arena that concentrate on the manifestations of

presidentialization/de facto presidency, common sense ideas in the Turkish case comprises a great deal of points from the political culture of Turkey<sup>73</sup> to the social construction of powerful leaders. Nevertheless, one can group these ideas into three broader observations: The first group of those politicians, columnists, scholars of Turkish politics and foreign observers who think that Turkey under Erdoğan's rule has been working de facto presidential for some time, argue that the "policy-making" generally and "decision-making" particularly within the executive has been centralized under the office of the prime ministry and in the personality of Erdoğan<sup>74</sup>. They highlight that Erdoğan determines everything including all appointments, be it administrative and political (even some goes further that he somehow appointed Abdullah Gül to the Presidency in 2007) and who is going to appear on the TV. Additionally, the observations gathering the attentions to the issue of "the absence of checks and balances" argue that there is nothing left within the broader system to stop him as a political actor<sup>75</sup>. One of Erdoğan's ex-advisers, Cüneyd Zapsu, considers a possible (constitutionally) presidential system in order to counterbalance his unparalled power with the hope of strengthening the Parliament. Last but not least, now Erdoğan is thought to be the only source of stability and/or change<sup>76</sup> who can project the future of the country's economic and political issues.

Having noted these observations arguing that the Turkish system has been working de facto presidential for some time, more specific indicators, in line with the British and international debate, are needed in order to fit the issue at hand into a framework. The part to follow is allocated to that end.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Even one of the journalists, Sevilay Yükselir, working in a media group known as close to Erdoğan, claims in a TV debate that the presidential elements have been present in the genes of Turkish people (Sabah 2014). In a similar mind, Bir (2012) argues that as of 2012 Turkey had already a presidential system because the prototype of leadership preferred by the Turkish people and practiced by the Turkish leaders is the powerful man emerging inside the nation who controls everything.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Birand 2010, Reuters 2014, Aydıntaşbaş 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Financial Times 2012, Vatan 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Yıldırım 2010.

#### 4.2.1 Public Opinion Polls and Voter Policy Preferences

The importance of carrying out polls, surveys and voter policy preferences in governing and decision-making seems to be in line with the broader argument claiming that we are living in an era of "permanent campaign". Helms (2005b: 432) notes that the idea of the permanent campaign is that since the 1980s electoral campaigning and the performances of the chief executives have been perceived as part of the wider governing process. Although what is called as "campaigning to govern" by Helms emerged first in the US<sup>77</sup>, it is hard now to deny that campaigning in the parliamentary systems have become longer and have demanded more time and energy of the executive leaders<sup>78</sup>.

The permanent campaign arguments note that leaders and their organizations are forced to market their credentials to as wide a constituency as possible and the citizens are increasingly conditioned to expect leaders to dominate media coverage, to shape agendas and to define the issues of the day. In other words, "subordinating the governing responsibilities to the drive to maintain public support", leaders are needed to remain within the currents of popular public opinion (Foley 2011). In this state of permanent campaigning, one of the most important abilities of leaders is to "merge his/her identity and/or policy into the shifting currents of public opinion" and to try "to disable opponents through the deployment of common-sense postures" derived from the polls and surveys (Foley, 2004: 304). Merging identity with the broader public's preferences is also playing into the hands of the leader to claim a personal contract of policy premises to the electorates. In the media, to a great extent, such policies are viewed as a "leader-centred contract of policies" (Foley, 2008b: 56).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> According to Helms (2005b: 432), the US origins of permanent campagin arguments could be viewed as a justification for considering it as an element of presidentialization for parliamentary systems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> On the other hand, Pippa Norris, especially considering the British case, argues that experts in polling and political marketing are still not integral to the process of government (cited in Helms, 2005a: 250).

Paul Brooker (2010: 114-5) argued that relying on public opinions at the time of a controversial policy proposals could bring a "bargaining cheap" to a prime minister in his/her relations with the ministers in order to veto their policy preferences and/or ease their fears by pointing to public opinions favouring the innovation. In this context, a prime minister could achieve "an above party leadership of public opinion" in which he/she might well succeed in selling the public a pioneering proposal. In addition, the regular search for the personal popularity of the leader seems to be vital for the organization and other actors in order to consider whether their leader is an asset or a liability.

It is argued that searching for public opinions and carrying out surveys in order to measure voters' sensitivities and preferences has started in the 1970s in Turkev<sup>79</sup>. Aksiyon (2002) highlighted that the professional public opinions surveys, especially before the general elections, has started in the 1980s. The PIAR Company's research was very close to 1983 election results. Such an appropriate prediction has increased the confidence of research companies. As far as politicians are considered, Turgut Özal is known as the first politician who started the tradition of having carrying out surveys/polls and questionnaires. For Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, it has been argued that, since the very early days of his political career, he has been paying tremendous attention to the opinion polls and voter policy preferences. Before his candidacy for Beyoğlu Mayorship and İstanbul Mayorship he had many firms carry out polls and questionnaires for himself (Türk, 2014: 424). It is noted that before the first poll conducted for him, he declared that "We need information. I demand research and surveys. The politics could not be done blindfolded"<sup>80</sup>. His determination on the necessity of surveys and polls goes on in the following years. Before the 2007 Presidential candidacy discussions, he declared that the announcement of the AKP's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> According to Tanju Tosun, the first research made by Prof. Dr. Nermin Abadan Unat in Ankara was published in Turkish daily newspaper Hürriyet. It was followed by a research conducted by İlhan Tekeli and Selim İlkin in order to compare the 1973 and 1977 general elections (Aksiyon 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> "Bilgiye ihtiyacımız var. Araştırma ve anketler yapılmasını istiyorum. Gözü kapalı siyaset mi olur?"

candidacy was going to be after many polls and surveys: "Polls/surveys are our style"<sup>81</sup> (Aksiyon 2007).

According to a report published by Aksiyon 2007, the AKP, since its foundation<sup>82</sup>, has been working with mainly three (3) firms for surveys and polls: DENGE, ANAR and POLLMARK<sup>83</sup>. DENGE research company has conducted surveys on "local problems, general political issues, political agenda" for the party. It is argued that the company, between 2002 and 2007, had interviewed with hundreds of thousands of people. ANAR, which was founded by Beşir Atalay, who later became deputy prime minister and minister, has been conducting monthly surveys composed of two hundred and fifty questions for the party on "the perception of leader, economic situation, employment, the operations of government, voter policy preferences". The company officials informed that the results are directly submitted to Erdoğan. In addition, the company had conducted eight surveys with twenty thousands respondents on the agenda topics, on the performance of mayors and general political issues with seventy thousands respondents and twice a year with eight thousands of respondents on the issues intended for rural areas. POLLMARK is famous for its questionnaire for the party organization, mayors, parliamentarians and members of central decision making and administrative committee before the announcement of the AKP's 2007 presidential candidate.

The party before and after every significant policy proposal, in order to measure the expectations and satisfactions, has made research companies carry out polls and surveys (Kartoğlu 2014). This method of before and after polls has been implemented, just to give some examples, in the Kurdish problem, democratization

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> "Anketler bizim üslubumuz".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Beşir Atalay, ex-deputy prime minister and ex-minister of interior, declared that they had completed the first party programme, in the days of the foundation of the AKP in 2001, on the basis of comprehensive polls and surveys (cited in Kartoğlu 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> In addition to these research companies, Metrosfer (2014) noted that the AKP has been also working with ANDY-AR, METROPOL, GENAR and KONSENSUS.

reforms, reforms in education (Kartoğlu 2012). Mustafa Kartoğlu, a Turkish columnist, noted that the AKP has received more than 20 researches on the agenda topics yearly, wide surveys before and after every election, before very important political decisions (such as Kurdish initiative and reform in education system). As a total, the AKP has been able to receive the policy preferences more than 400.000 Turkish citizens yearly, from different socio-economic sectors (Kartoğlu 2012).

The examples of how these results of surveys are used by the leader and party are very illustrative. Altaylı (2014) referring to the general director of MAK company noted that the PM Erdoğan, before announcing his candidacy for the presidency in 2014, had relied on many polls indicating the fact that the turnout in the elections would be very low (which was viewed to the advantage of Erdoğan). Baransu (2013) noticed one of the most important causes of discarding the Gülen community was their low levels of vote potential in the polls the AKP received. Last but not least, Yayman (2013) considered the results of public opinions party had received were very influential in the steps taken at Kurdish issue. The fact that Erdoğan, it is argued, has been considered "the only man who can handle the issue" in these researches motivated the party.

There is no doubt that Erdoğan cares the polls and surveys. He considers the results "as they are referenda", a "democratic method" and "guide" for politics (Kartoğlu 2012, Aksiyon 2007). He is known as the leader who relied most on these polls in the Turkish political history and who made research companies famous. One of the officials from the research company POLLMARK called him as the "father of questionnaires" (Aksiyon 2007).

Relying on surveys and polls as a governing and decision making method carries two significant problems. First, such polls and surveys are prone to manipulation by the owners whom ordered them. The results could be distorted to give the image of being powerful, to give the perception of support from the public in order to ease opponents and political actors. The fact that many researchers, officials and owners of the companies are also advisers to politicians creates serious doubt on the reliability of the research<sup>84</sup>. Secondly, the idea of leaders move in concert with political trends and public opinions seems to be in contrast to the "transformative leadership"<sup>85</sup>, ability of leaders to shape and change public preferences as well as the course of history (Helms, 2005a: 260). The following passage is very instructive:

On the negative side, this kind of high exposure leadership can be said to generate a state of permanent campaigning in which governing responsibilities are subordinated to the drive to maintain public support and to the need for leaders to remain within the parameters of current popular opinion. Far from offering a leading sense of direction, this kind of political leadership is arguably too political – shaped, presented and projected as it is by a continual process of market testing and message engineering dominated by teams of political advisors, media consultants, market strategists, focus group and public relation experts (Foley 2011).

Relying on polls and voter policy preferences before political decisions, it has been argued, has transformed political leaders "the CEO of a client-driven firm". The announcements of policy packages, together with an unparalled marketing technic provided by experts, give the image of "a CEO is sharing their products with the public". The AKP period and Erdoğan's leadership style, although not limited to such style, are not an exception to this trend. The announcement of the 2013 Democracy Package by the PM Erdoğan was an excellent case in line with this marketing (Üstündağ 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Hasan Basri Uslu from DENGE Company has been working with Erdoğan since his very early political career. Additionally, the AKP MP, between 2002 and 2007, Zeynep Karahan Uslu worked as an adviser to DENGE. The GENAR Company was founded by the AKP's Esenler Mayor Tevfik Göksu. The AKP's member of central decision making and administrative committee, Edibe Sözen, has been in the administration of the company. The relations of the AKP with POLLMARK company detoriated in 2012 due to a survey made by POLLMARK indicating the votes of the party very low (Metrosfer 2014). From the Turkish political history, a case needs special attention. Tansu Çiller, ex-Prime Minister of Turkey, had brought the SONAR research company to the court due to a poll made by the company (Aksiyon 2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> J. McGregor Burns have analysed the dichotomy between "transforming and transactional leadership" to give a theoretical basis to leadership studies. The transactional leaders are devoid of "any global perspective as to how society should be ultimately". On the contrary, the transforming leaders, arisen out of revolutionary situations, have a certain vision of the society (cited in Blondel 1987: 20-21).

#### **4.2.2 Prime Minister – Cabinet Relations**

The traditional view on the parliamentary executive underlines the collective/collegial character of the power. The power in this type of executives is thought to be located in the Cabinet. The members of the Cabinet (Ministers) are equal. The prime minister is regarded as first among equals and in theory has no more power than any other member of the Cabinet. Traditionally, the Cabinet has the role considering the aspects of "formal policy approval, policy coordination, resolving disputes, forum for debate, party management, and symbol of collective government"<sup>86</sup>.

However, over a long period and accelerating in recent years, the Cabinet government has lost its importance. In its formal sense, the collective cabinet government goes back to a period before the development of disciplined political parties. However, at the time, such an ideal seems to be outdated. In the absence of disciplined political parties, a minister's threat of resignation could threaten the life of government. Thus, all the members of the Cabinet had to be kept on board. As parties get unified and disciplined, the threat of resignation diminished<sup>87</sup>.

In short the need for reorganization of the government to increase strategic coordination resources of the leader; reduced opportunities of collective decision making; increase in the bilateral decision making to the exclusion of the Cabinet and to promote non-party technocrats and politicians seem to be prioritizing the prime minister in the balance of the intra-executive power. Mughan (200: 134) directs attentions to two related reasons to argue that prime ministers have become more like presidents in their relations with the Cabinet members: a) their enhanced electoral

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> <u>http://politics-blog.ashbournecollege.co.uk/unit-2-governing-the-uk/executives-prime-minister-</u> <u>cabinet-the-core-executive/</u> (20.01.2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Ibid (20.01.2015).

role and their consequent greater autonomy in the appointment<sup>88</sup> and dismissal of Cabinet ministers.

As far as the Turkish case is considered, the following indicators should be considered as the evidences of the shift of intra executive power to the benefit of the head of government. First of all, as observed by a Turkish columnist - Mehmet Tezkan, over a certain period the most heard words of the Turkish politics have been "with the instruction of our prime minister" (başbakanımızın talimatı ile). He noted those Turkish ministers, mayors and other important political actors while explaining their activities (not only on important projects but also on less significant issues) had declared to the public through the media that they are doing these projects/activities with the instruction of the Prime Minister Erdoğan. He has listed the declarations of the Minister for EU Affairs, Development, Energy, Food, Agriculture and Livestock, Foreign Affairs, İstanbul mayor among others. Tezkan highlighted that the words of "with the instruction of our prime minister" is particularly stressed and persistently declared. The aim is giving a message to the wider public that Prime Minister Erdoğan has personally interested in every issue (whether significant or not). This is aimed at restoring public trust in government. The "reconfiguration of the government projected through the prism of the presidential persona" (Foley, 2008b: 56) of Erdoğan are functional in fusing the government and policy implementation under the leader. Tezkan concluded that "This is not a discourse developed spontaneously. It has a political aim for the future designs of Turkey. At the end, these political actors are creating an image that the Prime Minister Erdoğan is governing Turkey single-handed" (Tezkan 2012b).

In addition, the office of the prime ministry has grown to an unprecedented degree in the Turkish history. Just to give a latest development, it has been reported that 402 new personnel allocated to the different units within the office, especially to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Mughan also highlights the decreasing importance of the "ideological arithmetic" arguments, the need to balance ideological tendencies or factions so that the Cabinet is a microcosm of the larger parliamentary party, in the PM's choice of Cabinet personnel (2000: 135).

Sectoral Monitoring and Evaluation Unit (*Sektörel İzleme ve Değerlendirme Birimi*) which was formed in 2011 with the aim of advising to prime minister. These personnel will act like adviser in the authority areas of some Ministries. This development has been reported in the Turkish media as establishing "parallel ministries" depended on the Prime Minister Erdoğan. This Unit will be acting as advisors and will provide special reports to the prime minister on "economy, agriculture, energy, social policy, security, justice, education, culture, science and technology, transport and international relations". It is reported that the Minister of Science, Industry and Technology, Fikri Işık, evaluated the formation of such a unit within the increasing prime minister office's need for coordination: "In order to coordinate better, the flow of data from ministries to the prime minister's office is necessary" (Milliyet 2014).

The AKP government, in 2011 through a "decree" just before the general elections, restructured the ministries. This regulation has decreased the number of ministries and has redefined their functions. In addressing the media, Prime Minister Erdoğan highlighted the need for coordination among the institutions, for rapid decision-making process and for the prevention of the multi-headed executive. According to him, the excessive numbers of ministries before 2002 had locked the state; especially he gave the examples considering the problems in privatization projects. While the office of the prime ministry is considered as "the office of coordination", Erdoğan's words should be identified as a clue in arguing that this coordination is viewed as increasing the importance of the prime minister:

In a government composed of 3 (three) parties, the new ministries formed in order to please every party...The existence of so many ministries, formed in order to provide political balance, have complicated the harmony and coordination among the institutions...What is important? Rather than Ministries, the services must be performed...I always declare. As a Ministry, this brother (the Prime Minister, the author's note) is enough to you. We will give all the services to you<sup>89</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> See Hürriyet 2011

To conclude, the marginalization of Cabinet members and prime ministerial predominance displacing Cabinet ministers into obscurity (Foley: 2004, 293) has made the prime minister the defining value of the party and/or government as this process supported by Cabinet members. Now, the projection of personal leadership of a particular leader seems to be an encoded change at the system which alters the classical depiction of the Prime minister as first among equals and turns his/her office as the centre of strategic coordination and political management (Ibid: 296).

#### 4.2.3 Special Advisers to Prime Minister

In the formation and application of local and national policies, it seems that some special smart men and/or questionable surveys are more esteemed than common mind and public's demands and expectations. It is visible that in governing the advices, the direction and effectiveness of a small bureaucratic and oligarchic group are chosen (Hürriyet 2013b).

These are the words of the ex-Minister of Interior, İdris Naim Şahin, in his declaration of resignation. The increasing number and importance of special advisors to Prime Minister is certainly considered as an indicator of presidentialization in a parliamentary system. Considering the Turkish case, although Recep Tayyip Erdoğan since his very early political career has been working with special advisers and/or experts (Türk 2014), the last years has witnessed a hot debate over his special advisers. Their increasing number and effectiveness have been understood as a reflection of the centralization of Turkish government around the office of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan.

Before going into details, it seems functional to note the rationale behind the increasing importance of special advisers to prime minister, especially in the Turkish context. First of all, such a small inner circle around a powerful leader acts as a "shadow government/cabinet" in governing the country. This plays into the hands of the leader in controlling the acts of Ministries and Cabinet members. Although official cabinet members are those breasting the issues for the government that draw criticism, Erdoğan's advisors work in the shadow in the policies of government.

Secondly, advisors seem to be functional in bypassing the established rules and/or hierarchies in bureaucracy while governing. This small team are administering through "point persons" (undersecretaries, deputy undersecretaries and deputy ministers). These advisors are thought to be countervailing forces against the civil service. Additionally, because of their personal loyalty the prime minister enjoys an unimpeded control over executive. Rather than the issue of Cabinet members who have to take the concerns of their constituencies into account, advisors' allegiance only lie with the prime minister. Last but not least, advisers are very functional in fostering a personal cult. One of the highly used mechanisms for that is to keep repeating a narrative used by the prime minister in a public speech over and over in order to amplify the message (Bozkurt 2013).

Erdoğan's special advisers are participating in party's Central Executive Committee (Merkez Yürütme Kurulu) (Habertürk 2007), they are addressing the press and media on behalf of the government (Ertan 2013), some of them are known as the writer of the prime minister's speeches, they are acting as the columnists in the media groups closer to the government. Just to give two significant examples for the importance and visibility of Erdoğan's advisors; the current Prime Minister Ahmet Davutoğlu was acting as his chief Foreign Policy advisor and the current Deputy Prime Minister Yalçın Akdoğan had been known as his chief political advisor.

Hargrove (2009: 14) while noting the characteristics of the dominant executives directs the attention towards the private advisers to presidentialized prime ministers. He claims those advisers' "responsive competence crowds out their neutral competence". The Turkish case is not an exception. The observers of Turkish government have serious doubts whether Erdoğan's special advisers can freely express their views. One of them, Barkey (2013) called these advisers as "yes-men" arguing that they only reinforce what Erdoğan has already decided to do. They have a reason behind such an act. It was Erdoğan who offered them these positions and ultimately it will be him to decide whether keep them or fire them (Bozkurt 2013).

Even it will be Erdoğan who will help them in climbing the ladders in their future political career.

Juxtaposing the lack of neutral advices to a culture of submission to the leader could pave the way for an adviser to claim very absurd views and conspiracy theories. As an example, one of the advisers to Erdoğan claimed that powerful groups, both inside and outside, were trying to kill Erdoğan with telepathic attacks (Today's Zaman 2013). In addition, the warnings of one of the AKP's deputy to an advisor of current Prime Minister Davutoğlu is also very instructive considering the philosophy of the office of advising: "Being an adviser is an official representative post. For that reason, it is not an office of criticizing the party and government in front of public. An adviser shares his/her views with the owner of that post and does not contradict with the policies of party and government. In spite of the owner of the post, declaring his/her truths with the competence deriving from that post is very problematic" (Cumhuriyet 2014).

#### **4.2.4** The Prime Minister's Personality as an Anchor

What is meant by anchor? At the general level, the concept of anchor identifies a fixed point, especially materials or tools used to affix something at that point. Specifically, it is used to delineate to hold a ship and a boat to a fixed point. The anchor prevents moving what had been anchored or it prevents going off the rails. It is generally used as an image of a sound harbour. In political terms, anchor is used for both institutions and personalities. In the Turkish case, for a long time but at a decreasing pace in the last years, the IMF and EU have been considered as Turkey's external anchors in the way of reformation in order to secure macroeconomic stability and to accelerate the democratization<sup>90</sup>. As far as a person is considered as an anchor, he/she is mainly viewed as the source of transformation and/or the only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> This issue at the time is beyond the aim of this dissertation. However, one can consult Öniş 2008, Öniş and Bakır 2007, Tocci 2009 for the importance of the EU and IMF anchors in the history of Turkey.

guarantee for stability and even the only person who can set the identifiable criteria and target for the people.

The extraordinary prime ministers supported by a disciplined party and clear parliamentary majority combined with their personalities can be considered as an anchor for stability and/or as the only source for change. In a similar fashion what have been documented particularly to Tony Blair's leadership in Britain by Foley (2008b), I shall argue that in Turkey, at the social level, "things only happen when Erdoğan takes personal charge" <sup>91</sup>. Such an idea seems to have two-edged interpretations of the issue. On the one side, people who are considering his personality as the only source of stability <sup>92</sup> views the issue from his leadership expansion and prime ministerial centralization. On the other side, such a call for a prime minister takes personal charge on a specific issue (whether it is vital or not) provide and even predetermine the form and substance of the critiques. In other words, they try to push the leader to interfere. Otherwise, it means that although he has the capacity and political resources, he does not involve in<sup>93</sup>.

Considering the anchorage debate, the analysis without dealing with the social construction of leadership and/or social power projection<sup>94</sup> would be incomplete. An

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> One of the highly interesting examples was the Erdoğan's interference into the issue whether the Turkish Super League Champion in 2012 Galatasaray could get its cup at the home of its main competitor, Fenerbahçe. Due to the security issues, the Turkish Futball Federation offered to give the cup at another place. However, it is reported that Galatasaray rejected that offer and contected with PM Erdoğan. After Erdoğan's instructions to the officials, Galatasaray players were able to lift the cup at the home of Fenerbahçe (Hürriyet 2012a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> One of the best reflections of this observation (even limited to economic issues) comes from Yıldırım (2010) which is worth to be quoted at length: "The International Monetary Fund has ceased to be the anchor. The effect of business world has decreased tremendously...There is no anymore the EU anchor...Erdoğan is the sole anchor".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> One of the highly known Kurdish politician in Turkey, Leyla Zana's words cosidering the Kurdish issue, one of the chronic problems of the Turkish nation historically, for Erdoğan seems very instructive: I trust that Erdoğan resolve this issue (Hürriyet 2012b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> A Kurdish politician, after the death of his son, in a phone call indicating the increasing terror activities in the country told Erdoğan that "every country has a "dear and/or saint" who changes the

inseparable part of leadership is the relationship between the leader and the followers. As discussed in the Chapter II under the headline of personalization, Garzia (2011) noted two very key conditions when the leaders' personalities can be very significant: a) the absence/presence of a dominant political climate and b) the presence of a systemic crisis. In addition to these conditions, leaders' personalities in the contemporary world seem to be seen as a response to the growing complexity of political issues and attendant uncertainties". The following passage is worth to be quoted:

Voters rely on leaders in this complexity and uncertainty as their guides and innovators who are more capable of responding to unforeseen dilemmas. On the other hand, leaders who grapple with 'issues whose complexities lie beyond the grasp of mass publics' offer broad visions that they try to articulate (Best and Higley, 2009: 337).

As Barkey (2013) observes, for Erdoğan no issue<sup>95</sup> (including public art, who wins what contract, where buildings go and even what commercials can be aired) is "too unimportant to gather his attention". Erdoğan's reply summed up his interest in this broad range of issues as "I am the country's prime minister. Every issue is my concern"<sup>96</sup>. Such an "incessant need to interfere with everything in Turkey", according to one of the Turkish academicians, Füsun Üstel, symbolizes at the level of social perception that Erdoğan is both Prime Minister, President and even the Mayor of İstanbul (BBC 2014). In a similar mind, Türk (2014: 318) calls Erdoğan as "the national Mayor of Turkey" due to his fervent interference into the Municipalities' activities. On the side of Erdoğan, it would be claimed that such societal leadership projection led him to think, as Gareth Jenkins observed<sup>97</sup>:

history. You can stop the flow of blood. If you do this, you become the dear/saint of this country" (Radikal 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Cornell (2014) noted the issues of raising a pious generation, urging women to have at least three children, planning to outlaw abortion and commenting on the historical television shows as examples of his inclination of "having a personal mandate to rule Turkey as he saw fit".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Cited in Cornell 2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Cited in Cornell 2014.

Erdoğan appears to regard himself as the embodiment of the national will - with the result that his tastes, prejudices and opinions become those of the nation, regardless of whether or not the nation is aware of the fact.

In addition to these indicators, one can consider the tendency to rule by *decrees having the force of law* (DFLs) as an indicator of executive presidentialization in the AKP period. Although the authorization of the Council of Ministers to issue "decrees having the force of law" is hardly new in Turkey, the decrees issued in the AKP period represented the limits such a tendency could go.

As far as the Turkish case is considered, it should be noted that the authorization of the Council of Ministers to issue decrees having the force of law was present in the 1876 Constitution. However, to a great extent, the arbitrary use of such power by politicians led constitution-makers not to add such a clause in the 1921, 1924 and 1961 constitutions. The 1971 constitutional amendment brought the decrees back to Turkish legal structure. The reason behind bringing back the decrees was that the parliamentary regime's law-making procedures were lengthy, due to the increasing economic and social needs of the modern states, the rapid legislation was of critical importance<sup>98</sup>. Finally the article 91 of the 1982 constitution<sup>99</sup> notes that:

The Grand National Assembly of Turkey may empower the Council of Ministers to issue decrees having the force of law. However, with the exception of martial law and states of emergency, the fundamental rights, individual rights and duties included in the first and second chapters and the political rights and duties listed in the fourth chapter of the second part of the Constitution, shall not be regulated by decrees having the force of law.

The authorization to issue decrees have been used heavily by the governments since the 1971 and fluctuating after the 1982 depended on the governments. To give an example, the number of decrees issued between 1971 and 1982 was only 34,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> See Ardıç (2001: 30).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> The Constitutional Court was granted the right to examine the constitutionality of decrees having the force of law, in respect of both substance and form, by the article 148 of the 1982 constitution.

compared to that of 166 in the period of 1982-1985<sup>100</sup>. However, it is clear that the Turgut Özal period was the most important in terms of the decrees before the AKP<sup>101</sup>. As stated above, the decrees are thought to be instruments to legislate rapidly. However, they are affecting the balance of power between the executive and the legislative to the advantage of the former. Many people consider the decrees as the tendency to rule "bypassing the legislative processes". This is perceived as undemocratic due to the lack of parliamentary debate before legislation on critical issues.

The post-1980 decrees had utilized by the governments in regulating the areas of finance and insurance, public employment, restructuring the ministries and more significantly in providing a legal framework for privatization. Regarding the AKP period, the decrees having force of the law issued in 2011 sparked a hot debate in Turkey. Just two months before the coming elections<sup>102</sup>, the TGNA empowered the AKP Council of Ministers on April 06, 2011 to issue DFLs for the coming six (6) months. AKP, in these 6 months following the authorization, issues thirty five (35) DFLs in order to "restructure Ministries", to regulate "public administration", to "introduce vice-ministries in to administrative structures" and to regulate hierarchically the "Independent regulatory agencies". Although the opposition party brought these DFLs to the constitutional court, the court rejected the appeal on October 27, 2011. As discussed in the previous parts of this chapter, then-Prime Minister Erdoğan's press release considering the DFLs seems very instructive in terms of the presidentialization thesis. Erdoğan defended the restructuring of Ministries in order to regulate their areas of authority within the logic of "preventing multi-headed" executive. Due to the ministerial pluralization and fragmentation,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> See Ataklı 2011.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> See Ardıç 2001 for the details of the decrees issued at the Motherland Party under the Özal's premiership (1983-1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> According to many, the timing of the decrees had an important message sent to the Turkish people. Just two months before, empowering the Council of Ministers for the coming 6 months was the message that the AKP was going to win the elections. Thus, for this reason, decrees also comprised the post-election period (see TMMOB 2011, Atakli 2011).

especially dealing with the important privatization projects, Erdoğan noted that pre-AKP governments led the government into a chaos (Hürriyet 2011). What the AKP government prioritized, in the words of Erdoğan, was the "coordination".

#### 4.3 Concluding Remarks

Having analysed the indicators manifesting the presidentialization under the Erdoğan's Premiership period, it should be concluded that one can argue for a *presidentialization at the executive level* in Turkish parliamentary system. The presidentialization in the core executive does not necessarily mean the presidentialization of the wider system, i.e. the presidentialization of politics and/or presidentialization of the parliamentary system. In other words, the centralization and personalization of the power at the office of the prime minister in contrast to other actors, such as cabinet members, civil servants, veto players, in the core executive is a *necessary but not a sufficient cause* of the systemic presidentialization.

Although the developments in the core executive and/or executive face have taken a presidential turn under the AKP period, in order to argue for a "presidentialization in the wider political process", there are very little evidences supporting the thesis. The understanding of the parliamentary party and the parliament by the AKP and Erdoğan seems to be a proof of the non-existence of the presidentialization within the broader political process.

As far as *the executive-legislative relations* are considered, according to the logic of the presidential system, the independent mandate of the chief executive reflects the autonomy of the leaders from their parties. The leader-party relations are the direct result of the separation of power principle found in presidential systems. The leader, thanks to his/her capacity to attract the electorate can bypass the wishes of the party. At the same time, the party in the legislature may feel more independent from the leader. Because the leaders are not sitting on the dominant coalition in the party, their leadership are precarious despite powerful at the times of elections.

With regard to executive-legislative relations, presidentialization implies the growing autonomy of both the chief executive from the party and the legislative party from the leader. The critical views on the issue of presidentialization highlight the major difference between the president and a prime minister in dealing with their parties. Dowding (2012: 12) argues that presidents in order to legislate have to bargain. Focusing on the US case, presidents is said to "be forced by circumstance to govern through ad hoc coalitions in Congress or by using their public appeal to force their will upon the legislators". On the other hand, Dowding giving the example of Obama's health care reform process, which originally was very different from the final state, argues that governing through bargaining may be seen as a failure with respect to a PM. The PMs are to be controlling the legislative agenda. Thus, an analogy is not correct. A presidentialization in this sense could be seen if the chief executive's power to control the parliament diminishes.

Relying on the Turkish case under the AKP period, it seems that it is hard to argue for an increasing gap between the government and its supporting party in the parliament. Even one may found counter-evidences on this account. One of the indicators of such evidence is the "proportion of the bills initiated by the opposition" as proposed by Helms (2013). As it is argued by one of the fervent supporters of presidential system for Turkey, the AKP MPs Burhan Kuzu, the 98% of the bills in the parliament are initiated by the government. According to him, the remaining 2% is very symbolic:

The right to legislate is, in appearance, in the parliament. However, the parliament is non-existent in the process before the legislation. It is not powerful in its negotiations. It is unaware of the background. 98% of laws are coming from the government. The remaining 2%, in fact needed by the government but due to the public opinion pressures, they are coming from member of parliaments indirectly. In reality, 100% of them are coming from the government. What do the members of the parliament do? They look to their parliamentary party group's deputy chairman. It is a mob mentality. If the deputy chairman raises his hand, then, deputies also raise their hands<sup>103</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Cited in Hakan 2015.

Rather than observing a detachment of the parliament from the executive, Erdoğan considers the negotiation process over the legislation in the parliament as an impediment to his government. Considering the educational reform attempts of AKP, known as "4+4+4", he argues that:

One of the deputies has talked for 12 hours on the "4+4+4" in the commission. Who? A deputy from the CHP. If he is asked 'what is education', he is unaware. He is proud of this. Hey! You will not prevent us. You will not prevent us.

Even, Erdoğan ordered that:

Today is Thursday. This commission will work. Tomorrow, Friday. It will work again. If it is needed, the commission will again work on Saturday and Sunday. At the end, this legislation will pass through the parliament. (Al Jazeera Türk 2012).

As it is evident, it is impossible to talk about autonomy of the parliament from the leader. Even Erdoğan considers himself as capable of mandating member of parliaments to work for the holiday.

#### **CHAPTER V**

# ERDOĞAN'S PRESIDENCY: THE CASE OF INSTITUTIONAL STRETCH AND PRESIDENTIALIZATION

In line with the 2007 constitutional amendment which stated that the next President of the Republic would be elected by popular vote, Prime Minister Erdoğan became the first directly elected President of Turkey in August 2014 Presidential Elections. Although the office of presidency has symbolic powers in a parliamentary regime, the Prime Minister Erdoğan and officials from the AKP government argued that the direct election for the office would provide the incumbent with greater political power and direct legitimacy. This legitimacy, combined with the personality of Erdoğan, was considered to be significant in order to move the office to the heart of executive power in Turkish political system.

According to the Turkish 1982 constitution, the President has important powers nominally but nowadays the incumbents of the office are reluctant to use them. Although the constitution shares the executive power between the Council of Ministers and the President, the Turkish political system clearly identifies that the power mainly lies at the office of the prime ministry. Erdoğan and his supporters directed attention to the constitutional powers of the President and highlighted that Erdoğan would use all the powers granted to him. This had opened up a debate whether the practice of president's rights would force the system to transform.

It is no secret that Erdoğan has been demanding a somewhat presidential system especially since 2011. During Presidential campaigns, he stated that "if elected, I will be a sweating, running president". At the time of writing this dissertation (as of August 2015), the 12-month performance of President Erdoğan seems to be a case in

point that could be analysed within the framework of presidentialization thesis. Thus, the aim of this chapter is to study the performance of Erdoğan's presidency, starting on August 2014 up until now. To a great extent, such an endeavour is a matter of studying leadership, at this time, the leadership of Erdoğan at the office of the Presidency of the Turkish Republic.

Relying on the state of art on the study of a political actor, as done by Strangio, 't Hart and Walter (2013: 2), I will be in a struggle to pay due regard to the following points in dealing with Erdoğan's leadership as a President:

- a) Exploring the institutional and contextual power chances of Erdoğan at the office of Presidency
- b) The relationship between Erdoğan and other political actors (such as the party he came from) as a critical sources of both leadership empowerment and restraint and,
- c) The social construction of Erdoğan's performance as a leadership success and/or failure.

Analysing these points in the study of leadership, in fact, reveals that leadership is not "just a matter of personality" but also it is always "conditional" and "codependent" (Strangio, 't Hart and Walter, 2013: 3). It should be argued that it is codependent because it depends on a particular historical moment, political culture and institutional conditions (such as the time of an institutional change) and it is conditional as far as it needs the support of colleagues and, may be the most important, the followers.

It is my claim in this part of the dissertation that Erdoğan's presidency is an attempt at "institutional stretching" by him and his close aides to make the office of the presidency a more potent platform in imposing its incumbents ambitions. It should be claimed that the direct election of the president for the first time in 2014 and his relations with his ex-party has provided a certain ground for him to push the office to the lynchpin of the Turkish politics.

After this brief introduction, the plan of this Chapter is as follows: first of all, I will briefly sketch out the position of the office of the presidency in Turkish politics. In doing so, the special emphasis will be given to the 1982 constitution, 2007 amendment and 2014 presidential election. Following this historical analysis, I will try to outline the conceptual framework I intend to utilise in shaping my arguments. As the conceptual framework, I will be locating the analyses of Erdoğan's presidency within the presidentialization-induced institutional stretch arguments. And, finally, I will note some of the meaningful manifestations of presidentialization through proposing some indicators in Erdoğan's term of presidency. At the end, I will try to show that Erdoğan has certainly attempted at stretching the office of presidency in a very short time period. However, for the future of the office, coming back to the points noted at the very beginning, his aims of stretching is and will be always conditional and co-dependent.

#### 5.1 The Office of the Turkish Presidency

# **5.1.1** The History of the Turkish Presidency<sup>104</sup>:

## **5.1.1.1 The 1924 Constitution**<sup>105</sup>

According to the 1924 constitution, the parliament was established as the centre of the power. Article 5 of the constitution noted that "the legislative and executive functions are vested and centred in the Grand National Assembly". In addition, Article 7 highlighted that "the assembly exercises the executive power through the intermediary of the President of the Republic, whom it elects, and through a cabinet

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> In Chapter III, Turkish constitutions were dealt with at some depth through the lenses of constitutional presidentialization. For that reason, in order not to repeat myself once more, this part is exclusively allocated to the position of the office of the presidency in Turkish constitutions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> The English version of the 1924 constitution can be consulted at Edward Mead Earle (1925).

chosen by him". The same article gave the assembly the right to withdraw power from the government at any time. However, neither the president nor the government could dissolve the parliament according to the 1924 constitution. Under the Executive Power section, the 1924 constitution noted the election of the president by the assembly for a period equivalent to that of the parliamentary term (Article 31), accepted the responsibility of the president to the Grand National Assembly only in case of high treason (Article 41) and highlighted that the "responsibility for all decrees promulgated by the president, according to the Article 39, devolves upon the head of the Cabinet and the responsible ministers whose signatures are affixed to the decrees". In terms of the formation of the government (Article 44) and the "collective responsibility" of the government, the 1924 constitution was in line with the parliamentarian principles.

It should be claimed that according to the 1924 constitution, on paper, the presidency was intended to be a more "ceremonial position" (BPC, 2015: 9) in line with the wisdom of seeing the president as the head of the state rather than the government. Still, president had important rights, though the original draft of the constitution conferred on the President greater powers than he enjoyed under the constitution as finally adopted (Earle, 1925: 87), such as the right to veto the bills passed by the Assembly.

Although the details are out of this dissertation's aims, the position of the Mustafa Kemal Atatürk as a president under the 1924 constitution, taken his "magnetic prestige" combined with being his leadership of the Popular Party and the constitutional prerogatives into consideration, could be seen as a powerful factor in the determination of the public policies (Earle, 1925, 87-88; Erdoğan, 2003: 55-70). The BPC (2014: 9) concludes that the steering of the country, to a certain extent, from the presidency through the force of personality by Mustafa Kemal "left a significant imprint on Turkish politics". That is, the personality matters. As far as the relation between president Atatürk and prime minister İnönü is considered, Erdoğan

(2003: 69-70) noted that there was a tension among the two as far as Atatürk's direct interference into the government policies has put PM İnönü into obscurity, or even "in a position of half-retirement". Eventually, PM İnönü resigned in 1937.

After Turkey had passed to multi-party democracy in 1946, the constitutional framework of the 1924 was still in force. During the Democratic Party (Demokrat Parti – DP) period (1950-1960), the relations between president Celal Bayar and prime minister Adnan Menderes should be termed as "the first to adhere to the constitutional structure that put the prime minister ahead of the president" (BPC, 2014: 10). Although Bayar was an influential figure, Mendered was leading the politics.

## **5.1.1.2 The 1961 Constitution**<sup>106</sup>

There is no doubt that the 1961 constitution foresaw a parliamentarian type of executive. As far as the position of the president is considered, the office was representing the "less powerful and symbolic" wing of the executive that was composed of Council of Ministers and the president. The right to govern, in essence, was given to the Council of Ministers emerging from the Turkish Grand National Assembly. Article 95 of the constitution noted that the president "shall be elected for a term of seven years from among those members of the TGNA". Significantly, the president would no longer be allowed to stand for re-election and he would be required to dissociate himself from his party. Among the authorities of the president, the president "shall preside over the Council of Ministers when he deems it necessary" (Article 97). The president shall designate the prime minister and appoint the Ministers nominated by the prime minister (Article 102). As line with the parliamentarian principles, the president "shall not be accountable for his actions connected to his duties" unless the impeachment for high treason and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> The English version of the 1961 constitution shall be consulted at Sadık Balkan, Ahmet E. Uysal and Kemal H. Karpat (Trans.), <u>http://www.anayasa.gen.tr/1961constitution-text.pdf</u>.

responsibility of the decrees emanating from the president is for the prime minister and the relevant ministers (Article 98, 99).

All these provisions highlighted that the designers of the 1961 constitution took steps to "ensure the prime minister as a primary political actor in the Turkish politics" (BPC, 2014: 10). In practice, as intended by the writers of the constitution, the prime ministers were more powerful under the 1961 constitution. Not the presidents Cemal Gürsel (1960-1966), Cevdet Sunay (1966-1973) and Fahri Korütürk (1973-1980) but the prime ministers İsmet İnönü, Bülent Eecevit and Süleyman Demirel were the dominant and leading figures in the Turkish politics.

#### 5.1.1.3 The 1982 Constitution

According to the 1982 constitution, the executive is again composed of president and the council of ministers. Taking the articles 109,110,111,112 into the consideration, the council of ministers seems to be the essential component. In fact, Article 112 reveals that "the prime minister, as Chairman of the Council of Ministers, shall ensure co-operation among the ministers, and supervise the implementation of the government's general policy".

With regard to the position of the president, the powers of the office had been tremendously increased by the 1982 constitution. Article 104 of the constitution listed president's powers for each branch of the government<sup>107</sup>. Among the powers related to legislation are the right to promulgate laws, the ability to return laws to the parliament to be reconsidered, the right to appeal to the Constitutional Court for an annulment of laws, the submit to referendum legislation regarding amendments to the constitution and to call new elections for the parliament. As far as executive powers are considered, the president appoints the prime minister and can preside over the council of ministers when he/she deems it necessary. The president has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> The detailed list of president's powers related to legislative, executive and judiciary should be consulted at the website of the Presidency of the Turkish Republic. <u>http://www.tccb.gov.tr/en/presidency/power/</u>.

significant control over the military, as being the Commander-in-Chief, he/she appoints the chief of general staff and can preside over the National Security Council. Additionally, president can proclaim martial law or state of emergency and has the right to appoint members and the Chairman of the State Supervisory Council, members of the Higher Education Council and the rectors of universities. President's powers related to the judiciary are "to appoint the members of the Constitutional Court, one-fourth of the members of the Council of State, the Chief Public Prosecutor and the Deputy Chief Public Prosecutor of the High Court of Appeals, the members of the Military High Court of Appeals, the members of the Supreme Military Administrative Court and the members of the Supreme Council of Judges and Public Prosecutors".

Article 105 deals with the accountability and non-accountability of the president and noted that "All Presidential decrees except those which the President is empowered to enact by him/herself without the signatures of the Prime Minister and the minister concerned, in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and other laws, shall be signed by the Prime Minister, and the ministers concerned. The Prime Minister and the ministers shall be accountable for these decrees. No appeal shall be made to any legal authority, including the Constitutional Court, against the decisions and orders signed by the President on his/her own initiative". A president may only be "impeached by high treason on the proposal of at least one-third of the total number of members".

According to the 1982 constitution, the prime minister was the dominant force in the politics and the presidency was to remain secondary. However, the significant increase in the powers of the president created some degree of ambiguity in relations between the president and the prime minister. Considering the powers/status of the president according to the 1982 constitution, "although it was not an office popularly/directly elected", it should be argued that "a president may be significantly

active over the general policy" (Erdoğan, 2003: 208) if "the parliament and the prime minister are willing to go along with" (BPC, 2014: 12). It should be argued that the writers of the 1982 constitution designed the presidency "as a tutelary institution and as a realm of protecting the collective interests of the nation from partisan politicians" (Kalycioğlu, 2015: 158).

Although Kenan Evren, while in office, did not use presidential powers to the fullest extent, civilian presidents following Evren attempted to govern the country from the presidency. Turgut Özal and Süleyman Demirel were the cases in point. Turgut Özal, the then prime minister, succeeded Kenan Evren as the president in 1989. Özal considering his declining and damaged reputation as a PM and being fearful for his party's electoral prospects in the next elections manufactured his ascent to the presidency (BPC, 2014: 12). He ensured one of his followers, Yıldırım Akbulut, was elected as the prime minister. Özal thought that he would work in harmony with Akbulut and he could steer the country from the presidency. However, he was unable to fully control the government and used every opportunity to criticize it. Even within his party, Mesut Yılmaz, had unseated Akbulut as the leader of the party and declared his intention to bring the presidency in line with the constitution (Ibid: 12). After ANAP lost the government to a Demirel-led coalition, then PM Demirel successfully marginalized Özal as a president. After the death of Özal, Süleyman Demirel was elected as a president by the TGNA in 1993. He also attempted to govern the state and his ex-party from the presidency; however he could not achieve his aims. It is worth noting that Demirel in his term in the presidency saw unstable coalition governments. Such a context created a political vacuum in the system and Demirel filled this vacuum especially pursuing a personal foreign policy agenda (Ibid: 13). In fact, in 1997 it was argued that he could manage masterfully the military's threat to the DYP-RP government.

#### 5.1.2 The 2007 Constitutional Amendment

As Ahmet Necdet Sezer's presidency (2000-2007) ended in May 2007, the ruling party, the AKP, wanted to elect a candidate from its deputies. The foreign minister of the AKP government and one of the leading figures in the AKP, Abdullah Gül, was nominated as party's candidate to the presidency. Gül's perceived lack of secular identifications in the eyes of state elites, AKP's reluctance to get the support of the opposition party (Republican Peoples Party – CHP) in the parliament, the military's messages<sup>108</sup> sent out to the AKP which stated that the next president would "commit himself to the fundamental values of the republic, including secularism, not only in words but also in substance" (Uran, 2010: 3), and the legal discussions  $^{109}$ , known as "367 decision", arguing that "the constitution and the rules of procedure of parliament, was argued, necessitate that unless two-thirds majority of deputies were present in the first round of balloting, the necessary quorum for the elections would not be met and election process could not start" (Kalaycioğlu, 2015: 159) led the AKP call an early election and initiated a legislative bill to amend Article 101 of the 1982 constitution which mainly regulated the selection process of the president. In time, to cut the whole history into short<sup>110</sup>, the AKP managed to put the bill into a referendum in October 2007, was victorious in early elections of July 2007 and was able to elect its candidate, Abdullah Gül, as the president in August 2007. Since Abdullah Gül had already been elected for a non-renewable seven-year term, with the support of the Nationalist Action Party (MHP) on 28 August, hence it was not until 2014 that the first popular presidential election took place.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> The most surprising attempt from the military was the declaration published on 27 April 2007 in the official website of the office of the Chief of General Staff. It stated that "it should not be forgotten that the Turkish armed forces are a side in this debate and are a devoted defender of secularism...The Turkish armed forces will display their position and attitudes when it becomes necessary. No one should doubt that..." (cited in Uran, 2010: 3). This declaration was known as "e-memorandum" by the public and academicians.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> As Kalaycıoğlu (2015: 159) summarized the arguments put forward by the former Republican prosecutor Sabih Kanadoğlu in 2007 presidential elections were first brought into the public and political debate by a former politician, Necmettin Erbakan, in 1989 in the discussions over Turgut Özal's election in the parliament as a president.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> For details of the whole process, see Kalaycıoğlu 2015, Köker 2013, Gönenç 2014, Uran 2010, İnsel 2013.

The referendum on the constitutional amendment was held on October 21, 2007 and almost 69% of the voters voted in favour of popular election of the president. The 2007 amendments stipulated that;

- The next president would be elected by popular vote rather than by the parliament,
- The term of office for the president has decreased from seven to five years and allows the incumbent to stand for re-election for a second term,
- The parliament's term of office was reduced to four from five years
- The quorum of the assembly for both sessions and elections was decided as 184 rather than 367.

The introduction of the popular election of the president into the system has triggered an academic debate whether the Turkish already flawed, by the 1982 constitution, parliamentarian system had transformed or not. Before going into the details of this debate, it seems worth noting the theoretical insights on the direct election of a president in a parliamentarian system.

As far as the theoretical accumulation on the "direct election of the president" in a parliamentarian system is considered, the common wisdom highlights that it would be a danger in terms of the inclination of the president to interfere into the executive matters and consider himself/herself as the essential part of the government (Tavits 2009). As Tavits (2009: 11-12) summarized the highly cited view of Lijphart on the issue, the popular mandate behind the president would lead him to "encroach upon or take over the leadership of the government". This is because the elected president considers that his/her direct election provide him/her with a democratically legitimate justification to be "more active". The following passage is very instructive in terms of summarizing the common view's position:

Direct elections inevitably lead to more activism and conflict between branches of the state because presidents feel that their constitutional powers do not correspond to their direct popular mandate (Tavits, 2009: 12).

Secondly, using the terms of the approach known as "the principal-agent theory" put forward by Samuels and Shugart, due to the changing principals of the agents, at this time the electorates rather than the legislators, the directly elected presidents may feel no need to please other actors in the political system, as in the indirect election that they need to get the support of the legislators. This wisdom could culminate in the behavioural differences between the directly elected and indirectly elected presidents.

However, the enhanced legitimacy behind the presidents due to the popular mandates "does not automatically lead to increasing activism and power" (Tavits, 2009: 15). The increasing presidential activism<sup>111</sup> and power is dependent on the partisan forces and institutional structures within the environment they operate. In practice, the directly elected Irish, Austrian and Icelandic presidents have no executive role, to a certain extent, in their political systems. The political opposition and the strength of other institutions may become constraints for the directly elected presidents' willingness to be more active. Thus as Tavits (2009: 15-16) concluded, it is not the direct or indirect election that may provide presidents with more legitimacy and resources to be more active but the environment within which they are operating shape their chances of increasing power.

I support the arguments (Uran 2010, Köker 2014, Gönenç 2013) claiming that the 2007 amendments were a reaction of the AKP government to a political/constitutional crisis rather than a well-designed "constitutional engineering scheme" (Uran, 2010: 2-3). The changes brought into the system by the 2007 amendments were new additions to the already deviant parliamentarian system of Turkey since the 1982 constitution. However, the constitutional, legal and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> The presidential activism should be divided into two as Tavits (2009: 30) did as formal and informal. The formal activism comprises "approving/vetoing legislations, engaging in policy discussions with executive or foreign leaders and, interfering with cabinet-building" whereas, the informal activism is composed of "making statements, setting policy agenda and, public opininon and international impression".

institutional structures were not adapted to the emerging situation. In time, the 2007 amendments has divorced from the context within which it was emerged and has seen as a reason to pass through a presidential system, especially by Erdoğan and his supporters in the party and the academia (Uran, 2010: 2; İnsel, 2013: 9). The coming years' "Turkish type presidential system" debate and "the 2012 AKP Proposal"<sup>112</sup> should be considered as the attempts at adapting the system, taking Erdoğan factor into consideration, to the de facto situation created with the 2007 amendments (Ibid: 10).

#### 5.1.3 The 2014 Presidential Election

In the 2014 presidential election, AKP's candidate Erdoğan had run against Ekmeleddin İhsanoğlu, the joint candidate of both the CHP and MHP, and Selahattin Demirtaş, the co-leader of the Peoples' Democratic Party (HDP). Considering the aim of this dissertation, the main emphasis will be put on the campaign of Erdoğan<sup>113</sup>.

As far as Erdoğan's campaign is considered, although it had coincided with an environment deeply affected by the "revelations of December 2013, which the opposition interpreted as evidence of political corruption among the AKP elite", while the AKP government and president Erdoğan "portrayed them as an attempted coup" (Kalaycıoğlu, 2015: 164). Interpreting the results of the March 2014 local elections that the most of the Turkish electorates accepted the AKP's description as the truth, Erdoğan had concentrated his campaign mainly around his previous successes during his premiership, his leadership in providing a macro-economic stability. However, above all in the campaign Erdoğan promised to create a "*New Turkey*" in his possible presidency (Kalaycıoğlu, 2015: 164; Köker 2014, BPC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> For the details of both the debate and the proposal, see Chapter VI.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> For further information on personalities and commitments of both İhsanoğlu and Demirtaş during the 2014 Presidential elections, see Kalaycıoğlu, 2015: 162-164 and for Erdoğan's campaign, see Kalaycıoğlu 2015 and Köker 2014.

2014). In this New Turkey, Erdoğan argued that the office of the presidency would be supreme, the president would not be neutral in the sense that he would be sided with the nation, and the president would be active in designing and executing policies together with the PM and council of ministers<sup>114</sup>.

The concept/vision or even the commitment<sup>115</sup> of the *New Turkey* seems to be a "total and transformative political vision" (BPC, 2014: 16) Erdoğan and his supporters have been arguing with his presidency<sup>116</sup>. It should not be seen as only an electoral slogan. Erdoğan and his supporters have loaded an "encompassing vision" to the concept<sup>117</sup>, representing the founding principles of the coming decade of Turkey, in terms of society, politics and citizenship, with the presidential mission of Erdoğan (Mahçupyan 2015a). Seen from this perspective, the *New Turkey* discourse is argued to be a hegemonic project, thus necessitate me to deal with this vision at some depth.

First of all, although much has been said on it, it seems that nobody is able to reveal the contents of this *New Turkey* except the highly used argument indicating that it will be built under Erdoğan's "constitutive presidency" (*Kurucu cumhurbaşkanlığı*) (Laçiner 2015a, Mahçupyan 2015a, Miş and Aslan 2014). Despite important publications coming from those intellectuals and research companies close the AKP,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> According to Kalaycioğlu (2015: 164-165) all these commitments are in contravention of Article 103 of the constitution and are not in line with Article 109 which stipulated that the right to execute policy is given to prime minister and the council of ministers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Mahçupyan in his articles (2015a, 2015b, 2015c, 2015d,2015e, 2015f) deals with the concept of New Turkey as a target, as a dream and as a commitment and tried to provide the philosophical foundations to this idea of New Turkey paying due regard to the possible New Turkey's society, politics and citizen and bureaucracy typology. For a critic of Mahçupyan's ideas, see Laçiner 2015a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Interestingly enough, in time the New Turkey anthem has been composed, the New Turkey journal has been published, the volunteers of New Turkey has emerged and internet sites have been made ready.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Laçiner (2015a) claimed that this New Turkey discourse should be considered as an "empty signifier" – signifier having no signified - , hinting that it is part of an hegemonic project, open to be filled by a signified in accordance with dominant discourse. In other words, it is impossible to comprehend the New Turkey concept concretely as it is open to be filled.

their analyses do not allow us to comprehend the concept concretely (Laçiner 2015a). At the very broader level, the early ideas on the *New Turkey* were highly influenced by the 2007 constitutional amendments. It goes like this:

With the popular election of the president, the state and the nation "will be merged". It will be possible to call the president as the "president of the nation". As it was the case before the 2007 amendments, a political figure determined as the final outcome of the negotiations among political parties within the parliament, the coming president will be "the nation's authentic/real representative" due to the popular mandate behind him/her. Finally, as in the discourse of the AKP, the "last castle of the tutelary powers", the office of the presidency, will be held down by the people and it will be in the reach of ordinary Turkish people<sup>118</sup>.

As Erdoğan's candidacy for the presidential office became clear, his ambitions, bringing a presidential system, and personality has been added to the previous reasoning. This time, it has been argued that the president has already important powers in the 1982 constitution. Adding the increasing legitimacy coming from the popular mandate behind him to these already important powers, he will use all his powers to the greatest extent ad the system will be forced to transform to bring the presidency to the centre of executive politics. Thus, the mission of the popularly elected president should be a "constitutive mission" which will create new customs, procedures and institutions in an irreversible way. The old Turkey has died, and the new Turkey will be built under a new president according to this argumentation. Erdoğan's ambitions and aims perfectly fit into this reasoning. In fact, the vision pamphlet Erdoğan used in the presidential elections was titled as "on the way to New Turkey".

As Erdoğan came out of victorious from the presidential elections, his first message he sent was "without a doubt, the New Turkey ... has won today".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> These ideas are my own integration from the highly stressed points voiced in AKP's introduction ceremony of its candidate, Erdoğan, for the presidency. One can also find these arguments in AKP 2014a, AKP 2014b and Hakan 2014.
### 5.2. Erdoğan at the Office of the Turkish Presidency

### **5.2.1 The Concept of Institutional Stretch**

It will not be wrong to claim that the idea of institutional stretch falls into the broader category of an interactionist approach in analysing a political actor or a leader. The interactionist approach in this framework argues that the actor to study is both an actor dependent on the environment in which s/he operates and, at the same time, s/he can have an impact on the support structure that he sits on, i.e. institutional power resources (Bennister 2007). Although dependent on the environment (formal institutional structure, other political actors etc.), an incumbent of an office would force the institution in a way that it has the potential to deliver greater power (Strangio, 't Hart and Walter 2013).

At the very broader level, the institutional stretch identifies that "new structures, processes and practices becoming embedded in the political system by the incumbent" (Bennister, 2007: 327). In other words, institutional stretch is a phenomenon of the times of "change" in which a perceived transition has affected the institutions to restructure to meet the emerging exogenous demands. Although we know that political leaders have certain amount of power as a result of the position they hold, their capacity to exert power should be shaped by the context and situation. Certain contexts and situation could "open up space for actors to implement existing rules in new ways" (Kefford, 2014: 2). Generally, an institutional stretch indicates that "the influence and authority of an incumbent is beyond the systemic", i.e. beyond the formal structures, traditions and customs (Bennister, 2007: 328).

The idea of institutional stretch has close ties with two important phenomena: centralization and personalization. In this framework, personalization refers to the personal power resources of the incumbent and centralization indicates the increasing institutional resources of the incumbent toward a greater power or resource

augmentation around the office in order to be able to better coordinate the policies. The personal leadership can provide the actor with greater power resources than the formal structure he/she sits on. As in the idea of Foley "the old moorings of institutionalization have been stretched in response to the new context of personalized public leadership" (cited in Bennister, 2007: 328).

Heffernan (2005b: 616-617) notes "reputation, political success, public popularity and the high standing in the party" are the most important resources of personalization and/or personal power and "agenda-setting through the leadership of the cabinet, strengthening the office and agenda-setting through news media management" for the centralization. However, it should be highlighted that these institutional and personal resources are not transient. They are always context bounded and dependent on other actors and institutions. In Heffernan's terms, it should be admitted that "actors who are 'resource rich' are provided with access to the resources of other actors and institutions to achieve their goals (2005b: 608-610). As a conclusion we should neither privilege the agents and downplay the effects of the structure nor privilege the structure and downplay the effects of agents on them.

After this brief theoretical remarks, the following part should be seen the analysis of the case at hand, Erdoğan's presidency, through the lenses of above-mentioned framework.

# 5.2.2 Erdoğan's Presidency

Erdoğan's first attitude which was considered by many as clearly being in contravention of the constitution and as paralyzing the constitutional definition of president's impartiality (Köker 2014, Kalaycıoğlu 2015), following the presidential election, was his participation in the AKP's 27 August 2014 congress where the new leader of the party and the prime minister was elected (Yazıcı, 2015: 106-7).

Although the 1982 Constitution's Article 101/3 stipulates – "If the President-elect is a member of a party, his/her relationship with his party shall be severed and his/her membership of the Grand National Assembly of Turkey shall cease" – Erdoğan interpreted the clause as if all his previous titles were intact until he takes the presidential oath on August 28 rather than the official declaration of his victory by the Supreme Electoral Council/Board (Yüksek Seçim Kurulu – YSK) of Turkey in the Official Gazette on August 15 (Köker, 2014: 3, Kalaycıoğlu, 2015: 172).

In addition, Erdoğan after assuming the presidency had behaved as if he was still the leader of the AKP. His demand for a total of 400 MPs<sup>119</sup>, tacitly indicating the electorates to vote for the AKP, in order to be able to pass through a presidential system, which was later decreased to 335<sup>120</sup>, an amount enough to bring the issue into referendum, his critics directed against opposition parties before the 7 June 2015 elections and his mass opening ceremonies<sup>121</sup> (toplu açılış törenleri) in which he scheduled them before the elections as if they were campaign rallies were seen by many as if Erdoğan was still acting the leader of the AKP and violating the constitutional clause which stipulated the principle of the impartiality of the president (Yazıcı 2015, Kalaycıoğlu 2015).

As far as the relations between President Erdoğan and other political actors are considered, it seems that his relations with the handpicked Prime Minister Davutoğlu are of critical importance in terms of his aims of bringing the office of presidency into the centre of the Turkish politics. Since he assumed the office in August 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Hürriyet Daily News 2015c.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Hürriyet Daily News 2015d.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> An interesting study of Michael Sercan Daventry, published in Turkish dailies, after comparing and contrasting the meetings held by prime minister Davutoğlu and ceremonies of president Erdoğan, has come to a conclusion that the organization of rallies and ceremonies seems like both leaders shared the country for these meetings before the elections. If you put Davutoğlu's 46 campaign rallies and Erdoğan's 19 ceremonies into the Turkish map, only the 6 meetings and ceremonies overlapped. See Cumhuriyet 2015b. The original source should be consulted at Daventry's web site, http://www.jamesinturkey.com/campaigns-in-concert/ (20.08.2015).

until now, on many controversial issues Prime Minister Davutoğlu has been forced to retreat by president Erdoğan. Out of them, the suspension of the anti-corruption transparency law, the Supreme Court elections for the ex-Ministers accused by corruption, the abandonment of the candidacy of the National Intelligence Agency's chief Hakan Fidan as an MP from the lists of the governing party in the coming elections, the president's negative views on the Kurdish peace process, the reluctance of Prime Minister Davutoğlu on the issue of switching to a presidential system despite Erdoğan's fierce support for it and the post-7 June elections debate on the establishment of a coalition government with other political parties has indicated Erdoğan's aims of exerting tutelage on the Davutoğlu's government even, to a great extent, exceeding the limits of the constitution (Küçükşahin 2015). These issues reveal that the system is controlled by a "partisan president" who is controlling both the government and the governing party from the Presidential Palace (Çakır 2015). According to Çakır (2015), this is a de facto presidential regime if not de jure.

The "most significant" and "unprecedented" rift between president Erdoğan and the AKP government emerged over the handling of the peace process on March 2015 (Guardian 2015a, Yazıcı, 2015: 106). President Erdoğan declared that he was considering the meeting between the government and pro-Kurdish depuites to announce a call for disarmament was "inappropriate" and said that he was unaware of the issue. He severely criticized government through the media. The Deputy Prime Minister Bülent Arınç had gently reminded the president his constitutional powers: "His (Erdoğan's) statements like 'I did not like that' or 'I am not happy about that' are emotional and are his views. The peace process is being carried out by the government and the government is responsible for this question" (Guardian 2015a). Facing such a reaction from the Deputy Prime Minister, Erdoğan went on to argue that "What does it mean that I make politics? Can a president remain outside the politics? Does not a president have something to say on politics? They (critics) are looking for a wall flower suitable for them. I am not a wall flower as a president" (Cihan News Agency 2015a). Such a row, for the first time, indicated uneasiness

present in the government over the interference of the president into the politics. However Erdoğan insisted on his rights to be an active president and argued that since the 10<sup>th</sup> of August 2014 with the popular election of the president, an era in the Turkish politics has been de facto over. The following passage is worth to be quoted at length:

The parliamentarian system, being started from 1876, 1924 or even 1946 by some people, has been taken to the waiting room irreversibly by the nation on the  $10^{\text{th}}$  of August. How long will this waiting take or until when? It will last either till providing a constitutional framework to the present practices or till substituting a new system instead of the current one. The decision on this issue will be given at the 7<sup>th</sup> of June 2015 general elections<sup>122</sup> (Sabah 2015).

In addition to President's relations with the members of the core executive, considering the wider system Turkey has witnessed president Erdoğan's quarrel with the chief of Central Bank. Erdoğan attacked the Central Bank for treachery for having kept interest rates relatively high. He publicly labelled the chief of the central bank as "traitor" for not decreasing the interest rates. Erdoğan's quarrel with the central bank authorities had been followed by public for a certain period of time. During the debate<sup>123</sup>, the value of American dollar against the Turkish lira increased just after every time Erdoğan attacked on the Central Bank. This is named as "Erdoğan trade" by the Turkish media (Yıldız 2015). It is argued that president Erdoğan has become "unprediactable" and "source of problems and instability" once seen as the anchor of stability (Dombey 2015a, Yalçıner 2015).

Although the Turkish corporate elite "knows too well the risk of antagonising the government" <sup>124</sup> (Dombey 2015b), the row between the Turkish Industry and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> The translation from Turkish to English is mine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> For the details of the debate and the views of the parties to the dispute, see Yıldız 2015, Diken 2015.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Dombey highlights that there is no need to remind the Turkish businessmen "the initial \$2.5bn tax fine levied on Doğan Media Group in 2009 after Erdoğan was angered by their newspaper's coverage of a corruption scandal". Additionally, Dombey argues that "memories are still fresh of how Erdoğan reversed a huge amount of warship construction deal with Koç Holding, the country's biggest group, after denouncing it for sheltering anti-government protesters".

Business Association (TÜSİAD) and the president on the issue of "the addressee of the association" is very instructive in terms of Erdoğan's attempts to move his office at the centre of the broader politics. On December 29, 2014 in an interview with a newspaper, TÜSİAD's outgoing chairman Haluk Dincer had said that "TÜSİAD's addressee is not the president but the prime minister related to our field" (Hürriyet Daily News 2014). Both president Erdoğan (naturally) and prime minister Davutoğlu (interestingly) reacted to TÜSIAD's chairman's words saying that they would not attend TÜSİAD's meetings anymore, adding that the association would need to find an addressee to attend its meetings (Hürriyet Daily News 2014). Dincer reiterated his earlier words: "it is not meaningful to discuss this addressee issue so much. The president is the head of the state, representing the Turkish Republic. The addressee of the TÜSİAD is, of course, the government, because it offers its policy proposals to the government and criticizes it if necessary" (Hürriyet Daily News 2015b). It seems that "the addressee issue" is closely related with the TÜSİAD's opposition to the plans for switching to a presidential system. On the issue of the ongoing presidential system debate in those days, TÜSİAD clearly opted for a parliamentarian system which is considered more appropriate to the Turkish culture and history by the association and worried about the ideas on the Turkish style presidential system aims of Erdoğan and his supporters.

The attitudes and activeness of the president Erdoğan in the post-July 2015 elections seems to be very instructive in terms of providing vital clues about the impact of context and political actors on the office of the Turkish presidency. As noted before, Erdoğan set the 7 July 2015 elections as a referendum for his demands of switching to a presidential system. The results of the election, which put an end to 13-year uninterrupted rule of the AKP, his ex-party, did not please him. Although the AKP had secured 258 MPs out of 550, that amount was far below to realize Erdoğan's aims. The results met with statements arguing that "Erdoğan was the biggest looser"

(Today's Zaman 2015). Even Davutoğlu admitted that the results could be understood as "No to Erdoğan's dream of a presidential system constitutionally"<sup>125</sup>.

The results forced political parties to form a coalition. Erdoğan, throughout his political career, had made no secret that he has not been in favour of coalitions. This time, he reiterated his well-known ideas. However, he charged the leader of the biggest party, AKP's Davutoğlu, with a mandate to form a coalition within 45-days as it was stipulated in the 1982 constitution. The MHP had made clear that it would not be together with pro-Kurdish HDP in a coalition under any circumstances. This had changed all the possible coalition scenarios without the participation of the AKP. Because without the support of both the MHP and HDP, the main opposition party, CHP, could not be able to reach to 276, the amount necessary to get a vote of confidence in the parliament.

The AKP and CHP had negotiated for 39 days but at the end, a coalition was not possible. On the eve of the last meeting between the leaders of both party, Erdoğan while addressing the mukhtars, said that "the principles of the parties in coalition talks need to match", implying that they do not. "Unless the principles of both sides match, forging a coalition would come to mean committing suicide", which was interpreted as a message to Davutoğlu. The CHP still accused Erdoğan for interfering into the coalition talks in order to block the efforts and criticized him of not charging Kılıçdaroğlu with the mandate to form a coalition for the last three days as of 20 August, which due to the political customs the former president had given in the Turkish history. Erdoğan implied that he would not give the mandate, considering that there was no possibility for him to come with a coalition.

Almost 45 days after the elections, political actors in the system could not find a way to handle the coalition issue, due to many reasons. Although the post July 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> Cumhuriyet (2015c) "Davutoğlu'ndan 'Başkanlık bitti ve koalisyon' açıklaması", June 10, 2015, <u>http://www.cumhuriyet.com.tr/haber/siyaset/296319/Davutoglu\_ndan\_Baskanlik\_bitti\_ve\_koalisyon</u> <u>aciklamasi.html</u> (21.08.2015).

context was convenient for those critical of the activeness of the president Erdoğan since his popular election in August 2014, they could not come together. Today it seems highly likely that the Turkey is going to a snap election, again highly likely, for the first time in its history through the president's call for an early election due to the time allotted in the constitution for coalition talks expires. This should also be considered that Erdoğan's presidency has the potential in many ways to be the "Presidency of the initials".

### **5.2.3 Indicators of Presidentialization**

# 5.2.3.1 Changing Organizational Structure of the Presidency

Just four months after Erdoğan became the president; he restructured the organization of the presidency through a confidential decree which was not published in the Official Gazette. With this restructuring, the number of presidencies at the president office has increased up to thirteen (13) from four (4). Previously, there were only four presidencies (administrative and financial affairs, corporate communication, information technologies and human resources) in line with the traditions. The presidencies of Domestic Security (responsible for fighting against the "parallel structure" – a term used by Erdoğan to refer to Gülen movement, Foreign Affairs, Economy, Defense, Energy, Social Affairs, Communication Center and Investment Monitoring <sup>126</sup> Unit have been added to the already existing presidencies. In broader terms, these new presidencies have been designed to develop policies, reports and strategies in their areas, to take role in coordination among state organs and to consult the government. In Erdoğan's words, they are aimed at "building a better harmony between the government and presidency" (Hürriyet Daily News 2015a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> According to a report published by Today's Zaman (2014), the Investment Monitoring Unit will be responsible for monitoring investment. In line with the changing structure at the Presidency, the final approval for investments will be given by the Presidency not by the PM, as it used to be. With this change, the President is making the final decision. It is noted in the Turkish press that former transportation Minister, Binali Yıldırım, now the chief advisor to president, will be heading the presidency at the palace.

This restructuring of the presidency is also visible with regard to the number of personnel working for the office. The number of personnel working for the presidency has quadrupled in the period of Erdoğan compared to his predecessor Abdullah Gül. In fact, in Gül's period there were 718 personnel working within the presidency, which was very high as compared to the ex-presidents. The secretary general of the current presidency, Fatih Kasırga while speaking the Turkish Grand National Assembly in December 2014 during the budgetary talks reported that they were going to increase the number up to 941 which means an increase of 30 per cent. It was rumoured that, in fact, on March 2015 the number of personnel working for the presidency has increased to 2.700<sup>127</sup> thanks to the new presidencies added at Erdoğan's period.

The increasing budget available to the president has been also considered as the steps taken by Erdoğan to keep a tight grip on the Turkish politics. The 2015 presidential budget was argued to quadruple<sup>128</sup> the total amount of 7-year Gül presidency (2007-2014). A critical amount of the budget available to Erdoğan was composed of the "discretionary fund" which was traditionally in the use of prime ministers.

The changing organizational structure of the Presidency is entirely alien to the Turkish parliamentary system. Almost all of the newly formed units within the presidency correspond to ministerial offices and their area of jurisdiction. Such a step taken by the President has been interpreted as the first step taken towards a presidential cabinet and a de facto presidential system by the opposition (Today's Zaman 2014). The newly formed thirteen (13) presidencies are called as "a 13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> According to Erdem Gül, a report published by Cumhuriyet (2015a), the number of 2700 was calculated relying on the public bank established within the presidential palace. In March, 2700 people has got their salaries from this public bank which was specifically established for the Presidency.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> According to Turkish Daily Newspaper, Meydan (2015) ex president Gül had spent 700 million Turkish liras between 2007 and 2014. Only for 2015, the budget available to Erdoğan is 2 billion and 697 million Turkish liras. Out of this 2,697 billion, 2,3 billion was the discreationary fund making available to the president, for the first time in Turkey.

member President's Shadow Cabinet" and "the team monitoring the government" (Hürriyet 2014).

In addition to the newly added directorate-generals, the Presidency Communications Centre (Cumhurbaşkanlığı İletişim Merkezi – CİMER) was founded in parallel to the Prime Ministry Communications Centre (Başbakanlık İletişim Merkezi – BİMER) in order to collect the denunciations and complaints coming from public institutions, whether central and rural. For this purpose, every public institution is asked to charge one of its members for the task of providing necessary communication with the Presidency, with an instruction sent to Ministries by the presidency. The reason is put forward as "rapid and qualified direction the demands coming from the presidency". The centre will operate as a unit of public relations and the ministries will be coordinated to the centre. The centre was viewed as "Erdoğan has been preparing the infrastructure of the presidential system" and considered as an "attempt at controlling all public institutions from the presidency". This centre seems to be detrimental to the BİMER and prime ministry's authority (Zaman 2015a).

Last but not least, it is argued that Erdoğan has been in the way of establishing a TV Channel which will be broadcasting 24 hours Erdoğan's meetings, programs and official levees/receptions. The expenses of the channel will be met from presidency's discretionary fund and the budget of the TRT. It is rumoured that it will be ready before the coming general elections (Zaman 2015b).

Thus, the institutional and financial support structures under Erdoğan at the presidency has enhanced tremendously. As it is clear considering the newly established presidencies, the number of personnel and the amount of the budget allocated to the president, the office of the presidency has been stretched by Erdoğan to provide him deliver greater power and authority.

### **5.2.3.2** Chairing the Council of Ministers

In line with his previous statements that he will not be a "protocol president", President Erdoğan's chairing the Cabinet meeting on 19 January 2015 was seen as an attempt to expand the powers of the office and transform Turkey's political system" (Peker 2015). Although Article 104 of the current constitution grants the President to chair Council of Ministers meeting when deemed necessary, it is reported that since the 1945 only five (5) presidents had chaired the Cabinet seventeen (17) times<sup>129</sup>. Erdoğan's predecessors convened the Cabinet meetings at exceptional times such as the first Gulf War, the aftermath of terrorist attacks, the response of government to economic turmoil (Peker 2015).

The assembling of Cabinet by Erdoğan has gathered great attention by the domestic and international media. It is seen as compatible with Erdoğan's desire to transform the system towards a presidential one and considered consistent with his desire to have a stronger presidency. According to Atilla Yeşilada, Erdoğan considers that "the constitutional framework for the power he has accumulated is so weak that his influence over the party and the government can only continue through direct means, such as today's meeting" (cited in Peker 2015). This however comes at the cost of weakening the Prime Minister's authority. Just before the meeting, Binali Yıldırım announced that President Erdoğan would convene the Cabinet every two months, with the first one scheduled for the 5<sup>th</sup> of January. The PM Davutoğlu denied such a meeting and added that it had to be decided by the Prime Minister and the President and no other person should be involved in the process. From this statement, it was clear that the prime minister was not previously aware of such a meeting plan. The final words came from Erdoğan and he declared that he had the power to chair Cabinet and he will chair it on 19th January (Hürriyet Daily News 2015a, Özsoy 2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Since the 1960, ex-presidents Cemal Gürsel, Fahri Korutürk, Kenan Evren, Turgut Özal and Süleyman Demirel convened the council of ministers. We saw no meeting in the periods of Cevdet Sunay, Ahmet Necdet Sezer and Abdullah Gül (Birgün 2015).

Interestingly enough, at the heyday of the discussions on the Erdoğan's chairing the Cabinet, the TGNA Research Centre has prepared an annotation on the "President's chairing the council of ministers" in order to deliver to the member of the parliament. In this pamphlet, it is noted that although this is a constitutional power granted to the president, the use of it seems to be contrary to the spirit of the parliamentary system<sup>130</sup>. The critical point in this case is the unaccountability of the president. The constitution foresaw that the presidents, due to their unaccountability, are expected not to interfere in the deeds necessitates accountability. The pamphlet has noted the ideas of many well-known Turkish constitutional scholars. These academics directed attentions to the conclusion that "such an inclination would reflect the spirit of a de facto presidential system or a semi-presidential one" if the PM is deferent to such an act (Birgün 2015).

Since August 2014, Erdoğan has chaired the Council of Ministers four (4) times until now. Taking the historical indicators into the consideration, Erdoğan would be the record holder if he continues to practice chairing council of ministers.

### **5.2.3.3** The Presidential Palace (Aksaray)

According to many domestic and international observers of the Turkish politics, there is nothing better represent the power of Erdoğan at the presidency than the newly created Presidential Palace, known as "Aksaray" (White Palace) in the Turkish media. The cost of constructing it, its number of rooms, its legal status and even its monthly utility/electric bills has been debated since the beginning of Erdoğan's term at the presidency.

The new presidential palace has been thought very crucial due to its symbolism in terms of Turkish politics that Erdoğan has been trying very hard to transform since his presidential candidacy. First of all, Aksaray is thought as the symbol of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> The pamphlet highlighted that although the constitutional court had no order on the matter at hand, its ideas "in the doctrine the role of the president should not go beyond the warning and advice" in another issue should be considered as its position.

"underscoring the break with Turkey's past". It is, in the minds of Erdoğan, the symbol of the "New Turkey" that he declared just assuming the presidency on 2014 August: "we are closing the doors on one era, and we are now taking our first step to a new phase" (BPC, 2014: 16). Considering the palace as the symbol of breaking the links with Turkey's past, the following passage from Erdoğan is very instructive:

Turkey is no longer the old Turkey. The New Turkey should reveal itself. The office of the presidency, in the new building, was formed very differently. To that project, this humble person (*himself, the author*) has contributed a lot. We have to give the message that Ankara is a Seljuk capital. We paid great attention to this. Inside the building, we cared the Ottoman motives a lot. We reflected the impressions of the modern world. The building was designed as a smart building...These are the necessities of being a great state<sup>131</sup>.

The palace is also very critical in terms of moving the seat of the presidency from the Çankaya Palace, the residence of all the past Turkish presidents since the foundation of the republic by Atatürk. Secondly, the palace seems to be a testament to the regime Erdoğan demands (Gürsel 2014) and/or the president Erdoğan aspires to be<sup>132</sup> (BPC, 2014: 16). The debate on Aksaray and Erdoğan's demands for a switch to an executive presidency appear hand in hand. As noted in the previous pages, the organizational restructuring at the presidential office has indicated that Erdoğan will not be a traditional/symbolic president in Turkish politics. Finally, the palace seems to represent Erdoğan's perception on his unchallenged personal power. It is made public that the palace was originally intended for the prime minister. In 2011 at the time of starting to build the complex, the name of the project was the "Prime ministry Service Building" (*Başbakanlık Hizmet Binası*). As of 2014, after the election of Erdoğan as president, the complex has become the Presidential Palace. If Erdoğan could not get elected at the 2014 presidential election, the building was going to be available to the prime minister as it was intended and the new president

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Cited in Gürsel 2014. The translation from Turkish to English is mine.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Jonny Hogg from Reuters (2015) directs attentions towards the symbolic importance of one of the pose of Erdoğan at the new presidential palace with a "presidential guard dressed in costumes from different eras of Turkic history". With this exposure which was reminding ex-Turkic sultans, it was aimed at providing legitimacy for an executive presidency Erdoğan has been demanding by referring to Turkish history.

was going to reside at Çankaya Palace in line with the customs. This is a strong sign that Erdoğan has planned the palace for himself (Gürsel 2014). Additionally, the legal status of the palace has still been debated. It is situated on protected parklands first owned by Atatürk and later donated to the state. As sited in an environmentally protected zone, the Turkish highest court has ordered that the construction should be suspended. However, Erdoğan replied the orders of the courts as "Let them tear it down if they can. They ordered suspension, yet they cannot stop this building. I'll be opening it; I'll be moving in and using it" (BPC, 2014: 16, Gürsel 2014).

All in all, according to Erdoğan such great buildings are necessary for great and powerful nations. These are the symbol of national esteem abroad and power. In fact, the Aksaray seems to represent the amount of power Erdoğan has accumulated on behalf of nation or as "the president of Turkish people". The growing power of Erdoğan, is argued to, represent the level Turkey's power has risen. The equation is simple: Erdoğan's power is nation's power.

### 5.3 Concluding Remarks

As far as the historical analysis on the office of the presidency is taken into consideration, the following conclusion should be derived. First of all, starting with the 1924 constitution and the case of Mustafa Kemal Atatürk, it should be claimed that the personality of the presidents matter in analysing the powers of the office within the system. The charismatic and popular presidents could be more active despite the constitutions' intentions to design the office more symbolic and less powerful. In these terms, Erdoğan was not the first who tried to steer the country from the presidency. Secondly, the 1982 constitution gave the presidents more room to manoeuvre to govern from the presidency thanks to the powers vested the office by the constitutions. However it is not unconditional. This could be the case if the prime minister, parliament and other political actors are willing to get along well with him. Last but not least, both Özal and Demirel attempted at steering the country from the presidential office however they both faced "the implosion of their parties

after they assumed the title of president" (BPC, 2014: 13). Planning to govern the country together with a "pliant/deferential" prime minister did not work as both influential political figures foresaw. That would be the reason why both political figures fervently supported a presidential system for Turkey when they were alive.

All the indicators noted down in the analysis of the Erdoğan's Presidency are thought as the appearance of a de facto presidential regime, albeit this time, manifested itself at the Office of the President in the Turkish political system. Although, presidentialization is considered, to a great extent, to account for the changing power and autonomy of prime ministers, the President of a somehow parliamentary regime or an incumbent such as Erdoğan, within limits, is a case in point.

Such a development – the manifestation of presidentialization at the office of the Turkish presidency under Erdoğan's effect - should be interpreted, regarding our conceptual framework as follows:

I argue that, it is an important reflection of the idea that presidentialization is a "process". The Turkish case, whether based it since 1982 Constitution, the 2007 constitutional amendment, Erdoğan's Premiership or his Presidency, is a certain case in study to analyse the manifestations of the concept of presidentialization and the ongoing process. The structural and/or contingent factors are thought to be leading the system towards the presidential direction, as a dynamic if not an automatic process.

It should be considered as an important example of the supremacy of "contingent factors" in contrast to structural ones in the process of presidentialization. Although, the structural changes are at work, the personality of Erdoğan together with the popular election has moved the centre towards the office of President comparing it with the Office of Prime Minister under Davutoğlu. While Erdoğan was prime minister, the prime ministry was the house of the presidentialization. However, to a

certain extent Erdoğan managed to carry his power resources, be it personal and/or institutional, to the presidency. Thus, it seems that rather than the office brings the incumbent to the fore but the vice versa.

All these developments support the idea that power of a specific office should be depended on "events". The 2007 constitutional amendment, which was a reaction of the AKP government to the judiciary and political opposition, is now divorced from the context within which it was aroused but is considered as the most important factor in order to move towards a presidential system and in order to define the system with these realities.

The legal-formal constitutionalism, although provides us important clues in analysing the presidentialization process in the Turkish case, seems to lose out to behavioural/informal practices in the study of executives. As a very important factor, Mr. Erdoğan can set new rules, new procedures and customs which are seen as undermining the already present legal, formal and behavioural practices.

To conclude, under Erdoğan's effects, the office of the presidency has started to be transformed institutionally (the newly added directorate generals), symbolically (the new presidential palace) and electorally (thanks to the 2007 constitutional amendment that foresaw the next president would be elected by popular vote). However, almost one-year presidency of Erdoğan has also indicated that his attempts to stretch the office of presidency towards the centre of the executive politics are not a smooth process. As it was stated at the beginning of this chapter, it will always be dependent on the context. Just after the 2015 general elections, it is an open issue how the office of the presidency will adjust to the new situation after the elections. The demands of the opposition parties to "bound the president within the limits of the constitution", to "move the presidential palace to the ex-residence of Çankaya rather than the Aksaray" are seen as their sine quo non in order to form a coalition with the AKP.

President Erdoğan may be "well-resourced" institutionally and personally to stretch the office of the presidency towards the "centre of the centre of" executive politics, however, considering the context after the 2015 elections which opened up the possibility of a coalition after 13-year of uninterrupted party government of the AKP, may not free him to further stretch the office of the president in order to interfere into the executive matters. All in all, an actor at an office has to be studied paying due regard to the context and it should be admitted that he/she will always be dependent on others.

### **CHAPTER VI**

# THE AKP/ERDOĞAN PROPOSAL FOR A PRESIDENTIAL SYSTEM IN TURKEY: THE TURKISH TYPE PRESIDENTIAL SYSTEM DEBATE AND PRESIDENTIALIZATION

The discussions on the need for a presidential system are not a new entry into Turkish politics. The presidential system has been debated since the 1980s from time to time. Turkish ex-Presidents Turgut Özal and Süleyman Demirel expressed the need for such a system although grounding their arguments on different bases. However, both political figures could not turn their ideas into a concrete political project and were not able to mobilize their supporters at large.

The issue reappeared under the AKP government period. Although up until the publication of the 2023 Political Vision pamphlet, neither AKP nor Erdoğan had taken an interest in the political systemic change albeit expressed some opinions on the functionality of presidential system for Turkey. Just after the 2011 electoral victory, late at night while addressing the supporters of the party from the balcony of the AKP headquarter, then-Prime Minister Erdoğan asked one of party members (Burhan Kuzu known as the fervent supporter of the presidential system in his career) to study on a possible presidential system. In November 2012, the party offered a constitutional draft to the Constitutional Reconciliation Commission in which the type of executive was written through the prism of somewhat ambiguous presidential system. Later, this proposal started to be known as the "Turkish type presidential system".

It is no secret that Mr. Erdoğan has long been calling for switching to a presidential system. After the deadlock in the Constitutional Reconciliation Commission due to

the AKP's presidential system proposal, the party organized conferences (in the form of public lecture given by party members and academics) in many cities of Turkey under the heading of "Turkey is talking the presidential system". Erdoğan has accelerated his insistence on a presidential system after he walked to the office of the Presidency. He organized "presidential dinners" with academics and think thank affiliates in order to discuss a possible systemic change. He convened many local governors in the Presidential Palace weekly in which he delivered very important speeches. One of the most touched upon topic in these speeches has been the need for presidential system. In the opening ceremonies around Turkey, he used every opportunity to express his desire for a presidential system. In short, Erdoğan has been trying hard to shape the perception of the public in favour of a presidential system, to increase the awareness of Turkish people and to mobilize supporters at the grass-root organizations.

With regard to the AKP and Turkish case, it is interesting that the AKP's 13-year uninterrupted rule has been considered by many people from international organizations to party's members as "miracles" in terms of macroeconomic stability and economic growth; as "a silent revolution" being able to make democratic reforms in their first years paving the way for EU-candidacy and as "a centre of attraction" for the Foreign Direct Investment the party attracted to Turkey due to the political and economic stability it provided. In addition, the leader of the party, Mr Erdoğan, it is argued, is called as the greatest leader after Atatürk the Turkish political history has seen and he was considered the guarantee of Turkey's success. The AKP and Erdoğan have succeeded within a parliamentarian system, no matter how far it is a pure parliamentarian system at the time being. Under these circumstances, why the AKP and Erdoğan have pushing severely for a presidential system remains to be told. This broad question will be the main issue I will be trying to handle from an historical perspective. The structure of this part is as follows: First of all, I will sketch out the discussions on a presidential regime before the AKP period in the Turkish political history. Secondly, the AKP proposal, the Turkish type presidential system will be analysed paying due regard to the following issues of "the implications of the accent on the Turkish type", "the ideas for supporting it", "the bases and reasons of such a need". Thirdly, I will note the main critiques directed against the party and Erdoğan.

### 6.1 The History of Presidential System Discussions in Turkey

The transition to a presidential or a semi-presidential system was first discussed in the early 1980 in Tercüman Daily Newspaper and Yeni Forum Magazine in Turkey (Yazıcı, 2011: 159). In both, the idea was debated within the project of a possible new constitution. Just after the 1980 coup d'état, the Advisory Council of the Constitutive Assembly asked academics, universities and civil society organizations to propose their views on the formation of the new constitution. Overwhelming majority of proposals argued that presidential/semi-presidential systems were not convenient to Turkish practices and they pointed out the danger of both systems possibility to turn out to be a dictatorship in Turkey (Yazıcı, 2011: 160).

Turgut Özal was the first politician who fervently supported a presidential system in the Turkish politics (Yazıcı 2011, Üskül 2007, Gönenç 2005). Özal was claiming to preserve the powers of the President laid down by the 1982 constitution but to introduce the direct election of the President at the same time the election of the Turkish Grand National Assembly. Kalaycıoğlu (2012: 46-47) noted that Özal's proposal came at a time when he considered that his party started to lose its votes and sympathy within the electorate however his personal popularity was going on. The supporters of Özal proposal argued that the direct election of the President who had a strong political popularity (Turgut Özal in their minds) would be a solution to unstable coalition governments and would provide a "governing democracy". Özal thought that the coalition governments were not able to leap forward. Turkey, according to Özal's mind, had to transit to a presidential system if she wanted to be one of the most developed 10 or 15 economics in the world (Gönenç, 2005: 2). However, the debate Özal started could not give way to a proposal for a constitutional amendment in line with a presidential system.

Following Turgut Özal, the ex-president Süleyman Demirel in 1997 voiced a need for a presidential system, mainly approaching the issue from the lenses of instable coalitions. It is argued that Demirel expressed his views as "I have been sitting in the Presidential Palace for four years and three months. Within this period, I have ratified six governments. This has made the system, inevitably, questionable" (Miş 2015). According to Yazıcı (2011: 162) one of the most important reasons behind his idea was the "anti-secular" politics followed by the Welfare-True Path Parties coalition which startled the Turkish Armed Forces and broader public concerns. Demirel's proposals, also, did not gather too much support and faded away.

Having noted the ideas of two ex-politicians and presidents, some common characteristics of the views the supporters of presidential systems highlighted in Turkey should be noted. First of all, proponents argued that presidential system was going to be a receipt for governmental instability Turkey had long suffered. Interestingly enough, these ideas had been voiced more by politicians who were the members of governing parties (Güney, 2007: 349-350). Secondly, although in discursive terms, there was the need to a "transformation project" for Turkey, a developing country located within a highly important and instable geography, to become a great power in its vicinity. To that end, she had to transit to a presidential system which would provide strong and effective governments able to effectively, rapidly and unproblematiquely legislate (Gönenç 2005: 1). Another highly complained issue was the "resistance of high level bureaucracy", especially to the neoliberal stability policies (Güney 2007, Kalaycıoğlu 2005, Oder 2005). Özal tried to overcome this resistance through young and educated bureaucrats known as "Özal's princes". If a presidential system was present, the leaders could work with his team and in a harmony, the country could make the necessary reforms in order to

adapt to the neoliberal premises. The presidential system was also considered necessary in order to fulfil Turkey's long ambition of European Union accession. The conduct of EU affairs demanded a strong government, with a comfortable majority that could legislate rapidly in order make the necessary reforms. This idea was best represented in the following argument:

If the election threshold falls and ten (10) parties are represented in the Turkish Grand National Assembly, then a coalition government among four parties is indispensable. Through this government; it is impossible to do your homework and access to the EU (quoted in Güney, 2007: 352).

The most identifiable characteristic of the debate on presidential system was the lack of clarity. The debates, to a great extent, were directed by politicians. There are many people who considered the debates "subjectively", arguing that debates revolved around the need of some ex-Presidents to stay in politics by being a president in a presidential system (Üskül, 2007: 19). The lack of "theoretical bases" of the ideas blurred the proposals (Güney, 2007: 353) and gave the image of complaining from the controlling mechanisms of the system rather than the type of executive.

# 6.2 The Debate in the AKP/Erdoğan Period

# 6.2.1 The Period between 2002 and 2012

The AKP came to power in 2002 within a parliamentary system which is now severely criticized by Erdoğan. The AKP has given 13-year uninterrupted governmental stability and to a certain extent Turkey has not faced any systemic problem despite the highly stressed first years' the tension between the Prime Minister Erdoğan and President Sezer by the party. In terms of macroeconomic indicators, Turkey under the AKP rule has been considered as a miracle. All in all, it is very hard to argue for a necessary systemic change due to a problem of instability, political deadlock or an economic crisis.

One can argue that up until 2012, neither the AKP nor Erdoğan had attempted to bring forward the presidential system discussion to the top of the political agenda.

Although there were expressions, largely as expressions of intention, we had not seen any clear cut project to that end. There were some voices within the party calling to "update the system in line with the 2007 amendment". Otherwise, they warned, the situation after the 2014 presidential election by popular vote could be a problem.

As far as the party manifestos of 2002, 2007 and 2011 are considered we see no reference to a need for a presidential system. The 2002 manifesto discussed the "restructuring of the administrative system". However, it only dealt with the office of the prime ministry. The office of the prime ministry was argued to be restructured in the 2002 manifesto in order to facilitate the coordination role of the prime ministry with respect to the principles of parliamentarian system. Within this framework, the institutions attached to the prime ministry were going to be transferred to the relevant line ministries (icracı bakanlıklar), thus, the office of the prime minister will be removed from the servicing ministries (AKP, 2015a: 57).

In their 2007 election manifesto, the AKP, without any doubt, considered the idea of a new constitution within the parliamentarian system, even aimed at redefining the position and power of the office of the presidency:

The new constitution to be prepared has to be short and clear; the relations among the legislative, executive and judiciary have to be clearly and intelligibly designated with respect to parliamentarian system; within this framework the position and power of the President has to be redefined (AKP, 2015b: 21-22).

"The issue of the redefinition of the position and the power of the President" was also the main principle in the draft constitution the AKP demanded from some wellknown constitutional scholars. A member of the Constitutional draft committee, Ergun Özbudun, noted that they clearly considered curbing the powers of the president in line with the AKP demands in their studies for a new constitution.

The 2011 election manifesto (AKP, 2015c) had still no reference to the need for a presidential system. However, interestingly enough, this time under the title of the

new constitution, very broad and general ideas were noted, and no argument was seen to redefine the position of the president.

The first clear reference to presidential system came with the "2023 Political Vision" the AKP prepared in the last months of the 2012 before its 4<sup>th</sup> Congress. In this pamphlet, under the political system title, it was argued that Turkey had been debating and looking for a proper type of executive for 200 years (AKP, 2012: 15). The Turkish political history has generally been portrayed by "unstable, weak and ineffective coalition governments" and the times of stable and strong governments (the Menderes years, the Özal era and the AKP era) were considered as the years of growth and development because of the stability they brought. However, such a "transitory phenomenon of political stability" should be transformed into an institutional one according to the party (Ibid: 16).

The AKP argued that the referendum that foresaw the direct election of the president in 2014 made the change in the political system necessary (AKP, 2012: 16). Thus, the "structural problem", in the party's view, needs a structural remedy. "Therefore, either a presidential, semi-presidential or party-affiliated presidency choice should be selected and implemented" (Ibid: 16).

# 6.2.2 The 2012 Turkish Type Presidential System Proposal

Since the publication of the 2023 political vision pamphlet, the debate on the presidential system for Turkish political system has accelerated. The clearest attempt came at the end of 2012 when the party proposed its constitutional draft to the Constitutional Reconciliation Commission. After the 2011 general elections, upon the proposal of the ruling AKP government, the political parties having parliamentary groups formed an ad hoc Commission in the parliament for making a new constitution. The Constitutional Reconciliation Commission started working on a new constitution on 19 October 2011 and by the end of 2012 they agreed on 60 articles. The AKP's proposed draft constitution which was written from a

presidential system perspective paved the way for serious critics from the opposition political parties that were favouring parliamentary system. The AKP left the commission on November 2013 and the commission was dissolved on the December 2013<sup>133</sup>.

The AKP proposal was shocking for many. It was argued that the Constitutional Reconciliation Commission started working on a new constitution within the framework of a parliamentarian system and the AKP also adopted the parliamentarian sensitivities of other parties represented in the committee (Üskül, 2013: 530). The opponents were criticizing the AKP proposal on the basis of designing a system for Erdoğan. They considered the imposition of the AKP as unacceptable (Bal, 2013: 92-3).

As far as the AKP proposal<sup>134</sup> is considered, the executive authority seems to be bestowed upon the office of the presidency. The term of office for president is set for five (5) years and one can only be elected for two terms, no need for it to be consecutive. The president is both the head of the state (represent the unity of Turkish nation and Turkish republic, oversee the implementation of the constitution, proper and harmonious functioning of state organs) and the chief executive (responsible for domestic and international politics).

Additionally, the president has legislative and non-legislative powers. As Özsoy-Boyunsuz (2014a: 3) noted, the legislative powers of the president range widely from vetoing legislative acts to submitting them to a referendum. The president's veto can be overridden by the three fifth of the parliament which seems to be a high percentage. The "presidential decrees" should be noted as one of the most important

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> For a detailed analysis of the process of the Constitutional Reconciliation Commission and the AKP proposal, see Özsoy-Boyunsuz, 2014a: 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> The full text of the 2012 AKP proposal should be consulted at, <u>https://erdalguven.wordpress.com/2013/04/01/ak-partinin-baskanlik-sistemi-teklifi-tam-metin/</u>

legislative powers of the president. The president is given the power to issue presidential decrees to implement his/her general policy choices where there is no legislative act over presidential decrees in case of a conflict<sup>135</sup>. Additionally, the president can submit legislative acts to referendum only once a year seeking public approval to nullify it. The president is also given the power to bring cases before the constitutional court for constitutional review of parliamentary rules of procedures and legislative acts both in form and substance.

With regard to the non-legislative powers of the president, the president has unlimited authority to select and dismiss ministers. The parliament does not have any authority on this selection and dismissal process. The ministers have parliamentary immunity. According to many, this is surprising because the ministers cannot be members of the parliament. The presidential and legislative elections are to be hold at the same day and for five years. Both the president and the Turkish National Grand Assembly have the power to renew the elections. Thus, the president has the power to dissolve the parliament. Once parliamentary election is renewed, the presidential election is to be renewed as well. Finally, the president has very important appointment powers. Without any reservation or approval by another body, the president may appoint all the public executives; university rectors; half of the members of the Higher Education Council, Constitutional Court, Administrative Court of the Appeal, Higher Council of Judges and Public Prosecutors; and the Chief Public Prosecutor of the Court of Cassation.

The impeachment mechanism is also designed. The parliament needs a two third majority to open a criminal investigation regarding the personal or position related crimes. Once an investigation completed, three fourth of the parliament are required to decide on sending the president to the Supreme Court to be tried.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> The proposal included a conflict clause giving priority to legislative acts over presidential decrees. According to Özsoy-Boyunsuz (2014a: 3), even so this is a dramatic separation from the Turkish administrative law because in the current constitution executive decrees have secondary power. They can only regulate areas where legislations set out main principles.

### 6.2.2.1 Critiques Directed against the 2012 Proposal

At the most general level, the critics has raised concerns over the lack of checks and balances, the disregarded principle of separation of powers and the creation of very strong presidency (some may prefer to use the term of hyper and/or super presidency) with a limited judicial control. In particular, the major differences between the AKP proposal and the US case (highly accepted paradigmatic example of a presidential system) constitute the main pillar of critics directed against the Turkish type presidential system proposal (see Table 6.1). Thus, it is very much argued that what the AKP proposed is not a presidential system per se<sup>136</sup>.

In a presidential system based on clear separation of powers principle, neither the president nor the legislative body (Congress in the US case) dissolve the other. The right to dissolve given to the president in the AKP proposal seems to be strong deviation from the essence of a presidential system design, at least from the US one<sup>137</sup>. Secondly, the decree power of the president in the AKP proposal is different from the well-known "executive orders" applied in the US case. The US president, within the framework of the constitutional clause (article II, Section 3: "he shall take Care that the Laws be faithfully executed" may issue orders with the intent of directing the US executive's duties and defining the meanings of (Özbudun 2012). Ruling by decrees is a method heavily applied in some Latin American presidential systems and called as "decretismo". Özbudun highlights that almost all scholars working on presidential systems admit that ruling by decrees corrupts the system and carries more potential of a conflict between the legislative and executive. Finally, the appointment powers of the US president depends on the approval of the Senate (Article II, Section 2: He shall have Power, by and with the Advice and Consent of the Senate, to make Treaties, provided two thirds of the Senators present concur; and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> Özbudun (2012) claims that the proposal should not be considered within a semi-presidential system since the AKP did not foresee any clause considering the government's responsibility to the parliament through a vote of confidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> Ergun Özbudun (2012) directed attentions towards the existence of such a clause in some Latin American countries such as Paraguay, Peru, and Uruguay and according to the 1989 constitution Chile.

he shall nominate, and by and with the Advice and Consent of the Senate, shall appoint Ambassadors, other public Ministers and Consuls, Judges of the supreme Court, and all other Officers of the United States, whose Appointments are not herein otherwise provided for, and which shall be established by Law: but the Congress may by Law vest the Appointment of such inferior Officers, as they think proper, in the President alone, in the Courts of Law, or in the Heads of Departments). There is no any provision envisioned in the AKP proposal.

In addition to these clear differences, the US presidential system is working within a federal structure. An important amount of powers have been left to "States" in the US system. This is totally alien to the Turkish politics. The centralization of power in an office (i.e. the office of the presidency) or in a person should be the case in a unitary system such as the Turkish Republic.

Table 6.1 The differences between the AKP's 2012 Turkish type president	ial
system proposal and the U.S. presidential system	

	The US Presidential system	The AKP Proposal
The independence of the legislative body (Congress in the US case) from the executive (manifested itself at the office of the President)	<ul> <li>a. The presidential and legislative elections are held at different dates</li> <li>b. The differentiation of the term of office of the president (4 years), house of representatives (2 years) and senate (6 years and renew one third at two years intervals)</li> <li>c. The party system is designed in order to increase the independence of legislative from the executive (i.e.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>a. The presidential and parliamentary elections have to be held on the same day.</li> <li>b. The term of office for both the President and the parliament is the same and set as five years.</li> <li>c. Highly disciplined political parties lacking intra-party democracy may lead to party domination on both the executive and legislative</li> </ul>

### Table 6.1 (continued)

The independence of the legislative body (Congress in the US case) from the executive (manifested itself at the office of the President)	undisciplined and less ideological parties; due to the electoral system, the Congress members are responsible to their electorates and electoral arena rather than the party) d. The legislative arithmetic may force the president to care for coalitions within the Congress in order to legislate and to be approved his/her budget.	d. Due to the political culture of Turkey (highly polarized society lacking the culture of reconciliation together with the highly disciplined and ideological parties) the possibility of deadlock may very high if the president and the majority in the parliament are from different political traditions (Ataay, 2013: 276).
The right of dismissal	Neither the president nor the congress may dissolve the other.	Totally counter to the essence of separation of powers, President may dissolve the parliament and the parliament may dismiss the president. The only reservation ids that if parliamentary election is renewed, the presidential election is to be renewed as well.
The issue of "decrees"	Executive orders	Presidential decrees
The legislative organ	Bi-cameral	Uni-cameral
The administrative structure	Federal system	Unitary system

The administrative structureFederal systemUnitary systemSources:Ataay, 2013: 273-277;Özsoy-Boyunsuz, 2014a: 1-5;Bal 2013: 93;Halaçoğlu, 2013:445;Özbudun 2012.

# **6.2.2.2 Responses to Critiques**

The arguments developed by the supporters of the Turkish type presidential system proposal against the critiques in particular and the necessity of presidential system in general concentrate on the following points: the rationality behind designing the system as proposed in the 2012 Turkish Type Presidential System was to prevent the emergence of a "poor president". It seems that the most important factor behind the peculiar design of the proposal is the position of the US presidents in the US

presidential system. Considering the latest US president Barrack Obama, Kuzu concludes the position of presidents in the US presidential system in his description as "Poor Obama" (*Zavallı Obama*): "My prime minister is three times more powerful than Obama. Obama is quite poor" (Hürriyet 2013a). An important figure within the party, Bekir Bozdağ also shares the views identifying "Obama as poor": Because he (Obama) has no effect on the parliament. But Atatürk, İnönü and Menderes had controlled both the executive and legislative. They were full presidential systems. They all were more powerful than the current US president" (Ntvmsnbc 2013).

These arguments can be considered as a powerful indicator of the difference of the proposal from the US presidential system. The mentality of the US system (in short, working under the broader principles of separation of powers and checks & balances), is argued, paves the way for "poor presidents". Thus, the proposal is designed not to make "the Turkish president poor". The US presidents, according to this view, is characterized as powerless regarding the strict separation of powers principle and the checks and balances applied in the US. This was the main issue that has to be taken in minds. Secondly, the system was designed as the president may legislate its preferences unproblematiquely.

Having noted these main arguments, in order to better understand the internal logic of the AKP proposal, dealing with the ideas of Burhan Kuzu, Ahmet İyimaya and Recep Tayyip Erdoğan in some details should be more beneficial. Burhan Kuzu, Turkey's most recognized supporters of presidential system for years, has argued that the most convenient system to the socio-cultural structure of Turkey is presidential system<sup>138</sup> (2013: 42). Kuzu regarded the "lack of powerful executives" as the major factor behind the instability Turkey had faced up until the AKP government. In fact, he argued that all the 1971 and 1973 constitutional amendments and 1982 constitution tried to empower the executive as a philosophy (2013: 27). With regard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> Interestingly enough, while arguing that the history of Turkish people has been more convenient to a presidential system, Kuzu claimed that the Americans were inspired by the Ottoman Empire in founding their presidential system.

to the AKP's 2012 proposal, Kuzu expressed that "the conflict between the president and the congress" in the US system had always in their minds while writing down the proposal (2013: 45). He considered the Obama's Health Care Reform as an important case indicating the difficulties presidents face in their relations with the Congress. Thus, according to Kuzu the president's right to dissolve the parliament and the existence of presidential decrees were foreseen as a "precautionary measures".

Kuzu admitted that these measures are not in compliance with the logic of presidential system:

In essence, these precautionary measures are contrary to presidential system. However, they are foreseen due to the possibility of a crisis. These measures are also debated in the US and open to discussion (Kuzu, 2013: 45).

The owner of the wording of "Turkish type" considering the 2012 proposal, Ahmet lyimaya locates the internal logic of the AKP proposal into a different reasoning. İyimaya while defending the 2012 proposal argued that "the debate over a type of executive" has to take certain amount of "observations", in his words, affecting the working of executives (İyimaya, 2013: 53-57). İyimaya noted the "the spoiling effects of tutelary regimes on the performance of executives", "the intellectual reflex against presidential system", "the lack of societal interest on the presidential system in Turkey", "Erdoğan's calls for a systemic change for a long time", " the existence of a strong but a questionable perception on the parliamentarian character of the Turkish system" and "the 2007 constitutional amendment which paved the way for a popularly elected presidency" as the sine qua non observations while debating over the proper system in the Turkish case. However, as the most important observation, İyimaya argues that the Turkish political history has seen the "reality of dualconstitutions and de facto presidential regimes". What İyimaya implied by dualconstitutions is "simultaneously operating two constitutional order" up until the recent past: One is a "written constitution" which is not implemented in hard days, the other is a "de facto" one, implemented in times of crisis. İyimaya took the reality

of 1920-1950 as an example of de facto presidential era despite the existence of the 1921 and 1924 constitutions.

As a reply to the critics directed towards the 2012 proposal, İyimaya alleged that "our proposal is a reviewed and rationalized form<sup>139</sup> of the US presidential system while taking its' practices into the consideration". The introduction of the decree right of president was "exceptional and limited" and the right to dissolve the parliament was to "prevent the political gridlock" seen in the US system. İyimaya was aware that these measures "were peculiar and first of its kind" in terms of presidential systems. Thus, the critics, directed attentions towards the "unique" and "unprecedented" character of the 2012 proposal, were regarded as "intellectual disease". Turkey, İyimaya claimed, is capable of providing an authentic model (İyimaya, 2013: 58-62).

Finally, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, the most fervent supporter of a presidential system for Turkey and the presidential candidate in many minds if a presidential system in Turkey is to be enforced, express his views almost on a daily basis. Nevertheless, I find it functional to group his thoughts on three different levels, socio-cultural reasons, economic reasons and political reasons, which seem to be analytically coherent.

At the most general level, Erdoğan approaches the issue within "state of transformation" at the domestic and global level. If such a transformation occurs, coming first and foremost with a presidential system peculiar to Turkey's needs, this will be convenient to the Turkish history, culture and socio-economic characteristics; will make Turkey one of the most advanced economies in the world through her new

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Defending the AKP proposal on the basis of "the rationalization of the US presidential system" is not special to only Ahmet İyimaya. Atar (2013: 550) noted that the AKP developed its presidential system proposal taking the advices put forward by political scientists in order to rationalize the US system into account. Atar argued that his claim could be seen in the Constitutional Reconciliation Commission's minutes (*tutanak*). He even claimed that the AKP authorities were aware of a report advising an effective presidency for the revision of the US presidential system by the Committee on the Constitutional System supported by the Brookings Institute in 1987.

development project as a conclusion of a possible presidential system and politically will provide an executive without obstacles. These broad ideas, analytically, should be grouped into three different levels: socio-cultural, economic and political. The following part is a case in study paying due regards to these levels. With regard to socio-cultural arguments, Erdoğan argues that the presidential system is in the genes of Turkish people: "The presidential system together with a leadership system is in the Turkish history, genes of the Turkish people and the tradition" (Yeni Şafak 2015). In his reasoning, Turkey is a remainder of the Ottoman Empire and has been characterized by the strong state tradition. The presidential system he is demanding has to reflect eternal characteristics of the Turkish history: a strong state tradition, a need for powerful leadership in order to remobilize glorious history of Turkish people.

As far as locating the need for a presidential regime into the economic imperatives, the supporters of the Turkish type presidential system approach the issue through linking the economic performance to presidential system. In Erdoğan's words, "Where is the most advanced country in the world? In the US. What about economy? The world's most advanced economy is in the US. They have a presidential system there" (Yılmaz 2015 b). Additionally, Erdoğan considers the "Group of Twenty" (G-20), 20 major economies of the world, members having a presidential system as a strong sign of the link between the economic performance and the type of executive" (Hürriyet 2015a). At the end, Erdoğan claimed that "the country could have achieved more if a presidential system had been adopted" (Daily Sabah 2015a).

A critical observation in locating the presidential system into economic imperatives is the arguments of "a new development project" that would support Turkey within the global system which is in the process of transformation. The changing global parameters necessitate Turkey to make fundamental changes in order to appear strong in the global system. It is not possible with "Old Turkey" which is characterized, at first, by a parliamentary system (Hürriyet 2015a). The transformation needs a "New Turkey" which would be appeared on the basis of a presidential system Erdoğan has demanded.

The economic reasons of a presidential system proposal, as it is argued by Erdoğan and his supporters, sit on the broader argument that:

The global system is going through fundamental changes and it is very hard for Turkey, with its existing mechanisms, to turn this global change into an opportunity...Being able to make rapid decisions in democratic systems and implement them is only possible with presidential systems. I have experienced it in my 12-year period of prime ministry...Today an important amount of G7 and G20 members have presidential or semi-presidential systems...These are the most advanced countries (Hürriyet 2015a).

A Turkish columnist, Cemil Ertem later became one of the chief advisers of the President Erdoğan, has published five important opinion pieces in his newspaper, Akşam. In these opinion papers, Ertem tried to construct Erdoğan's call for a presidential system into a new economic paradigm. The titles of these pieces were "Presidential system is an historical opportunity for the oppressed", at the global level, "the interest rate debate, among the President Erdoğan and the Central Bank of Turkey whether the interest rates in Turkey should be decreased, is a debate of political system", Presidentialism is a clearance of colonialism" and what Erdoğan is proposing with a presidential system for Turkey is also "proposing a New Deal for all developing countries". Admittedly, these are highly interesting and ambitious arguments. As the overlap of Erdoğan's discourse and the ideas of Ertem are striking, I consider dealing with Ertem's opinions in some depth helpful in order to indicate how the Turkish type presidential system is being substantiated economically and globally.

Ertem starts his analyses by arguing that the global system founded just after the Second World War is swinging (2015a). The monetary policy founded on the US dollar is on the process of collapse. The examples of Greece with Chipras and Spain with PODEMOS movement are considered as the resistance against the austerity policies demanded European power holders. Russia's and some other countries' intentions to construct their own IMF, development banks, credit rating agencies appears to be a new global political reality according to Ertem. These attempts are representing an historical opportunity for developing countries "to put an end to colonial mentality and their institutions". This is a strong sign of the demands for global economic change. The developing countries has to be able to develop their own institutions and replace the old one, i.e. bureaucratic oligarchies which are considered as the internal allies of the global colonial mentality, with these newly created ones. These newly created institutions have to be peculiar to the country, not to be emulated or copied from the Western traditions. Turkey, under the direction of Erdoğan is laying a claim to this transformation. This is the economic foundation of presidential system and Turkish type presidential system (Ertem 2015b).

High interest rates are also portrayed as the reason for increasing unemployment and decreasing rate of investments. Turkey's Central Bank, within the context of Western economic crisis, has not been reading the global realities correctly for Ertem<sup>140</sup>. Thus, "this is not a debate of high or low interest rates...This is a debate of turning Western crisis into an opportunity and creating a unique development and growth model" (2015c).

Together with the economic propositions, Erdoğan's call for a unique Turkish type presidential system is a "new deal" for all developing countries (Ertem 2015e). It is aimed at resisting against global finance oligarchy, turning the Western crisis into an opportunity, a new paradigm for development and growth, creating new institutions having peculiar mentalities etc. Thus, Turkish type presidential system is thought to "create a global attractiveness", to be emulated by other developing countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Ertem considers the expression made by Rawkins from the Fitch "our concern is the possibility of the transformation of the political system in Turkey into a presidential system" as an important indicator of the potential Turkey should perform globally with a presidential system. According to Ertem "global finance oligarchy does not want Turkey switching to presidential system" (2015d).

Politically, first and foremost, it is argued that the direct election of the President in 2014 has transformed the parliamentarian system. Within these arguments, the necessity of a systemic change has come to a point of no return. The popularly elected president together with a prime minister, who is traditionally the lynchpin of the executive power, creates a "multi-headedness". In order to prevent multi-headedness, Erdoğan has claimed that Turkey needs a centralized political system. This centralization would both "strengthen the national will" and "reflect economic development". The following two quotations are very instructive in terms of what Erdoğan means by "multi-headedness":

One has to be able to use the powers invested in you by the national will in the best possible way. But at the moment, I am not able to do that. At the moment, you have to ask permission of three different people for each decision, for each appointment...The judiciary puts obstacles in the way. One cannot run a country like that. For me, this is the biggest flaw of a parliamentary system (Guardian 2015b).

The biggest advantage ... would be in abolishing policy making through multiple channels...Swift decision-making would reflect in rapid implementation...Almost all developed countries have a presidential system. It's obvious it works for them. If it's good for them, why should we insist on keeping the shackles that bind us (Daily Sabah 2015a).

According to Yılmaz (2015a), Erdoğan's arguments on the multi-headedness together with the "authentic Turkish style presidential system" demands of his supporters means "no need for a counter power" such as the judiciary or a parliament<sup>141</sup>. These powers that would balance the president and the executive have been characterized by "obstacles and shackles". Erdoğan considers the parliamentary system "inoperable". He defended his ideas on the necessity of a presidential system together with an authentic model (manifested itself in the Turkish style debate) on the basis of his experiences. In his words, "the issue is not an ordinary theoretical problem. It is the issue of integrating the theory with the practice and implementation. I have has a shy at" (Hürriyet 2015a). Thus, it is argued that "his 13-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Erdoğan exemplified the "debate in the Turkish parliament over the Internal Security Law" as a deadlock. According to him, the opposition parties used every mechanism to delay the legislation of the bill and this prevents the Turkey's leap (Star 2015).
year experience guided his recommendation for adopting a presidential system" (Duran 2015).

Last but not least, in one of his speeches in which he was addressing Turkish businessmen, Erdoğan made an analogy between governing the state and administering a company. He tried to substantiate his call for a presidential system due to his desire that Turkey to be administered like a company. These are exactly the words of Erdoğan in this regard:

I have talked about a new constitution and the presidential system and I will speak about these once again. Insisting on this [current] system is an injustice being performed against our nation. The New Turkey will develop with you, civil society organizations and businessmen. What I ask from you is to speak about New Turkey and the presidential system at any opportunity you get. Turkey should also be administered like an incorporated company. If not, there are shackles tied to your ankles and you cannot walk further (Cihan News Agency 2015b).

In the same speech, Erdoğan gives the following example which seems to be what he considered as "the shackles tied to one's ankles":

There is a negotiation process on the Internal Security Law at the parliament. The weeks have passed and almost the months started to be revolved. Still, the law is not passing from the parliament. The majority is in the ruling party...Then, how are they preventing it? Because the system is defective.

Reading the analogy of an incorporated company together with the new Turkish Commercial Code<sup>142</sup> led Tezkan to argue that what Erdoğan demands is "a single-headed system in which the executive board will be consisted of only him". Tezkan concludes that what Erdoğan has been calling, in short, is "Let Turkey be an incorporated company, let me be the single executive board" (Tezkan 2015b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> One of the significant changes, introduced by the New Turkish Commercial Code Article 338, concerns the minimum number of founders. The NEW TCC states that "one or more" shareholder founders are required for incorporation of a joint stock. As is known, acceding to the current code, joint stock companies are established with minimum five shareholders. The single shareholder or single member partner is allowed to exercise all the authorisations granted to the General Assembly, and can take all types of decisions.

## 6.3 The Broader Rationality of the AKP Proposal

# 6.3.1 The Term "Turkish Type": What Does It Imply?

The AKP proposal was not in parallel with some other well-known presidential systems, whether presidential or semi-presidential, such as the US and the French ones. It is this difference that seems to be the main reason to give the name "Turkish type" and/or "a la turca" to the proposal by the party members, especially very active on the issue of a necessity of presidential system for Turkey<sup>143</sup>.

It should be argued that what the term Turkish type implies can be grouped at least into three meanings. First of all, it means that the system in minds should be "peculiar to Turkey". According to this idea, the country should not import or copy any system that has been applied around the world. The idea behind the choice of calling it Turkish type has been supported by the party as "there are many different presidential system(s) all around the world". Erdoğan noted that:

It is being said: 'A Turkish-type presidential system is not possible.' I am saying it loud and clear: It is possible, pure and simple. Why wouldn't it be?... In America, there is a different presidential system; when you go just to its south, in Mexico, there is a different presidential system. When you go to Cuba, it is different; Argentina is different; Brazil is different; Russia is different; France has a semi-presidential system (Hürriyet Daily News 2015f).

In addition, the party and Erdoğan consider the peculiar culture and tradition of Turkish history as an important reason for "not simply copying existing practices. The system should be in accordance with the Turkish history, culture, tradition and society". Again, in the words of Erdoğan; "I do not say 'in any case, be it so the US system'. Let us work as such 'be/make it Turkish system'. Let's pick up the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> It is noted by some observers, the founding father of the term "Turkish type" was Ahmet İyimaya, an AKP MP and the member of the Constitutional Reconciliation Commission (See Köker 2015: 11). İyimaya responded a question considering the name of the proposal in the following way: "This proposal, in exactly the same way with the term rationalization of parliamentarian system, is the rationalized and reviewed form of the problems (in terms of deadlocks) seen in presidential systems all around the world. Turkey does not have to look always for exemplary; she has the capacity of being an example in terms of Constitutional literature and types of executives. The system we proposed, in this way, is peculiar, original and moves from the nature of our problems" (İHA 2013).

beneficial aspects of very different systems to us, let's sort out the non-applicable aspects due to the differences in cultural and social structure" (Hürriyet 2012c). This peculiarity should also be considered while designing the system's problems. The system should pay due regard both to "universal merits" and "local values". Turkey has peculiar problems and the system would be designed in order to tackle them<sup>144</sup>.

Secondly, calling the system as Turkish type reflects the self-trust of the party to its intellectual capacity. Within this framework, the supporters generally directed attentions towards the historical emergence of the first presidential system, i.e. the US presidential system. Burhan Kuzu, one of the leading figures in these arguments, has claimed that the presidential system unlike the parliamentary one is the product of human rationality as a response to how to govern better:

Parliamentary system came into existence and developed within the English own history, all its properties formed according to English traditions, it emerged in practice and it is named afterwards. The presidential system is a system coined by human ration. It can be concluded that parliamentary system, carrying the properties of the English history, should succeed in a country to a certain extent however, the presidential system, because it is the product of human reason, every wise people of that country come together, without making concessions from the general conditions of the system, and form a presidential system carrying local/peculiar characteristics (Kuzu, 2013: 41).

Last but not least, the Turkish type presidential system is seen as a necessary step in order to reach to a new societal restructuring comprising of political, cultural and economic dimensions:

To begin with, it is sine qua non to express that the debate on the presidential system in these days is not only and exclusively consist of presidential system discussions. The presidential system discussion is only a part of a broader and comprehensive debate. Turkey is in a process of total change and the discussions are focused on social, political, economic and cultural dimensions...Truly, Turkey is a process of total change and it is natural to debate on the type of its executive (Fedayi, 2013: 679).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Ali Aslan from SETA argues that while designing a Turkish type presidential system the local political problems of Turkey, the appointment of the members of the judiciary, local administrations and the authorization of abrogation has to be taken into consideration. It is must, according to Aslan, to balance these needs with the universal merits in the possible presidential system (Daily Sabah 2015b).

While noting general characteristics of presidential systems, Can (2013: 175) notes that "presidential system has emerged historically. It was born out of the necessities in times of new beginnings...It is high time to ask new questions for new beginnings in Turkey, searching for a new constitution and constitutional order".

As far as the implications of the Turkish type within a presidential system is considered, the arguments and ideas, to a certain extent, seem to be totally in opposition to the theoretical considerations on the types of executives. It should be argued that there is a consensus among the scholars on the issue of "the types of executives are package deals". The specified form arranges many elements in addition to the organization of executives and the power of the chief executive. There are a number of features, whether less or more important, hang the system together within a broader rationality:

When nations choose a presidential or parliamentary form, they are choosing a whole system whose various properties arise endogenously - whether they like it or not - out of the political dynamics that their adopted form sets in motion...Presidential and parliamentary systems come with their own baggage (cited in Cheibub et al., 2013: 5).

It seems that the AKP proposal either rejects the broader rationality of systems or creates a new rationality within which the Turkish type presidential system constitutes a certain part. I argue, in the following parts, the AKP opts for the second alternative. The Turkish type presidential system (which brings a totally different system regarding the existing practices), according to the AKP, is designed for extraordinary times within which the New Turkey, with the guiding of a constitutive/transformative leader, will emerge. This is a new beginning and this is peculiar.

# 6.4 Overview of the AKP/Erdoğan Proposal

Erdoğan has made it no secret that he demands a presidential system despite the fact that there is no full-fledged design of the proposed model. The AKP's 2012 Turkish type presidential system proposal and Erdoğan's statements, almost heard every day

on the issue, seem to be the basis of this somewhat unclear presidential system calls. Erdoğan has fervent supporters within this perspective among the party, academics, and media outlets. However, it is very hard to speak a consensus at large, even within the party.

As far as the party is considered, there are important criticisms directed to and negative views expressed on the progress of the debate. Erdoğan's predecessor as a President, ex-PM and one of the founders of the AKP, Abdullah Gül made it public that he has certain concerns about the Turkish type presidential system. Gül, speaking on the Erdoğan's demands for a Turkish type presidential system, urged to be cautious and directed the attention towards the issue of checks and balances: "if we have a presidential system like the US in which the separation of powers are written down clearly like the ones in advanced democracies and countries in which the rule of law is universally practiced, then we cannot call such a system undemocratic" (Hürriyet 2015b). The Turkish media evaluated Gül's remarks as addressing directly his old comrade President Erdoğan who is striving to put in place.

A well-known AKP MP and Vice-PM of the government, Bülent Arınç expressed his concern on the issues of Turkish type presidential system debate and the method of establishing it. Arınç thinks that those who are categorically objecting to a presidential system in Turkey protest against the possibility of Erdoğan's presidency rather than the essence of presidential systems. The personalization of the debate over the presidential system is not healthier according to Arınç. However, he argues that "there cannot be a presidential system without an infrastructure, without a tuning of institutions and without establishing a system of checks and balances". He said the following on this point: "some say that we should look at the presidential systems in Mexico, Argentina or Paraguay, and that we should get important parts of the system from those countries and form a system according to our mentality. This would not be correct" (BBC Türkçe 2015). He considers this method, suggested by Erdoğan to pick up elements from different systems and leave aside some of them due to the

cultural differences, as "montaged style" (montaj usulü) and strongly rejects it (Hürriyet 2015c). Arınç is speaking of a contradiction in the debates. By contradiction, he means the lack of tuning of the system after the 2014 presidential election. In his views, the selection method of the president could have been harmonized by the powers of the president laid down in the constitution. However, he defended that the AKP bears no responsibility for this contradiction.

The current Prime Minister who was handpicked by Erdoğan himself, Davutoğlu seems to be at a very critical position on this regard. If a presidential system is to be established, it would mean the end of his office as a PM. Although he made public that the AKP will make the switch to a presidential system as one of the pillars of its election manifesto, he has been keeping a low profile on the necessity of a presidential system for Turkey. Just before the launch of the AKP's 2015 election manifesto, he clarified that he was going to write the presidential system part in the manifesto by personally himself. Erdoğan told the newspapers that he read the parts written by Davutoğlu before the launch of it.

The part on the presidential system in the AKP's 2015 election manifesto was considered as a sign of "the PM Davutoğlu's reluctance" in this regard (Tezkan 2015a). The text was three-page long and located part as a sub-heading rather than a full-fledged design within the title of a New Constitution. The AKP thought that the 2007 Constitutional amendment made new arrangements in order to allocate the authority and duty between the PM and President in the political system necessary (AKP 2015d: 35). If the necessary changes are not fulfilled, a crisis between the PM and president will be of greater possibility, it the incumbents of both offices are coming from different political traditions. The presidential system is thought to be a mechanism overcoming that possible crisis (Ibid: 36).

In the manifesto, there were very broad references to a system envisaged rather than a design of it. The framework of the system will be, as it is noted in the declaration (Ibid: 37), as the following: "A new system in which;

The elections would provide stability Both the executive and legislative, on their own, would be efficient The democratic mechanisms of checks and balances are foreseen The decision-making processes are accelerated and All kinds of tutelage are prevented".

Although the manifesto considered presidential system necessary and declared an intention to switch to such a system if the parliamentary arithmetic permits; the words of such backing up were considered as "Prime Minister's unwilling support" to Erdoğan by the Turkish media and Turkish scholars as the indicator of the "confusion" within the AKP over the design of it<sup>145</sup> (Deutsche Welle 2015).

As far as the academic community is considered, Turkish leading law and political science scholars released a declaration against the Turkish type presidential system. They consider the 2012 AKP proposal and the debate "carried out under the guidance of Erdoğan" in the last days as "idiosyncratic". The declaration voices strong objection to the efforts put forward in order to construct a system personally identifiable to President Erdoğan and states that these are alien to universal democratic methods and is out of constitution (Hürriyet 2015d).

The president of the constitutional court, Zühtü Arslan, at a ceremony marking the 53<sup>rd</sup> anniversary of the constitutional court urged political leaders to protect the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> According to Deutsche Welle (2015), Ergun Özbudun evaluated the manifesto and Davutoğlu's remarks while presenting it as "the continuation of the confusion" within the party. Özbudun said "he always used general expressions. Nothing is clear. What does it mean the executive is open to constitutional control? There seems to be confusion at all". In the same report, İbrahim Kartoğlu considered Davutoğlu's support as "unwillingness": the confusion and uncertainty in the minds appeared clearly. Beyond that, one can clearly notice the clash between Erdoğan and Davutoğlu. Davutoğlu, without giving any details, reluctantly talks about it".

principle of separation of powers....The most striking words of Arslan were "one of the most important obstacles before the new constitution would be the demands of 'constitutionalizing' the thoughts and proposals despite all and everything". In his speech, he advised political leaders to revise their maximalist position in the way of new constitution. The words of Arslan were regarded as an indirect reference to the efforts to renew the constitution in order to adopt a presidential system to grant Erdoğan more authority (Doğan News Agency 2015, Hürriyet 2015e).

In addition to the views of political actors, when one deals with the broader Turkish public, it seems that the presidential system, compared to the parliamentary one, is less known by the Turkish people (Bilgesam 2013). This conclusion was also shared by the ruling party. The AKP, Erdoğan and the theoreticians of the 2012 proposal have also been arguing that the presidential system is not well-known by the Turkish people. In other words, the supporters of the presidential system admit that despite its relatively long history, the discussions on the presidential system in Turkey are not widely known by the public. In the words of lyimaya, contrary to intellectual accumulation, the societal "interest in and demand for" presidential system is very low. According to him, a "powerful wave of societal information" is needed (İyimaya, 2013: 55). Thus, the creation of a perception in favour of presidential system has been one of the targets of the supporters. In line with the advices of İyimaya, Erdoğan has been aiming at creating a positive perception at the societal level towards the presidential system. However, just one week before the June 2015 general elections he admitted that the presidential system debate could not become the priority among the electorates<sup>146</sup>. Being aware of the fact that they are open to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> In the same speech, Erdoğan expressed that it was he who predominantly talked about the system change. In this statement, it was not clear whether Erdoğan implied the lack of support within the AKP or among the electorates. Nevertheless, he made it public that he was not happy with the state of the debate. In his words, "on the eve of the coming elections, the presidential system could have been at the top of the agenda" (Hürriyet 2015f). Just one day after Erdoğan, another important political figure of the ruling AKP, Ali Babacan noted that the presidential system discussions in the global markets were not purchased in the way Erdoğan has been demanding. The expectations of the markets from the current debate in Turkey were mainly about the possibility of increasing authoritarianism, the lack of controlling mechanisms and separation of powers (Hürriyet 2015g).

manipulation, the recent public surveys, testing the social support, indicate that although Erdoğan has increased the support of their electorates favouring presidential system, the public at large is still negative on the issue. Among the recently conducted surveys<sup>147</sup>, a great amount of them conclude that "Turkish people are against the presidential system".

All in all, the lack of societal support and demand; the absence of a consensus among political figures within the AKP and serious criticisms of the opposition and academics should be considered that the need, to use the jargon of Ahmet İyimaya, for a presidential system (at least the way Erdoğan demands it) has not become a norm in the debate Erdoğan and his close entourage has been pushing severely. Thus, reading all these views together give the image that the Turkish type presidential system is "Erdoğan-based" and "Erdoğan's Project".

# 6.5 Concluding Remarks

Turkey has been debating to adopt a presidential system since the 1980s from time to time. The early voices within these debates have regarded a presidential system as a cure to the problems Turkish politics experienced. The principle of the fixed-term office for an executive under a presidential system was thought to be curbing the instability problem of coalition governments. In addition to instability arguments, presidential system was seen as a step to leap forward in the global economy. The powerful presidents, working with their officers rather than the reluctant bureaucracy could have made necessary reforms in order to integrate with the world market. Interestingly enough the demands for a presidential system had come from ex-PMs and ex-presidents. The debates up until the AKP period have been mainly directed by politicians coming from Prime ministry towards the office of the president. Thus, the discussions have always a character of "subjectivity".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> One can consult the surveys of Çarkoğlu and Aytaç done with the support of the Open Society Foundation, Koç University and Ohio State University; Gezici Research, GENAR research, A&G surveys. The common denominator of these surveys is that they note that Turkish public is against the system change and/or Turkish electorates remain aloof from presidential system. Only the ORC Company has concluded that "%70 of Turkish people support the presidential system".

As far as the debate over the necessity of a presidential system in the Turkish political history is considered, I argue that the debate in the AKP period and under the direction of Erdoğan seems to be a rupture rather than a continuity regarding the issue from an historical perspective. Unlike the previous calls of Turgut Özal in the 1980s and Süleyman Demirel in the 1990s for a presidential system, the AKP and Erdoğan have turned their ideas on the presidential system, for the first time, into a concrete political project. The party proposed a draft constitution to the Constitutional Reconciliation Commission in 2012. Although the proposal was contrary to the well-known cases of presidential system on many points, the AKP, albeit the lack of a consensus within itself, and Erdoğan have supported its rationality directing attentions to the peculiarity of Turkish case. The AKP has made the idea of transition to a presidential system one of the cornerstones of its 2015 election manifesto, although there were only general remarks rather than a full-fledged design of the system. In addition, we have been witnessing a shift in the reasons put forward for calling a presidential system in the AKP period. One can note continuity, at a decreasing pace, considering "the need for rapid and unproblematiquely legislating governments", "complaints of the bureaucracy or bureaucratic oligarchy", "the need for a governmental stability in order to lessen the EU accession related legislation process" and the "convenience of the presidential system to the social structure and political tradition of Turkey" in the AKP's and Erdoğan's arguments. In the AKP period, the accent has been put on the need for a "New Turkey" or a "New Social Contract". In order to accomplish such great projects, the presidential system that is argued to be providing effectiveness in the government, has been considered necessary. The AKP and Erdoğan aim at adopting a presidential system but this is not exclusively limited to a change in the type of executive. Thus, it should be claimed "what we are now debating in Turkey under the direction of Erdoğan is not a debate exclusively on a presidential system". Presidential system seems to be a part or a pillar of a broader project.

Another important conclusion that can be derived from this debate is that all the attempts of the AKP and Erdoğan should be considered as aiming to adapt the constitutional structure to the reality of Erdoğan and 2007 amendments or to constitutionalize the de facto functioning of the Turkish executive (İnce 2013<sup>148</sup>, Miş 2015<sup>149</sup>, Mert 2015). These arguments whether explicitly or implicitly accept the ideas, which are very much relevant to this dissertation, that the Turkish parliamentarian system has been presidentialized under the AKP and Erdoğan rule for some time. Thus, the design of and support for the Turkish Type Presidential System seems to be what Erdoğan and AKP have de facto been doing for many years. What is at stake is to enframe the practice and de facto situation with a "constitutional correction". In my view, this is the biggest and strongest proof of this dissertation's argument that the Turkish system has been presidentialized executively for some time.

The arguments put forward by the proposal designers and voiced by Erdoğan are hardly convincing, empirically unproven or even, in the words of Özbudun, "distorting the reality". As far as the economic reasons voiced by Erdoğan are considered, the hitherto studies had no proof to what Erdoğan has been arguing: "Advanced economies are run by presidential systems". Erdoğan insisted on the claim that "great amount of G-20 members have presidential systems". However, these arguments are contrary to scholarly findings. In one of the latest studies dealing with the relation between the type of executives and the success/performance of those countries, Kaptı and Gültekin assert that in the indexes<sup>150</sup> that are widely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Ince (2013: 109) argues that "A prime minister, as powerful as now, why he demanded a presidential system that would limit his powers? In fact, what is proposed now is to legitimize our current freak system through institutionalizing it".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Miş (2015) considered that with the 2007 constitutional amendment and 2014 presidential election, the parliamentarian system has been expired. Thus he argues that "accordingly, with the difference of previous presidential system discussions, it is clear that it is a must to provide constitutional and institutional framework to the political system that has been de facto applied".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Kaptı and Gültekin has relied on 15 international indexes measuring human development, welfare, social development, social capital, rule of law country vulnerability etc.

accepted at the international arena, the countries having parliamentarian systems are the most successful ones. In this study, it is reported that among the G-20 members 8 countries are run by parliamentarian system where as only 5 countries are run by presidential system (Kaptı and Gültekin, 2015: 6).

With respect to political arguments, first of all it seems hardly convincing that presidential systems are without the mentality of coalitions. Just to give an example, in the US case presidents have to seek for coalitions in order to put their stamps over the policies. They have to persuade certain amount of Congress members in order to legislate. This could only be possible by making alliances with the members of the rival party. If a president is Democrat, he has to get the support of Republicans and vice versa. This is the biggest factor why a presidential candidate generally state that "he/she is able to make alliances with the rivals" during the campaigns.

Erdoğan and AKP believe that the presidential system will accelerate the process of legislation. In the current system, according to them the opposition parties in the parliament and the judiciary slow down the government or even prevent them. The arguments seem hardly convincing as far as the methods of "decrees having force of law" and "the method of omnibus bill" (*torba yasa*) is taken into the consideration. These mechanisms could bypass the parliament and in a while could change a large number of laws.

The direct election of the president is put forward as the most important factor in the debate. However, one can argue that the direct election of the president does not necessarily lead to presidential system. There are many examples from the European countries where the president is directly elected by the people but the system works in a parliamentarian form. These are called as "parliamentarian systems with a president" (Özsoy-Boyunsuz 2014b). The systems of Austria, Ireland, Iceland, Finland, Bulgaria, Slovakia, and Slovenia are considered as the examples of the directly elected president within a parliamentary system.

Finally, the AKP and Erdoğan proposals and arguments on the need for a presidential system seem not to be an end in itself. In other words, the presidential system ideas should be considered as part of a broader project, called as New Turkey by the party. The party's 2015 election manifesto notes that "we have to keep looking for a system that is convenient to our vision of New Turkey in this perspective...Our New Turkey vision is in need of efficient and dynamic administrative system. Within this framework, we believe in that presidential system is favourable" (AKP 2015x: 36-7). This broader project is presented as a new restructuring under the direction of the charismatic leadership of Erdoğan. Even, some considers his presidential mission as "Constitutive Presidential Mission" for the future of Turkey. The new beginning of the New Turkey which necessitates a transformation in itself, made the presidential system inevitable according to the proponents. The presidential system is thought to be one of the pillars, a sine qua non, of a greater project.

All in all, it should be concluded that what has been debated under the heading of presidential system in Turkey since 2012 is a case of "transformative leadership". In other words, as Mert (2015) argues this reflects a specific kind of an understanding of politics: "A leader charged with an historical mission". This transformative leadership understanding is also highlighted by Erdoğan in one of his latest speeches:

It is inevitable for every system that could not develop itself to the changing social, political and historical circumstances, to experience a crisis. In other words, the systems not updating are obliged to face such a crisis. Besides that, every crisis, in fact, paves the way for a restructuring and a reform...Almost everybody in Turkey talks about the necessity of structural change. The political system directs the structural change. Thus, if a political system determines the structural change, then, the change has to start with the political system. We consider the presidential system as a radical step, essential reform in the change of political system<sup>151</sup>.

For sure, the system changes are painful. Not only the institutions but also the societies go through a serious trauma. For that reason, the great changes can only be accomplished by powerful leaders having great popular support behind

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> The translation is mine. See the video, <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PrWqZzJdJgE</u>.

them. These leaders through the confidence they provide in the society, in the process of system change, lessen the effects of traumas  $^{152}$ .

Erdoğan argues that this leadership will forever bring an end to political instability; accomplish the necessary restructuring that Turkey has been striving for; imbed the bureaucratic resistance into history; make Turkish economy as one of the 10 most advanced economies in the world; remobilize Turkish history, cultural structure and traditions. A Turkish type presidential system is thought to be the first step taken in this way.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> The translation is mine. See the video, <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PrWqZzJdJgE</u>.

## **CHAPTER VII**

#### CONCLUSION

It is believed by many that the offices of the presidency and prime ministry are strikingly different with their own political logics. However, contemporary changes seen at the international and national levels affect both offices. Among them centralization of power at the executives and in the hands of the chief executives, thanks to the structural and contingent factors, led scholars to search for variations and similarities between the offices of presidency and prime ministry. This dissertation analyses a particular type of change within the nature of the distribution of power between prime ministry and other core executive actors within a parliamentary system. To put it more clearly, this study tries to scrutinize the specific situation in which increasing level of power and autonomy of prime ministry in an analogous way to a (ideal type) president seen in (ideal type) presidential regime with particular reference to the Turkish case.

There is no need to remind that states are governed by means of either presidential, parliamentary or semi-presidential systems, but the point is that degrees of authorization possessed by various offices of political regimes are diversified among various cases thought to be classified under the same heading. This situation contaminates the purity of these governmental systems and especially since the 1990s, particularly on the basis of British case; we see various analyses working on changing character of parliamentary systems where power and autonomy of prime ministry turns to be superior to a greater extent in comparison with the theoretical remarks.

As a theoretical construct, the concept of presidentialization constitutes one of the most analytical products of these scrutinies studying transformative procedure in parliamentarian systems through the lenses of the study of presidents in presidential systems as a reference point. First of all, it must be noted that presidentialization is processual by nature. It is a dynamic process through which the level of power and autonomy of office of prime ministry is affected by various factors. More blatantly speaking, rising power of executive (principally executive leaders) allows them to be accountable directly to the voters, not the parliament. In consequence, electoral process turns out to be personalized and other political institutions except the executive are excluded from the policy-making mechanisms.

Under the light of diverse examples, it is seen that another defining characteristic of presidentialization is related with its de facto feature. No matter whether structural or contingent factors are at work, presidentialization, first and foremost, takes place within deeply political occurrences involved with changes in level of power and autonomy of various offices instead of constitutional transformations, though sometimes they could also be supportive. In other words, de facto presidentialization takes place on the basis of dynamic relations among different political actors and institutions and as a result, there may be times of particular figures speeding up and/or slowing down this lengthy process of presidentialization in a parliamentary system. Having de facto character implies that presidentialization does not refer to a total transformation of parliamentary system into a presidential one, rather in each and every stage of the process, some parliamentary features persist.

The presidentialization refers to centralization and/or concentration of power in the hands of a single position (mostly the chief executive) at the expense of other political actors or institutions in parliamentary systems. Additionally, process of presidentialization has a mainly unsmooth character which can be identified as lengthy and difficult procedure. It has "ups and downs" and generally unpredictable routes especially in terms of contingent factors that are at work.

Another significantly defining trait of presidentialization is its behavioural formation. Parallel to the fact that procedures of presidentialization are de facto by nature, the processes in question, principally, take place without (any significant) change in the level of constitution. Instead, the procedures at stake happen in terms of political actions and practices of actors and institutions. Therefore, presidentialization process is a highly empirical object of inquiry. To put it more clearly, it can be argued that presidentialization is closely associated with specific political actors. This is the main reason, in our case, behind shedding light into Erdoğan's practices and attitudes, seem to be in contravention to the actual working mechanisms of the parliamentary system.

Having put the main tenets of presidentialization concept, let me repeat the main research question of the dissertation is that "whether one can argue for an (increasing) de facto executive presidentialization with the premiership and presidency of Erdoğan in Turkey or was it already at high before the period analyzed". As mentioned in the research question, this study basically concentrated on the process of presidentialization taking place in the (core) executive, more specifically offices of executive leadership, cabinet and the president. It is claimed that although there is no related constitutional change regarding the transformation of existing political system from parliamentarism into presidentialism, especially during Erdoğan's both premiership and presidency periods, one can witness presidential functioning of the executive which is materialized in the form of Erdoğan's leadership.

Turning to conclude the analysis of the Turkish case in terms of presidentialization, I claim that this case constitutes a particular type of presidentialization, namely executive presidentialization. In this sense, electoral and party-based aspects of the presidentialization process are not included by this study due to various limitations which have mentioned in the Chapter 4. In this sense, what is highlighted throughout this dissertation is the fact that presidentialization process in the Turkish case is more

visible in its executive face. The procedure of presidentialization at stake occurs in the level of executive leadership which is materialized by Erdoğan as a political figure marking the last decade of Turkish political life. In other terms, as noted above, such type of presidentialization is crystallized in Turkish political system. More clearly speaking, under the circumstances of presidentialization process in the Turkish case - where power and autonomy is concentrated and centralized in the hands of Erdoğan - it is hard to talk about presidentialization of the whole political system by aid of much broader process containing various political actors and institutions. At that regard, considering the negotiation process over the legislation in the parliament as a waste of time, Erdoğan has aimed at bypassing questioning potential of the parliament (or basically opposition) on behalf of the government. Under these circumstances, it is considerably difficult to accept the existence of autonomy of both parliament and legislation at all.

As mentioned above, presidentialization takes place in "de facto level" and that is why Erdoğan's leadership, especially in the period of his presidency can be thought as de facto presidential regime even though it could correspond to constitutional change, as of the 2007 amendments and 2014 presidential elections. This situation can be observed as a manifestation of presidentialization process within the Office of the President in the political system of Republic of Turkey. This kind of manifestation allows me to embrace four main elucidations: firstly, concerning the thirteen years of AKP rule and initiatives made by Erdoğan during this era significantly reflects the processual feature of the presidentialization; secondly, the determining role played by the specific characteristics of Erdoğan's personality and his electoral achievements on the basis of these personal characteristics demonstrates the primacy of the contingent factors instead of structural factors for the Turkish case. This is because Erdoğan, as an actor, managed to carry his personal, institutional and electoral power resources in his move from the office of the prime ministry toward the presidency; thirdly, under the circumstances of occurrences taking place during the AKP rule, it can be asserted that increasing power of any

office – whether premiership or presidency – heavily relies upon the distinct events, as the 2007 constitutional amendments which were largely a political reaction rather than a constitutional engineering directed specifically toward certain aims, that have happened during this time period; lastly, even though legal-formal constitutionalism yields some significant signs of process of presidentialization (especially since 1971) for the Turkish case, behavioural and informal practices of political figures constituting the executive turns out to be decisive when Erdoğan leadership is taken into consideration within the analysis of rising power and autonomy of the executive in last thirteen years. Thus, if these behavioural and informal changes do not match the constitutional framework the presidentialization process may be vulnerable due to the contingent factors. The ANAP and Özal case seems to be a case to deal with within this reasoning.

In addition to those behavioural and informal facets of de facto presidential regime initiated by Erdoğan's leadership, throughout this period presidential office experienced institutional, symbolic and electoral transformations. To put it more bluntly, quite a large number of new directorate generals have been attached to the presidency and this has changed the offices institutional power resources drastically. Furthermore, some important constructions, particularly the new presidential palace, have transformed the presidential office in symbolic manner in the eyes of ordinary people. Also, by means of 2007 constitutional amendment opening the way of election of the president by popular vote, presidency has been electorally transformed and especially this situation has fueled the discussions of the existence of de facto presidential regime in the Turkish case.

Despite the fact that some parallels can be figured out between attitudes and initiatives held by both Erdoğan and Özal in terms of increasing power and autonomy of the executive at the expense of other political actors and institutions, on the basis of historical approach it can be noted that the AKP period under Erdoğan's leadership constitute a rupture within the debate on presidential system concerning the Turkish case. The point is that for the first time presidential system ideas has turned out to be a real political project by aid of actions and practices of AKP led by Erdoğan. Concerning the following arguments calling for the necessity of the presidential system Erdoğan leadership has repeated the discourse of its predecessors: "the need for rapid and unproblematic legislation", "complaints of the bureaucracy or bureaucratic oligarchy", "the need for a governmental stability in order to lessen the European Union accession related legislation process" and the "convenience of the presidential system to the social structure and political tradition of Turkey". However, the 2012 AKP/Erdoğan proposal for a presidential system, widely known as "Turkish type presidential system" seems to be an attempt at providing constitutional framework to the actual practices of the system under Erdoğan's leadership. I believe that such an observation should be counted as one of the most important proofs of the arguments that the systems has presidentialized during Erdoğan's premiership.

In addition to these hardly new arguments longing for presidential system, Erdoğan and other AKP officials have come to put into words a considerably new argument of the necessity of establishment of "New Turkey" or "New Social Contract". In order to achieve such a grand political project, formation of the presidential system is supposed to be one of the most important preconditions. By doing so, the need for a presidential system is attached to a totally new and much deeper meaning in debates on Turkish political system. Hence the presidential system is said to be turned from ultimate goal out to an indispensable part of a far broader political project reflecting the self-perception of power accumulated by specific actor(s).

Having briefly put some conclusions of this dissertation, let me elaborate on key contributions that this study may make. Firstly, this analysis of presidentialization with particular reference to Turkish case can help us to comprehend concrete causes and effects of practices of Erdoğan's leadership more deeply. In this regard, this study aimed at shedding some light to the daily debates on changing policy-making

mechanisms which directly influence casual and actual aspects of Turkish political system.

Secondly, this dissertation purports to be an example of exposition of the literature of conceptualization of presidentialization to the developing countries' political systems. In doing so, the study tries to go beyond hitherto presidentialization analyses sticking to advanced democracies. Dealing with the more dynamic and incalculable parameters of the Turkish case, through underlining the contingent factors, this study opens the way of possibility of new scrutinies (which cannot be included by this dissertation) trying to figure out the critical inter-relationship between process of presidentialization and increasing authoritarianism, populism, and conservatism, which makes democracy in those developing countries to be more turbulent and fragile.

Thirdly, analyzing the practices of Erdoğan's leadership in terms of its determination for concentration of power in the hands of the executive, this dissertation aims at contributing the literature of presidentialization by means of focusing on the changing role of the president in the parliamentary systems. In this sense, a particular attention is paid to the popular election of the president. By doing so, various factors employed by Erdoğan's both premiership and presidency are investigated through operationalizing the theoretical indicators provided by the literature of presidentialization conception.

Lastly, by scrutinizing the Turkish case under Erdoğan's leadership with particular emphasis laid on the presidentialization notion this study stresses the importance of contingent factors catalyzing the presidentialization process. Although it is accepted that structural factors are also effective with respect to rise of presidentialization in the Turkish case, significantly triggering factors initiating and consolidating the procedures of presidentialization under Erdoğan's leadership are contingent ones such as (charismatic) personality of the leader, electoral success of the leader with the help of his/her popularity and domination of the executive leadership strengthened by a great deal of support provided by the parliamentary parties, which is motivated by nothing but the logic of "one-person executive".

The post-July 2015 context seems to be very instructive for the last warning that this dissertation subscribes. The power and autonomy of a particular leader is always context-bounded and actor-depended. It is open to observe whether other political actors and institutions and particular events and/or developments will go on to let Erdoğan to dominate the executive politics in the future.

### REFERENCES

Açıkel, F. (2013) "'Hegemonya'dan 'oximoron'a: AKP'nin eğreti Bonapartizm'inin sonu", *Birikim* 288, April 2013, pp. 15-23.

Ahmad, F. (2008) *Modern Türkiyenin Oluşumu*, 7th Edition, Kaynak Yayınları: İstanbul.

Akçalı P. (2007) "Siyasal İstikrar ve Başkanlık Sistemi: Amerika Birleşik Devletleri Örneği" in Kamalak, İ. (ed.), *Başkanlık Sistemi ve Türkiye: Ülkeler, Deneyimler ve Karşılaştırmalı Analiz*, Kalkedon: İstanbul, pp. 59-89.

AKP (2012) The political vision of Justice and Development Party 2023", September 30, 2012.

AKP (2014a) "Başbakan Erdoğan'ın Vizyon Belgesi Açıklama Töreninde Yaptığı Konuşmanın Tam Metni", July 11, 2014, <u>https://www.akparti.org.tr/site/haberler/basbakan-erdoganin-vizyon-belgesi-</u> <u>aciklama-toreninde-yaptigi-konusmanin-tam/65232#1</u> (11.08.2015).

AKP (2014b) "Başbakan Erdoğan'ın 9 Temmuz tarihli Tokat Mitingi konuşmasının tam metni", July 10, 2014, <u>https://www.akparti.org.tr/site/haberler/basbakan-erdoganin-9-temmuz-tarihli-tokat-mitingi-konusmasinin-tam-metni/64861#1</u> (11.08.2015).

AKP (2015a) 2002 Genel Seçimleri Seçim Beyannamesi, AKP Tanıtım ve Medya Başkanlığı, Şubat 2015.

AKP (2015b) 2007 Genel Seçimleri Seçim Beyannamesi, AKP Tanıtım ve Medya Başkanlığı, Şubat 2015.

AKP (2015c) 2011 Genel Seçimleri Seçim Beyannamesi, AKP Tanıtım ve Medya Başkanlığı, Şubat 2015.

AKP (2015d) "7 Haziran 2015 Genel Seçimleri Seçim Beyannamesi", Adalet ve Kalkınma Partisi, April 15, 2015.

AKP Parliamentary Party Group Meeting, <u>http://www.akparti.org.tr/grupkon.asp</u>

Aksiyon (2002) "Ankete İnanma Anketsiz de Kalma", 19 August 2002, <u>http://www.aksiyon.com.tr/siyaset/ankete-inanma-anketsiz-de-kalma\_509227</u>, (10.12.2014).

Aksiyon (2007) "Siyasi Başarısını Anketlere Borçlu", 26 March 2007, <u>http://www.aksiyon.com.tr/siyaset/siyasi-basarisini-anketlere-borclu\_518590</u>, (09.12.2014).

Al Jazeera Türk (2012) "Erdoğan: 4+4+4 er geç çıkacak", Al Jazeera Türk, 08 March 2012, <u>http://www.aljazeera.com.tr/haber/erdogan-444-er-gec-cikacak</u> (02.10.2015).

Altaylı, F. (2014) "Düşük Katılım Erdoğan'ın Lehine", Habertük Turkish Daily, <u>http://www.haberturk.com/yazarlar/fatih-altayli-1001/965299-dusuk-katilim-erdoganin-lehine</u>, (09.12.2014).

Anderson, P. (2008) "After Kemal", *London Review of Books*, Vol. 30, No. 18, 25 September 2008.

Ardıç, E. (2001) "Empowerment of the Executive: Impact of Decrees Having Force of Law on Turkish Politics", Unpublished Master's Thesis, Bilkent University: Ankara.

Ataay, F. (2002) "Türkiye'de Neo-Liberalizm ve Parlamenter Siyasetin Krizi", *Praksis* (5) 2002, pp. 199-215.

Ataay, F. (2013) "Adalet ve Kalkınma Partisi'nin 'Başkanlık Sistemi' Önerisi Üzerine Değerlendirme", *Alternatif Politika*, December 2013 Vol. 5:3, pp. 266-296.

Ataklı, C. (2011) "Erdoğan Cumhurbaşkanı olmaya gerek duymayabilir", Vatan Turkish Daily, 05 September 2011.

Atar, Y. (2013) "Amerika'da Güçlü Başkanlık Tartışması ve Ak Partinin Başkanlık Sistemi Teklifi", *Yeni Türkiye* Vol.51, pp. 548-551.

Ayata, A. (1993) "Ideology, Social Bases, and Organizational Structure of the post-1980 Political Parties" in Atilla Eralp, Muharrem Tünay and Birol Yeşilada (eds.), *The Political and Socioeconomic Transformation of Turkey*, NewYork: Praeger, pp. 31-49.

Aydıntaşbaş, A. (2009) "Erdogan's Davos Outburst Is Nothing New", Forbes, 30 January 2009, <u>http://www.forbes.com/2009/01/30/erdogan-turkey-davos-opinions-contributors\_0130\_asli\_aydintasbas.html</u> (22.08.2015).

Aydıntaşbaş, A. (2011) "Şu an zaten fiilen başkanlık sistemi var", Milliyet Turkish Daily, 04 February 2011, <u>http://www.milliyet.com.tr/su-an-zaten-fiilen-baskanlik-sistemi-var/asli-aydintasbas/siyaset/yazardetayarsiv/05.02.2011/1348443/default.htm</u> (26.01.2015).

Back et al. (2009) "Does European Integration Lead to a 'Presidentialization' of Executive Politics", *European Union Politics* Volume 10(2): 226-252.

Bal, F. (2013) "MHP, Parlamenter Sistemin Demokratikleştirilmesinden Yanadır", *Yeni Türkiye* Vol.51, pp. 83-95.

Baransu, M. (2013) "Erdoğan Cemaatin Oyunu Hesaplatıyor", Taraf Turkish Daily, <u>http://arsiv.taraf.com.tr/haber-erdogan-cemaatin-oyunu-hesaplatiyor-131550/</u>, (10.12.2014).

Barkey, H. J. (2013) All the Prime Ministers's Yes-Men", *The National Interest*, 04 June 2013, <u>http://nationalinterest.org/commentary/all-the-prime-ministers-yes-men-8546</u> (21.01.2015).

BBC (2009), "Turkish PM storms off in Gaza row", *BBC News*, 29 January 2009, <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/business/davos/7859417.stm</u> (22.08.2015)

BBC Türkçe 2015 "Arınç: Montaj başkanlık sistemi olmaz", April 02, 2015, <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/turkce/haberler/2015/04/150402\_arinc\_bbcturkce</u>

Bedirhanoğlu, P. (2009) "Türkiye'de Neoliberal Otoriter Devletin AKP'li Yüzü" in İlhan Uzgel and Bülent Duru (eds.) *AKP Kitabı: Bir Dönüşümün Bilançosu*, Phoenix Yayınları, pp. 40-65.

Bekdil, B. (2015) "Dateline: Erdoğan's Grand Ambitions", *Middle East Quarterly* Winter 2015, pp. 1-10.

Bennister, M. (2007) "Tony Blair and John Howard: Comparative predominance and 'institution stretch' in the UK and Australia", *British Journal of Politics and International Relations (BJPIR)* 9(3), pp. 327-345.

Best, H. and Higley, J. (2009) Introduction: Democratic Elitism Reappraised, *Comparative Sociology* 8 (2009), pp. 323-344.

Bevir, M. and Rhodes, R. A. W. (2006) "Prime Ministers, Presidentialism and Westminster Smokescreens", *Political Studies*: 2006, Vol. 54, pp. 671-690.

Bilgesam (2013) "Başkanlık Sistemine Toplumsal Bakış", *Bilge Adamlar Stratejik Araştırmalar Merkezi*, Rapor No: 59, June 2013, <u>http://www.bilgesam.org/Images/Dokumanlar/9-2-</u>2014012024baskanlik sistemine tolumsal bakis.pdf (02.06.2015)

Bipartisan Policy Center (BPC) (2014) "President Erdoğan: prospects for a Strong Presidency", *National Security Programme Foreign Policy Projects*, December 2014, pp. 1-22.

Bir, A. A. (2012) "Başkanlık sistemi ve liderlik", Bugün Turkish Daily, 19 May 2012, <u>http://www.bugun.com.tr/pages/marticle.aspx?id=192881</u> (27.01.2015).

Birand, M.A. (2010) "Bugün zaten fiilen başkanlık sistemindeyiz", Posta Turkish Daily, 20 April 2010, <u>http://www.posta.com.tr/siyaset/YazarHaberDetay/Bugun-zaten-fiilen-baskanlik-sistemindeyiz.htm?ArticleID=26825</u> (26.01.2015).

Blondel, J. (1987) *Political Leadership: Towards a General Analysis*, Sage Publications.

Blondel, J. (1990) "The National Executive" in *Comparative Government: An Introduction*, Jean Blondel, Great Britain: Philip Allan, pp. 257-275.

Blondel, J. and Thiébault, J.L. (eds.) (2010) *Political Leadership, Parties and Citizens: The personalization of leadership*, Routledge, New York.

Bozkurt, A. (2013) "Erdoğan's Advisors in Turkey", Today's Zaman Turkish Daily, 22 November 2013, <u>http://www.todayszaman.com/columnist/abdullah-bozkurt/erdogans-advisors-in-turkey\_332156.html</u> (21.01.2015).

Brooker, Paul (2010) *Leadership in Democracy*, Palgrave Macmillan (2<sup>nd</sup> Edition).

Buckley, S. (2006) *The Prime Minister and Cabinet*, Edinburgh University Press: Edinburgh.

Budge, I. (2006) "Review of The Presidentialization of Politics: A Comparative Study of Modern Democracies" edited by Thomas Poguntke and Paul Webb, *Perspectives on Politics*, June 2006, Vol.4/No.2, pp. 407-408.

Çakır, R. (2015) "Fidan Olayı: Demek ki danışıklı dövüş değilmiş", Habertürk Turkish Daily, March 11, 2015, <u>http://www.haberturk.com/yazarlar/rusen-cakir-2302/1052072-fidan-olayi-demek-ki-danisikli-dovus-degilmis</u> (07.08.2015).

Campus, D. (2010) "Mediatization and Personalization of Politics in Italy and France: The Cases of Berlusconi and Sarkozy", *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 15: 219-235.

Can, O. (2013) "Başkanlık Sistemi Hakkında Bir Kaç Not", *Yeni Türkiye* Vol.51, pp. 175-181.

Charlton, R. (1986) "Political Leadership: Executives in the Modern World" in *Comparative Government*, Roger Charlton, USA: Longman, pp. 16-37.

Cheibub, J.A., Elkins, Z. and Ginsburg, T. (2013) "Beyond Presidentialism and Parliamentarism", *British Journal of Political Science*, November 2013, pp. 1-30.

Cihan News Agency (2015a) "Erdoğan dismisses criticism over making politics, says he is not a 'wall flower'", *Cihan News Agency*, March 22, 2015, http://www.cihan.com.tr/tr/erdogan-dismisses-criticism-over-making-politicssays-he-is-not-a-wall-flower-1714561.htm?language=tr (07.08.2015).

Cihan News Agency (2015b) "Erdoğan's remarks that Turkey should be administered like company draw ire", *Cihan News Agency*, March 16, 2015, <u>http://en.cihan.com.tr/news/Erdogans-remarks-that-Turkey-should-be-administered-like-company-draw-ire\_6506-CHMTcwNjUwNg==</u>

Cornell, S.E. (2014) "Erdoğan's looming downfall", *Middle East Quarterly*, Spring 2014, Vol.21, No.2, <u>http://www.meforum.org/3767/erdogan-downfall</u> (27.01.2015).

Cumhuriyet (2014) "AKP'de Yolsuzluk Kavgası Büyüyor", Cumhuriyet Turkish Daily, 02 December 2014, <u>http://www.cumhuriyet.com.tr/haber/siyaset/153052/AKP\_de\_yolsuzluk\_kavgasi\_bu</u> <u>yuyor.html</u> (21.01.2015).

Cumhuriyet (2015a) "T.C. Anonim Şirketi", Cumhuriyet Turkish Daily, March 15, 2015, http://www.cumhuriyet.com.tr/haber/turkiye/231423/T.C. Anonim Sirketi.html (26.06.2015)

Cumhuriyet (2015b) "Mitingler için ülkeyi bölüştüler", Cumhuriyet Turkish Daily, May 19, 2015, <u>http://www.cumhuriyet.com.tr/haber/siyaset/280158/Mitingler\_icin\_ulkeyi\_bolustule</u> <u>r.html</u> (20.08.2015).

Cumhuriyet (2015c) "Davutoğlu'ndan 'Başkanlık bitti ve koalisyon' açıklaması", Cumhuriyet Turkish Daily, June 10, 2015, <u>http://www.cumhuriyet.com.tr/haber/siyaset/296319/Davutoglu\_ndan\_Baskanlik\_bi</u> <u>tti\_ve\_koalisyon\_aciklamasi.html</u> (21.08.2015).

Dağı, İ. (2008) "Turkey's AKP In Power", *Journal of Democracy*, Volume 19, Number 3, July 2008, pp. 25-30.

Daglier, Ü. (2014) "Comparative Democratization and Culture: Turkey's Jacksonian Moment", *Taiwan Journal of Democracy*, Volume 10, No. 1, pp. 147-177.

Daily Sabah (2015a) "Erdoğan: Turkey's success story could have been brighter with<br/>a presidential system", January 30, 2015,<br/>http://www.dailysabah.com/politics/2015/01/30/erdogan-turkeys-success-story-<br/>could-have-been-brighter-with-a-presidential-system

Daily Sabah (2015b) "Panelists: Current parliamentary system in favour of elites, notthepeople",April10,2015,http://www.dailysabah.com/politics/2015/04/10/panelists-current-parliamentary-system-in-favor-of-elites-not-the-people

Derbyshire, J., Derbyshire, I. (1991) "Executives" in World Political Systems: An Introduction to Comparative Government, J. Dennis Derbyshire, Ian Derbyshire, Great Britain: Chambers, pp. 52-83.

Deutsche Welle (2015) "Nasıl bir başkanlık sistemi", April 15, 2015, <u>http://www.dw.de/nas%C4%B1l-bir-ba%C5%9Fkanl%C4%B1k-sistemi/a-18385172</u> (04.05.2015).

Diken (2015) "Erdoğan, Başçı'dan sonar Babacan'a çıkıştı: Aynı durumdalar, çeki düzen vermeliler", Diken, March 02, 2015, <u>http://www.diken.com.tr/erdogan-faiz-krizinde-basci-ve-babacani-hedef-aldi-ayni-durumdalar-kendilerine-ceki-duzen-versinler/</u> (07.08.2015).

Doğan News Agency (2015) "Turkey's top judge urges gov't over separation of powers, 'copy-paste' charter', April 27, 2015, <u>http://www.dha.com.tr/turkeys-top-judge-urges-govt-over-separation-of-powers-copypaste-charter\_919328.html</u>

Dombey, D. (2015a) "President tightens his grip on state", *Financial Times Special Report*, April 15, 2015, <u>http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/f89a7b74-c747-11e4-8e1f-00144feab7de.html#axzz3i4pKY2Cx</u> (07.08.2015).

Dombey, D. (2015b) "Government finds itself at odds with big business", *Financial Times Special Report*, April 15, 2015, <u>http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/75c1d07a-c748-11e4-8e1f-00144feab7de.html#axzz3i4pKY2Cx</u> (07.08.2015).

Dowding, K. (2012) "Prime Ministerialisation of the British Prime Minister", *Parliamentary Affairs* Advance Access published April 12, 2012, pp. 1-19.

Duran, B. (2010) "AKP ve Dönüşümün Aracı Olarak Politika" in Hakan Yavuz (ed.), *AK Parti: Toplumsal Değişimin Yeni Aktörleri*, Kitap Yayınevi, İstanbul, 2010, pp. 333-358.

Duran, B. (2015) "Presidentialism: The Turkish Way?", Daily Sabah, February 23, 2015, <u>http://www.dailysabah.com/columns/duran-burhanettin/2015/02/23/presidentialism-the-turkish-way</u>

Earle, E. M. (1925) "The New Constitution of Turkey", *Political Science Quarterly*, Volume 40, Issue 1 (Mar., 1925), pp. 73-100, <u>http://genckaya.bilkent.edu.tr/1924constitution.pdf</u> (08.08.2015).

Economist (2014) "Erdogan on top", The Economist, August 16, 2014, <u>http://www.economist.com/news/leaders/21612154-it-would-be-better-turkey-if-presidency-remained-mainly-ceremonial-erdogan-top</u> (11.08.2015).

Erdoğan, M. (2003) *Türkiye'de Anayasalar ve Siyaset*, Liberte Yayınları: Ankara, 4<sup>th</sup> Edition.

Ergüder, Ü. (1988) "The Motherland Party: 1983-1989" in Özbudun, E. et all (eds.) *Political Parties and Democracy in Turkey*, Turkish Political Science Association: Ankara, pp.564-581.

Ertan, B. (2013) "Başbakan'ın Danışmanları", Açık Gazete, 29 June 2013, <u>http://mail.acikgazete.net/yazarlar/birol-ertan/2013/06/29/basbakan-in-danismanlari.htm?aid=51878</u> (21.01.2015).

Ertem, C. (2015a) "Başkanlık Sistemi ve Yeni Birlik Arayışları", Akşam Turkish Daily, February 20, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/cemil-ertem/baskanlik-sistemi-ve-yeni-birlik-arayislari/haber-383475</u>

Ertem, C. (2015b) "Başkanlık Sistemi mazlumlar için tarihsel bir fırsattır", Akşam Turkish Daily, February 22, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/cemil-ertem/baskanlik-sistemi-mazlumlar-icin-tarihsel-bir-firsattir/haber-383983</u>

Ertem, C. (2015c) "Faiz Tartışması Politik Sistem Tartışmasıdır", Akşam Turkish Daily, February 25, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/cemil-ertem/faiz-tartismasi-politik-sistem-tartismasidir/haber-384795</u>

Ertem, C. (2015d) "Hedef Başkanlık Sistemi ve Yeni Anayasa", Akşam Turkish Daily, March 08, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/cemil-ertem/hedef-baskanlik-sistemi-ve-yeni-anayasa/haber-387790</u>

Ertem, C. (2015e) "Doğru Tartışmak için kısa manifesto", Akşam Turkish Daily, March 11, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/cemil-ertem/dogru-tartismak-icin-kisa-manifesto/haber-388549</u>

Fedayi, C. (2013) "Mazi, Hal ve İstikbal Boyutlarıyla Başkanlık Sistemi", *Yeni Türkiye* Vol.51, pp. 679-691.

Fiers, S. and Krouwel, A. (2005) "The Low Countries: From 'Prime Minister' to President –Minister" in Thomas Poguntke and Paul Webb (eds.) *The Presidentialization of Politics: A Comparative Study of Modern Democracies*, Oxford University Press, pp. 128-158.

Financial Times (2012) "Erdogan's hope for a new constitution fade", <u>http://www.ft.com/intl/cms/s/0/c541c476-3e46-11e2-91cb-00144feabdc0.html#axz3Pxdgsm4D</u> (26.01.2015).

Foley, M. (2004) "Presidential Attribution as an Agency of Prime Ministerial Critique in a Parliamentary Democracy: The Case of Tony Blair", *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, Vol. 6 (3), pp. 292-311.

Foley, M. (2008a) "Review of The presidentialization of politics: A comparative study of modern democracies" edited by Thomas Poguntke, Paul Webb, *Public Administration*, Volume 85, Issue 03.

Foley, M. (2008b) "The presidential dynamics of leadership decline in contemporary British politics: the case of Tony Blair", *Contemporary Politics*, Vol. 14 No. 1, March 2008, pp.53-69.

Foley, M. (2011) "The role and powers of the Prime Minister", written evidence submitted by Professor Michael Foley to the Political and Constitutional Reform Committee Publications, Session 2010-12, 26 April 2011, http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201012/cmselect/cmpolcon/writev/842/m16.htm (05.05.2014).

Foley, M. (2012) "Prime Ministerialisation and Presidential Analogies: A Certain Difference in Interpretetive Evolution", *Parliamentary Affairs* Advance Access published November 14, 2012, pp. 1-8.

Garzia, D. (2011) "The personalization of politics in Western democracies. Causes and consequences on leader-follower relationships", *The Leadership Quarterly* (2011), doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2011.05.010.

Gönenç, L. (2005) "Türkiye'de Hükümet Sistemi Değişikliği Tartışmaları: Olanaklar ve Olasılıklar Üzerine Bir Çalışma Notu", in Teoman Ergül (ed.) *Başkanlık Sistemi*, Türkiye Barolar Birliği Yayınları 77: Ankara, 2005, pp. 1-12.

Gönenç, L. (2013) "Türkiye'deki Hükümet Sistemleri Tartışmalarına İlişkin Değerlendirmeler", *Yeni Türkiye*, Vol. 51, March-April 2013, pp. 269-279.

Guardian (2015a) "Turkey's president Erdoğan told to 'stop interfering' in government business", Guardian, March 23, 2015, <u>http://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/mar/23/erdogan-at-odds-with-government-over-kurdish-peace-process-0</u> (07.08.2015).

Guardian (2015b) "Erdoğan: presidential Turkey would be like UK, where Queen's in charge", Guardian, January 30, 2015, http://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/jan/30/erdogan-president-turkey-queen-incharge-uk Güney, A. (2007) "Sonuç yerine: Türkiye'de Başkanlık Sistemi Neden tartışılıyor", in İhsan Kamalak (ed.), *Başkanlık Sistemi ve Türkiye*, Kalkedon Yayınları: İstanbul, 2007, pp. 339-355.

Gürsel, K. (2014) "Erdoğan'ın semboller savaşındaki yeni taarruzu: 'Aksaray'", Al Monitor: Turkey Pulse, 17 September 2014, <u>http://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/tr/originals/2014/09/turkey-erdogan-white-palace-presidential-residence.html#</u> (02.10.2015).

Habertürk (2007) "Erdoğan'a 8 yeni danışman", Habertürk Turkish Daily, 19 December 2007, <u>http://m.haberturk.com/gundem/haber/48334-erdogana-8-yeni-danisman</u> (21.01.2015).

Hakan, A. (2014) "Bir Norveçli kadar mesafeliyim olaya", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, July 03, 2014, <u>http://sosyal.hurriyet.com.tr/yazar/ahmet-hakan\_131/bir-norvecli-kadar-mesafeliyim-olaya\_26731465</u> (11.08.2015).

Hakan, A. (2015) "Başkanlık Diktatörlük Getirir' diyenleri gırtlaklamak istiyorum", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, 04 February 2015, <u>http://sosyal.hurriyet.com.tr/yazar/ahmet-hakan\_131/baskanlik-diktatorluk-getirir-diyenleri-girtlakl\_28116073</u> (02.10.2015).

Hale, W. and Özbudun, E. (2010) *Islamism, Democracy and Liberalism in Turkey: The case of the AKP*, Routledge.

Hargrove, E.C. (2001) "The presidency and the prime ministership as institutions: an American perspective", *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, Vol. 3, No. 1, April 2001, pp. 49-70.

Hart, J. (1991) "President and Prime Minister: Convergence or Divergence?", *Parliamentary Affairs*, 44(2), pp. 208-225.

Hargrove, E.C. (2009) "Evolving Executive Authority in Anglo-American Democracy. Coping with Leadership Dispersal" in John Kane, Haig Patapan and Paul 't Hart (eds.) *Dispersed Democratic Leadership: Origins, Dynamics and Implications*, Oxford University Press, pp. 13-36.

Heffernan, R. (2005a) "Why the Prime Minister cannot be a President: Comparing Institutional Imperatives in Britain and America", *Parliamentary Affairs*, Vol. 58 No. 1, pp. 53-70.

Heffernan, R. (2005b) "Exploring (and Explaining) the British Prime Minister", *British Journal of Politics and International Relations*, 2005: Vol. 7, pp. 605-620.

Heffernan, R. (2012) "There's No Need for the 'isation': The Prime Minister Is Merely Prime Minister", *Parliamentary Affairs* Advance Access published November 14, 2012, pp. 1-10.

Helms, L. (2005a) Presidents, Prime Ministers and Chancellors: Executive Leadership in Western Democracies, Palgrave MacMillan: New York.

Helms, L. (2005b) "The Presidentialisation of Political Leadership: British Notions and German Observations", *The Political Quarterly*, Volume 76, Issue 3, pp. 430-438.

Helms, L. (2008) "Governing in the Media Age: The Impact of the Mass Media on Executive Leadership in Contemporary Democracies", *Government and Opposition*, Vol. 43, No. 1, pp. 26-58.

Helms, L. (2012) "Democratic Political Leadership in the New Media Age: A Farewell to Excellence?", *British Journal of Politicas and International Relations*, 2012: Vol. 14, 651-670.

Helms, L. (2013) "Is there a presidentialization of US presidential leadership? A European perspective on Washington", *Acta Politica*, Advance online publication 30 August 2013, pp. 1-19.

Heper, M. and Sayarı, S. (2008) "Önsöz" in Metin Heper and Sabri Sayarı (eds.) *Türkiye'de Liderler ve Demokrasi*, Kitap Yayınevi, İstanbuli pp. 7-8.

Heper, M. and Tokta, Ş. (2003) "Islam, Modernity and Democracy in Contemporary Turkey: The case of Recep Tayyip Erdoğan", *The Muslim World* 04/2003; 93(2), pp. 157-185.

Heper, M. (2008) "Sonuç" in Metin Heper and Sabri Sayarı (eds.), *Türkiye'de Liderler ve Demokrasi*, Kitap Yayınevi, İstanbul, pp. 247-272.

Hogg, J. (2015) "Erdoğan settles in as Turkey's strongman, constitutional change or not", Reuters 2015, 28 January 2015, <u>http://in.reuters.com/article/2015/01/27/turkey-politics-erdogan-idINKBN0L02KI20150127</u> (02.10.2015).

Holmes, P. (2008) "Chapter 12: The Executive: Prime Minister and Cabinet" in Peter Holmes (ed.) *Introducing Politics for AS Level*, Polity, June 2008, pp. 404-440.

Hürriyet (2011) "Bakanlar Kurulu Yeniden Yapılandırılıyor", Hürriyet Tukish Daily, 08 June 2011, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/17982957.asp</u> (23.January.2012).

Hürriyet (2012a) "Terim direndi kupayı 3 saat sonra aldılar", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, 13 May 2012, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/spor/futbol/20542862.asp</u> (27.01.2015).

Hürriyet (2012b) "İnanıyorum bu işi Erdoğan çözer", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, 14 June 2012, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/20756906.asp</u>, (11.12.2014).

Hürriyet (2012c) "Türk sistemi başkanlık olsun", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, November 11, 2012, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/21898544.asp</u> (06.04.2015).

Hürriyet (2013a) "Burhan Kuzu: Obama zavallı", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, March 09, 2013, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/22775374.asp</u> (02.06.2015).

Hürriyet (2013b) "İdris Naim Şahin istifa etti", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, 25 December 2013, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/25442203.asp</u> (21.01.2015).

Hürriyet (2014) "Saray'da icraatı izleme ekibi", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, November 20, 2014, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/27613547.asp</u> (11.08.2015).

Hürriyet (2015a) "Cumhurbaşkanlığında Muhtarlar Toplantısı", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, March 10, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/28414646.asp</u>

Hürriyet (2015b) "Abdullah Gül'den iç güvenlik paketiyle ilgili açıklama", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, February 20, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/28253504.asp</u>

Hürriyet (2015c) "Bülent Arınç: 'Alaturka değil alafranga olmalı", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, March 26, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/28568382.asp</u>

Hürriyet (2015d) "Akademisyenlerden 'başkanlık' bildirisi: Kişiye özgü rejim Türkiye'yi dünya sisteminden koparır", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, March 09, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/28403823.asp</u>

Hürriyet (2015e) "Anayasa Mahkemesi Başkanı Zühtü Arslan'dan Önemli Açıklamalar", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, April 27, 2015, http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/28847225.asp

Hürriyet (2015f) "Cumhurbaşkanı Recep Tayyip Erdoğan: Başkanlık sistemini ben daha çok gündeme getirdim", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, June 01, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/29162578.asp</u> (02.06.2015).

Hürriyet (2015g) "Ali Babacan: Sonucu kestirmenin en zor olduğu seçim", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, June 02, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/ekonomi/29172272.asp</u> (02.06.2015).

Hürriyet (2015h)"Cumhurbaşkanı Erdoğan'a 'Yeni Türkiye Marşı' ile karşılama",HürriyetTurkishDaily,April11,2015,http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/28703183.asp?noMobile=true(12.08.2015).

Hürriyet Daily News (2014) "PM Davutoğlu joins row with prominent business group", Hürriyet Daily News, December 31, 2014, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/pm-davutoglu-joins-row-with-prominent-business-group.aspx?pageID=238&nID=76348&NewsCatID=345</u> (07.08.2015).

Hürriyet Daily News (2015a) "Turkey's first cabinet meeting chaired by President Erdoğan takes more than 8 hours", Hürriyet Daily News, January 19, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/turkeys-first-cabinet-meeting-chaired-by-president-erdogan-takes-more-than-8-hours.aspx?PageID=238&NID=77113&NewsCatID=338</u> (11.08.2015).
Hürriyet Daily News (2015b) "Business group head does not step back in clash with Turkish president Erdoğan" Hürriyet Daily News, January, 11, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/business-group-head-does-not-step-back-in-clash-with-turkish-president-erdogan-</u>.aspx?pageID=238&nID=76795&NewsCatID=344 (07.08.2015).

Hürriyet Daily News (2015c) "Erdoğan wants 400 deputies for his former AKP at Turkish elections", Hürriyet Daily News, February 06, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/erdogan-wants-400-deputies-for-his-former-akp-at-turkish-elections-.aspx?pageID=238&nID=78015&NewsCatID=338</u> (20.08.2015).

Hürriyet Daily News (2015d) "Erdoğan says 335 seats enough, not 400", Hürriyet Daily News, April 09, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/erdogan-says-335-seats-enough-not-400.aspx?pageID=238&nID=80846&NewsCatID=338</u> (20.08.2015).

Hürriyet Daily News (2015e) "Ottoman-inspired 'New Turkey' anthem praises Erdoğan", Hürriyet Daily News, April 11, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/video-ottoman-inspired-new-turkey-anthem-</u> <u>praises-erdogan.aspx?PageID=238&NID=80921&NewsCatID=338</u> (12.08.2015).

Hürriyet Daily News (2015f) "Turkish-style presidential systems needed, Erdoğan repeats" Hürriyet Daily News, February 27, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/turkish-style-presidential-system-needed-erdogan-repeats.aspx?pageID=238&nID=78988&NewsCatID=338</u> (06.04.2015).

Hürriyet Daily News (2015g) "Erdoğan urges change in charter due to the de facto change in president's new role", Hürriyet Daily News, August 14, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/erdogan-urges-change-in-charter-due-to-de-facto-change-in-presidents-new-role.aspx?pageID=238&nID=86992&NewsCatID=338</u> (29.08.2015).

İhlas Haber Ajansı (İHA) (2013) "AK Parti'nin teklifi nettir", April 12, 2013, <u>http://www.iha.com.tr/haber-ak-partinin-teklifi-nettir-272112/</u> (06.04.2015).

İnce, M. (2013) "Başkanlık Sistemi Çözüm Olabilir Mi?", Yeni Türkiye Vol.51, pp. 108-110.

İnsel, A. (2012) "Kendimizin Tek Adamı", Radikal İki, Turkish Weekly Newspaper, <u>http://www.radikal.com.tr/Radikal.aspx?aType=RadikalEklerDetayV3&ArticleID=1</u> 088684&CategoryID=42 (14.06.2012).

İnsel, A. (2013) "Başkanlık Sistemi ve güç fetişizmi", *Birikim*, Vol. 288, April 2013, pp. 8-14.

İyimaya, A. (2013) "Başkanlık Sistemini Tartışmak yahut AK Parti Modeli", Yeni Türkiye Vol.51, pp. 52-63.

Jones, G.W. (1991) "Presidentialization in a Parliamentary System" in C. Campbell and J. Wyszomirski (eds.) *Executive Leadership in Anglo-American Systems*, Pittsburgh University Press: Pittsburgh, pp. 111-137.

Kalaycıoğlu, E. (2002) "The Motherland Party: The Challenge of Institutionalization in a Charismatic Leader Party", *Turkish Studies*, 3 (1), pp. 40-61.

Kalaycıoğlu, E. (2005) "Başkanlık Rejimi: Türkiye'nin Diktatörlük Tehdidi ile Sınavı" in Teoman Ergül (ed.) *Başkanlık Sistemi*, Türkiye Barolar Birliği Yayınları 77: Ankara, 2005, pp. 13-30.

Kalaycıoğlu, E. (2012) "Türkiye'nin Başkanlık Sistemi İle İmtihanı", *TÜSİAD GÖRÜŞ* 72, February 2012, pp. 46-51.

Kalaycioğlu, E. (2015) "Turkish Popular Presidential Elections: Deepening Legitimacy Issues and Looming Regime Change", *South European Society and Politics*, Vol. 20, No. 2, 2015, pp. 157-179.

Kaptı, A. and Gültekin, S. (2015) "Karşılaştırmalı Analizelerle Başkanlık Sistemi ve Türkiye", *Global Politika ve Strateji* Rapor No: 2, April 2015, Ankara.

Kartoğlu, M. (2012) "Ak Parti, anketleri referendum gibi değerlendiriyor", STAR Turkish Daily, 18 December 2012, <u>http://haber.stargazete.com/yazar/ak-parti-anketleri-referandum-gibi-degerlendiriyor/yazi-712833</u>, (09.12.2014).

Kartoğlu, M. (2014) "Anketler ve kendini kandırma siyaseti", STAR Turkish Daily, 15 July 2014, <u>http://haber.stargazete.com/yazar/anketler-ve-kendini-kandirma-siyaseti/yazi-911324</u>, (09.12.2014).

Kefford, G. (2014) "Agency, institutional stretch and structural adjustment: The Australian Labor Party 2006-2013", *Party Politics*, DOI: 10.1177/1354068814550437, pp. 1-10.

Keyman, E. F. (2010) "Modernization, Globalization and Democratization in Turkey: The AKP Experince and its Limits", *Constellations*, Volume 17, Number 2, pp. 312-327.

Köker, L. (2014) "Erdoğan's presidency and the Constitution", *Turkish Review*, September 01, 2014, <u>http://www.turkishreview.org/opinions/erdogan-s-presidency-and-the-constitution\_540958</u> (09.08.2015).

Köker, L. (2015) "Türkiye'nin Yeni Anayasa Düzeninde Denge ve Denetleme Yapılanması Bakımından Hükümet Sistemlerinin Değerlendirilmesi", *Denge ve Denetleme Ağı* (birarada.org), Opinion Papers No: 03, <u>http://birarada.demo.filbilisim.com/upload/Node/16876/files/dy-3-levent-koker.pdf</u> (06.04.2015).

Konda (2014) "30 Mart Yerel Seçimler Sonrası Sandık ve Seçmen Analizi", *Konda Araştırma ve Danışmanlık*, 16 April 2014, <u>http://konda.com.tr/tr/raporlar/KONDA\_30Mart2014\_YerelSecimAnalizi.pdf</u> (04.03.2015).

Koru, F. (2015) "Başkanlık sistemi...Öyküsüz olmaz...", Habertürk Turkish Daily, February 04, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/21898544.asp</u> (06.04.2015).

Kriesi, H. (2009) "Political Mobilisation, Political Participation and the Power of the Vote" in Goetz, Klaus, H., Mair, P. and Smith, G. (eds.) *European Politics: Pasts, Presents, Futures*, Routledge, pp. 147-168.

Krouwel, A. (2003) "Measuring Presidentialism of Central and East European Countries", Amsterdam: Vrije Universiteit, *Working Papers Political Science* No. 02/2003.

Küçükşahin, Ş. (2015) "Cumhurbaşkanı'ndan Başbakan'a kapalı zarf", Hürriyet Turkish Daily, March 25, 2015, <u>http://sosyal.hurriyet.com.tr/yazar/sukru-kucuksahin\_92/cumhurbaskani-ndan-basbakan-a-kapali-zarf\_28546058</u> (07.08.2015).

Kumbaracıbaşı, A. C. (2009) Turkish Politics and the Rise of the AKP: Dilemmas of institutionalization and leadership strategy, Routledge.

Kuzu, B. (2011) Her Yönü İle Başkanlık Sistemi, Babıali Kültür Yayınları: İstanbul.

Kuzu, B. (2013) "Neden Başkanlık Hükümeti?", Yeni Türkiye Vol.51, pp. 25-51.

Laçiner, Ö. (2015a) "Yeni Türkiye'nin Şifreleri", *Birikim*, April 15, 2015, <u>http://www.birikimdergisi.com/haftalik/yeni-turkiyenin-sifreleri</u> (11.08.2015).

Laçiner, Ö. (2015b) "Recep Tayyip Erdoğan'ın Liderliği", *Birikim*, May 26, 2015, <u>http://www.birikimdergisi.com/haftalik/recep-tayyip-erdoganin-liderligi</u> (11.08.2015).

Lashnits, T. (2005) "Major World Leaders: Recep Tayyip Erdoğan", *Chelsea House Publishers*: Philadelphia

Linz, J. (1992) "The Perils of Presidentialism" in *Parliamentary versus Presidential Government*, Arend Lijphard (ed.), Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 118-127.

Mahçupyan, E. (2015a) "Yeni Türkiye (1)", Akşam Turkish Daily, March 31, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/etyen-mahcupyan/yeni-turkiye-1/haber-394170</u> (11.08.2015).

Mahçupyan, E. (2015b) "Yeni Türkiye (2)", Akşam Turkish Daily, April 02, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/etyen-mahcupyan/yeni-turkiye-2/haber-394807</u> (11.08.2015).

Mahçupyan, E. (2015c) "Yeni Türkiye (3)", Akşam Turkish Daily, April 05, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/etyen-mahcupyan/yeni-turkiye-3/haber-395632</u> (11.08.2015).

Mahçupyan, E. (2015d) "Yeni Türkiye (4): Toplum", Akşam Turkish Daily, April 09, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/etyen-mahcupyan/yeni-turkiye-4-toplum/haber-396651</u> (11.08.2015).

Mahçupyan, E. (2015e) "Yeni Türkiye (5): Siyaset", Akşam Turkish Daily, April 12, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/etyen-mahcupyan/yeni-turkiye-5-siyaset/haber-397467</u> (11.08.2015).

Mahçupyan, E. (2015f) "Yeni Türkiye (6): Ülke", Akşam Turkish Daily, April 14, 2015, <u>http://www.aksam.com.tr/yazarlar/etyen-mahcupyan/yeni-turkiye-6-ulke/haber-397981</u> (11.08.2015).

Mair, P. (2009) "The Challenge to Party Government" in Goetz, Klaus, H., Mair, P. and Smith, G. (eds.) *European Politics: Pasts, Presents, Futures*, Routledge, pp. 211-234.

Mancini, P. (2011) "Leader, president, person: Lexical ambiguities and interpretative implications", *European Journal of Communication*, 26(1), pp. 48-63.

Mert, N. (2015) "Mesele başkanlık Sistemi değil 'Yeni Nizam'; siz hala anlamadınız mı?", Diken, January 30, 2015, <u>http://www.diken.com.tr/mesele-baskanlik-sistemi-degil-yeni-nizam-siz-hala-anlamadiniz-mi/</u>

Metrosfer (2014) "Hangi Anket Şirketi Hangi Partiye Yakın", 19 March 2014, <u>http://metrosfer.com/hangi-anket-sirketi-hangi-partiye-yakin/</u>, (09.12.2014).

Meydan (2015) "Erdoğan, 'devletin parası'yla rekor harcama yaptı, Gül'ü 4'e katladı", Meydan Turkish Daily, May 04, 2015, <u>http://www.meydangazetesi.com.tr/ekonomi/erdogan-devletin-parasiyla-rekor-harcama-yapti-gulu-4e-katladi-h2728.html</u> (26.06.2015).

Milliyet (2014) "Başbakan'a 402 yeni danışman geliyor", Milliyet Turkish Daily, 28 June 2014, <u>http://www.milliyet.com.tr/basbakan-a-402-yeni-</u> <u>danisman/siyaset/detay/1903777/default.htm</u> (20.01.2015).

Milliyet (2015) "Erdoğan: Türkiye'nin yönetim sistemi değişmiştir", Milliyet Turkish Daily, 14 August 2015, <u>http://www.milliyet.com.tr/erdogan-turkiye-nin-yonetim/siyaset/detay/2102172/default.htm</u> (02.10.2015).

Miş, N. (2015) "Başkanlık Sistemi ve Kalıplaşmış İtirazlar", Açık Görüş, Star Turkish Daily, February 21, 2015, <u>http://haber.star.com.tr/acikgorus/baskanlik-</u> sistemi-ve-kaliplasmis-itirazlar/haber-1002639

Miş, N. and Aslan, A. (2014) "Erdoğan's politics and his presidential mission", *Foundation for Political, Economic and Social Research (SETA) Analysis*, November 2014, No: 12, pp. 8-33, http://file.setav.org/Files/Pdf/20141118151004\_erdogan%E2%80%99s-politics-and-his-presidential-mission-pdf.pdf (11.08.2015).

Mughan, A. (2000) *Media and the Presidentialization of the Parliamentary Elections*, Palgrave Macmillan.

Nash, K. (2010) *Contemporary Political Sociology: Globalization, Politics and Power*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, USA; UK: Blackwell Publishers.

New York Times (2009) "Leaders of Turkey and Israel Clash at Davos Panel", NewYorkTimes,29January2009,http://www.nytimes.com/2009/01/30/world/europe/30clash.html?\_r=0(22.08.2015).

Ntvmsnbc (2013) "Bozdağ: Obama'nın zavallı bir durumu var", Ntvmsnbc February 20, 2013, <u>http://www.ntv.com.tr/arsiv/id/25423497/</u> (02.06.2015).

Oder, B. E. (2005) "Türkiye'de Başkanlık ve Yarı-Başkanlık Rejimi Tartışmaları: 1991-2005 Yılları Arasında Basına Yansıyan Öneri ve Tepkilerden Kesitler", in Teoman Ergül (ed.) *Başkanlık Sistemi*, Türkiye Barolar Birliği Yayınları 77: Ankara, 2005, pp. 31-70.

Ollman, B. (2003) Dance of Dialectic: steps in Marx's method, Urbana, University of Illinois Press.

Öniş, Z. (2004) "Turgut Özal and his Economic Legacy: Turkish Neo-Liberalism in Critical Perspective", *Middle Eastern Studies*, Vol.40, No.4, July 2004, pp. 113-134.

Özbudun, E. (2000) Contemporary Turkish Politics: Challenges to Democratic Consolidation, Lynne Rienner Publishers, London.

Özbudun, E. (2006) "From Political Islam to Conservative Democracy: The Case of the Justice and Development Party in Turkey", *South European Society and Politics*, Vol. 11, No. 3-4, September-December 2006, pp. 543-557.

Özbudun, E. (2012) "Türk usulüne göre başkanlık systemi", Milliyet Turkish Daily, December 15, 2012, <u>http://www.milliyet.com.tr/turk-usulune-gore-baskanlik-sistemi/gundem/gundemyazardetay/15.12.2012/1641997/default.htm</u>

Özsoy-Boyunsuz, Ş. (2014a) "Search for a New Political System in Turkey", *IPSA* 2014, pp. 1-21, paperroom.ipsa.org/papers/paper\_30601.pdf

Özsoy-Boyunsuz, Ş. (2014b) Başkanlı Parlamenter Sistem: Cumhurbaşkanının Halk Tarafından Seçildiği Parlamenter Hükümet Modeli ve Türkiye İçin Tavsiye Edilebilirliği, 12 Levha Yayınları, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition June 2014, İstanbul: Turkey.

Özsoy, Ş. (2015) "Turkey – President Erdoğan moving towards a stronger presidency", *Presidential Power: Presidents and Presidential Politics around the World*, January 07, 2015, <u>http://presidential-power.com/?p=2565</u> (11.08.2015).

Panebianco, A. (1988) *Political Parties: Organization and Power* by Angelo Panebianco translated by Marc Silver, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Paul, A. (2014) "Turkey Votes: Part III – President Erdoğan – A Foregone concluson?", *Euroepan Policy Center Commentary*, July 10, 2014, pp. 1-2.

Peker, E. (2015) "Erdogan holds first cabinet meeting as Turkey's president", *The Wall Street Journal*, January 19, 2015, <u>http://www.wsj.com/articles/erdogan-holds-first-cabinet-meeting-as-turkeys-president-1421675195</u> (11.08.2015).

Persson, T. (2008) "Book Reviews: The Presidentialization of Politics" edited by Thomas Poguntke and Paul Webb, *Democratization*, Vol. 15 No. 2, April 2008, pp. 433-435.

Poguntke T. and Webb, P. (2005) "The Presidentialization of Politics in Democratic Societies: A Framework for Analysis" in Poguntke, T. and Webb, P. (eds.), *The Presidentialization of Politics: A Comparative Study of Modern Democracies*, Oxford University Press, pp. 1-25.

Pryce, S. (1997) Presidentializing the Premiership, Palgrave Macmillan: London.

Radikal (2009) "Dünya basını Davos şokunu böyle duyurdu", Radikal Turkish Daily, 30 January 2009, http://www.radikal.com.tr/dunya/dunya basini\_davos\_sokunu\_boyle\_duyurdu-919321 (22.08.2015).

Radikal (2012) "Sakık'tan Erdoğan'a: Bu ülkenin azizi olun", Radikal Turkish Daily,17September2012,http://www.radikal.com.tr/politika/sakiktan\_erdogana\_bu\_ulkenin\_azizi\_olun-1100621, (11.12.2014).

Reuters (2014) "Erdoğan to grow more powerful as president, Turkey more polarized", Reuters, 04 June 2014, <u>http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/06/04/us-turkey-erdogan-insight-idUSKBN0EF0B820140604</u> (26.01.2015).

Rhodes, R.A.W (2006) "Executives in Parliamentary Government" in R.A.W. Rhodes, Sarah A. Binder and Bert A. Rockman (eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Political Institutions*, Oxford University Press: New York, the US, pp. 323-343.

Rhodes, R.A.W. (2005) "Is Westminster Dead in Westminster?", *Inaugural Lecture in the ANZSOG-ANU Public Lecture Series*, The Shine Dome, Academy of Science, Canberra, 23 February 2005.

Rimmermann, C., A. (1993) Presidency by Plebiscite: The Reagan-Bush Era in Institutional Perspective, Westview Press.

Sabah (2005) "Dosya: Başkanlık Sistemi", Sabah, Turkish Daily Newspaper, <u>http://arsiv.sabah.com.tr/2005/01/05/siy110.html</u> (30.08.2015).

Sabah (2014) "Yükselir'den Savcı Öz'e sert eleştiri", SABAH Turkish Daily, 24 April 2014, <u>http://www.sabah.com.tr/gundem/2014/04/24/yukselirden-savci-oze-sert-elestiri</u> (27.01.2015).

Sabah (2015) "10 Ağustos'ta Cumhurbaşkanını halkın seçmesiyle bir dönem sona ermiştir", Sabah Turkish Daily, March 22, 2015, <u>http://www.sabah.com.tr/gundem/2015/03/22/10-agustosta-cumhurbaskanini-halkin-secmesiyle-bir-donem-sona-ermistir</u> (07.08.2015).

Sezgin, Y. (2014) "Erdoğan's presidency: a risky gamble?", *Aljazeera*, August 03, 2014, <u>http://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/opinion/2014/08/erdogan-presidency-risky-gamble-20148284822695561.html</u> (11.08.2015).

Siaroff, A. (2005) "Institutional Variations of Democracies" in *Comparing Political Regimes: A Thematic Introduction to Comparative Politics*, Alan Siaroff, Canada: Broadview Press, pp. 141-171.

Star (2015) "Cumhurbaşkanı Erdoğan: Muhalefetin Ağzına Baksak can kayıpları yaşanabilirdi", Star Turkish Daily, February 25, 2015, <u>http://haber.star.com.tr/guncel/muhalefetin-agzina-baksak-can-kayiplari-yasanabilirdi/haber-1003684</u>

Strangio, P., 't Hart, P. and Walter, J. (2013) Understanding Prime-Ministerial Performance: Comparative Perspectives, Oxford University Press.

Tezkan, M. (2012a) "Başkanlık zaten var", Milliyet Turkish Daily, May 15, 2012, <u>http://www.milliyet.com.tr/baskanlik-zaten-</u> <u>var/gundem/gundemyazardetay/15.05.2012/1540495/default.htm</u> Tezkan, M. (2012b) "Başbakanımızın Talimatıyla", Milliyet Turkish Daily, February 07, 2012, <u>http://www.milliyet.com.tr/basbakanimizin-talimatiyla-</u>/gundem/gundemyazardetay/07.02.2012/1498815/default.htm

Tezkan, M. (2015a) "CHP de Parlamenter Sistem Sözü Versin", Milliyet Turkish Daily, April 17, 2015, <u>http://www.milliyet.com.tr/chp-de-parlamenter-sistem-sozu/gundem/ydetay/2045304/default.htm</u>

Tezkan, M. (2015b) "Tek Kişilik Anonim Şirket", Milliyet Turkish Daily, March 17, 2015, <a href="http://www.milliyet.com.tr/tek-kisilik-anonim-sirket/gundem/ydetay/2029314/default.htm">http://www.milliyet.com.tr/tek-kisilik-anonim-sirket/gundem/ydetay/2029314/default.htm</a>

Therborn, G. (1976) "What does the ruling class do when it rules? Some reflections on different approaches to the study of power in society", *Critical Sociology* 25, 2/3, pp. 224-243.

TMMOB (2011) "AKP'nin KHK'leri ve TMMOB", *Türk Mühendis ve Mimarlar Birliği*: Ankara, pp. 1-136.

Today's Zaman (2014) "Shadow Cabinet begins work at presidential palace", Today's Zaman Turkish Daily, December 11, 2014, <u>http://www.todayszaman.com/anasayfa\_shadow-cabinet-begins-work-at-</u> <u>presidential-palace\_366703.html</u> (11.08.2015).

Tremblay, P. (2015) "Media Mogul declares his 'masculine love' to Erdoğan" *AL-Monitor: Turkey Pulse*, May 22, 2015, <u>http://www.al-monitor.com/pulse/originals/2015/05/turkey-media-mogul-declares-his-masculine-love-to-erdogan.html#</u> (20.08.2015).

Türk, B. (2014) Muktedir: Türk Sağ Geleneği ve Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, İletişim: İstanbul.

Uluşahin, N. (2011) "Türkiye'de Mevcut Hükümet Sisteminin Niteliği ve Rejimin Başkanlık Sistemine Kaymasının Getireceği Tehdit ve Tehlikeler", *Hukuk ve İktisat Araştırmaları Dergisi*, Cilt 3, No.1, pp. 29-38.

Uran, P. (2010) "Turkey's Hasty Constitutional Amendment Devoid of Rational Basis: From a Political Crisis to a Governmental System Change", *Journal of Politics and Law*, Vol. 3, No.1, March 2010, pp. 2-10.

Üskül, Z. (2007) "Giriş" in İhsan Kamalak (ed.), *Başkanlık Sistemi ve Türkiye*, Kalkedon Yayınları: İstanbul, 2007, pp. 13-20.

Üskül, Z. (2013) "Başkanlık Sistemi mi? Neden?", Yeni Türkiye Vol.51, pp. 530-537.

Üstündağ, N. (2013) "Demokrasi Paketi ve Müşteri Memnuniyeti", *BİANET: Bağımsız İletişim Ağı*, 01 October 2013, <u>http://www.bianet.org/bianet/siyaset/150303-demokrasi-paketi-ve-musteri-</u> <u>memnuniyeti</u> (09.December.2014).

Van Biezen, I. and Hopkin, J. (2005) "The Presidentialization of Spanish Democracy: Sources of Prime Ministerial Power in post-Franco Spain" in Thomas Poguntke and Paul Webb (eds.) *The Presidentialization of Politics: A Comparative Study of Modern Democracies*, Oxford University Press, pp. 107-127.

Vatan (2011) "En büyük yanlışını dahi onayladı", Vatan Turkish Daily, <u>http://www.gazetevatan.com/-en-buyuk-yanlisini-dahi-onayladi---379365-siyaset/</u> (26.05.2015).

Ware, A. (1987) *Political Parties: Electoral Change and Structural Response*, Basil: Blackwell, Oxford.

Webb, P. and Poguntke, T. (2012) "The Presidentialisation of Politics Thesis Defended", *Parliamentary Affairs* Advance Access published November 14, 2012, pp. 1-9.

Webb, P., Poguntke, T. and Kolodny, R. (2011) "The Presidentialization of Party Leadership? Evaluating Party Leadership and Party Government in the Democratic World", *Paper presented to Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association*, Seattle, 1-4 September 2011, pp. 1-47.

Whitefield, S. (2005) "Putin's Popularity and its Implications for Democracy in Russia" in Alex Pravda (ed.) *Leading Russia: Putin in Perspective*, Oxford University Press, pp. 139-159.

Yalçıner, M. (2015) "İstikrarsızlık unsuru Erdoğan", Evrensel Turkish Daily, April 20, 2015, <u>http://www.evrensel.net/yazi/73861/istikrarsizlik-unsuru-erdogan</u> (07.08.2015).

Yavuz, M. H. (2010) AK Parti: Toplumsal Değişimin Yeni Aktörleri, Kitap Yayınevi, İstanbul.

Yayman, H. (2013) "Sürecin şifresi: "Sorunu Tayyip Erdoğan çözer", HÜRRİYET Turkish Daily, <u>http://www.hurriyet.com.tr/yazarlar/22330537.asp</u>, (10.12.2014).

Yazıcı, S. (2011) Başkanlık ve Yarı-Başkanlık Sistemleri: Türkiye İçin Bir Değerlendirme, İstanbul Bilgi Üniversitesi Yayınları: İstanbul (2<sup>nd</sup> Edition).

Yazıcı, S. (2015) "Dönüm Noktasındaki Türkiye: Başkanlık mı, Parlamentarizm mi?" in Cem Akkaş (ed.) *Kritik Kavşak: Parlemanter Sistem – Başkanlık Sistemi*, Koç Üniversitesi Yayınları: İstanbul, pp. 87-110.

Yeni Şafak (2015) "Erdoğan: Başkanlık Sistemi Genlerimizde Var", Yeni Şafak Turkish Daily, February 21, 2015, <u>http://www.yenisafak.com.tr/gundem/erdoganbaskanlik-sistemi-genlerimizde-var-2087323</u>

Yıldırım, A. (2010) "Ekonominin ek çıpası artık Başbakan Tayyip Erdoğan", Habertürk Turkish Daily, 20 September 2010, http://www.haberturk.com/yazarlar/abdurrahman-yildirim-1018/553514ekonominin-tek-cipasi-artik-basbakan-tayyip-erdogan, (11.12.2014).

Yıldız, M. (2015) "Dolar, faiz, seçimler ve demokrasi: Erdoğan'ın bir bildiği var", Diken, March 05, 2015, <u>http://www.diken.com.tr/dolar-faiz-secimler-ve-demokrasi-erdoganin-bir-bildigi-var/</u> (07.08.2015).

Yılmaz, M.Y. (2015a) "Why not correct 'the fault' in the system?", Hürriyet Daily News, March 27, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/why-not-correct-the-fault-in-the-system.aspx?pageID=449&nID=80244&NewsCatID=503</u> (06.04.2015)

Yılmaz, M.Y. (2015b) "President bees inspired by constitution bees", Hürriyet Daily News, February 19, 2015, <u>http://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/president-beesinspired-by-constitution-bees.aspx?pageID=449&nID=78534&NewsCatID=503</u> (06.04.2015)

Zaznaev, O. (2008) "The Presidentialization of a Semi-Presidential Regime: the Case of Russia" in Stephen White (ed.) *Politics and the Ruling Group in Putin's Russia*, Palgrave MacMillan, pp. 27-41.

Zürcher, E. J. (2004) Modernleşen Türkiye'nin Tarihi, İletişim Yayınları, 18th Edition, İstanbul.

#### **APPENDICES**

#### **APPENDIX A: TURKISH SUMMARY**

Parlamenter sistemlerdeki başbakanların iktidarını ve sistem içerisindeki konumlarını anlamada başkanlık sistemlerindeki başkanlara bakmak karşılaştırmalı siyaset konusunda çalışmalar yapan araştırmacılar arasında tartışmalı bir konu olagelmiştir. Bu çerçevede, küresel düzeyde ortaya çıkan kimi gelişmelerin her iki makamı aynı yönde hareket etmeye zorlayıp zorlamadığı, her iki sistemdeki kurumsal farklılıkların ve sistemlerin daha kapsamlı siyasal mantıklarının başkanlık ve başbakanlık koltuğunda oturanların ortaya çıkan gelişmelere benzer tepkiler vermelerini engelleyip engellemediği ve belirli tarihsel ve siyasal bağlamların başkanları ve başbakanları benzer siyasalar izlemeye zorlayıp zorlamadığı gibi sorular, her iki makam arasında bir yakınsaklık ve/veya ıraksaklıktan bahsedip bahsedilemeyeceği konusunu önemli araştırma nesnelerinden biri haline gelmiştir (Hart 1991). Kısaca ifade etmek gerekirse, başbakanlık ve başkanlık makamlarını karşılaştırmanın mümkün ve/veya anlamlı olup olmadığı karşılaştırmalı siyaset konusunda çalışmalar yapan araştırmacıların ilgisini çekmektedir.

Başkanlık ve başbakanlık makamlarının karşılaştırılması ve bu çerçevede belirli bir yakınsaklık iddia edilebileceği düşüncesi pek de yeni değildir. Özellikle, kimi araştırmacılar 1990'lardan itibaren ve büyük ölçüde İngiltere örneği için geçerli olacak şekilde parlamenter sistemlerdeki değişimleri ve gelişmeleri ifade edebilmek için başkanlaşma kavramını kullanmaktadır. Başkanlaşma kavramı bir analoji olarak düşünülmekte ve dikkatleri parlamenter sistemlerdeki fiili duruma çekmeye çalışmaktadır. Başkanlaşma kavramının temeldeki mesajı "artık başkanlık ve parlamenter sistemler arasında bir fark kalmadığı" değildir. Formel bağlamda parlamenter sistemden başkanlık sistemine bir geçişten ziyade, parlamenter sistemdeki enformel değişimlere vurgu yapmak için başkanlaşma kavramı önerilmektedir.

Çağdaş dünyada uluslararası ve/veya küresel düzeyde siyasetin gittikçe artan önemine dikkat çekilmektedir. Toplumların karşı karşıya olduğu küresel sorunlar, terörizm, küresel ısınmaya karşı mücadele, göç ve göçmen sorunları, iktisadi bütünleşme, finansallaşma, uluslararası rekabet gibi, büyük ölçüde ulusal hükümetler ve hükümetin lideri konumundaki aktörler arasındaki müzakerelerde ele alınmaktadır. Bu müzakereler hükümetlerin ve onların liderlerinin görünürlüğünü ve önemini artırmaktadır. Ayrıca medya teknolojisindeki gelişmeler ile siyasal süreçlerin artmakta olan karmaşıklığı medya ve siyasi liderlerin birbirleri ile müttefiklik kurma eğilimlerini artırmaktadır. Medya liderlerin kişiliklerine odaklı yayınları ile izleyici kitlesinin ilgisini çekmeye çalışmakta, siyasi liderler ise medya üzerindeki kontrollerini kendi kültlerini ve popülerliklerini beslemek için kullanmaktadır. Bu işbirliğinin en önemli sonuçlarından birinin liderlerin seçim süreçlerinde seçmen davranışı üzerinde gittikçe arttığı düşünülen etkisi ve önemi olduğu ileri sürülmektedir. Bu bağlamda yapısal (medyanın değişen yapısı, siyasetin uluslararasılaşması) ve olumsal faktörler (liderlerin kişilikleri) sistemlerde yeni siyasal pratiklerin ortaya çıkmasının en önemli nedenleri olarak görülmektedir. Parlamenter sistem açısından söylemek gerekirse, yukarıda zikredilen yapısal ve olumsal faktörler sistemin alışılmamış kimi özellikler edinmesine yol açmaktadır.

Ortaya çıkan yeni siyasal pratikler ve özellikler sistemlerin işleyiş kuralları üzerinde ciddi etkilerde bulunmaktadır. Örnek vermek gerekirse, parlamenter sistemde başkanlık sistemine ait olduğu düşünülen bir çok özellik, başkanlık sistemine formel olarak geçilmeden, enformel olarak siyasal pratiklerde sıklıkla görülmeye ve/veya uygulanmaya başladıkça, parlamenter sistem açısından bir nevi "sessiz bir yapısal devrimden" bahsetmek mümkündür (Zaznaev, 2008: 30). Öncelikli olarak siyasal pratiklerde görülen değişimlerin, parlamenter sistemin işleyiş tarzının artan oranda başkanlık sisteminin mantığını yansıttığı anlamına geldiği ileri sürülmektedir.

"Başkanlık sisteminin işleyiş tarzı", Poguntke ve Webb (2005) ve Webb, Poguntke ve Kolodny (2011) tarafından not edildiği üzere, üç başlıkta kavramsallaştırılabilir: "yürütmenin liderinin daha üstün iktidar kaynaklarına sahip olması" (başkanlar yasama organına sorumlu değildir, doğrudan ve/veya dolaylı olarak halk tarafından seçildikleri için sahip oldukları meşruiyet ve başkanlık sistemindeki yürütmenin mantığının tek-kişi-yürütmesi olması sebebiyle yürütme organını düzenleme konusundaki iktidarı); "parti ve yürütmenin liderinin birbirlerine karşı artmakta olan özerklikleri" (başkanlık sistemlerindeki güçler ayrılığı ilkesinin doğal bir sonucu olarak) ve "seçim süreçlerinin kişiselleşmesi". Bu özellikler "başkanlık sistemlerine içsel olduğu için, eğer benzer gelişmeler parlamenter ve yarı-başkanlık sistemlerinde de görülürse, fiili bir başkanlaşmadan söz edilir" (Webb, Poguntke and Kolodny, 2011: 6).

Başkanlaşma kavramı "parlamenter seçimlerin başkanlaşması", "parlamenter sistemlerin başkanlaşması", "başbakanların başkanlaşması" ve "siyasetin başkanlaşması" gibi farklı bağlamlarda kullanılmaktadır. Başkanlaşma kavramının kullanımları arasında önemli farklılıklar olmakla birlikte, kullanımların ortak kimi noktalara dikkat çektiği görülmektedir:

İlkin ve öncelikle, başkanlaşma iktidarın tek bir organda yoğunlaştığını ve karar alma süreçlerinin merkezileştiğini ifade eder. Örneğin, parlamenter sistemlerde iktidarın başbakanlık makamında merkezileşmesi, daha evvel başka makamlar tarafından kullanılan iktidarın, örneğin bakanlar kurulu, başbakanlık makamına kaymakta olduğunu göstermektedir. Bu bağlamda, Mancini (2011: 60-61) çağdaş gereksinimlerin karşılanması için başkanlaşmış aktörün aslında "bir figür ve hatta daha iyi bir ifadeyle, bir rol" olarak anlaşılması gerektiğini iddia etmektedir. Günümüz dünyasında karmaşıklaşan siyasal süreçlerde, karar alma süreçlerini basitleştirmek ve yurttaşlar nezdinde üzerinde pek de fikir sahibi olamadıkları siyasal süreçlere dair çıpa görevi görmeleri sebebiyle, siyasal aktörleri kilit ve hayati bir rol oynamaya itmektedir. Başkanlaşma "bir süreç olarak" ele alınmalıdır. Aslında, kavramın temel vurgusu henüz tamamlanmamış bir değişim sürecinden geçildiğidir. Parlamenter sistemlere uygulandığında, başkanlaşmanın başlıca mesajı başkanlık kavramının ifade ettiği noktaya doğru bir değişim sürecinin varlığıdır. Bir diğer ifade ile, başkanlaşma parlamenter sistemin "başkanlık haline geldiğini" değil, o yöne doğru bir gidişi ifade eder. Başkanlaşmanın bir süreç olduğu vurgusu, bu sürecin bazı faktörler tarafından etkilendiği vurgusu ile beraber düşünülmelidir. Yapısal ve olumsal faktörler dinamik bir ilişki içerisinde başkanlaşma sürecini etkilemektedir. Örneğin, belirli bir lider başkanlaşma sürecini hızlandırabileceği gibi, bir başkası bu süreci yavaşlatabilir. Bu bağlamda, başkanlaşma "bir süreçtir ancak pürüzsüz bir süreç değildir".

Yürütme erkinin başındaki aktörün özerkliğini ve iktidarını artıracak belirli bir anayasa maddesi ile desteklenebilecek olmasına rağmen, başkanlaşma temelde "davranışsal bir iddia"dır. Bu hususta, davranışsaldan kasıt "anayasal bir değişikliğin olmayışıdır". Başkanlaşma formel/anayasal özelliklerden ziyade siyasal davranışlar, pratikler ve süreçler ile ilgilidir. Bir yönüyle, başbakanların davranışsal kalıplar açısından "başkan gibi" olduğunu söylemektir. Somut bir örnek vermek gerekirse, "başbakan insanların gözünde başkanlaşmış olmasına rağmen, anayasal olarak başbakan olarak kalmaktadır" (Pryce, 1997: 4-5).

Son olarak önemli noktalardan bir tanesi de, başkanlaşmanın "ampirik/görgül" bir iddia olduğudur. Gözlemlenebilir ve belirli liderler ile özdeşleştirilebilir. Bu bağlamda, Thatcher, Blair, Schröeder ve Berlusconi gibi liderler araştırmacılar tarafından başkanlaşmanın ampirik/görgül örnekleri olarak analiz edilmiştir.

Bu tezin en temel sorunsalı, Türkiye örneği bağlamında Recep Tayyip Erdoğan'ın başbakanlık ve cumhurbaşkanlığı dönemlerini başkanlaşma kavramına yoğunlaşarak analiz etmektir. Bu yapılmaya çalışılırken, başkanlaşma kavramı Türkiye'nin parlamenter sistemindeki yürütmenin dönüşümünü ifade etmek üzere kullanılacaktır. Poguntke ve Webb tarafından önerildiği şekilde, daha somut bir ifade ile ben bu çalışmada başkanlaşmanın "yürütme yüzüne" yoğunlaşacak ve "parti ve seçim süreçleri" yüzlerini analizlerimin dışında tutacağım. Parti toplantılarının ve parti içerisindeki konuşmaların gizliliği ile liderlerin partilerin aldığı toplam oy içerisindeki kişisel oylarını ölçen uzun vadeli (longitudional) araştırmaların Türkiye bağlamında bulunmayışı beni bu tercihe zorlamıştır. Ancak yine de, bu çalışmada başkanlaşmayı daha büyük sistem açısından da tartışmaya çalışarak bu eksikliği kapatmayı planlıyorum.

Bu çerçevede, bu tezin temel araştırma sorusu "Erdoğan'ın başbakanlık ve cumhurbaşkanlığı dönemlerinde (artan derecede) fiili bir başkanlaşmadan söz etmek mümkün müdür yahut bu dönemlerden önce de fiili başkanlaşma Türkiye'nin parlamenter sisteminde gözlemlenebilir bir olgu mudur?". Eğer bu soruya olumlu cevap vermek mümkün ise, "artmakta olan fiili başkanlaşmanın göstergeleri neler olabilir?".

Başkanlaşma kavramının tercih edilmesinin altında yatan en temel neden, kimilerince Türkiye'nin belirli bir süredir fiili olarak başkanlaşmış bir sisteme sahip olduğu görüşüdür. Başkanlık sistemine geçildiğini gösteren bir anayasal değişiklik olmadan, Erdoğan'ın liderliği altında Türkiye'deki sistemin işleyiş tarzının başkanlık sistemlerinin işleyiş tarzını yansıttığına inanılmaktadır. Recep Tayyip Erdoğan'ın son açıklamalarından bir tanesi, bu tezin temeldeki araştırma sorularını ve kavramlarını somutlaştırma açısından oldukça önemlidir. Erdoğan 2014 yılında ilk defa halk tarafından gerçekleştirilen Cumhurbaşkanlığı seçiminin öneminin pek fazla algılanmadığını belirttiği açıklamasının devamında aşağıdaki görüşleri ileri sürmüştür:

Artık ülkede sembolik değil, fiili gücü olan bir cumhurbaşkanı var. Cumhurbaşkanı elbette yetkiler çerçevesinde, ama doğrudan millete karşı sorumlu olarak görevini yürütmek durumundadır. İster kabul edilsin, ister edilmesin Türkiye'nin yönetim sistemi bu anlamda değişmiştir. Şimdi yapılması gereken, bu fiili durumun hukuki çerçevesinin anayasal olarak kesinleştirilmesidir<sup>153</sup>.

Başkanlaşma kavramı açısından Türkiye örneğinin ve Erdoğan'ın liderliğinin incelenmesinin, Türkiye'nin siyasal ve hükumet sistemi üzerindeki güncel tartışmalara katkı sağlayacağı düşünülmektedir. Başkanlaşma bugüne kadar özellikle Avrupa demokrasileri bağlamında kullanılmış ve Türkiye gibi gelişmekte olan, bir başka ifade ile demokrasisi pekişmemiş bir örnekte incelenmemiştir. Başkanlaşmanın bu açıdan çalışılması güçler ayrılığı ilkesinin pek de işlemediği bir siyasal sistemde iktidarın merkezileşmesinin ve kişiselleşmesinin demokrasi üzerinde yaratacağı sıkıntıları da göstermesi sebebiyle de önemlidir.

Bu tez başkanlaşma kavramının tarihsel olarak geçirdiği dönüşümü ortaya koyduktan sonra, Türkiye örneği bağlamında Erdoğan'ın başbakanlık ve cumhurbaşkanlığı dönemlerini ilgili yazının ve bu satırların yazarının önerdiği göstergeler bağlamında inceleyecektir. Başkanlaşma bir yaklaşım olarak "etkileşimci" (interactionist) bir yaklaşımdır. Bu sebeple, aktörlerin içerisinde hareket ettikleri çevrenin birer tutsağı olmadığını, aynı zamanda bu çevreyi de etkileyebilme gücüne sahip olduklarını düşünür. Bu çerçevede, liderliğin önemine vurgu yapmakla birlikte, yapısal ve/veya kurumsal faktörlere de aynı oranda dikkat çeker. Başkanlaşma kavramını "operasyonel" hale getirme arayışları, kavramın göstergeler yoluyla analize tabii tutulabileceği çabalarının birer sonucudur. Bu yapılmaya çalışılırken, karşılanması gereken sorular ise "yürütmenin başının çalışma arkadaşları ve partisi tarafından kısıtlanıp kısıtlanmadığı" ve "başbakanların elini kuvvetlendiren kurumsal ve kaynaksal değişimlerde bir artıştan bahsedip bahsedilemeyeceği"dir.

Hükumet sistemleri konusunda genellikle kabul gören üçlü tipoloji, sistemleri başkanlık, parlamenter ve yarı-başkanlık sistemleri olarak sınıflamıştır. Bu tasnife göre, yürütme organı üzerinde yapılacak incelemede sistemlerin daha büyük siyasal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> "Erdoğan: Türkiye'nin yönetim sistemi değişmiştir", Milliyet, 14 Ağustos 2015, <u>http://www.milliyet.com.tr/erdogan-turkiye-nin-yonetim/siyaset/detay/2102172/default.htm</u> (02.10.2015).

mantıkları temel parametre olarak göz önüne alınmalıdır. Bu yaklasım gereği, başkanlık sistemlerinde başkanlar güçler ayrılığı ve kontrol ve denge mekanizmaları gibi iktidarı belirli organlar arasında paylaştıran kurumsal bir çerçevede yürütme gücünü kullanırlar. Başkanlar genellikle siyasal koalisyonlar aracı ile yönetirler. Tarihsel süreçte oldukça güçlü başkanlar görülmesine rağmen, başkanlık makamı güçler ayrılığı ilkesi düşünüldüğünde genellikle "güçsüzlüğü" ile anılır. Başkanlık makamının başarılı olması için, örneğin yasama organından istediği yasaları istediği şekilde geçirebilmek, başkanların ikna kabiliyetinin olması gerekir. Öte yandan, parlamenter sistem disiplinli bir parti ve parlamento çoğunluğu tarafından desteklendikçe, oldukça merkezileşmiş bir liderlik ile özdeşleştirilir. Kurumsal düzenlemeler, destekleyici bir kabine ve popüler bir başbakan ile birleşince kontrol ve denge ile güçler ayrılığı engellerinden kurtulma konusunda başbakanların elini oldukça kuvvetlendirir. Kurumsal yaklaşım olarak bilinen bu görüşler, sistemlerin benzer siyasal gelişmelere maruz kalabileceğini reddetmez. Ancak, katılmadıkları görüş ise, kurumsal farklılıklar gereği benzer gelişmelere verilecek tepkilerin aynı olacağıdır. Hem başkanlık hem de parlamenter sistemde güçlü liderlik gözlenebilir ancak bu halihazırdaki sistemin mantığı yerine yeni bir siyasal mantığın ortaya çıktığını göstermez.

Kurumsal yaklaşımın aksine, kimi araştırmacılar başkanlık, parlamenter ve yarıbaşkanlık sistemleri gibi sınıflandırmaların fiiliyatta birbirinden resmedildiği kadar ayrılmadığını, aralarında geçişkenliklerin olduğunu ve bu bağlamda yeni sınıflandırmların anlamlı ve değerli olduğunu ileri sürmektedir. Bir ülkenin hangi hükumet sistemine sahip olduğunu bilmek, kağıt üstünde o ülkedeki örneğin yürütme gücünün kullanılması hakkında bizlere bir fikir vermektedir. Ancak, fiili olarak işler hukuki olarak olması gerektiği şekilde yürümeyebilir. Ayrıca aynı sistem altında ele alınan örnekler arasında ciddi farklılıklar bulunabilir ve/veya birbirinden ayrı olduğu düşünülen örneklerde benzer gelişmeler ve yönelimler saptanabilir. Bu noktalar araştırmacıları halihazırdaki sınıflandırmalara kuşku ile bakmaya ve yeni arayışlara itmiştir. Başkanlaşma da böyle bir arayışın yansıması olarak düşünülebilir. Başkanlaşma kavramı en genel anlamda, liderlerin kişiliklerinin parlamenter sistemlerde artan önemine dikkat çekmektedir. Teoride parlamenter siyaset, temelde parti siyaseti olarak anlaşıldıkça bireysel özelliklerin daha az önemli olduğu sistemler olarak nitelendirilmektedir. Bu açıdan ele alınınca, parlamenter sistemlerde seçimler partiler arasındaki rekabet olarak düşünülür. Parti liderlerinin seçimler açısından etkisinin son derece az olması beklenir. Başkanlık sistemlerinde liderlerin kişiliklerinin önemi göz önüne alınınca, parlamenter sistemdeki bu husustaki bir artış başkanlaşmanın önemli bir göstergesi olarak kabul edilmektedir.

Anayasal ve/veya hukuki açıdan başkanlaşma kavramı, başkanlık sistemi anayasalarında görülen formel özelliklerin bir veya bir kaçının sisteme dahil edilmesini içerir. Ancak parlamenter sisteme başkanlık sisteminin gerekli özelliklerinden biri, sistemin diğer özelliklerinden yalıtılarak, dahil edildiğinde parlamenter sistem başkanlık sistemine geçmiş olmaz. Bir kez daha vurgulamak gerekirse, başkanlaşmanın varlığı sistemi (anayasal/hukuki anlamda) başkanlık sistemi yapmış sayılmaz. Olsa olsa, o yöne doğru gidişi vurgulayan bir süreç olarak anlaşılır. Siyasal olarak ise, başkanlaşma kavramı iktidarın bir siyasi lider etrafında yoğunlaştığını, karar alma süreçlerinin merkezileştiğini, partisinden ve hükumetten kendini ayıran yeni bir liderlik tarzını, siyasetin kişiselleşmesini ve danışmanlığın çoğullaşmasını ifade eder. Helms (2005a: 253) başkanlaşma kavramının değişik kullanımlarının yine de bir ortak paydası olduğunu ve bunun da "parlamenter rejimlerdeki siyasal süreçlerin temel özelliklerinin başkanlık sistemlerinde görülen siyasal süreçlere doğru kademeli olarak dönüşümü" olarak ifade edilebileceğini ileri sürmektedir.

Başkanlaşma kavramının tarihsel gelişimine bakıldığında, kavramın ilk ortaya çıkışının İngiltere bağlamında olması hususu dikkati çekmektedir. Araştırmacılar Thatcher ve Blair'in başbakanlıkları dönemlerinin teorik olarak parlamenter sistemlerin başbakanlarından oldukça farklı dönemler olduğunu ortaya koymuşlardır. Anthony Mughan (2000) *Medya ve Parlamener Seçimlerin Başkanlaşması* kitabında

özellikle Thatcher döneminde ancak belirli bir süredir hem İngiltere hem de Avustralya seçim süreçlerinde devam edegelen bir olgu olarak liderlerin artan önemini dikkat çekmek için başkanlaşma kavramını kullanmıştır. Mughan ayrıca bu çalışmasında başkanlaşmayı "anayasal başkanlaşma", "evrimsel başkanlaşma" ve "geçici başkanlaşma" olarak üç değişik form altında kavramsallaştırmıştır. Mughan'ın izinden giden Helms (2005a ve 2005b) evrimsel ve geçici başkanlaşmayı anayasal bir değişim olmadan ortaya çıkan başkanlaşma olmaları sebebiyle "davranışsal başkanlaşma" başlığı altında toplamıştır. Michael Foley ise 1993 tarihli İngiliz Başkanlığının Yükselişi ve 2000 tarihli İngiliz Başkanlığı kitaplarında sırası ile Thatcher dönemini ve Blair dönemini detaylı olarak analize tabii tutmuştur. Foley, kavrama daha çok Amerikan başkanlık sistemlerinde çağdaş gereksinimlerden dolayı bir süredir ortaya çıktığını düşündüğü "uzamsal liderlik" (spatial leadership) ve "aykırılığın/yabancılığın kültü" (cult of the outsider) kavramsallaştırmaları bağlamında yaklaşmış ve bu gelişmelerin İngiliz parlamenter sistemindeki liderlik dinamiklerini de etkilediğini ileri sürmüştür. Foley sonuçta, İngiliz parlamenter sisteminin Thatcher ve Blair liderliğinde niteliksel bir dönüşüm geçirdiğini ve artık parlamenter sistemin kalıpları içerisinde anlaşılamayacağını vurgulamaktadır. Yine de, ortaya çıkanın Amerikan Başkanlık sisteminin İngiliz biçimi olmadığını, İngiliz sistemine özgü "özgün İngiliz Başkanlığı" olduğunu iddia etmiştir. İngiliz örneği bağlamında başkanlaşma tartışmalarının ilgili yazına miras bıraktığı en önemli soru, başkanlaşmanın niteliksel bir dönüşüm yaratıp yaratmadığıdır. Thatcher ve Blair gibi etkileyici liderlerden sonraki başbakanlar pek de başkanlaşmış başbakanlar olarak düşünülmemektedir. Bu soru, ilerleyen yıllarda parlamenter sistemler açısından yabancı bir olgu gibi görünen başkanlaşmanın yapısal mı yoksa olumsal faktörlere mi bağlı olduğu tartışmaları altında yeniden alevlenecek ve bu alanda çalışan araştırmacıların cevap araması gereken bir konu olacaktır.

Poguntke ve Webb'in 2005 yılında yayımladıkları *Siyasetin Başkanlaşması* başlıklı çalışma başkanlaşma kavramını İngiliz kökeninden ve aşırı vurgusundan kurtarmış, kavramı karşılaştırmalı çalışmalara açmış ve kavramın değişik ülke örnekleri

bağlamında nasıl uygulanabileceğini göstermiş ve tartışmalara analitik bir cerçeve çizmeye çalışmıştır. Poguntke ve Webb başkanlaşmayı "anayasal ve formel özelliklerinden bağımsız olarak, sistemlerin işleyiş tarzlarının gittikçe başkanlık sistemine yaklaşması" olarak ortaya koymuşlardır. Bu şekilde kavramsallaştırılınca, sistemler ideal tipler olarak sunulan "başkanlaşmış ve partileşmiş" (presidentialized and partified) sistemler arasında salınmaktadırlar. Örneğin, bir başkanlık sistemi daha da başkanlaşmış ve/veya daha da partileşmiş olabileceği gibi, bir parlamenter sistem de daha da partileşmiş ve/veya daha da başkanlaşmış olabilir. Tüm sistemlerde küresel bir olgu olarak görülen, bu fiili başkanlaşma eğilimi sistemlerde, yazarların kullandığı ifade ile "üç değişik yüzde" daha çok gözlemlenebilmektedir: Yürütme yüzü yürütme içerisinde iktidarın hükumetin başının (başbakan ve/veya başkan olsun) lehine olacak şekilde kaydığını ifade eder. Başkanlaşmanın parti yüzü ise liderin parti içerisinde artan iktidarını konu alır. Liderlerin partilerini geçerek seçmenle doğrudan iletisime geçme eğilimlerinin arttığına ve bunun sonucunda parlamenter sistemlerdeki seçimlerin sonucunun liderlerin zaferi olarak anlaşılması eğiliminin arttığına vurgu yapar. Seçim yüzü ise seçim kampanyalarında liderlerin artan önemine değinmektedir.

Poguntke ve Webb başkanlaşmaya yol açan yapısal ve olumsal faktörleri de incelemişlerdir. Yapısal faktörler olarak siyasetin uluslararasılaşması, devletin büyümesi, kitle iletişiminin değişen yapısı ve seçmen davranışlarını açıklamada sınıf gibi toplumsal bölünmelerin azalan etkisini ele almış; olumsal faktörler olarak ise siyasal ve tarihsel bağlam ile liderlerin kişiliğini saymışlardır. Tüm bu faktörler dinamik bir ilişki içerisinde başkanlaşmayı etkilemektedir.

Başkanlaşma kavramı önemli bir takım eleştirilere de tabii tutulmuştur. Thatcher'ın 1990 yılında kendi kabinesi tarafından parti liderliğini terketmeye zorlanması, Blair'in ise Irak savaşı öncesi ve sonrası popülerlik oranlarındaki değişim ile önemli bir çok konuda bakanlar tarafından durdurulduğunu ilerleyen yıllarda itiraf etmesi başkanlaşma olgusunun tutarlı ve anlamlı olmadığını düşündürmektedir. Bu noktada baskanlasma kavramına yöneltilen elestirileri analitik olarak not etmek faydalı olacaktır. Kavrama karşı yöneltilen en önemli eleştiri, başkanlık ve parlamenter sistemlerin kurumsal ve anayasal olarak farklı olduğu ve bunun her zaman için çok önemli olduğudur. Eğer anayasal bir değişiklik veya yeni bir anayasa yapımı ile sistemin başkanlığa geçtiği hukuki olarak netleştirilmezse, değişimler sistemi hiç bir zaman başkanlık sistemi yapmayacaktır. Sistem son kertede parlamenter özelliklerini muhafaza etmeye zorlanacaktır. Başbakanların artan iktidarını ve karar alma süreçlerinin merkezileşmesini başkanlaşma olarak kavramsallaştırmak kurumsal farklılıklar açısından tamamiyle yanlış bir iddia olacaktır. Aksine, gözlemlenmekte olan değişimler "siyasetin kişiselleşmesi" ile ilgilidir ve hem başkanlık hem de parlamenter sistemleri etkilemektedir. Ancak değişimler sonucunda sistemler birbirine yaklaşmak bir yana daha da ayrılmaktadır (Dowding 2012). Bir diğer konu ise, son yıllarda başbakanların artan iktidarlarının gözlemlenebilmesine rağmen, başbakanların zaten başkanlardan daha güçlü olduğu vurgusudur. Parlamenter bir çoğunluk ve disiplinli bir parti tarafından desteklendikçe başbakan başkana oranla daha güçlüdür. Bir başkanın yasama organını kontrol altında tutubilmesi kurumsal açıdan neredeyse imkânsızdır. Tarihte güçlü başkanlar olmuştur ancak başkanların iktidarı daha ziyade ikna kabiliyetleri ile ilgilidir ve güçlü başkanlar istisnadır. Eleştirilerin dikkat çektiği bir başka nokta ise, eğer parlamenter sistemlerde başkanlaşma olarak nitelendirilebilecek bir gelişme varsa, bunun belirli bir liderin liderlik tarzı ile ve enformel/davranışsal konular ile ilişkilendirilebileceğidir. Özde bir değişim olmaktan ziyade, liderliğin sunuluşu ile ilgilidir.

Türkiye örneğine bakılacak olursa, 1876 yılından itibaren Türkiye'de parlamenter geleneğin önemli bir yer tuttuğu ileri sürülebilir. 1982 anayasası yürütme organının yetkilerini artırmış, cumhurbaşkanına parlamenter gelenekle bağdaşmayan önemli yetkiler vermiş ancak temelde sorumsuzluğunu esas aldığından ve başbakan ile ilgili bakanları sorumlu tuttuğundan, parlamenter sistemin mantığını yansıtmaya devam etmiştir. 2007 değişikliği Türkiye'deki sisteme halk tarafından seçilecek cumhurbaşkanlığını eklemiş, ancak diğer bir çok konuyu bu oldukça önemli görünen

değişiklik ile uygun hale getirmemiştir. Bu sebeple, 2007 değişikliğinin başkanlık sistemine doğru planlı bir gidişi yansıtmaktan ziyade o günün siyasal bağlamı altında AKP hükumetinin tepkisel bir kararı olduğunu iddia etmek yanlış olmayacaktır. Sonuç olarak, tarihsel süreçte başkanlaşmaya giden anayasal bir süreçten bahsetmek zordur. Anayasal bir başkanlaşmadan söz edilmemekle birlikte, 1982 anaysası sonrasında ANAP ve Özal örnekleri kimilerince fiili başkanlık sisteminin bir yansıması olarak görülmektedir. Askeri darbeden demokrasiye geçişte, beklentilerin aksine ANAP tek başına iktidar olmuş ve Özal özellikle kanaun hükmünde kararnameler ve bütçe dışı fonlar vasıtasıyla yürütme gücünü olabildiğince geniş ve denetim dışı kullanmaya çalışmıştır. Başbakanlıktan cumhurbaşkanlığına geçtikten sonra uyumlu bir başbakan ile çalışarak, sistemi cumhurbaşkanlığı makamından yönetmeye çalışmış ancak özellikle kendi partisi içerisinde karşılaştırğı muhalefet sonucu, bu amacını gerçekleştirmede pek de başarılı olamamıştır.

Başkanlaşma yol açan faktörler Türkiye örneği bağlamında incelendiğinde Erdoğan'ın liderliği ve 2007 anayasa değişikliği en önemli olumsal; siyasetin uluslararasılaşması, AKP'nin aktif dış politika vurgusu, devletin yeniden yapılandırlması ile medya bağlamında yaşanan gelişmeler ise en önemli yapısal faktörler olarak görünmektedir. Erdoğan siyasetçi olarak kendisini sürekli sistemin mağduru olarak konumlandırma konusunda oldukça başarılı olmuştur. Böylelikle, seçmenlere müesses nizamın çıkarlarından olabildiğince ayrıldığı ve adeta sistem içerisinde "iktidar ama muktedir değil" imajını verme konusunda elini kuvvetlendirmiştir. Parti içerisinde, siyasi yasağı sona erip başbakanlık koltuğuna oturduğu ilk günden bu yana sürekli iktidarını artırmıştır. Zaman içerisinde partideki önemli bir çok aktörü ya dışsallaştırmış ya da edilgenleştirmiştir. Öyle ki gelinen son noktada, AKP'nin bir nevi "Erdoğan sevenler derneği" haline dönüştüğü bile ileri sürülebilir.

Avrupa Birliği'ne üye olma süreci iktidarının ilk yıllarında ve aktif dış politika vurgusu ise son yıllara kadar liderliğinin uluslararası meşruiyet ile desteklenmesi

konusunda faydalı bir bağlam oluşturmuştur. Bu uluslararası meşruiyet iç politikada Erdoğan'ın hareket alanını artırmıştır. Ek olarak, Başbakanlığı dönemlerinde yaşanan iktisadi kalkınma ve artırılan altyapı hizmetleri ise "sistem performansı" bağlamında kendisine ve yönetimine meşruiyet kazandıran bir diğer önemli husus olarak göze çarpmaktadır. Ancak özellikle Gezi Parkı direnişi ve 17-25 Aralık soruşturmaları ile başlayan süreçte kendisini sistem içerisinde mağdur ve dışsal bir aktör olarak kurgulama yöntemi tartışmalı hale gelmiştir. 2014 seçimlerinden neredeyse, AKP içerisinde diğer önemli aktörler göz önüne alınırsa, kendi başına kampanya yürütüp zaferle çıkması Erdoğan'ı parlamenter sistemlerde pek de görülmeyen bir şekilde seçmenden partisi vasıtası ile değil de kişisel başarısı yoluyla kişisel bir vekâlet aldığı sonucuna itmiştir. Kanun hükmünde kararnameler ile bakanlıkların yapısı ve görevleri değiştirilmiş, sistem içerisinde başbakanın iktidarı ve eşgüdüm işlevi artırılmıştır. Medya üzerindeki siyasal kontrol ciddi derecede artırılmış, medya sahipleri ile kurulan yakın ilişkiler Erdoğan'ın popülerliğini artırmada önemli birer araç olarak kurgulanmıştır.

Recep Tayyip Erdoğan'ın başbakanlık dönemi fiili başkanlaşma açısından incelendiğinde dikkatleri ilk çeken konulardan biri kamuoyu araştırmalarına ve seçmen siyasa tercihlerine hükumet etme süreçlerinde artan derecede verilen önemdir. Erdoğan bu konuda Türk siyasi tarihinde anketlere en fazla önem veren lider olarak görülmektedir. Her önemli siyasa yapımından önce kapsamlı araştırma ve anketlere başvurmuş, toplumun bu konudaki görüşlerine göre siyasalarını şekillendirmiştir. Aslında bu tarz bir liderlik hakim düşüncenin aksine dönüştürücü bir liderlikten öte, etkileşimsel (transactional) bir liderliktir. Kamuoyu paralelinde siyaset izlemek Erdoğan'ın popülerliğini kalıcı hale getirmede başlıca araç olarak kurgulanmıştır. Diğer bir yandan, başbakan ile kabine arasındaki ilişki irdelendiğinde, bu ilişkinin eşitlerarası bir ilişkiden öte başbakanın buyruk ve kontrol altında tuttuğu bir ilişki haline geldiğini söylemek yanlış olmayacaktır. Başbakan Erdoğan döneminde Türkiye'de en çok duyulan açıklamalardan bir tanesi "başbakanımızın talimati ile" olmuştur. Bakanlar, valiler, yerel yöneticiler ve hatta

futbol federasyonu yetkilileri aslında yapmaları gereken görevlerde bile bu görevi "Erdoğan'ın talimatı ile" yaptıklarını özellikle vurgular olmuşlardır.

Erdoğan'ın başbakanlığı döneminde, başbakanın danışmanlarının artan sayısı ve siyasi önem ve işlevleri de oldukça dikkat çekmektedir. Bir lider etrafında oldukça az sayıda ve kendisine sadık bir grup kurup, hükumet etme sürecinde bu kişilere adeta gölge kabine görevi verebilmektedir. Bu lidere, özellikle Bakanların denetlenmesi konusunda hareket alanı sağlamaktadır. İkincisi, danışmanlar sistem içerisinde yerleşik kuralları ve bürokratik hiyerarşiyi aşma konusunda işlevsel görevler görmektedirler. Zamanında danışmanlık yapan Ahmet Davutoğlu ve Yalçın Akdoğan gibi önemli şahsiyetler ilerleyen yıllarda başbakan ve başbakan yardımcılığı görevlerine gelmişlerdir.

Başbakanın kişiliğinin siyasi istikrar için "yegâne çıpa" olduğu algısı Türkiye'de az rastlanır bir düşünce değildir. Destekleyeneler olsun, muhalifler olsun Türkiye'de Erdoğan istemezse herhangi bir konuda adım atılamayacağını ve/veya bazı kalıcı hale gelmiş sorunları "ancak Erdoğan'ın çözeceği"ni iddia etmişlerdir. Erdoğan'ın kişiliğinin AB ve İMF gibi çıpaların azalan öneminde ülkenin istikrar içinde kalmasının tek güvencesi olduğu ileri sürülmüştür. Kürt sorunu gibi konularda ortaya atılan "açılım süreci"nin Erdoğan'ın bu konudaki kararlılığı olmasa yaşanmayacağı, iktisadi kalkınma ve ülkenin yabancı sermaya çekme açısından güvenilir bir liman olduğu algısı bir noktada Erdoğan'ın kişiliğinde vücut bulmuştur. Erdoğan partisinin ve hükumetinin siyasalarını topluma sunarken, adeta toplumla arasında varolduğunu düşündüren bir kişisel sözleşme gereği bu adımların atıldığını vurgulamıştır. Türkiye siyaseti bir anlamda Erdoğan özelinde kişiselleşmiştir.

Tüm bu göstergeler birarada düşünülünce Erdoğan'ın başbakanlığı döneminde yürütme açısından fiili başkanlaşma göstergelerinde şüphesiz bir artıştan söz etmek mümkündür. Öte yandan, yürütme ile yasama arasındaki ilişki göz önüne alınınca, partinin liderinden artan derecede özerklik kazanması konusunda ise bir kanıt öne sürebilmek imkânsız görünmektedir. Hatta yasama organındaki yasa tasarılarının 98%'inin hükümetten geldiği ve başbakanın belirli yasa tasarılarının yasalaşması için parlamenterlere tarih koyması göz önüne alınırsa, başkanlaşma karşıtı kanıtlar gözlemlemek mümkündür. Kısacası, Erdoğan'ın başbakanlığı döneminde yürütme düzeyinde bir başkanlaşma olduğu söylenebilir ise, sistemin geneli ve daha büyük siyasal süreçler açısından bir başkanlaşmadan söz etmek mümkün değildir.

Erdoğan'ın cumhurbaşkanlığı döneminin başkanlaşma açısından incelenmesi uluslararası yazın açısından hem önemli bir istisna hem de önemli bir katkıdır. Parlamenter sistemdeki cumhurbaşkanının başkanlaşma açısından incelenmesi bir istisnadır zira başkanlaşma analitik çerçevesi ilkin ve öncelikle parlamenter sistemlerdeki başbakanları kendine konu edinmektedir. Ancak Türkiye örneği özelinde Erdoğan'ın başbakanlığı döneminde başlamakla birlikte cumhurbaşkanı seçilmesinden sonra artmakta olduğu gözlenen başkanlık sistemine geçme çabaları ile sistemi fiili olarak başkanlık sistemi gibi işletme eğilimi Erdoğan'ın cumhurbaşkanlığı döneminin başkanlaşma açısından incelenmesini zorunlu kılmaktadır.

2007 anayasa değişikliği ile cumhurbaşkanının halk tarafından seçileceği hükme bağlanmış, 2014 yılında da karizmatik bir lider olan ve başbakanlığı döneminde siyaseti olabildiğince kişiliğinde merkezileştirmiş bir lider olarak Erdoğan'ın cumhurbaşkanı seçilmesi bir çok araştırmacı ve gözlemciyi Erdoğan'ın sistemi fiili başkanlığa doğru zorlayacağı iddiasına itmiştir. Erdoğan'ın eğer seçilirse anayasada belirtilen, bugüne kadar ki cumhurbaşkanları tarafından ister kullanılmış isterse de kullanılmamış olsun, bütün yetkilerini sonuna kadar kullanacağı açıklamaları sistemi bu sefer cumhurbaşkanlığı makamında merkezileştireceğini düşündürmüştür. Türkiye'de cumhurbaşkanlığı makamı tarihsel açıdan göz önüne alınınca, geleneksel olarak sembolik yetkilere sahip bir makam olduğu ileri sürülebilir. Atatürk dönemi, kuruluş yıllarındaki özel bir dönem olarak bir kenara bırakılırsa, Özal dönemi gibi güçlü cumhurbaşkanlarının varlığı sistemi başkanlık sistemine götürmemiştir. Erdoğan cumhurbaskanlığı makamına oturunca cumhurbaskanlığını kurumsal bir yeniden yapılanmaya ve bunun sonucunda ise "kurumsal bir genişleme"ye (institutional stretch) tabii tutmuştur. Cumhurbaşkanlığı makamını örgütsel olarak yeniden yapılandırmış (özellikle cumhurbaşkanlığı içerisinde bulunan başkanlık sayısını dörtten on üçe çıkarmış ve onları bakanlıkların yetkili olduğu alanlarda danışmanlık hizmeti kendisine rapor ve vermekle sorumlu kılmıştır), cumhurbaşkanlığının bütçesini artırmış, örtülü ödenek kullanımı cumhurbaşkanlarına açılmış ve cumhurbaşkanlığı personeli sayısı tarihi boyutlara ulaşmıştır. Ek olarak, önceki cumhurbaşkanları tarafından olağanüstü dönemler dışında pek de kullanılmayan bir yetki olarak çok kısa bir zaman diliminde bakanlar kurulunu bir çok defa başkanlığı altında toplamıştır. Cumhurbaşkanlığı makamının sembolik olarak önemini ve kendi cumhurbaşkanlığını tarihsel süreçten bir kopuş olduğunu göstermek için, cumhurbaşkanlığını Çankaya Köşk'ünden medyada "Aksaray" olarak bilinen Bestepe Cumhurbaskanlığı Külliyesine taşımıştır. Böylelikle, Yeni Türkiye iddiasını desteklemek için geçmişle olan bağı kesmek ve sistem içerisindeki değişmesi gereken pozisyonunu ifade etmek amaçlarını gütmüştür. Sistem içerisindeki aktörler ile olan ilişkisini de geleneksel cumhurbaşkanlarından olabildiğince ayırmış, 2015 genel seçim sürecinde isim vermeden AKP için oy istemis, hemen her gün cok önemli siyasal konularda görüs bildirmis ve açıklama yapmış ve 2015 seçim sürecinde neredeyse kampanya yürütür gibi toplu açılış törenleri düzenlemiştir. Kendisine yöneltilen anayasal yetkilerini aşmakta olduğu eleştirilerine ise, kendisinin halk tarafından seçilen ilk cumhurbaşkanı olduğu, toplum ile devletin kendi cumhurbaşkanlığı döneminde birleştiği, her firsatta milletten vetki aldığı için doğal olarak onlarla buluşması gerektiği, sistemin artık fiilen dönüştüğü ve bu dönüşümün anayasal değişim ile hukuki olarak netleştirilmesi gerektiği şeklinde cevap vermiştir.

Türkiye siyasi tarihinde başkanlık sistemine geçme tartışmaları Erdoğan ve AKP ile başlamamıştır. 1980'li yıllardan beri özellikle Tırgut Özal ve Süleyman Demirel gibi bir takım liderler başkanlık sistemi yönde görüşler beyan etmişlerdir. Bu isteklerini

temellendirme konusunda, baskanlık sistemlerinin ekonomik kalkınmaya daha elverişli olduğunu, Türkiye siyasetinde görülen istikrarsızlığa çare olacağını ve sistem içerisinde cumhurbaşkanının ve başbakanın varlığından dolayı baş gösterebilecek iki başlılığın ancak bu yolla önlenebileceği hususlarına dikkatleri çekmişlerdir. Ancak, bu isteklerine ne toplumsal bir destek bulabilmiş ne de taleplerni siyasi bir proje haline getirebilmişleridir. Erdoğan ve AKP bu anlamda tarihsel bir kopuş olarak nitelendirilebilir. 2012 yılında, tam anlamıyla içeriğini bilemediğimiz ancak basına sızan haliyle, Anayasa Uzlaşma Komisyonuna yeni bir anayasa çalışması yapıldığı sırada kendi tekliflerini sunmuşlar ve bu teklifi kurulmasını istedikleri başkanlık sistemini baz alarak yapmışlardır. Erdoğan başkanlık sisteminin Türk insanının genlerinde, tarihinde ve kültüründe olduğunu düşünmekte, ileri demokrasiye sahip olduğu düşünülen bir çok ülkenin başkanlık sistemi ile yönetildiğini ileri sürmekte, muhtemel bir başkanlık sistemi ile yasama süreclerinin hızlanacağını ve bunun da hizmet siyasetini hızlandıracağını vurgulamakta ve iki başlılığın ortadan kalkacağına inanmaktadır. Erdoğan'ın istediği başkanlık sistemi, halihazırda uygulanmakta olan bir örneğin birebir uyarlanması olmak zorunda değildir. Hatta, Türkiye'nin gereksinimlerine, kültürüne, tarihine ve yeniden yapılandırılması ihtiyacına uygun, özgün bir model olması gerekmektedir.

Erdoğan ve Adalet ve Kalkınma Partisi'nin 2012 yılında Anayasa Uzlaşma Komisyonu'na sunduğu kamuoyunda "Türk tipi başkanlık sistemi" önerisi olarak bilinen öneri, bu tez bağlamında Erdoğan'ın başbakanlık döneminin fiili başkanlık gibi işlediğinin bir kanıtı olarak düşünülebilir. Türk tipi başkanlık sistemi önerisinin titiz bir incelemesi yapıldığında, önerinin başkanlık sistemlerinin temel mantığı ile, özellikle en iyi şekilde işletildiği düşünülen Amerikan tarzı başkanlık sistemi ile, pek bir alakasının olmadığı görülecektir. Hatta bu gözlem öneride önemli payları olduğu düşünülen AKP'li vekiller tarafından bile ifade edilmiştir. Erdoğan ve/veya AKP önerisinin Erdoğan'ın varlığını göz önüne alarak kurulması planlanan başkanlık sisteminde başkana çok üstün yürütme yetkileri vermeyi planladığı ve başkanlık sistemlerini ise

birer istikrarsızlık ve atalet unsuru gibi algılandığı için pek de yer vermediği açıktır. Türk tipi başkanlık sistemi önerisi, Erdoğan ve başlıca destekçileri açısından, sadece bir başkanlık sistemi tartışması da değildir. Planlanan sistem değişikliği ile *Yeni Türkiye* kurulacaktır. Kurulacak olan Yeni Türkiye'de Erdoğan'ın "kurucu misyonu" toplumu, siyaseti ve sistemi topyekun dönüştürecektir. Kısaca ifade etmek gerekirse, önerinin destekçileri açısından başkanlık sistemi sadece istikrar ve iktisadi kalkınma için değil, Yeni Türkiye için de gereklidir. Erdoğan'ın başbakanlığı döneminden başlamış olmakla birlikte, cumhurbaşkanlığı makamına geçmesi ile birlikte hızlanan bir süreç olarak Yeni Türkiye'nin kurulması yeni teamüllerin oluşmasını, yeni işleyiş ve hedeflerin belirlenmesini ve yeni bir sistemin mevcudiyetini gerektirmketedir. Alışılmamış bir tarzda cumhurbaşkanlığı görevini yerine gietirmesi de bu bağlamda düşünülmelidir.

Bu çalışmada fiili başkanlaşma kavramı çerçevesinde Türkiye örneğinde Recep Tayyip Erdoğan'ın başbakanlık ve cumhurbaşkanlığı dönemleri incelenmiş, özellikle başkanlaşmanın yürütme düzeyi açısından belirli göstergelerine dayanarak Türkiye'de sistemin başkanlaşma yaşayıp yaşamadığı sorusuna cevap aramıştır. Başkanlaşma kavramının tanımları, tarihsel evrimi ve göstergeleri ortaya konup, özellikle yürütme açısından başkanlaşma sürecine yoğunlaşmıştır.

Tüm analizler ışığında, bu çalışmanın ulaştığı başlıca sonuçlar şunlardır:

Çalışmada, fiili başkanlaşma Türkiye'deki sistem içerisinde bir süredir yaşanmakta olan bir takım değişimleri anlama ve inceleme amacıyla kullanılmıştır. Fiili olarak başkanlık sisteminin işleyiş tarzının Türkiye'deki sistemde zuhur etmeye başlayıp başlamadığına cevap aramaya çalışılmıştır. Anayasal bir değişiklik olmadan, sistemin enformel özelliklerinde ve davranışsal boyutlarında başkanlık sisteminin temel özelliklerinin gözlemlenebilir hale gelip gelmediği tartışılmıştır. İlkin ve öncelikle vurgulanması gereken nokta, Türkiye ve Erdoğan örneklerini başkanlaşma kavramı penceresinden incelemek, Türkiye'de bir süredir devam edegelen sistemin fiili olarak başkanlaştığı iddialarına bir çerçeve çizmesi açısından önemli bir katkı sağlaması amaçlanmıştır. Erdoğan'ın, bizzat kendisinin, "sistemin fiili olarak değiştiğini" iddia etmesi bile bu çalışmanın gerekliliğini göstermesi açısından yeterli bir neden olarak alınabilir.

Erdoğan'ın liderliği altında hem başbakanlığı hem de bir yıldan biraz fazla bir süredir devam edegelen cumhurbaşkanlığı dönemlerinde yürütme yüzü açısından fiili bir başkanlaşma söz konusudur. Yürütme organının başının iktidarının kabine tarafından kısıtlanmadığı ve yine liderin kurumsal ve kişisel iktidar kaynaklarında ciddi derecede artışın varlığı yadsınamaz bir olgudur. Ancak, bu fiili başkanlaşmayı sistemin daha büyük siyasal süreçleri açısından ileri sürebilecek yeteri derecede kanıt yoktur. Hatta, yasama organı ile olan ilişkiler ve sistem içerisindeki diğer aktörlerin konumlandırılışı göz önüne alınınca, karşıt kanıtların varlığından söz etmek mümkündür.

İkinci olarak, Türkiye örneği ve Erdoğan'ın başbakanlık ve cumhurbaşkanlığı dönemlerinin analizi bizlere baskanlasmanın süreçsel bir olgu olduğu konusunda yapılan uvarıların haklılığını göstermektedir. Erdoğan basbakanlıktan cumhurbaşkanlığı makamını geçerken, kurumsal ve kişisel iktidar kaynaklarını da kendisi ile birlikte taşımayı başarmıştır. Bu iddia ise, bizlere başkanlaşmaya yol açan faktörler açısından Türkiye ve Erdoğan örneğinin olumsal faktörlerin yapısal faktörlere oranla daha önemli olduğunu vurgulamaktadır. Zira eğer yapısal faktörler parlamenter sistemlerde başbakanlık makamında beliren bir başkanlaşmaya yol açıyor ise, Erdoğan'dan sonra da sistemin merkezileşmesi başbakanlıkta devam etmeliydi. Ancak Erdoğan'ın kişisel iktidar kaynakları, siyasal bir tepki olarak ortaya çıkan 2007 anayasa değişikliği ve sistemin diğer aktörlerinin edilgenliği gibi olumsal faktörler fiili başkanlaşmayı artık cumhurbaşkanlığı makamında vücut bulacak bir sürece kaydırmıştır.

7 Haziran 2015 seçimlerinden sonra yaşanan süreç, Türkiye'deki başkanlaşma tartışmaları açısından bizlere önemli ipuçları vermiştir. Genel seçimler sonrasında oluşan şartlar altında, AKP 13 yıllık parti iktidarını kaybetmiş ve koalisyon olmadan hükumet kurulamayacağı ortaya çıkmıştır. Diğer siyasi partiler, AKP ile kurulabilecek koalisyon için belirlediği ilkeleri içerisinde Cumhurbaşkanı Erdoğan'ın anayasal sınırlar içerisine çekilmesini ön şart olarak kamuoyuna bildirmiştir. Ancak yaşanan süreçte, çeşitli nedenler ile koalisyon kurulamamış ve sonuçta Cumhurbaşkanı seçimlerin yenilenmesine karar vermiştir. Sistemdeki diğer aktörlerin Cumhurbaşkanı Erdoğan'ın aktif siyaset izlemesi konusundaki manevra alanını kısıtlama noktasında, amaçlarını gerçekleştirecek bir siyaset izle(ye)medikleri için, Erdoğan yine önemli bir siyasi sürecin ve kararın baş aktörü olmaya başarmıştır. Bu gelişmeler bizlere bir kez daha, belirli bir liderliğin sürdürülebilmesinin ancak ve ancak belirli şartlar altında ve diğer aktörlerin izin verdiği oranda olduğunu hatırlatmıştır. Erdoğan'ın liderliği de bu konuda bir istisna değildir.

#### **APPENDIX B**

### **CIRRICULUM VITAE**

#### PERSONAL INFORMATION

Surname, Name: Uslu, Hasan Faruk Nationality: Turkish (TC) Date and Place of Birth: 11 March 1982, Konya Marital Status: Married Phone: +90 312 210 30 22 email: ufaruk@metu.edu.tr

#### **EDUCATION**

Degree	Institution	Year of Graduation
PhD	METU, ADM	2015
MS	METU, EUROPEAN STUDIES	2008
BA	DOKUZ EYLÜL UN., IR	2005

#### WORK EXPERIENCE

Year	Place	Enrollment
2006-	METU ADM	Research Assistant
Present		

#### FOREIGN LANGUAGES

Advanced English, Elementary French

#### PAPERS PUBLISHED IN CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

1. Uslu, H. F. (2008) "Güvenceli Esneklik ve Avrupa Toplulukları Komisyonu", 1. Ulusal Çalışma İlişkileri Kongresi Bildiriler Kitabı, 6-8 November 2008, Sakarya, pp. 342-358.

#### PRESENTATIONS

1. Uslu, H. F (2009) "The Flexicurity Debate at the EU Level: An Example of Deliberate Ambiguity?", Second ASPEN-ETUI Conference: Activation and Security, 20-21 March 2009, Brno.

2. Uslu, H. F (2012) "The Presidentialization of Politics á la Turkish: The cases of Motherland (ANAP) and Justice and Develeopment Party (AKP)", International Political Science Association (IPSA) 22<sup>nd</sup> World Congress, 8-12 July 2012, Madrid, Spain.

3. Uslu, H. F. (2014) "Presidentialization of the Turkish Political System", paper presented at 1<sup>st</sup> Research Lab Workshop: Constitutional Politics in Turkey, Humboldt Universität zu Berlin, Berlin Graduate School of Social Sciences, 11 July 2014.

### **APPENDIX C**

# TEZ FOTOKOPİSİ İZİN FORMU

## <u>ENSTİTÜ</u>

Fen Bilimleri Enstitüsü	
Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü	X
Uygulamalı Matematik Enstitüsü	
Enformatik Enstitüsü	
Deniz Bilimleri Enstitüsü	

## **YAZARIN**

Soyadı : USLU Adı : HASAN FARUK Bölümü : SİYASET BİLİMİ VE KAMU YÖNETİMİ

TEZİN ADI (İngilizce) : DE FACTO PRESIDENTIALIZATION IN TURKEY UNDER ERDOĞAN'S LEADERSHIP

TEZİN TÜRÜ : Yüksek Lisans	Doktora	X
1. Tezimin tamamından kaynak gösterilmek şartıyla foto	okopi alınabilir	
2. Tezimin içindekiler sayfası, özet, indeks sayfalarındar bölümünden kaynak gösterilmek şartıyla fotokopi alınab		
3. Tezimden bir (1) yıl süreyle fotokopi alınamaz.		X

# TEZİN KÜTÜPHANEYE TESLİM TARİHİ: